
CONSTITUTION 
 
1   Contents 

 
3 - 4 

2   Part 1 - Summary and Explanation 
 

5 - 8 

3   Part 2 - Articles of the Constitution 
 

9 - 40 

4   Responsibility for Functions - Introduction 41 - 68 
 PART 3 – RESPONSIBILITY FOR FUNCTIONS 

 
 

5   Appendix 1 - Terms of Reference of Council, Cabinet and 
Committees 
 

69 - 92 

6   Appendix 2 - Terms of Reference of Cabinet Portfolios 
 

93 - 100 

7   Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Panels and Boards 
 

101 - 114 

8   Appendix 4 - Scheme of Delegation 115 - 162 
  

PART 4 – RULES OF PROCEDURE 
 

 

9   A. Council Procedure Rules 
 

163 - 184 

10   B. Executive Procedure Rules 
 

185 - 192 

11   C. Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules 
 

193 - 204 

12   D.  Access to Information Procedure Rules 
 

205 - 216 

13   E. Budget Policy Framework Rules 
 

217 - 222 

14   F. Financial Procedure Rules 
 

223 - 240 

15   G. Contracts Procedure Rules 
 

241 - 284 

16   H. Officer Employment Procedure Rules 285 - 290 



  
PART 5 – CODES AND PROTOCOLS 
 

 

17   A. Members' Code of Conduct 
 

291 - 298 

18   B. Member Officer Relations Protocol 
 

299 - 306 

19   C. Code of Conduct for Employees 
 

307 - 312 

20   D. Members' Planning Code of Good Practice 
 

313 - 328 

21   E. Members' Licensing Code of Good Practice 
 

329 - 338 

22   F. Civic Protocol 
 

339 - 350 

23   G. Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy 
 

351 - 364 

a   Anti Money Laundering Policy 
 

365 - 396 

b   Criminal Facilitation of Tax Evasion 
 

397 - 410 

24   H. Whistleblowing Policy 
 

411 - 422 

25   J. Complaints Procedure 
 

423 - 442 

26   K. Use of Mobile Phones, Social Media, Filming and Recording 
at Meetings 
 

443 - 444 

27   L. Protocol on Standards of Behaviour at Meetings 
 

445 - 446 

28   M. Internal Audit Charter 
 

447 - 458 

PART 6 - MEMBERS’ ALLOWANCES SCHEME 
 

 

29   Members' Allowances Scheme 
 

459 - 468 



Municipal Year 2021/22 

CONSTITUTION OF THE COUNCIL 
 

Contents 
 
Part 1 - Summary and Explanation 
 
Part 2 - Articles of the Constitution 
 

Article 1 - The Constitution 
Article 2  - Members of the Council 
Article 3 - Citizens and the Council 
Article 4 - The Full Council 
Article 5 - The Mayor 
Article 6 - Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
Article 7 - The Executive 
Article 8 - Regulatory and other Committees 
Article 9 - The Standards Committee 
Article 10 - Not in Use 
Article 11 - Joint Arrangements 
Article 12 - Officers 
Article 13 - Decision Making 
Article 14 - Finance, Contracts and Legal Matters 
Article 15 - Review and Revision of the Constitution 
Article 16 - Suspension, Interpretation and Publication of the Constitution 

 

 
Part 3 - Responsibility for Functions 
 

Responsibility for Functions 
Appendix 1 - terms of reference of the executive, full Council and committees 
Appendix 2 - terms of reference of Cabinet portfolio’s 
Appendix 3 - terms of reference of panels and boards 
Appendix 4 - scheme of delegation 

 
Part 4 - Rules of Procedure  
 

A. Council Procedure Rules 
B. Executive Procedure Rules 
C. Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules 
D. Access to Information Procedure Rules 
E. Budget and Policy Framework Rules 
F. Financial Procedure Rules 
G. Contracts Procedure Rules 
H. Officer Employment Procedure Rules 

 
Part 5 - Codes and Protocols   
 

a) Members’ Code of Conduct 
b) Member Officer Relations Protocol 
c) Code of Conduct for Employees 
d) Members Planning Code of Good Practice 
e) Members Licensing Code of Good Practice  
f) Civic Protocol 

Page 3



Municipal Year 2021/22 

g) Anti-fraud and Corruption Strategy 
h) Whistleblowing Policy        
i) Not in Use 
j) Complaints Policy 
k) Use of Mobile Phones, Social Media, Filming and Recording at Meetings 
l) Protocol on Standards of Behaviour at Meetings 
m) Internal Audit Charter 

 
Part 6 - Members’ Allowances Scheme 
 
 Members’ Allowances Scheme 
 
 

Page 4



1 of 3 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

PART 1 

 

SUMMARY AND EXPLANATION 
 

The Council’s Constitution 
 
Hyndburn Borough Council adopted the original of this constitution on 1

st
 November 2001.  It has since 

been amended to reflect changes in legislation and Council circumstances.  It sets out the rules and 
procedures by which the Council works and makes decisions, and is intended to make the Council 
efficient, transparent and accountable to the people of Hyndburn. 
 
The Constitution is divided into 16 articles which set out the basic rules governing the Council’s 
business.  More detailed procedures and codes of practice are provided in separate rules and protocols 
at the end of the document. 

 

What’s in the Constitution? 

 
Article 1 of the Constitution commits the Council to providing community leadership, promoting effective 
local democracy and ensuring the improvement quality and equality of the services it delivers. 
 
Article 2 explains the rights of citizens and how the key parts of the Council operate. These are: 
 

 Members of the Council (Article 2). 
 

 Citizens and the Council (Article 3). 
 

 The Council meeting (Article 4). 
 

 Chairing the Council (Articles 5). 
 

 Overview and scrutiny of decisions (Article 6). 
 

 The Executive (Article 7). 
 

 Regulatory and other committees (Article 8). 
 

 The Standards Committee (Article 9). 
 

 Area Councils (Article 10). 
 

 Joint arrangements (Article 11). 
 

 Officers (Article 12). 
 

 Decision making (Article 13). 
 

 Finance, contracts and legal matters (Article 14). 
 

 Review and revision of the Constitution (Article 15). 
 

 Suspension, interpretation and publication of the Constitution (Article 16). 
 

Page 5



2 of 3 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

How the Council operates 
 
The Council is composed of 35 councillors, with one-third elected every three years in four.  
 
Councillors are democratically accountable to the residents of their ward.  The overriding duty of 
councillors is to the whole community, but they have a special duty to their constituents, including those 
who did not vote for them. 
 
Councillors have to agree to follow a code of conduct to ensure high standards in the way they 
undertake their duties.  The Standards Committee trains and advises them on the code of conduct. 
 
All councillors meet together as the Council.  Meetings of the Council are normally open to the public.  
Here councillors decide the Council’s overall policies and set the budget each year.  The Council also 
appoints the Leader of the Council and the Cabinet, and can remove them from office as well. 
 

How Decisions are made 
 
The executive is the part of the Council responsible for most day-to-day decisions.  The executive is 
made up of the Leader of the Council and a Cabinet of 5 other councillors, all of whom are appointed 
by the Council as a whole.  When major decisions are to be discussed or made, these are published in 
the executive’s forward plan in so far as they can be anticipated.  If these major decisions are to be 
discussed with council officers at a meeting of the executive, this will generally be open for the public to 
attend, except where personal or confidential matters are being discussed.  The executive has to make 
decisions which are in line with the Council’s overall policies and budget.  If is wishes to make a 
decision which is outside the budget or policy framework, this must be referred to the Council as a 
whole to decide. 
 

Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
 
There are 2 Overview and Scrutiny Committees who support the work of the executive and the Council 
as a whole.  They allow citizens to have a greater say in Council matters by holding public inquiries into 
matters of local concern.  These lead to reports and recommendations advising the executive and the 
Council as a whole on its policies, budget and service delivery.  The Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
also monitor the decisions of the executive.  This enables them to consider whether decisions are 
appropriate.  They may recommend that the executive reconsider decisions.  They may also be 
consulted by the executive, or the Council, on forthcoming decisions and the development of policy. 

 

Area Councils 

 
In order to give local people a greater say in council affairs, area councils have been created.  There 
are separate area councils for Baxenden, Great Harwood, Rishton and Oswaldtwistle.  They comprise 
councillors for each particular area, plus some co-opted members, and are held in public. 
 

The Council’s Staff 
 
The Council has people working for it (called ‘officers’) to give advice, implement decisions and 
manage the day-to-day delivery of its services.  Some officers have a specific duty to ensure that the 
Council acts within the law and uses its resources wisely.  A code of practice governs the relationship 
between officers and members of the Council. 

 

 

 

 

Page 6



3 of 3 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

Citizens’ Rights 

 
Citizens have a number of rights in their dealings with the Council.  These are set out in more detail in 
Article 3.  Some of these are legal rights, whilst others depend on the Council’s own processes.  The 
local Citizens’ Advice Bureau can advise on individuals’ legal rights. 
 
Where members of the public use specific council services, for example as a council tenant, they have 
additional rights.  These are not covered in this Constitution. 
 
Citizens have the right to: 
 

 vote at local elections if they are registered; 
 

 contact their local councillor about any matters of concern to them; 
 

 obtain a copy of this constitution; 
 

 attend meetings of the Council and its committees except where, for example, personal or 
confidential matters are being discussed; 

 

 petition to request a referendum on a mayoral form of executive; 
 

 inspect the agenda’s and reports for committee meetings and attend the committee meetings, 
except where the report or the meeting discusses personal or confidential matters. 

 

 find out, from the executive’s forward plan, what major decisions are to be discussed by the 
executive or decided by the executive or officers, and when; 

 

 attend meetings of the executive where key decisions are being discussed or decided; 
 

 see reports and background papers, and any record of decisions made by the Council and 
executive; 

 

 complain to the Council about Council services or the conduct of officers or councillors; 
 

 complain to the Ombudsman if they think the Council has not followed its procedures properly.  
However, they should only do this after using the Council’s own complaints process; 

 

 complain to the Council’s Assessment Sub-Committee if they have evidence which they think 
shows that a councillor has not followed the Council’s Code of Conduct; and 

 

 inspect the Council’s accounts and make their views known to the external auditor. 
 
The Council welcomes participation by its citizens in its work.  
 
 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated May 2022 

1 of 31 

 

Part 2 

 

Articles of the Constitution 
 

 

Article 1 - The Constitution 

 

1.1 Powers of the Council 

 
 The Council will exercise all its powers and duties in accordance with the law and this 

Constitution. 
 

1.2 The Constitution 

 
 This Constitution, and all its appendices, is the Constitution of Hyndburn Borough Council. 
 

1.3 Purpose of the Constitution 

 
 The purpose of the Constitution is to: 
 

1. enable the Council to provide clear leadership to the community in partnership with 
citizens, businesses and other organisations; 

 
2. support the active involvement of citizens in the process of local authority decision 

making; 
 
3. help Councillors represent their constituents more effectively; 
 
4. enable decisions to be taken efficiently and effectively; 
 
5. create a powerful and effective means of holding decision-makers to public 

account; 
 
6. ensure that no one will review or scrutinise a decision in which they were directly 

involved; 
 
7. ensure that those responsible for decision making are clearly identifiable to local 

people and that they explain the reasons for decisions; and 
 
8. provide a means of improving the delivery of services to the community. 

 

1.4 Interpretation and Review of the Constitution 
 
 The Council will monitor and evaluate the operation of the Constitution as set in Article 15 
 

Page 9



Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated May 2022 

2 of 31 

 

Article 2 - Members of the Council 
 
 
2.1 Composition and eligibility 
 

(a) Composition.  The Council comprises 35 Councillors.  Either two or three Councillors will 
be elected by the voters of each ward in accordance with a scheme drawn up by the Local 
Government Commission and approved by the Secretary of State. 

 

(b) Eligibility.  Only those on the Hyndburn electoral register or those living or working in 
Hyndburn will be eligible to hold the office of Councillor. 

 

2.2 Election and terms of Councillors 

 
 The election of a third (or as near as may be) of all Councillors will be held on the first 

Thursday in May in each year, apart from 2013, and every fourth year afterwards, when the 
Lancashire County Council elections are held.   

 
            Usually, the term of office of Councillors will be four years starting on the fourth day after 

being elected and finishing on the fourth day after the date of the regular election four 
years later.   

 

2.3 Roles and Functions of all Councillors 

 

 (a) Key roles.  All Councillors will: 
 

I. collectively be the ultimate policy-makers and carry out a number of strategic and 
corporate management functions; 

 
II. represent their communities and bring their views into the Council’s decision-

making process, i.e. become the advocate of and for their communities; 
 
III. deal with individual casework and act as an advocate for constituents in resolving 

particular concerns or grievances; 
 
IV. represent the interest of their ward and of individual constituents; 
 
V. respond to constituents enquiries and representations; 
 
VI. participate in the governance and management of the Council;  
 
VII. be available to represent the Council on other bodies  
 
VIII. maintain the highest standards of conduct and ethics 

 
  

Page 10



Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated May 2022 

3 of 31 

 

 
 

 (b) Rights and duties. 
 

I. Councillors will have such rights of access to such documents, information, land 
and buildings of the Council as are necessary for the proper discharge of their 
functions and in accordance with the law. 

 
II. Councillors will not make public any confidential or exempt information without the 

consent of the Council, nor divulge information given in confidence to anyone other 
than a Councillor or officer entitled to know it. 

 
III. For these purposes, “confidential” and “exempt” information are defined in the 

Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution. 
 

2.4 Conduct 
 
 Councillors will at all times observe the Members’ Code of Conduct and the Protocol on 

Member/Officer Relations set out in part 5 of this Constitution.  

            Councillors serving on the Planning Committee must also observe the Planning Code of 
Conduct and Councillors serving on the Licensing Committee and Judicial Committee 
(Private Hire and Hackney Carriage Licensing) must also observe the Licensing Code of 
Conduct.  

 
 

2.5 Allowances 
 
 Councillors will be entitled to receive allowances in accordance with the Members’ 

Allowances Scheme set out in Part 6 of this Constitution. 
 

2.6 Role Descriptions 
  
           The Council has agreed “job descriptions” for the following roles undertaken by Councillors: 

Generic Councillor 
            Leader of the Council 
            Deputy Leader 
            Cabinet member 
            Scrutiny chair 
            Scrutiny member 
            These job descriptions are set out in the following few pages of this Constitution. 
  

Page 11



Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated May 2022 

4 of 31 

 

Role Title: Leader 
 

Primary objective(s) 

 To provide the Council’s overall cohesive corporate and strategic direction and budget, strategy 
and policy development 

 To chair the Cabinet and to be the principal spokesperson for the Council 

 To decide the size of the Cabinet (up to a maximum of 9)  

 To appoint a Deputy Leader and the Cabinet and to allocate Cabinet portfolio’s 

 To make arrangements for the discharge of the Council’s executive functions (whether by the 
Cabinet as a whole, by the Leader, by Cabinet committee, by individual Cabinet members or by 
officers) 

 To remove and replace Cabinet members 

 

Key Duties and Responsibilities 

1) To lead the process of developing the proposed budget and policy framework 

2) To take overall responsibility for ensuring the delivery of the vision and values of the Council; 
Council policies and strategic priorities; the performance plan and the community plan 

3) To develop and promote the reputation and interests of the Council locally and nationally 

4) To co-ordinate and develop partnership working and community liaison 

5) To work closely with the Chief Executive and senior officers in developing and reviewing 
Council performance, policy and practices 

6) To ensure that good communication links exist between Cabinet, other Council structures 
and elected members and senior officers 

7) To hold briefing meetings with officers to provide guidance and develop policy 

8) To develop portfolios in consultation with the Chief Executive and to allocate responsibilities 
to Cabinet members 

9) To ensure that the principles of equality and fairness are integral to all actions and policies of 
the Council 

Page 12



Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated May 2022 

5 of 31 

 

Role Title: Deputy Leader 

 

Primary objective(s) 

 To assist the Leader in providing corporate and strategic direction and budget, strategy and 
policy development 

 To chair the Cabinet and to be the principal spokesperson for the Council in the absence of the 
Leader 

 To act as Leader until the appointment of a new Leader if the post of Leader becomes vacant 
or if the Leader is unable to act 

 

Key Duties and Responsibilities 

1) To assist in the co-ordination and development of partnership working and community liaison 

2) To lead on any cross cutting issues of a general nature not already allocated to any other 
portfolio holder 

3) To work with the Leader in developing the proposed budget and policy framework 

4) To assist the Leader in ensuring the delivery of the vision and values of the Council; Council 
policies and strategic priorities; the performance plan and the community plan 

5) To work with the Leader to develop and promote the reputation and interests of the Council 
locally and nationally 

6) To work with the Leader in developing and reviewing Council performance, policy and 
practices 

7) To assist the Leader in ensuring that good communication links exist between Cabinet, other 
Council structures and elected members and senior officers 

8) To work with the Leader to ensure that the principles of equality and fairness are integral to 
all actions and policies of the Council 

Page 13



Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated May 2022 

6 of 31 

 

Role Title: Cabinet Member 
 

Primary objective(s) 
 

 To collectively propose and implement the budget and policy framework 

 To work closely with and communicate effectively with other Cabinet members, the Chief 
Executive and Management Team(s), full Council and its committees  

 

Key Duties and Responsibilities 

 

1) To provide political leadership for the designated Cabinet portfolio 

2) To present and consult with the public, both directly and through appropriate media, 
regarding the Council’s policies in relation to the designated portfolio 

3) To represent the Council locally, regionally and nationally in relation to the relevant portfolio 

4) To make recommendations about the implementation of policies within the portfolio 

5) To report to the Council regarding decisions made, actions taken and progress achieved 
within the relevant portfolio 

6) To initiate and promote policies and programmes both within the Council and externally 

7) To commission and consider reports from officers to help ensure the efficient discharge of 
duties/responsibilities 

8) To work closely with relevant senior officers to help ensure the efficient and effective 
management of the Council and to uphold high standards of performance and conduct 

9) To maintain awareness of national best practice in the relevant field 

10) To consult, report and attend relevant scrutiny meetings as required 

11) To consider and respond to reports and recommendations form Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee(s) 

12) To attend Cabinet meetings, as necessary, and to contribute effectively to the corporate 
development of the Council 

13) To be accountable, alongside all Cabinet members, for the recommendations and decisions 
made by Cabinet 

14) To ensure that the principles of equality and fairness are integral to all actions and policies of 
the Council 

Page 14



Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated May 2022 

7 of 31 

 

Role Title: Scrutiny Chair 
 

Primary objective(s) 
 

 To manage meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 To prepare workplans, in consultation with the Cabinet, elected members, officers and 
Overview and Scrutiny members 

 

Key Duties and Responsibilities 

 

1) To hold briefings with relevant officers, prior to Overview and Scrutiny meetings 

2) To represent the Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s views and recommendations to the 
Council, Cabinet and Management Team 

3) To ensure Overview and Scrutiny Committee members receive sufficient information 
regarding specific areas of work and Council developments in general 

4) To manage specific projects to completion 

5) To understand the role of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee in relation to other Council 
structures 

6) To act as an advocate for the scrutiny function  

Page 15



Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated May 2022 

8 of 31 

 

Role Title: Scrutiny Member 
 

Primary objective(s) 
 

 To research policy issues and make reports and recommendations to the Cabinet and Council 

 To review Cabinet decisions and their subsequent impact, and make reports and 
recommendations, including proposals for changes to policies and practices, to the Cabinet and 
Council  

 

Key Duties and Responsibilities 

 

1) To attend Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings as necessary and contribute 
effectively 

2) To consider the proposed budget and policy framework and other plans for the Cabinet and 
report findings to the Cabinet and Council 

3) To provide advice to the Cabinet on major issues before final decisions are made (at the 
discretion of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee) 

4) To commission research, examine alternative propositions and ask questions of relevant 
Councillors, officers and representatives of outside bodies 

5) To monitor agenda items and review decisions taken by the executive and call-in where a 
justifiable public interest issue is at stake 

6) To review the best value process within the Council and propose changes to policies or 
practices as appropriate to the Cabinet and Council 

7) To monitor and advise the Cabinet on performance management processes and 
achievements within the Council 

8) To consider inspection reports, external audit reports, the management letter and 
performance against performance indicators 

9) To consult with other Council bodies, members, officers and partner organisations and 
community groups in determining the scrutiny workplan 

10) To be sufficiently informed to be able to scrutinise the executive, other Council bodies and 
outside organisations as relevant 

11) To initiate debate in full Council on scrutiny matters 

12) To ensure that the principles of equality and fairness are integral to all actions and policies of 
the Council 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 16



Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated May 2022 

9 of 31 

 

Article 3 - Citizens and The Council 
 
 
3.1 Citizens right 

 
 Citizens have the following rights.  Their rights to information and to participate are 

explained in more detail in the Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this 
Constitution: 

 

(a) Voting and petitions.  Citizens on Hyndburn’s register of electors have the right to: 
 i) vote  

ii) sign a petition to request a referendum for an elected mayor form of constitution  

 

(b) Information.  Citizens have the right to: 
 
I. attend meetings of the Council and its committees, except where confidential or 

exempt information is likely to be disclosed, and the meeting is therefore held in 
private. Although the public do not have a right to speak, they can table questions 
at meetings of the Council; 

 
II. attend meetings of the Cabinet except where confidential or exempt information is 

likely to be discussed, when the relevant part of the meeting may be held in private: 
 
III. find out from the key decision notices published on the Council’s website what key 

decisions will be taken by the executive and when; 
 
IV. see reports and background papers, and any records of decisions made by the 

Council and the Cabinet except where confidential or exempt information is likely to 
be disclosed; and 

 
V. inspect the Council’s accounts and make their views known to the external auditor. 
 

 (c) Participation.  Citizens may be asked to contribute to investigations by the 
Council’s overview and scrutiny committees. 

 

 (d) Complaints.  Citizens have the right to complain to: 
 

I. the Council itself under its complaints procedure; 
II. the Ombudsman, after using the Council’s own complaints procedure; 
III. the Council’s Standards Committee about a breach of the Councillor’s Code of 

Conduct. 

 

3.2 Citizens’ responsibilities 

 
 Citizens must not be violent, abusing or threatening to Councillors or officers and must not 

wilfully harm things owned by the Council, Councillors or officers. 

Page 17



Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated May 2022 

10 of 31 

 

Article 4 - The Full Council 
 
4.1 Introduction 

 
The full Council is a formal meeting of the Council that all Councillors are entitled to attend 
and at which all Councillors may speak and vote. The Council meetings provide a central 
forum for debate and give the opportunity for Councillors and members of the public to ask 
questions about the Council or matters affecting it. 
 
The full Council is required by law to take some decisions, including the setting of the 
Council’s budget and Council tax levels and approving a number of key plans and 
strategies.  
 

4.2       Meanings 

 

 (a) Policy Framework.  The policy framework means the following plans and 
strategies:- 

 

 The Council’s Corporate Strategy; 
 

 Local Development Plan documents; 
 

        Licensing Act 2003 policy statement ; 
 

  Gambling Act 2005 policy statement; 

   Pay Policy under Localism Act 2011 

 

 (b) Budget.  The budget includes the allocation of financial resources to different 
services and projects, proposed contingency funds, the Council tax base, setting 
the Council tax and decisions relating to the control of the Council’s borrowing 
requirement, investments, the control of its capital expenditure and the setting of 
virement limits. 

  

4.3 Functions of the full Council 
 
 Only the Council will exercise the following functions: 

 
 (a) adopting and changing this Constitution 
 

 (b) approving or making material changes to the policy framework and the budget 
(including setting the Council tax base and the Council tax); 

 
 (c) (subject to the urgency procedure contained in the Access to Information Procedure 

Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution), making decisions about any matter which is the 
responsibility of the executive which is not in accordance, or not wholly in 
accordance, with the policy framework or the budget; 

 
 (d) appointing and removing the Leader of the Council; 
 
 (e)  conferring the title of freedom of the Borough or honorary alderman 
  

Page 18



Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated May 2022 

11 of 31 

 

 (f) agreeing and/or amending the terms of reference for committees, deciding on their 
composition, making appointments to them and appointing the chair and vice chair 
of each; 

 
 (g) appointing representatives to outside bodies unless the appointment has been 

delegated by the Council; 
 
 (h) adopting a members’ allowances scheme under Article 2.05; 
 
 (i) changing the name of the Borough; 
 
 (j) confirming the appointment of the head of paid service; 
 
 (k) making, amending, revoking, re-enacting or adopting bylaws and promoting or 

opposing the making of local legislation or personal Bills; 
 
 (l)  all local choice functions set out in Part 3 of this Constitution which the Council 

decides should be undertaken by itself, rather than the Cabinet; 
 
 (m)  receiving statutory reports from the Monitoring Officer (currently the Council’s 

Executive Director Legal & Democratic Services) and section 151 officer (currently 
the Council’s Deputy Chief Executive; 

 
 (n) adopting the Councillor Code of Conduct 
 
 (o)  taking decisions in respect of functions which are not the responsibility of the 

executive and which have not been delegated by the Council to committees or 
officers;  

(p)        delegating non-executive functions to another local authority;  
 
(q) dismissing the Council’s Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance 

Officer 
 

(r)        all other matters which, by law, must be reserved to Council. 
 

Detailed terms of reference for the full Council are set out in Appendix 1 to Part 3 of this 
constitution.  

 

4.4 Council meetings 

 
 There are three types of Council meeting: 
 
 (a) the annual meeting; 
 
 (b) ordinary meetings; 
 
 (c) extraordinary meetings. 
 
 and they will be conducted in accordance with the Council Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this 

Constitution. 
 

4.5 Responsibility for functions 

 
 The Council will always decide who is responsible for the Council’s functions which are not 

the responsibility of the Cabinet. Some non-executive functions are delegated to 

Page 19



Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated May 2022 

12 of 31 

 

committees and the terms of reference of the various committees are set out in Appendix 1 
to Part 3 of this constitution. Some non-executive functions are delegated to officers and 
the Council’s scheme of delegation is set out in Appendix 4 to Part 3 of this Constitution. 

Page 20



Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated May 2022 

13 of 31 

 

Article 5 – The Mayor 

 

 

 
5.1 Role and function of the mayor 
 
  
 The Mayor and Deputy Mayor will be elected by the Council annually.  The Mayor (or the 

Deputy Mayor in the absence of the Mayor) will have the following responsibilities: 
 
 1. to uphold and promote the purposes of the Constitution, and to interpret the 

Constitution when necessary; 
 
 2. to preside over meetings of the Council  

 
 3. to promote public involvement in the Council’s activities; 
 

4.         to be the conscience of the Council;  
 

5          to attend such civic and ceremonial functions as the Council as he/she determines 
appropriate; and 

 
6.        ensure that Council meetings are a forum for the debate of matters of concern to 

the local community and the place at which members who are not on the Cabinet, 
or do not hold committee chairs, are able to hold the Cabinet and committee chairs 
to account. 

 
 

5.2 The role of the Mayor is further described in the Council’s Civic Protocol, which is set out in 
            Part 5 of this Constitution 
 

Page 21



Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated May 2022 

14 of 31 

 

Article 6 - Overview and Scrutiny Committees 

 

 
6.1 Terms of reference 

 
 The Council has appointed 3 Overview and Scrutiny Committees to discharge the functions 

conferred by section 21 of the Local Government Act 2000 or regulations under section 32 
of the Local Government Act 2000  

  

6.2 General role 

 
 Within their terms of reference, the Overview and Scrutiny committees will: 
 

I. review and/or scrutinise decisions made or actions taken in connection with the 
discharge of any of the Council's functions; 

 
II. make reports and/or recommendations to the full Council and/or the Cabinet and/or 

any policy, joint committee in connection with the discharge of any functions; 
 
III. consider any matter affecting the area or its inhabitants; and 
 
IV. exercise the right to call-in, for reconsideration, decisions made but not yet 

implemented by the Cabinet. 
 

V. consider Councillor “calls for action” in respect of matters affecting a Council ward 
 

6.3 Special functions 
 

 (a) Policy development and review.  The Overview and Scrutiny committees may: 
 

I. assist the Council and the Cabinet in the development of its budget and policy 
framework by in-depth analysis of policy issues; 
 

II. conduct research, community and other consultation in the analysis of policy issues 
and possible options; 

 
III. consider and implement mechanisms to encourage and enhance community 

participation in the development of policy options; 
 
IV. question members of the Cabinet and committees and officers at service head level 

or above about their views on issues and proposals affecting the area; and 
 
V. liaise with other external organisations operating in the area, whether national, 

regional or local, to ensure that the interests of local people are enhanced by 
collaborative working. 

 

 (b) Scrutiny.  The Overview and Scrutiny committees may: 
 

I. review and scrutinise the decisions made by and performance of the Cabinet and or 
committees and Council officers, both in relation to individual decisions and over 
time; 

 
II. review and scrutinise the performance of the Council in relation to its policy 

objectives, performance targets and/or particular service areas; 
 

Page 22



Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated May 2022 

15 of 31 

 

III. question members of the Cabinet and/or committees and officers at service head 
level or above about their decisions and performance, whether generally in 
comparison with service plans and targets over a period of time, or in relation to 
particular decisions, initiatives or projects; 

 
IV. make recommendations to the Cabinet and / or appropriate committee and/or 

Council arising from the outcome of the scrutiny process; 
 
V. review and scrutinise the performance of other public bodies in Hyndburn and invite 

reports from them by requesting them to address the overview and scrutiny 
committee about their activities and performance; and 

 
VI. question and gather evidence from any person (with their consent). 

 
 

 (c) Finance.  The overview and scrutiny committees exercise overall responsibility for 
the finances made available to them. 

 
  

6.4 Proceedings of the overview and scrutiny committees 
 
 The Overview and Scrutiny committees will conduct their proceedings in accordance with 

the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 
 

Page 23



Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated May 2022 

16 of 31 

 

Article 7 - The Executive (or Cabinet) 

 

 
7.1 Role 
 
 The executive will carry out all of the local authority’s functions which are not the 

responsibility of any other part of the local authority, whether by law or under this 
Constitution.  The executive is usually known as “the Cabinet”. 

 

7.2 Form and composition 
 
 The Cabinet will consist of the Leader of the Council, together with up to 9 other 

Councillors appointed by the Leader. The Leader will decide the portfolio’s of the members 
of the Cabinet. 

 

7.3 Leader and Deputy Leader 

 

 Leader 

 
            The Leader will be a Councillor elected to the position of Leader by the Council for a term 

of 4 years or the balance of his / her term of office as a Councillor.  The Leader will hold 
office until: 

 
 (a) he/she resigns from the office; or 
 
 (b) he/she is no longer a Councillor; or 
 
 (c) he/she is removed from office by resolution of a simple majority of the Council (for 

example by the appointment of a successor at a subsequent Annual Meeting of the 
Council or in the event of a change in political control of the Council) 

(d)       the time period for which he / she was appointed has elapsed 
 

Deputy Leader 

 
The Deputy Leader will be a member of the Cabinet and will be appointed by the Leader. 
He or she will act as Leader if the Leader is unable to act or the office of Leader is vacant. 

The Deputy Leader will hold office until : 

(a) removed by the Leader 

(b) he / she resigns from office 

(c) he / she is no longer a Councillor 

(d) until the end of the term of the Leader 

 

7.4 Other Cabinet members 

 
 Other Cabinet members shall hold office until: 
 
 (a) they resign from office; or 
 
 (b) they are no longer Councillors;  
 
 (c) they are removed from office by the Leader 

Page 24



Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated May 2022 

17 of 31 

 

(d)        the appointment of a successor by the Leader 
 

7.5 Proceedings of the Cabinet 

 
 Proceedings of the Leader and Cabinet shall take place in accordance with the Executive 

Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 
 

7.6 Responsibility for functions 

 
 The Leader will make delegations to officers and these will be set out in the Council’s 

scheme of delegation to officers (see Part 3 Appendix 4 of this constitution).  

           Currently the Cabinet makes decisions collectively in respect of matters which haven’t been 
delegated to officers, but the Leader also has the power to delegate decision-making 
powers to individual members of the Cabinet, committees of the Cabinet and joint 
arrangements with other local authorities. 

 

7.7      Delegation of functions 
 

The Leader may exercise executive functions himself / herself or may make arrangements 
to delegate responsibility for their discharge to any of the following 
 
i) The Cabinet as a whole 

ii) A Cabinet committee (which can only include Cabinet members) 

iii) An individual cabinet member 

iv) A joint committee 

v) Another local authority 

vi) An officer 

Page 25



Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated May 2022 

18 of 31 

 

Article 8 - Regulatory and other committees 

 
8.1 Regulatory and other committees 

 
 The Council will appoint the committees set out in the left hand column of the table below 

to discharge the functions described in the right hand column of the table. 
             
            Detailed terms of reference for these committees can be found in Part 3 of this 

Constitution. 
 
 

 

Planning Committee 

 
To discharge the Council’s functions relating 
to town and country planning and 
development control 

To deal with the Council’s functions relating to 
building control 

To discharge the Council’s functions relating 
to rights of way  
 

Licensing Committee To deal with all matters where the Council is 
required under the Licensing Act 2003 or the 
Gambling Act 2005 to refer that matter to the 
Licensing Committee or where it is required to 
adjudicate between two or more opposing 
views and reach a decision in a quasi-judicial 
manner.   
  
To discharge the Council’s licensing and 
regulatory functions and determine 
applications for the grant, renewal, 
amendment, transfer, revocation and refusal 
of licences relating to the following  

Street and house-to-house collections 

Sex establishments 

 

 

Judicial Committee (Private Hire and 

Hackney Carriage Licensing)  

 
To deal with all matters where the Council is 
required to adjudicate between two or more 
opposing views and reach a decision in a 
quasi judicial manner where such decision is 
not the function of the Leader and Cabinet 

This includes granting, suspending and 
revoking licences relating to (amongst other 
things): 

Hackney carriages 

Private hire vehicles 

Audit Committee 
 

To deal with all matters involving the Council’s 
internal and external auditors 

Page 26



Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated May 2022 

19 of 31 

 

Article 9 - The Standards Committee 

 
 

9.1 Standards Committee 

 
The Council has established a Standards Committee. This will include three Altham Parish    
Councillors as non-voting co-optees. The Council has also appointed three “independent 
persons” in accordance with the Localism Act 2011. The independent persons are not 
Councillors and they must be consulted before we make any decision in respect of a complaint 
about a Councillor. The independent persons are not members of Standards Committee, but 
have a right to attend Standards Committee meetings and to speak (but not to vote).  

 

9.2  Sub-Committees and Panels  

 
The Standards Committee will have the following sub-committees and panels: 

 

Assessment Panel  - this will consider complaints that Councillors may have 
breached the Council’s code of conduct and decide whether the complaint should 
be investigated formally or resolved informally by the Monitoring Officer.. 

Hearing Sub-Committee – if a complaint has been referred for investigation, this 
Sub-Committee will consider the investigation report and decide whether the code 
has been breached and what, if any, action should be taken against the 
Councillor(s) concerned. 

 

9.3 Role and Function 

 
 The Standards Committee will have the following roles and functions: 
 
 (a) promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct by Councillors and co-opted 

members 
 
 (b) assisting members and any co-opted members to observe the Members’ Code of 

Conduct; 
 
 (c) advising the Council on the adoption or revision of the Members’ Code of Conduct; 
 
 (d) monitoring the operation of the Members’ Code of Conduct; 
 
 (e) advising, training or arranging to train Councillors and co-opted members on 

matters relating to the Members’ Code of Conduct; 
 
 (f) granting dispensations to Councillors and co-opted members from requirements 

relating to interests set out in the Members’ Code of Conduct;  
  
 (g) monitoring the operation of and advising on revisions to the Council’s whistle 

blowing policy; 
 
 (h) Overview of Ombudsman investigations; 
 
 (i) monitoring the operation of and advising on revision to the Council’s constitution; 
 
 (j) monitoring the operation of and advising on revisions to the Council’s complaints 

handling procedures 

Page 27



Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated May 2022 

20 of 31 

 

(k)    dealing with complaints that a member of Hyndburn Borough Council or Altham 
Parish Council has breached their member code of conduct.  

 

Article 10 – Not in use 

 
 

Page 28



Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated May 2022 

21 of 31 

 

 

Article 11 - Joint Arrangements 

 

 
11.1 Arrangements to promote well being 
 

 The Council or the Cabinet in order to promote the economic, social or environmental well-
being of its area, may: 

 
 (a) enter into arrangements or agreements with any person or body; 
 
 (b) co-operate with, or facilitate or co-ordinate the activities of, any person or body; and 
 
 (c) exercise on behalf of that person or body any functions of that person or body. 
 

11.2 Joint arrangements 
 
 (a) The Council may establish joint arrangements with one or more local authorities 

and/or their executives to exercise functions which are not executive functions in 
any of the participating authorities, or advise the Council.  Such arrangements may 
involve the appointment of a joint committee with these other local authorities. 

 
 (b) The Cabinet may establish joint arrangements with one or more local authorities to 

exercise functions which are executive functions.  Such arrangements may involve 
the appointment of joint committees with these other local authorities. 

 
 (c) Except as set out below, the Cabinet may only appoint executive members to a joint 

committee and those members need not reflect the political composition of the local 
authority as a whole. 

 
 (d) The Cabinet may appoint members to a joint committee from outside the Cabinet if 

the joint committee has functions for only part of Hyndburn, and that area is smaller 
than two fifths of Hyndburn’s area or population.  In such cases, the Cabinet may 
appoint to the joint committee any Councillor who is a member for a ward which is 
wholly or partly contained within the area. The political balance requirements do not 
apply to such appointments; 

 
 (e) Details of any joint arrangements including any delegations to joint committees will 

be found in the Council’s scheme of delegations in Part 3 of this Constitution. 
 

11.3 Access to information 

 
 (a) The Access to Information Rules in part 4 of this Constitution apply. 
 
 (b) If all the members of a joint committee are members of the Cabinet in each of the 

participating authorities then its access to information regime is the same as that 
applied to the Cabinet. 

 
 (c) if the joint committee contains members who are not on the Cabinet of any 

participating authority then the access to information rules in Part VA of the Local 
Government Act 1972 will apply. 

 

Page 29



Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated May 2022 

22 of 31 

 

11.4 Delegation to and from other local authorities 

 
 (a) The Council may delegate non-executive functions to another local authority or, in 

certain circumstances, the executive of another local authority. 
 
 (b) The Cabinet may delegate executive functions to another local authority or the 

executive of another local authority in certain circumstances. 
 
 (c) The decision whether or not to accept such a delegation from another local 

authority shall be reserved to the Council meeting 
 
 

11.5  Contracting out (to a body other than a local authority) 
 
The Council (in respect of non-executive functions) and the Cabinet (in respect of executive 
functions) may contract out to another body any functions: 

i) which may be exercised by an officer and which are subject to an order under section 70 
Deregulation and Contracting Out Act 1994; or 

ii) under contracting arrangements where the contractor acts as the Council’s agent under 
usual contract principles provided there is no delegation of the Council’s discretionary decision 
making 

 
 

Page 30



Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated May 2022 

23 of 31 

 

Article 12 - Officers 

 
 

12.1 Management structure 
 

 (a) General.  The full Council may engage such staff (referred to as officers) as it 
considers necessary to carry out its functions. 

 

 (b) Chief Officers.  The full Council will engage persons for the following posts, who 
will be designated chief officers: 

 

Post Functions and areas of responsibility 
 

 
Chief Executive 
 

 
To act as head of paid service 
 
Overall corporate management and operational 
responsibility (including overall management 
responsibility for all officers) 
 
Provision of professional advice to all parties in 
the Council’s decision making process. 
 
Principal advisor to the Council on general policy 
 
Representing the Council on partnership and 
external bodies (as required by statute or the 
Council). 

 
Deputy Chief Executive 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
To deputise for and/or represent the Managing 
Director as required or authorised. 
 
Representing the Council on partnerships and 
external bodies (as required by the Council or the 
Chief Executive) 
   

 Chief Finance Officer 

Section 151 officer 

Overall operational responsibility for accountancy 
services, benefits and customer services, internal 
audit, IT services and corporate property 
 

Executive Director (Legal & Democratic Services) Monitoring Officer 

Returning Officer 

Data Protection Officer 

Overall operational responsibility for legal 
services, democratic services, human resources, 
planning, highways, building control, civic 
services, and electoral services and licensing 

 

 (c) Head of paid service, monitoring officer and chief financial officer.  The 
Council will designate the following posts as shown: 

Page 31



Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated May 2022 

24 of 31 

 

 

Post Functions and areas of responsibility 
 

Chief Executive Head of Paid Service 

Executive Director (Legal & Democratic Services) Monitoring Officer 

Deputy Chief Executive  Chief Finance Officer 

 
Such posts will have the functions described in Article 12.02-12.04 below. 
 

 (d) Structure.  The head of paid service will determine and publicise a description of 
the overall departmental structure of the Council showing the management 
structure and deployment of officers.  This is set out at Part 7 of this Constitution. 

 

12.2 Functions of the head of paid service 

 

 (a) Discharge of functions by the Council.  The head of paid service will report to full 
Council on the manner in which the discharge of the Council’s functions is co-
ordinated, the number and grade of officers required for the discharge of functions 
and the organisation of officers. 

 

 (b) Restrictions on function.  The head of paid service may not be the Monitoring 
Officer, but may hold the post of Chief Finance Officer if a qualified accountant. 

 

12.3 Functions of the Monitoring Officer 

 

 (a) Maintaining the Constitution.  The Monitoring Officer will maintain an up-to-date 
version of the Constitution and will ensure that it is widely available for consultation 
by members, staff and the public. 

 

 (b) Ensuring lawfulness and fairness of decision making.  After consulting with the 
head of paid service and Chief Finance Officer, the Monitoring Officer will report to 
the full Council, or to the Cabinet in relation to an executive function, if he or she 
considers that any proposal, decision or omission would give rise to unlawfulness or 
if any decision or omission has given rise to maladministration.  Such a report will 
have the effect of stopping the proposal or decision being implemented until the 
report has been considered. 

 

 (c) Supporting the Standards Committee.  The Monitoring Officer will contribute to 
the promotion and maintenance of high standards of conduct through provision of 
support to the Standards Committee. 

 

 (d) Conducting investigations.  The Monitoring Officer will conduct investigations into 
matters referred by the Council’s Standards Committee and make reports or 
recommendations in respect of them to the Standards Committee. 

 

 (e) Proper officer for access to information.  The Monitoring Officer will ensure that 
executive decisions, together with the reasons for those decisions and relevant 
officer reports and background papers are made publicly available as soon as 
possible. 

 

 (f) Advising whether executive decisions are within the budget and policy 

framework.  The Monitoring Officer will advise whether decisions of the executive 
are in accordance with the budget and policy framework. 

 

Page 32



Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated May 2022 

25 of 31 

 

(g) Providing advice.  The Monitoring Officer will provide advice on the scope of 
powers and authority to take decisions, maladministration, financial impropriety, 
probity and budget and policy framework issues to all Councillors. 

 

(h) Restrictions on posts.  The Monitoring Officer cannot be the Chief Finance Officer 
or the head of paid service. 

 

(i) RIPA.  To act as the Senior Responsible Officer for the purpose of Part II 

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 
 

12.4 Functions of the Chief Finance Officer 

 

 (a) Ensuring lawfulness and financial prudence of decision making.  After 
consulting with the head of paid service and the Monitoring Officer, the Chief 
Finance Officer will report to the full Council or to the Cabinet in relation to an 
executive function and the Council’s external auditor if he or she considers that any 
proposal, decision or course of action will involve incurring unlawful expenditure, or 
is unlawful and is likely to cause a loss or deficiency or is the Council is about to 
enter an item of account unlawfully. 

 

 (b) Administration of financial affairs.  The Chief Finance Officer will have 
responsibility for the administration of the financial affairs of the Council. 

 

 (c) Contributing to corporate management.  The Chief Finance Officer will 
contribute to the corporate management of the Council, in particular through the 
provision of professional financial advice. 

 

 (d) Providing advice.  The Chief Finance Officer will provide advice on the scope of 
powers and authority to take decisions, maladministration, financial impropriety, 
probity and budget and policy framework issues to all Councillors and will support 
and advise Councillors and officers in their respective role. 

 

 (e) Give financial information.  The Chief Finance Officer will provide financial 
information to the media, members of the public and the community. 

 

12.5 Duty to provide sufficient resources to the Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance 

Officer 

 
 The Council will provide the Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer with such officers, 

accommodation and other resources as are in their opinion sufficient to allow their duties to 
be performed. 

 

12.6 Conduct 

 
 Officers will comply with the Officers’ Code of Conduct and the Protocol on Officer/Member 

Relations set out in part 5 of this Constitution. 
 

12.7 Employment 
 
 The recruitment, selection and dismissal of officers will comply with the Officer Employment 

Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

Page 33



Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated May 2022 

26 of 31 

 

Article 13 - Decision Making 

 

 
13.1     The Council will issue and keep up to date a record of what part of the Council or individual 

has    responsibility for particular types of decisions or decisions relating to particular areas 
or functions.  This record is set out in Part 3 of this Constitution. 

 

13.2 Principles of decision making 

 
 All decisions of the Council will be made in accordance with the following principles: 
 
 (a) decisions will be proportionate (i.e. actions must be proportionate to the desired       

outcome); 
 
 (b) decisions will be made after due consultation and taking of professional advice from 

officers; 
 
 (c) decisions will show respect for  human rights (see below for further details); 
 
 (d) decisions will be made with a presumption in favour of openness; 
 
 (e) decisions will be made which show a clarity of aims and desired outcomes. 
 
 (f) decisions will explain what options were considered and give the reasons for the 

decision 

 

13.3 Types of decision 

 
 (a) Decisions reserved to full Council.  Decisions relating to the functions listed in 

Article 4.2 will be made by the full Council and not delegated. 
 
 (b) Key decisions. 
 

I. A key decision is one which: 
 

(i) results in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or making savings 
which are, significant having regard to the Council’s budget for the 
service or the function to which it relates (and currently significant 
expenditure is taken to be revenue expenditure over £150 000 and 
capital expenditure over £200 000); or 

(ii) is likely to be significant in terms of its effect on communities in two or    
more wards of the Council. 

 
II. A decision taker may only make a key decision in accordance with the 

requirements of the Executive Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this 
Constitution. 

 

13.4 Decision making by the full Council 

 
 Subject to Article 13.8, the Council meeting will follow the Council Procedure Rules set out 

in Part 4 of this Constitution when considering any matter. 
 

 

Page 34



Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated May 2022 

27 of 31 

 

13.5 Decision making by the Cabinet 

 
 Subject to Article 13.8, the Cabinet will follow the Cabinet Procedures Rules set out in Part 

4 of this Constitution when considering any matter. 
 

13.6 Decision making by overview and scrutiny committees 
 
 Overview and scrutiny committees will follow the Overview and Scrutiny Procedures Rules 

set out in Part 4 of this Constitution when considering any matter. 
 

13.7 Decision making by other committees and sub-committees established by the 

Council 

 
 Subject to Article 13.8, other Council committees and sub-committees will follow those 

parts of the Council Procedures Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution as apply to 
them. 

 

13.8 Decision making by Council bodies acting as tribunals 
 
 The Council, a Councillor or an officer acting as a tribunal or in a quasi judicial manner or 

determining/considering (other than for the purposes of giving advice) the civil rights and 
obligations or the criminal responsibility of any person will follow a proper procedure which 
accords with the requirements of natural justice and the right to a fair trial contained in 
Article 6 of the European Convention on Human Rights. 

 

13.9 Following up decisions 
 

Those who make decisions will monitor and review their implementation and the officers 
who implement decisions will report on progress to the decision makers.  

 
 

Page 35



Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated May 2022 

28 of 31 

 

Article 14 - Finance, Contracts and Legal Matters 

 

 
14.1 Financial management 

 
 The management of the Council’s financial affairs will be conducted in accordance with the 

Financial Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 
 

14.2 Contracts 

 
 Every contract made by the Council will comply with the Contracts Procedure Rules set out 

in Part 4 of this Constitution. 
 

14.3 Legal proceedings 

 
 The Executive Director (Legal & Democratic Services) is authorised to institute, defend or 

participate in any legal proceedings in any case where such action is necessary to give 
effect to decisions of the Council or in any case where the Executive Director (Legal & 
Democratic Services) considers that such action is necessary to protect the Council’s 
interests. 

 

14.4 Authentication of documents 

 
 Where any document is necessary to any legal procedure or proceedings on behalf of the 

Council, it will be signed by the Executive Director (Legal & Democratic Services) or other 
person authorised by him/her, unless any enactment otherwise authorises or requires, or 
the Council has given requisite authority to some other person. 

 
 Any contract entered into on behalf of the Council in the course of the discharge of an 

executive function shall be made in writing.  Such contracts must either be signed by the 
relevant chief officer of the Council or made under the common seal of the Council attested 
by the Executive Director (Legal & Democratic Services). 

 

14.5 Common Seal of the Council 
 
 The Common Seal of the Council will be kept in a safe place in the custody of the 

Executive Director (Legal & Democratic Services).  A decision of the Council, or of any part 
of it, will be sufficient authority for sealing any document necessary to give effect to the 
decision.  The Common Seal will be affixed to those documents which in the opinion of the 
Executive Director (Legal & Democratic Services) should be sealed.  The affixing of the 
Common Seal will be attested by the Executive Director (Legal & Democratic Services) or 
some other person authorised by him/her. 

Page 36



Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated May 2022 

29 of 31 

 

Article 15 - Review and Revision of the Constitution 

 
15.1 Duty to monitor and review the constitution 

 
 The Standards Committee will monitor and review the operation of this Constitution to 

ensure that the aims and principles of the Constitution are given full effect.  A review will be 
undertaken if recommended by the Monitoring Officer or the Ombudsman or at the request 
of full Council. 

 
 

15.2 Changes to the Constitution 

 

 (a) Approval.  Subject to (c) below changes to the Constitution will only be approved 
by the full Council. 

 

 (b) Change from a leader and cabinet form of executive to alternative 

arrangements, or vice versa.  The Council must take reasonable steps to consult 
with local electors and other interested persons in Hyndburn when drawing up 
proposals. 

(c)       If in the reasonable opinion of the Monitoring Officer a change is: 

 required to remove an inconsistency, error or ambiguity; or 

 required to put into effect a Council decision; or 

 required to give effect to a change in the law 

the Monitoring Officer may make such a change. Such changes shall take effect 
immediately but shall be reported to the next Council meeting for information 
purposes. 

 

 
 
 

Page 37



Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated May 2022 

30 of 31 

 

Article 16 - Interpretation and Publication of the Constitution 

 
 
16.1 Suspension of the Constitution 

 
  

 (a) Limit to suspension.  The Articles of this Constitution may not be suspended.  The 
Rules specified below may be suspended by the full Council to the extent permitted 
within those Rules and the law. 

 

 (b) Procedure to suspend.  A motion to suspend any rules will not be moved without 
notice unless at least one half of the whole number of Councillors is present.  The 
extent and duration of suspension will be proportionate to the result to be achieved, 
taking account of the purposes of the Constitution set out in article 1. 

 
  
 

16.2 Interpretation 

 
 The ruling of the Chair as to the construction or application of this Constitution or as to any 

proceedings of the Council shall not be challenged at any meeting of the Council.  Such 
interpretation will have regard to the Purposes of this Constitution in Article 1. 

 

16.3 Publication 

 
  
 (a) The Executive Director (Legal & Democratic Services) will ensure that copies are 

available for inspection at Council offices and on the Council’s website, and can be 
purchased by members of the local press and the public on payment of a 
reasonable fee. 

 
(c) The Executive Director (Legal and Democratic Services) will ensure that the 

summary of the Constitution is updated as necessary.

Page 38



Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated May 2022 

31 of 31 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



  
 

 
1 of 2 

Municipal Year 2021/22 

PART 3 
 

RESPONSIBILITY FOR FUNCTIONS 
 

Responsibility for Functions 
 
1. Responsibility for Executive Functions 
 
 The Leader of the Council is responsible for determining who is responsible for the exercise of 

the Council’s executive functions. 

The Leader has determined that all executive functions of the Council are the responsibility of 
the Leader and Cabinet collectively (including the delegation of specific roles, tasks and 
decisions to officers) unless: 

(a) they are required by law  to be exercised by the full Council or one of its committees; or  

(b) the Leader appoints a cabinet committee to carry them out; or 

(c) the Leader delegates responsibility for the function to an officer of the Council. Details of 
such delegations are included in the Council’s scheme of delegation which is attached as 
Appendix 4 

The terms of reference of the leader and cabinet and any cabinet committees are attached in 
Appendix 1  

 
The Leader of the Council has determined that executive decisions shall not be taken by 
individual members of the Cabinet . However, members of the Cabinet each have a “portfolio”, 
which means they have a lead role in respect of certain Council functions and corporate 
themes. Details of the various portfolios Are attached in Appendix 1. 

 
2. Responsibility for Council functions 
 

Most non-executive functions are the responsibility of the Council. The Council has delegated 
responsibility for some of these functions to committees. Terms of reference for the full Council 
and its committees are attached in Appendix 1. 

 
3. Responsibility for Local Choice Functions 
 

There are some Council functions which can be exercised by either the executive or the 
Council and its committees, whichever the Council decides. These are known as “local choice 
functions”. Responsibility for the various local choice functions is set out in the terms of 
reference for the executive, the Council and its committees attached at Appendix 1. 

 
4. Panels and Boards 
 

There are a number of panels and boards within the Council. These are not decision making. 
They report and make recommendations to the body which appointed them, which will be 
either the Council or the executive. The terms of reference of the various panels and boards 
are attached in Appendix 3. 

 

Page 41



  
 

 
2 of 2 

Municipal Year 2021/22 

5 Delegation to Officers   
 

The Leader of the Council has delegated some executive functions to officers of the Council. 
Similarly, the Council has delegated some non-executive functions to officers. These 
delegations are recorded in the Councils scheme of delegation, which is attached in   Appendix 
4  
 
 

Page 42



  
 

Page 1 of 25 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated Mar 2022 

 

 

Terms of reference for: 
 

1. Full Council 

2. Leader and Cabinet 

3. Cabinet Committee (Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013) 

4. Cabinet Committee (Street naming) 

5. Cabinet Committee (land and property) 

6. Cabinet committee (digital economy) 

7. Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

8. Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

9. Special Overview & Scrutiny Committee 

10. Standards Committee 
 

11. Standards Committee - Hearing Sub-Committee 
 

12. Planning Committee 
 
13. Planning (Trees) Sub-Committee 
 
14. Judicial Committee (Private Hire and Hackney Carriage Licensing) 
 
15. Judicial Committee (External Funding)  
 
16.  Licensing Committee 
 
17.  Audit Committee 

 
18. Management Review Committee 

 

Page 43



  
 

Page 2 of 25 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated Mar 2022 

 

FULL COUNCIL 
 
 
 
MEMBERSHIP:              35 councillors  
 
REPORTS TO:              Council is the sovereign body for all non-executive matters           

 
 
 
TERMS OF REFERENCE: 

 

 To adopt and agree changes to the Council’s constitution 

 To appoint the leader of the Council in accordance with the Local Government Act 2000. 

 To remove and replace the leader and appoint a replacement. 

 Annually to appoint a mayor and deputy mayor (neither of whom may be the leader, deputy leader 
or a member of the cabinet). 

 To agree and amend the terms of reference of committees, determine their composition, make 
appointments to them, appoint the chair and vice chair and fill any casual vacancies which occur. 

 To agree the delegation of non-executive functions to officers. 

 To make appointments to outside bodies. 

 To make or confirm the appointment of the head of paid service, subject to compliance with the 
Officer Employment Procedure Rules. 

 To enact, alter, re-enact and revoke bylaws and promote or oppose the making of local legislation. 

 To determine the list of other officer posts reserved for member level appointment, having regard 
to any regulations made under the Local Government Act 2000 and to agree the procedure for 
recruitment and selection. 

 To change the name of the Borough. 

 To confer the title of Freedom of the Borough and to appoint honorary aldermen. 

 To adopt and agree any amendments to the Code of Conduct for Members of the Council. 

 To determine and delegate responsibility for all local choice functions prescribed by any 
regulations made under the Local Government Act 2000. 

 To take decisions in respect of non-executive functions which have not been delegated by the 
Council to committees, officers, joint arrangements or other local authorities. 

Page 44



  
 

Page 3 of 25 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated Mar 2022 

 

 To receive reports from the monitoring officer or chief finance officer in exercise of their statutory 
functions. 

 To receive reports from committees on the discharge of their functions. 

 To undertake any other matter that must, by law, be reserved to the Council. 

 To approve and amend the Council’s Petitions Scheme  

 To approve and amend the Council’s Pay Policy 

Budget and Policy Framework 

 To approve, amend and revoke the plans and strategies comprising the Council’s policy 
framework. 

 To agree the Council’s financial strategy and annual budget, including the following: 

the Council’s revenue and capital budgets and plans 

the Council Tax to be levied 

the borrowing limits 

 To make decisions on proposals for the exercise of executive functions which are not in 
accordance with the Council’s budget and / or policy framework 

 To determine the level and pensionability of members’ allowances, subject to any regulations 
made under the Local Government Act 2000. 

 To formulate a plan or strategy for the control of the Council’s borrowing, investments and / or 
capital expenditure 

Page 45



  
 

Page 4 of 25 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated Mar 2022 

 

LEADER AND CABINET 

 

MEMBERSHIP:           6 

 councillors 

REPORTS TO:            Leader and Cabinet is sovereign for all executive decisions 
 

TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 

MAIN TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 

To provide overall leadership to the Council and be responsible for all functions of the Council which 
are not the responsibility of any other part of the Council, whether by law or under this constitution. 

 
DETAILED TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 

 To formulate proposals for the Council’s budget and policy framework and make recommendations 
to the Council. 

 To formulate and approve all policies, plans and strategies not forming part of the Council’s policy 
framework. 

 To be responsible for the effective implementation of Council policy and for the delivery of Council 
services in line with those policies. 

 To manage the budget determined annually by the Council. 

 To report to the Council on projected variations to income and expenditure during the year. 

 To monitor the delivery of policies, services, projects and budgets during each year and make 
such adjustments, additions or other decisions as appropriate to achieve the Council’s overall 
objectives. 

 To ensure the delivery of best value, the continuous improvement in Council services and the 
implementation of best practice within the Council. 

 To develop appropriate consultation arrangements to enable the views of partner organisations, 
groups and the local community to be taken into account in decision-making. 

 To develop and approve partnerships and joint venture arrangements involving public, private or 
voluntary agencies to promote the economic, social and environmental well being of the Borough. 

 To make arrangements for the effective management of land and property in the Council’s 
ownership. 

Page 46



  
 

Page 5 of 25 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated Mar 2022 

 

 To submit recommendations to the Council in respect of decisions on executive functions where 
such decisions are not in accordance with the Council’s budget and policy framework. 

 To undertake the following local choice functions prescribed by regulations made under the Local 
Government Act 2000: 

 functions relating to contaminated land (Part IIA Environmental Protection Act 1990) 

 functions relating to control of pollution and management of air quality (Pollution Prevention 
and Control Act 1999, Environmental Protection Act 1990 and Clean Air Act 1993) 

 inspection and investigation of complaints of statutory nuisance (Environmental Protection Act 
1990) 

 the service of abatement notices in respect of statutory nuisance (Environmental Protection Act 
1990) 

 resolutions applying Schedule 2 Noise and Statutory Nuisance Act 1993 to the Borough 

 obtaining information as to interests in land or particulars of persons interested in land 
preliminary to the exercise of powers of compulsory purchase of land (Town & Country 
Planning Act 1990) 

 To form policy development boards to assist with and make recommendations for the 
development of Council policy. 

 To deal with matters relating to traffic regulation 

 To delegate responsibility for executive functions to officers (see note below). 

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE LEADER 

The Leader of the Council shall: 

 determine the size of the executive and appoint, remove and replace the deputy leader and other 
cabinet members. 

 allocate broad functional responsibilities and corporate themes to individual cabinet member 
(portfolios) and to adjust or reallocate those portfolios during the year. 

 delegate executive functions to cabinet committee’s, and officers of the Council  

 object on behalf of the Council to any proposed decision by the Council on the budget and policy 
framework, subject to the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules. 

Note: this function has been delegated to the Cabinet by the Leader of the Council 

Page 47



  
 

Page 6 of 25 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated Mar 2022 

 

CABINET COMMITTEE (SCRAP METAL DEALERS ACT 2013)  
 

MEMBERSHIP:          3 Members of Cabinet (with a quorum of 3) 

REPORTS TO:            Cabinet 
 

 
TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 

 To determine whether to grant, renew, revoke or vary scrap metal licences pursuant to the 
Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013 where the applicant or licensee (as the case may be) has 
informed the Council that they wish to make oral representations in accordance with 
paragraphs (7) and (8) of Schedule 1 of that Act 

 

 To discharge the Council’s functions under paragraph 8 Schedule 1 of the Scrap Metal 
Dealers Act 2013. 

 
 

 

Page 48



  
 

Page 7 of 25 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated Mar 2022 

 

CABINET COMMITTEE (STREET NAMING)  
 

MEMBERSHIP:          3 Members of Cabinet (with a quorum of 3) and a councillor nominated by the 
Leader of the main opposition group may attend 

REPORTS TO:            Cabinet 
 

 
TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 

 

 To discharge the Council’s functions in respect of the naming and renaming of streets 
pursuant to sections 17 and 18 Public Health Act 1925 

 

Page 49



  
 

Page 8 of 25 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated Mar 2022 

 

Cabinet Committee (Land and Property)  
 

MEMBERSHIP:           3 Members of Cabinet (with a quorum of 3) 

REPORTS TO:            Cabinet 
 

 
TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 

 To have oversight of the Council’s land and property holdings and the management 
thereof; and 

 To identify land and property that is surplus to the Council’s requirements and to identify 
sites that are suitable for disposal and to make recommendations to Cabinet accordingly; 
and 

 To monitor the progress of both acquisitions and disposals of land and property by the 
Council 

 

Page 50



  
 

Page 9 of 25 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated Mar 2022 

 

 
Cabinet Committee (Digital Economy)  

 

MEMBERSHIP:          3 Members of Cabinet (with a quorum of 3) 

REPORTS TO:            Cabinet 
 

 
TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 

 To consider the impact of the digital economy on the Borough, in particular in respect of its 
impact on town centres and retailers; and 

 To advise Cabinet and to formulate proposals and strategies in respect of the same for 
approval by Cabinet. 

Page 51



  
 

Page 10 of 25 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated Mar 2022 

 

 

COMMUNITIES AND WELLBEING OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 

MEMBERSHIP: 6 councillors, plus up to 3 non-voting co-optees 

REPORTS TO: Full Council 

 

MAIN TERMS OF REFERENCE: 

To monitor implementation of Hyndburn’s Community Strategy and the achievement of Community 
Strategy targets and objectives 

To monitor the implementation of the Council’s policies and strategies in respect of community safety 
and promote community safety across the Council’s policies and services 

In accordance with the Police and Justice Act 2006 to act as the Council’s crime and disorder 
committee by reviewing and scrutinising decisions made, or other action taken, by the responsible 
authorities in connection with the discharge of their crime and disorder functions  

To monitor the performance of external public service providers, the impact of those services on the 
wellbeing of the Borough and the contribution of those services to the achievement of Community 
Strategy objectives. 

To review and scrutinise and to make reports and recommendations on matters relating to education 
and health services in Hyndburn  

To monitor progress in respect of the development of sustainable communities, including 
neighbourhood management, sustainable market towns, regeneration and housing market renewal 

To conduct investigations and report in respect of issues affecting the wellbeing of the Borough or 
particular areas of the Borough 

To monitor progress in respect of safeguarding the environment 

DETAILED TERMS OF REFERENCE: 

 To scrutinise the work of the Cabinet falling within the committee’s terms of reference 

 To review and scrutinise the decisions made by and the performance of the Cabinet, committees 
and Council officers, both in relation to individual decisions and over time 

 To conduct research and community and other consultation in respect of issues impacting upon 
the well-being of the Borough or particular area of the Borough. 

 To question members of the Cabinet, committees and officers at service head level or above about 
their views on issues and proposals affecting the wellbeing of the Borough, including the 
implementation of the Community Strategy 

Page 52



  
 

Page 11 of 25 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated Mar 2022 

 

 To liaise with external organisations operating in the Borough, whether national, regional or local, 
to: 

 ensure that the interests of local people and the wellbeing of the Borough are enhanced by 
collaborative working; 

 monitor the effectiveness and impact of the services provided by such organisations 

 To review and scrutinise the performance of other public bodies in Hyndburn and invite reports 
from them by requesting them to address the committee about their activities and performance. 

 Monitor the Council’s contribution to the implementation of the Community Strategy 

 To make recommendations to the Cabinet and/or committees and/or the Council arising from the 
outcome of the scrutiny process. 

 To question and gather evidence from any person with their consent. 

 To exercise the right to call in, for reconsideration, decisions made but not yet implemented by the 
Cabinet (and/or area councils where these relate to executive functions) subject to the Overview 
and Scrutiny Procedure Rules. 

 To discuss topics of neighbourhood concern in response to a “councillor call for action” subject to 
the requirements of the Scrutiny Procedure Rules 

Page 53



  
 

Page 12 of 25 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated Mar 2022 

 

RESOURCES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
MEMBERSHIP: 9 councillors, plus up to 3 non-voting co-optees 
 
REPORTS TO: Full Council 

 
MAIN TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
To monitor the performance of Council services and make suggestions for service improvements 

To consider the Cabinet’s proposals to achieve a balanced budget in advance of the budget being 
determined by the Council 

To monitor the Council’s budgetary position throughout the year and advise in respect of possible 
efficiency savings and steps required to address any projected budget deficit 

To monitor and review the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy and Policies 

To assist with the development and review of Council policies and services, including those delivered 
in partnership 

 

DETAILED TERMS OF REFERENCE 

 To scrutinise the work of the Cabinet falling within the Committee’s terms of reference 

 To review and scrutinise the decisions made by, and the performance of, the Cabinet, committees 
and Council officers, both in relation to individual decisions and over time. 

 To review and scrutinise the performance of the Council in relation to its policy objectives, 
performance targets and/or particular service areas. 

 To question members of the Cabinet and/or committees and officers at service head level or above 
about their decisions and performance, whether generally in comparison with service plans and 
targets over a period of time, or in relation to particular decisions, initiatives and projects. 

 To make recommendations to the Cabinet and/or committees and/or the Council arising from the 
outcome of the scrutiny process. 

 To assist the Council and the Cabinet in the development of the Council’s budget and policy 
framework by in depth analysis of policy issues. 

 To conduct research, community and other consultation in the analysis of policy issues and 
possible options. 

 To consider and implement mechanisms to encourage and enhance community participation in the 
development of policy options. 

 To question members of the Cabinet, committees and officers at service head level or above about 
their views on issues and proposals affecting the Borough. 

 To question and gather evidence from any person with their consent. 

Page 54



  
 

Page 13 of 25 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated Mar 2022 

 

 To exercise the right to call in, for reconsideration, decisions made but not yet implemented by the 
Cabinet (and/or area councils where these relate to executive functions) subject to the Overview 
and Scrutiny Procedure Rules. 

 To discuss topics of neighbourhood concern in response to a “councillor call for action”, subject to 
the requirements of the Scrutiny Procedure Rules 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 55



  
 

Page 14 of 25 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated Mar 2022 

 

SPECIAL OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
MEMBERSHIP: 6 councillors, plus up to 2 non-voting co-optees 
 
REPORTS TO: Full Council 

 
TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
In connection with the following: 

- bids to the Levelling Up Fund; 

- the County Deal 

- devolution issues 

- Accrington Town Centre 

 to review and scrutinise decisions made by the Cabinet falling within the Committee’s terms of 

reference; and 

 to make recommendations to the Cabinet and/or committees and/or the Council arising from the 

outcome of the scrutiny process; and 

 to consider mechanisms to encourage and enhance community participation in the development of 

policy options; and 

 to question and gather evidence from any person with their consent; and 

 to exercise the right to call in, for reconsideration, decisions made but not yet implemented by the 

Cabinet (and/or area councils where these relate to executive functions) subject to the Overview 

and Scrutiny Procedure Rules. 

 
 
 

Page 56



  
 

Page 15 of 25 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated Mar 2022 

 

STANDARDS COMMITTEE 

 
MEMBERSHIP: 7 councillors, and 3 non-voting representatives of Altham Parish Council 
 
REPORTS TO: Full Council 
 

 
MAIN TERMS OF REFERENCE 

 
To promote and maintain high standards of conduct by members, co-opted members and officers of 
the Council and Altham Parish Council 

 
 
DETAILED TERMS OF REFERENCE 

 To advise the Council on the adoption and revision of the members’ code of conduct and to 
monitor the operation of the members code of conduct 

 To advise, train or arrange to train councillors and co-opted members on matters relating to the 
members code of conduct. 

 To consider reports from the monitoring officer on complaints or investigations undertaken in 
respect of the conduct of councillors  

 To undertake the above functions in respect of Altham Parish Council 

 To consider and determine requests from any member or co-opted member who has a financial or 
other interest which would prevent or restrict them from participating in any business before the 
Council for a dispensation in accordance with any regulations governing the grant of such 
dispensations. 

 To monitor the operation of the Council’s Member / Officer Relations Protocol, Planning Code of 
Conduct, Licensing Code of Conduct, Joint Venture Protocol and any other local codes or 
protocols relating to member or officer conduct  

 To monitor the operation of and advise on revisions to the Council’s code of conduct for  
employees  

 To monitor the operation of and advise on revisions to the Council’s whistleblowing policy 

 To monitor the outcome of investigations by the Local Government Ombudsman 

 To monitor the operation of and advise on revision of the Council’s constitution 

 To monitor the operation of and advise on revisions to the Council’s complaints handling 
procedures 

 To advise the Council on the introduction or revision of policies relating to ethical matters  

 To make delegations to officers within its terms of reference 

Page 57



  
 

Page 16 of 25 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated Mar 2022 

 

STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
 

HEARING SUB-COMMITTEE 
 
MEMBERSHIP 
 
For matters relating to  2 members, plus 1 non-voting independent person 
Hyndburn Borough   
Council 
 
For matters relating to  2 members, plus 1 independent person and 1 
Altham Parish           parish representative 
Council   
 
The Sub-Committee shall not include any member, independent person or parish representative who 
has already considered the allegation to be determined. 
 
MAIN TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
To hear complaints against members of Hyndburn Borough Council and Altham Parish Council 
following investigation by the Monitoring Officer, to determine whether there has been a breach of the 
relevant member code of conduct and, where appropriate, to  impose a sanction. 
 
DETAILED TERMS OF REFERENCE 

 
1. To conduct the hearing of an allegation that a councillor or parish councillor is in breach of the 

relevant code of conduct and to do so in accordance with the law and the Council’s procedures for 
dealing with such hearings . 

2. To make one of the following findings at the conclusion of a hearing: 

a.      that the subject member has not failed to comply with the code of conduct; or 

b.       that the subject member has failed to comply with the code of conduct but that no action 
needs to be taken in respect of the matters considered at the hearing; or 

c.      that the subject member has failed to comply with the code of conduct and that a sanction 
should be imposed. 

3. Following a determination in accordance with paragraph 3c above, to impose any one, or any 
combination of, the following sanctions: 

 Censure 

 Recommendation to Council that the subject member be  removed a member from any 

committee or sub-committee  

 Recommendation to the Leader of the Council that the subject member be removed 

from Cabinet or their portfolio responsibilities changed 

 Recommendation to the subject member that he or she  undergo training 

Page 58



  
 

Page 17 of 25 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated Mar 2022 

 

 Recommendation to Council that the subject member be  removed from outside 

appointments / bodies 

 Withdrawal of Council facilities (provided this is proportionate and provided the member 

concerned is still allowed access to Council and committee meetings) 

 Exclusion from Council premises (provided this is proportionate and provided the 

member concerned is still allowed access to Council and committee meetings) 

 

Page 59



  
 

Page 18 of 25 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated Mar 2022 

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 

MEMBERSHIP:           13 councillors 

REPORTS TO:            full Council 

 

TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 

MAIN TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
To discharge the Council’s functions relating to town and country planning and development control as 
specified in Schedule 1 Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000 
(“the 2000 Regulations”) in so far as these have not been delegated to the Chief Planning and 
Transportation Officer - this excludes the preparation of the local plan, the production of 
supplementary planning guidance, the designation of conservation areas and the removal of permitted 
development rights, which are executive functions. 
 
DETAILED TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
PLANNING CONTROL 
 

 To determine all applications for planning permission, listed building consent, conservation area 
consent, hazardous substances consent and advertisement consent which have not been 
delegated to the Chief Planning & Transportation Officer. 

The applications referred to are those made pursuant to Part III Town and County Planning 
Act, Part I Chapter II Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. The 
Planning (Hazardous Substances) Act 1990 and the Town and Country Planning (Control of 
Advertisements) Regulations 1991 or any enactment or regulations which replace or amend 
them 

 To enforce planning control (including advertisements and land which is detrimental to local 
amenity) 

 To handle all matters relating to trees and hedgerows (including the matters referred to in the 
terms of reference of the Planning (Trees) Sub-Committee) which have not been delegated to the 
Chief Planning & Transportation Officer 

 To consider and determine applications for certificates of lawful use and lawful development 

 To exercise local planning authority powers relating to highways 

 To consult with the Secretary of State and other planning authorities 

 To advise the leader and cabinet on the content of the draft local and structure plans and the local 
transport plan 

Page 60



  
 

Page 19 of 25 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated Mar 2022 

 

 To make any other non-executive decision within the responsibility of the local planning authority 
which has not been delegated to the Chief Planning & Transportation Officer 

 To authorise agreements regulating the development or use of land. 

 To revoke planning permissions. 

 To register common land and town and village greens. 

 To register the variation of rights of common. 

 To discharge the Council’s powers under Part 8 Anti-social Behaviour Act 2003 (relating to high 
hedges) 

 To exercise the Council’s powers and duties under sections 20-23, 25 and 26 Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 relating to local development documents which are development 
plan documents 

 To decide whether to permit or refuse to permit the exercise of permitted development rights 
pursuant to the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (Amendment) 
(England) Order 2013 where an objection has been received from the owner or occupier of 
adjoining land or premises. 

 To exercise the Council’s powers and duties under sections 150 and 151 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 2016, the Town and Country Planning (Brownfield Land Register) Regulations 2017 
and the Town and Country Planning Act 2016, the Town and Country Planning (Permission in 
Principle) Order 2017 

RIGHTS OF WAY 

 To discharge the Council’s functions relating to public rights of way as specified in Schedule 1 of 
the 2000 Regulations 

BUILDING CONTROL 

 To deal with all matters connected with the determination of applications under and enforcement of 
Building Regulations and the Building Acts not delegated to the Chief Planning & Transportation 
Officer 

 To make decisions under local Acts concerning building work 

 To set charges under the Building (Local Authority Charges) Regulations 2010 

Page 61



  
 

Page 20 of 25 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated Mar 2022 

 

PLANNING (TREES) SUB-COMMITTEE 

 

MEMBERSHIP:           5 councillors (who must be members of the Planning Committee) 

REPORTS TO:            Planning Committee 

 

TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
 

1. To exercise all the powers and duties conferred on the Council by Part VIII Chapter 1 (sections 
197 – 214D of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) and the Town and 
Country Planning (Tree Preservation) (England) Regulations 2012 and any replacement or 
amending legislation or regulations.  

2. Without prejudice to the generality of the forgoing, to make and confirm tree preservation 
orders, to determine objections to the making of tree preservation orders, to revoke or vary tree 
preservation orders and to grant consent for the felling or the carrying out of work to any trees 
or woodlands protected by a tree preservation order or which are located in a conservation 
area. 

3. To exercise all powers and duties conferred on the Council by the Hedgerows Regulations 
1997 and Part 8 (sections 65 – 84) Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003 (High Hedges). 

4. To authorise an officer or other suitably qualified and / or experienced person to exercise any 
functions of the Planning (Trees) Sub-Committee 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 62



  
 

Page 21 of 25 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated Mar 2022 

 

 
JUDICIAL COMMITTEE (PRIVATE HIRE AND HACKNEY CARRIAGE LICENSING) 

 

MEMBERSHIP:   6 councillors 

REPORTS TO:    Full Council 

 

MAIN TERMS OF REFERENCE: 

To deal with all matters where the Council is required to adjudicate between two or more opposing 
views and reach a decision in a quasi-judicial manner where such decision is not required to be the 
function of the leader and cabinet by virtue of the Local Authorities (Functions and 
Responsibilities)(England) Regulations 2000 (“the 2000 Regulations”). 
 
DETAILED TERMS OF REFERENCE: 

 To discharge the Council’s licensing and regulatory functions as specified in Schedule 1 of the 
2000 Regulations and in particular, to determine applications and proposals for the grant, renewal 
amendment, transfer, revocation or refusal of licences, permits and consents relating to the 
following, where the decision has not been delegated to the Council’s Executive Director (Legal & 
Democratic Services): 

Hackney carriages 

Private hire vehicles 

 To determine any other matter that falls within the general terms of reference above and which has 
not been delegated to any other committee of the Council 

 To make delegations to officers within its terms of reference 

Page 63



  
 

Page 22 of 25 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated Mar 2022 

 

JUDICIAL COMMITTEE (EXTERNAL FUNDING) 
 

 

MEMBERSHIP:   5 councillors 

REPORTS TO:   Full Council 

 

TERMS OF REFERENCE: 

 

 At the request of the Cabinet to consider and make recommendations to the Cabinet on Cabinet 
proposals for the allocation of grant assistance  to external organisations and individuals in respect 
of grant applications made by voluntary and community groups and individuals active within the 
Borough. 

 To make delegations to officers within its terms of reference 
 
 
 
NOTE: The rules of debate contained in Rule 14 of the Council Procedure Rules  (in Part 4 of this 
constitution) shall not apply to proceedings of this Sub-committee. 
 
 
 
 

Page 64



  
 

Page 23 of 25 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated Mar 2022 

 

LICENSING COMMITTEE 
 

MEMBERSHIP:                 14 councillors 
 
REPORTS TO :                  Full Council 
 
 
MAIN TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
To deal with all matters where the Council is required under the Licensing Act 2003 to refer that matter 
to the Licensing Committee or where it is required to adjudicate between two or more opposing views 
and reach a decision in a quasi-judicial manner where such decision is not required to be the function 
of the leader and cabinet by virtue of the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) 
Regulations 2000 as amended (“the 2000 Regulations”) 
 
DETAILED TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 

 To discharge the Council’s functions under the Licensing Act 2003 with the exception of: 

o making a statement of licensing policy; and 

o any function or matter referred to another committee in accordance with the scheme of 
delegation contained in the Statement of Licensing Policy 

in accordance with the scheme of delegation contained in the Statement of Licensing Policy 

 To appoint a chair, vice-chair and two sub-committee chairs 

 To determine whether to grant, renew, revoke or vary  scrap metal licences pursuant to the Scrap Metal 
Dealers Act 2013 where the applicant or licensee (as the case may be) has informed the Council that 
they wish to make oral representations in accordance with paragraphs (7) and (8) of Schedule 1 of that 
Act 

 To appoint from time to time a Licensing Sub-Committee to discharge its functions under the Licensing 
Act 2003, the Gambling Act 2005 and paragraph 8 Schedule 1 of the Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013 
subject to the following provisions: 

o The Licensing Sub-Committee shall comprise 3 members of the Licensing Committee, one of 
whom must be the chair or vice chair of the Licensing Committee or one of the chairs of the 
Licensing Sub-Committee 

o The quorum of the Licensing Sub-Committee shall be 3 

o The membership of the Licensing Sub-Committee is not required to be proportionately 
representative of the political balance of the Council 

 To discharge the Council’s licensing and regulatory functions as specified in Schedule 1 of the 2000 
Regulations and in particular to determine applications and proposals for the grant, renewal, 
amendment, transfer, revocation and refusal of licences, permits and consents relating to the following 
where the decision has not been delegated to the Council’s officers: 

Street and house-to-house collections 

Sex establishments 

 To discharge the Council’s functions under the Gambling Act 2005 except for the functions under 
section 349 (publication of statement of licensing policy), section 166 (issue of casino licenses) and 
section 212 (setting of fees for licenses) 

 

Page 65



  
 

Page 24 of 25 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated Mar 2022 

 

 
AUDIT COMMITTEE 

 
 

MEMBERSHIP:                           6 councillors 
 
 
REPORTS TO:                           Full Council 
 
 
 
MAIN TERMS OF REFERENCE: 
 

 To monitor the operation and performance of the Council’s internal and external audit services 

 To consider the audit plan, management letter and other audit related issues and discuss the 
same with the Council’s external auditor 

 To approve (but not direct) the strategy, plan and performance of the Council’s internal audit 
service 

 To review summary internal audit reports and the main issues arising, and seek assurance that 
action has been taken where necessary 

 To consider the reports of external audit and inspection agencies 

 To consider the effectiveness of the Council’s risk management arrangements and control 
environment and seek assurances that action is being taken on risk related issues identified by 
auditors and inspectors 

 To satisfy itself that the Council’s assurance statements, including the annual governance 
statement, properly reflect the risk environment and any actions required to improve it 

 To ensure that there are effective relationships between the Council’s internal and external 
audit services and other agencies  

 To review financial statements, external auditors opinion and reports and monitor management 
action in response to issues raised by external audit. 

 To approve expenditure out of any items of unspent budget allocation identified in the final 
accounts for the immediately preceding financial year 

 To approve the Council’s final accounts on behalf of the Council. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 66



  
 

Page 25 of 25 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated Mar 2022 

 

 

 

MANAGEMENT REVIEW COMMITTEE 
 
 

MEMBERSHIP: Leader and Deputy Leader of the Council and the Leader of each of the 
   other political groups on the Council or their respective nominees. 
 
 
 
REPORTS TO: Council 
 
 
 
MAIN TERMS OF REFERENCE: 
 
 

 To review the terms and conditions of employment of the Council’s Chief Executive and 
Deputy Chief Executive and to agree any changes to the same deemed necessary 
following such review. In carrying out a review to obtain such internal or external support 
and advice that is required to enable a review to be fully and properly undertaken. 

 To determine the collective terms and conditions of employment of employees of the 
Council 

 To agree changes to staffing structures where these fall outside the scope of the scheme of 
delegation to officers 

 To agree the regrading of posts where this falls outside the scope of the scheme of 
delegation to officers 

 To consider and determine disciplinary appeals in respect of Chief Officers1 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                
 

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



  
 

Page 1 of 24 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

Appendix 1 
 
 
Terms of reference for: 
 

1. Full Council 

2. Leader and Cabinet 

3. Cabinet Committee (Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013) 

4. Cabinet Committee (Street naming) 

5. Cabinet Committee (land and property) 

6. Cabinet committee (digital economy) 

7. Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

8. Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

9. Standards Committee 
 

10. Standards Committee - Hearing Sub-Committee 
 

11. Planning Committee 
 
12. Planning (Trees) Sub-Committee 
 
13. Judicial Committee (Private Hire and Hackney Carriage Licensing) 
 
14. Judicial Committee (External Funding)  
 
15.  Licensing Committee 
 
16.  Audit Committee 

 
17. Management Review Committee 

 

Page 69



  
 

Page 2 of 24 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

FULL COUNCIL 
 
 
 
MEMBERSHIP:              35 councillors  
 
REPORTS TO:              Council is the sovereign body for all non-executive matters           

 
 
 
TERMS OF REFERENCE: 

 

 To adopt and agree changes to the Council’s constitution 

 To appoint the leader of the Council in accordance with the Local Government Act 2000. 

 To remove and replace the leader and appoint a replacement. 

 Annually to appoint a mayor and deputy mayor (neither of whom may be the leader, deputy leader 
or a member of the cabinet). 

 To agree and amend the terms of reference of committees, determine their composition, make 
appointments to them, appoint the chair and vice chair and fill any casual vacancies which occur. 

 To agree the delegation of non-executive functions to officers. 

 To make appointments to outside bodies. 

 To make or confirm the appointment of the head of paid service, subject to compliance with the 
Officer Employment Procedure Rules. 

 To enact, alter, re-enact and revoke bylaws and promote or oppose the making of local legislation. 

 To determine the list of other officer posts reserved for member level appointment, having regard 
to any regulations made under the Local Government Act 2000 and to agree the procedure for 
recruitment and selection. 

 To change the name of the Borough. 

 To confer the title of Freedom of the Borough and to appoint honorary aldermen. 

 To adopt and agree any amendments to the Code of Conduct for Members of the Council. 

 To determine and delegate responsibility for all local choice functions prescribed by any 
regulations made under the Local Government Act 2000. 

 To take decisions in respect of non-executive functions which have not been delegated by the 
Council to committees, officers, joint arrangements or other local authorities. 

 To receive reports from the monitoring officer or chief finance officer in exercise of their statutory 
functions. 

Page 70



  
 

Page 3 of 24 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

 To receive reports from committees on the discharge of their functions. 

 To undertake any other matter that must, by law, be reserved to the Council. 

 To approve and amend the Council’s Petitions Scheme  

 To approve and amend the Council’s Pay Policy 

Budget and Policy Framework 

 To approve, amend and revoke the plans and strategies comprising the Council’s policy 
framework. 

 To agree the Council’s financial strategy and annual budget, including the following: 

the Council’s revenue and capital budgets and plans 

the Council Tax to be levied 

the borrowing limits 

 To make decisions on proposals for the exercise of executive functions which are not in 
accordance with the Council’s budget and / or policy framework 

 To determine the level and pensionability of members’ allowances, subject to any regulations 
made under the Local Government Act 2000. 

 To formulate a plan or strategy for the control of the Council’s borrowing, investments and / or 
capital expenditure 

Page 71



  
 

Page 4 of 24 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

LEADER AND CABINET 

 

MEMBERSHIP:           5 

 councillors 

REPORTS TO:            Leader and Cabinet is sovereign for all executive decisions 
 

TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 

MAIN TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 

To provide overall leadership to the Council and be responsible for all functions of the Council which 
are not the responsibility of any other part of the Council, whether by law or under this constitution. 

 
DETAILED TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 

 To formulate proposals for the Council’s budget and policy framework and make recommendations 
to the Council. 

 To formulate and approve all policies, plans and strategies not forming part of the Council’s policy 
framework. 

 To be responsible for the effective implementation of Council policy and for the delivery of Council 
services in line with those policies. 

 To manage the budget determined annually by the Council. 

 To report to the Council on projected variations to income and expenditure during the year. 

 To monitor the delivery of policies, services, projects and budgets during each year and make 
such adjustments, additions or other decisions as appropriate to achieve the Council’s overall 
objectives. 

 To ensure the delivery of best value, the continuous improvement in Council services and the 
implementation of best practice within the Council. 

 To develop appropriate consultation arrangements to enable the views of partner organisations, 
groups and the local community to be taken into account in decision-making. 

 To develop and approve partnerships and joint venture arrangements involving public, private or 
voluntary agencies to promote the economic, social and environmental well being of the Borough. 

 To make arrangements for the effective management of land and property in the Council’s 
ownership. 

 To submit recommendations to the Council in respect of decisions on executive functions where 
such decisions are not in accordance with the Council’s budget and policy framework. 

Page 72



  
 

Page 5 of 24 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

 To undertake the following local choice functions prescribed by regulations made under the Local 
Government Act 2000: 

 functions relating to contaminated land (Part IIA Environmental Protection Act 1990) 

 functions relating to control of pollution and management of air quality (Pollution Prevention 
and Control Act 1999, Environmental Protection Act 1990 and Clean Air Act 1993) 

 inspection and investigation of complaints of statutory nuisance (Environmental Protection Act 
1990) 

 the service of abatement notices in respect of statutory nuisance (Environmental Protection Act 
1990) 

 resolutions applying Schedule 2 Noise and Statutory Nuisance Act 1993 to the Borough 

 obtaining information as to interests in land or particulars of persons interested in land 
preliminary to the exercise of powers of compulsory purchase of land (Town & Country 
Planning Act 1990) 

 To form policy development boards to assist with and make recommendations for the 
development of Council policy. 

 To deal with matters relating to traffic regulation 

 To delegate responsibility for executive functions to officers (see note below). 

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE LEADER 

The Leader of the Council shall: 

 determine the size of the executive and appoint, remove and replace the deputy leader and other 
cabinet members. 

 allocate broad functional responsibilities and corporate themes to individual cabinet member 
(portfolios) and to adjust or reallocate those portfolios during the year. 

 delegate executive functions to cabinet committee’s, and officers of the Council  

 object on behalf of the Council to any proposed decision by the Council on the budget and policy 
framework, subject to the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules. 

Note: this function has been delegated to the Cabinet by the Leader of the Council 

Page 73



  
 

Page 6 of 24 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

CABINET COMMITTEE (SCRAP METAL DEALERS ACT 2013)  
 

MEMBERSHIP:          3 Members of Cabinet (with a quorum of 3) 

REPORTS TO:            Cabinet 
 

 
TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 

 To determine whether to grant, renew, revoke or vary scrap metal licences pursuant to the 
Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013 where the applicant or licensee (as the case may be) has 
informed the Council that they wish to make oral representations in accordance with 
paragraphs (7) and (8) of Schedule 1 of that Act 

 

 To discharge the Council’s functions under paragraph 8 Schedule 1 of the Scrap Metal 
Dealers Act 2013. 

 
 

 

Page 74



  
 

Page 7 of 24 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

CABINET COMMITTEE (STREET NAMING)  
 

MEMBERSHIP:          3 Members of Cabinet (with a quorum of 3) and a councillor nominated by the 
Leader of the main opposition group may attend 

REPORTS TO:            Cabinet 
 

 
TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 

 

 To discharge the Council’s functions in respect of the naming and renaming of streets 
pursuant to sections 17 and 18 Public Health Act 1925 

 

Page 75



  
 

Page 8 of 24 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

Cabinet Committee (Land and Property)  
 

MEMBERSHIP:           3 Members of Cabinet (with a quorum of 3) 

REPORTS TO:            Cabinet 
 

 
TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 

 To have oversight of the Council’s land and property holdings and the management 
thereof; and 

 To identify land and property that is surplus to the Council’s requirements and to identify 
sites that are suitable for disposal and to make recommendations to Cabinet accordingly; 
and 

 To monitor the progress of both acquisitions and disposals of land and property by the 
Council 

 

Page 76



  
 

Page 9 of 24 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

 
Cabinet Committee (Digital Economy)  

 

MEMBERSHIP:          3 Members of Cabinet (with a quorum of 3) 

REPORTS TO:            Cabinet 
 

 
TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 

 To consider the impact of the digital economy on the Borough, in particular in respect of its 
impact on town centres and retailers; and 

 To advise Cabinet and to formulate proposals and strategies in respect of the same for 
approval by Cabinet. 

Page 77



  
 

Page 10 of 24 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

 

COMMUNITIES AND WELLBEING OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 

MEMBERSHIP: 6 councillors, plus up to 4 non-voting co-optees 

REPORTS TO: Full Council 

 

MAIN TERMS OF REFERENCE: 

To monitor implementation of Hyndburn’s Community Strategy and the achievement of Community 
Strategy targets and objectives 

To monitor the implementation of the Council’s policies and strategies in respect of community safety 
and promote community safety across the Council’s policies and services 

In accordance with the Police and Justice Act 2006 to act as the Council’s crime and disorder 
committee by reviewing and scrutinising decisions made, or other action taken, by the responsible 
authorities in connection with the discharge of their crime and disorder functions  

To monitor the performance of external public service providers, the impact of those services on the 
wellbeing of the Borough and the contribution of those services to the achievement of Community 
Strategy objectives. 

To review and scrutinise and to make reports and recommendations on matters relating to education 
and health services in Hyndburn  

To monitor progress in respect of the development of sustainable communities, including 
neighbourhood management, sustainable market towns, regeneration and housing market renewal 

To conduct investigations and report in respect of issues affecting the wellbeing of the Borough or 
particular areas of the Borough 

To monitor progress in respect of safeguarding the environment 

DETAILED TERMS OF REFERENCE: 

 To scrutinise the work of the Cabinet falling within the committee’s terms of reference 

 To review and scrutinise the decisions made by and the performance of the Cabinet, committees 
and Council officers, both in relation to individual decisions and over time 

 To conduct research and community and other consultation in respect of issues impacting upon 
the well-being of the Borough or particular area of the Borough. 

 To question members of the Cabinet, committees and officers at service head level or above about 
their views on issues and proposals affecting the wellbeing of the Borough, including the 
implementation of the Community Strategy 

Page 78



  
 

Page 11 of 24 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

 To liaise with external organisations operating in the Borough, whether national, regional or local, 
to: 

 ensure that the interests of local people and the wellbeing of the Borough are enhanced by 
collaborative working; 

 monitor the effectiveness and impact of the services provided by such organisations 

 To review and scrutinise the performance of other public bodies in Hyndburn and invite reports 
from them by requesting them to address the committee about their activities and performance. 

 Monitor the Council’s contribution to the implementation of the Community Strategy 

 To make recommendations to the Cabinet and/or committees and/or the Council arising from the 
outcome of the scrutiny process. 

 To question and gather evidence from any person with their consent. 

 To exercise the right to call in, for reconsideration, decisions made but not yet implemented by the 
Cabinet (and/or area councils where these relate to executive functions) subject to the Overview 
and Scrutiny Procedure Rules. 

 To discuss topics of neighbourhood concern in response to a “councillor call for action” subject to 
the requirements of the Scrutiny Procedure Rules 

Page 79



  
 

Page 12 of 24 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

RESOURCES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
MEMBERSHIP: 8 councillors, plus up to 4 non-voting co-optees 
 
REPORTS TO: Full Council 

 
MAIN TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
To monitor the performance of Council services and make suggestions for service improvements 

To consider the Cabinet’s proposals to achieve a balanced budget in advance of the budget being 
determined by the Council 

To monitor the Council’s budgetary position throughout the year and advise in respect of possible 
efficiency savings and steps required to address any projected budget deficit 

To monitor and review the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy and Policies 

To assist with the development and review of Council policies and services, including those delivered 
in partnership 

 

DETAILED TERMS OF REFERENCE 

 To scrutinise the work of the Cabinet falling within the Committee’s terms of reference 

 To review and scrutinise the decisions made by, and the performance of, the Cabinet, committees 
and Council officers, both in relation to individual decisions and over time. 

 To review and scrutinise the performance of the Council in relation to its policy objectives, 
performance targets and/or particular service areas. 

 To question members of the Cabinet and/or committees and officers at service head level or above 
about their decisions and performance, whether generally in comparison with service plans and 
targets over a period of time, or in relation to particular decisions, initiatives and projects. 

 To make recommendations to the Cabinet and/or committees and/or the Council arising from the 
outcome of the scrutiny process. 

 To assist the Council and the Cabinet in the development of the Council’s budget and policy 
framework by in depth analysis of policy issues. 

 To conduct research, community and other consultation in the analysis of policy issues and 
possible options. 

 To consider and implement mechanisms to encourage and enhance community participation in the 
development of policy options. 

 To question members of the Cabinet, committees and officers at service head level or above about 
their views on issues and proposals affecting the Borough. 

 To question and gather evidence from any person with their consent. 

Page 80



  
 

Page 13 of 24 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

 To exercise the right to call in, for reconsideration, decisions made but not yet implemented by the 
Cabinet (and/or area councils where these relate to executive functions) subject to the Overview 
and Scrutiny Procedure Rules. 

 To discuss topics of neighbourhood concern in response to a “councillor call for action”, subject to 
the requirements of the Scrutiny Procedure Rules 

Page 81



  
 

Page 14 of 24 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

STANDARDS COMMITTEE 

 
MEMBERSHIP: 4 councillors, and 3 non-voting representatives of Altham Parish Council 
 
REPORTS TO: Full Council 
 

 
MAIN TERMS OF REFERENCE 

 
To promote and maintain high standards of conduct by members, co-opted members and officers of 
the Council and Altham Parish Council 

 
 
DETAILED TERMS OF REFERENCE 

 To advise the Council on the adoption and revision of the members’ code of conduct. 

 To monitor the operation of the members code of conduct 

 To advise, train or arrange to train councillors and co-opted members on matters relating to the 
members code of conduct. 

 To consider reports from the monitoring officer on complaints or investigations undertaken in 
respect of the conduct of councillors  

 To undertake the above functions in respect of Altham Parish Council 

 To consider and determine requests from any member or co-opted member who has a financial or 
other interest which would prevent or restrict them from participating in any business before the 
Council for a dispensation in accordance with any regulations governing the grant of such 
dispensations. 

 To monitor the operation of the Council’s Member / Officer Relations Protocol, Planning Code of 
Conduct, Licensing Code of Conduct, Joint Venture Protocol and any other local codes or 
protocols relating to member or officer conduct  

 To monitor the operation of and advise on revisions to the Council’s code of conduct for  
employees  

 To monitor the operation of and advise on revisions to the Council’s whistleblowing policy 

 To monitor the outcome of investigations by the Local Government Ombudsman 

 To monitor the operation of and advise on revision of the Council’s constitution 

 To monitor the operation of and advise on revisions to the Council’s complaints handling 
procedures 

 To advise the Council on the introduction or revision of policies relating to ethical matters  

 To make delegations to officers within its terms of reference 

Page 82



  
 

Page 15 of 24 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
 

HEARING SUB-COMMITTEE 
 
MEMBERSHIP 
 
For matters relating to  2 members, plus 1 non-voting independent person 
Hyndburn Borough   
Council 
 
For matters relating to  2 members, plus 1 independent person and 1 
Altham Parish           parish representative 
Council   
 
The Sub-Committee shall not include any member, independent person or parish representative who 
has already considered the allegation to be determined. 
 
MAIN TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
To hear complaints against members of Hyndburn Borough Council and Altham Parish Council 
following investigation by the Monitoring Officer, to determine whether there has been a breach of the 
relevant member code of conduct and, where appropriate, to  impose a sanction. 
 
DETAILED TERMS OF REFERENCE 

 
1. To conduct the hearing of an allegation that a councillor or parish councillor is in breach of the 

relevant code of conduct and to do so in accordance with the law and the Council’s procedures for 
dealing with such hearings . 

2. To make one of the following findings at the conclusion of a hearing: 

a.      that the subject member has not failed to comply with the code of conduct; or 

b.       that the subject member has failed to comply with the code of conduct but that no action 
needs to be taken in respect of the matters considered at the hearing; or 

c.      that the subject member has failed to comply with the code of conduct and that a sanction 
should be imposed. 

3. Following a determination in accordance with paragraph 3c above, to impose any one, or any 
combination of, the following sanctions: 

 Censure 

 Recommendation to Council that the subject member be  removed a member from any 

committee or sub-committee  

 Recommendation to the Leader of the Council that the subject member be removed 

from Cabinet or their portfolio responsibilities changed 

 Recommendation to the subject member that he or she  undergo training 

Page 83



  
 

Page 16 of 24 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

 Recommendation to Council that the subject member be  removed from outside 

appointments / bodies 

 Withdrawal of Council facilities (provided this is proportionate and provided the member 

concerned is still allowed access to Council and committee meetings) 

 Exclusion from Council premises (provided this is proportionate and provided the 

member concerned is still allowed access to Council and committee meetings) 

 

Page 84



  
 

Page 17 of 24 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 

MEMBERSHIP:           13 councillors 

REPORTS TO:            full Council 

 

TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 

MAIN TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
To discharge the Council’s functions relating to town and country planning and development control as 
specified in Schedule 1 Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000 
(“the 2000 Regulations”) in so far as these have not been delegated to the Chief Planning and 
Transportation Officer - this excludes the preparation of the local plan, the production of 
supplementary planning guidance, the designation of conservation areas and the removal of permitted 
development rights, which are executive functions. 
 
DETAILED TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
PLANNING CONTROL 
 

 To determine all applications for planning permission, listed building consent, conservation area 
consent, hazardous substances consent and advertisement consent which have not been 
delegated to the Chief Planning & Transportation Officer. 

The applications referred to are those made pursuant to Part III Town and County Planning 
Act, Part I Chapter II Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. The 
Planning (Hazardous Substances) Act 1990 and the Town and Country Planning (Control of 
Advertisements) Regulations 1991 or any enactment or regulations which replace or amend 
them 

 To enforce planning control (including advertisements and land which is detrimental to local 
amenity) 

 To handle all matters relating to trees and hedgerows (including the matters referred to in the 
terms of reference of the Planning (Trees) Sub-Committee) which have not been delegated to the 
Chief Planning & Transportation Officer 

 To consider and determine applications for certificates of lawful use and lawful development 

 To exercise local planning authority powers relating to highways 

 To consult with the Secretary of State and other planning authorities 

 To advise the leader and cabinet on the content of the draft local and structure plans and the local 
transport plan 

Page 85



  
 

Page 18 of 24 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

 To make any other non-executive decision within the responsibility of the local planning authority 
which has not been delegated to the Chief Planning & Transportation Officer 

 To authorise agreements regulating the development or use of land. 

 To revoke planning permissions. 

 To register common land and town and village greens. 

 To register the variation of rights of common. 

 To discharge the Council’s powers under Part 8 Anti-social Behaviour Act 2003 (relating to high 
hedges) 

 To exercise the Council’s powers and duties under sections 20-23, 25 and 26 Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 relating to local development documents which are development 
plan documents 

 To decide whether to permit or refuse to permit the exercise of permitted development rights 
pursuant to the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (Amendment) 
(England) Order 2013 where an objection has been received from the owner or occupier of 
adjoining land or premises. 

 To exercise the Council’s powers and duties under sections 150 and 151 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 2016, the Town and Country Planning (Brownfield Land Register) Regulations 2017 
and the Town and Country Planning Act 2016, the Town and Country Planning (Permission in 
Principle) Order 2017 

RIGHTS OF WAY 

 To discharge the Council’s functions relating to public rights of way as specified in Schedule 1 of 
the 2000 Regulations 

BUILDING CONTROL 

 To deal with all matters connected with the determination of applications under and enforcement of 
Building Regulations and the Building Acts not delegated to the Chief Planning & Transportation 
Officer 

 To make decisions under local Acts concerning building work 

 To set charges under the Building (Local Authority Charges) Regulations 2010 

Page 86



  
 

Page 19 of 24 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

PLANNING (TREES) SUB-COMMITTEE 

 

MEMBERSHIP:           5 councillors (who must be members of the Planning Committee) 

REPORTS TO:            Planning Committee 

 

TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
 

1. To exercise all the powers and duties conferred on the Council by Part VIII Chapter 1 (sections 
197 – 214D of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) and the Town and 
Country Planning (Tree Preservation) (England) Regulations 2012 and any replacement or 
amending legislation or regulations.  

2. Without prejudice to the generality of the forgoing, to make and confirm tree preservation 
orders, to determine objections to the making of tree preservation orders, to revoke or vary tree 
preservation orders and to grant consent for the felling or the carrying out of work to any trees 
or woodlands protected by a tree preservation order or which are located in a conservation 
area. 

3. To exercise all powers and duties conferred on the Council by the Hedgerows Regulations 
1997 and Part 8 (sections 65 – 84) Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003 (High Hedges). 

4. To authorise an officer or other suitably qualified and / or experienced person to exercise any 
functions of the Planning (Trees) Sub-Committee 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 87



  
 

Page 20 of 24 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

JUDICIAL COMMITTEE (PRIVATE HIRE AND HACKNEY CARRIAGE LICENSING) 
 

MEMBERSHIP:   6 councillors 

REPORTS TO:    Full Council 

 

MAIN TERMS OF REFERENCE: 

To deal with all matters where the Council is required to adjudicate between two or more opposing 
views and reach a decision in a quasi-judicial manner where such decision is not required to be the 
function of the leader and cabinet by virtue of the Local Authorities (Functions and 
Responsibilities)(England) Regulations 2000 (“the 2000 Regulations”). 
 
DETAILED TERMS OF REFERENCE: 

 To discharge the Council’s licensing and regulatory functions as specified in Schedule 1 of the 
2000 Regulations and in particular, to determine applications and proposals for the grant, renewal 
amendment, transfer, revocation or refusal of licences, permits and consents relating to the 
following, where the decision has not been delegated to the Council’s Executive Director (Legal & 
Democratic Services): 

Hackney carriages 

Private hire vehicles 

 To determine any other matter that falls within the general terms of reference above and which has 
not been delegated to any other committee of the Council 

 To make delegations to officers within its terms of reference 

Page 88



  
 

Page 21 of 24 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

JUDICIAL COMMITTEE (EXTERNAL FUNDING) 
 

 

MEMBERSHIP:   4 councillors 

REPORTS TO:   Full Council 

 

TERMS OF REFERENCE: 

 

 At the request of the Cabinet to consider and make recommendations to the Cabinet on Cabinet 
proposals for the allocation of grant assistance  to external organisations and individuals in respect 
of grant applications made by voluntary and community groups and individuals active within the 
Borough. 

 To make delegations to officers within its terms of reference 
 
 
 
NOTE: The rules of debate contained in Rule 14 of the Council Procedure Rules  (in Part 4 of this 
constitution) shall not apply to proceedings of this Sub-committee. 
 
 
 
 

Page 89



  
 

Page 22 of 24 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

LICENSING COMMITTEE 
 

MEMBERSHIP:                 15 councillors 
 
REPORTS TO :                  Full Council 
 
 
MAIN TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
To deal with all matters where the Council is required under the Licensing Act 2003 to refer that matter 
to the Licensing Committee or where it is required to adjudicate between two or more opposing views 
and reach a decision in a quasi-judicial manner where such decision is not required to be the function 
of the leader and cabinet by virtue of the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) 
Regulations 2000 as amended (“the 2000 Regulations”) 
 
DETAILED TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 

 To discharge the Council’s functions under the Licensing Act 2003 with the exception of: 

o making a statement of licensing policy; and 

o any function or matter referred to another committee in accordance with the scheme of 
delegation contained in the Statement of Licensing Policy 

in accordance with the scheme of delegation contained in the Statement of Licensing Policy 

 To appoint a chair, vice-chair and two sub-committee chairs 

 To determine whether to grant, renew, revoke or vary  scrap metal licences pursuant to the Scrap Metal 
Dealers Act 2013 where the applicant or licensee (as the case may be) has informed the Council that 
they wish to make oral representations in accordance with paragraphs (7) and (8) of Schedule 1 of that 
Act 

 To appoint from time to time a Licensing Sub-Committee to discharge its functions under the Licensing 
Act 2003, the Gambling Act 2005 and paragraph 8 Schedule 1 of the Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013 
subject to the following provisions: 

o The Licensing Sub-Committee shall comprise 3 members of the Licensing Committee, one of 
whom must be the chair or vice chair of the Licensing Committee or one of the chairs of the 
Licensing Sub-Committee 

o The quorum of the Licensing Sub-Committee shall be 3 

o The membership of the Licensing Sub-Committee is not required to be proportionately 
representative of the political balance of the Council 

 To discharge the Council’s licensing and regulatory functions as specified in Schedule 1 of the 2000 
Regulations and in particular to determine applications and proposals for the grant, renewal, 
amendment, transfer, revocation and refusal of licences, permits and consents relating to the following 
where the decision has not been delegated to the Council’s officers: 

Street and house-to-house collections 

Sex establishments 

 To discharge the Council’s functions under the Gambling Act 2005 except for the functions under 
section 349 (publication of statement of licensing policy), section 166 (issue of casino licenses) and 
section 212 (setting of fees for licenses) 

 
 

Page 90



  
 

Page 23 of 24 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

AUDIT COMMITTEE 
 
 

MEMBERSHIP:                           6 councillors 
 
 
REPORTS TO:                           Full Council 
 
 
 
MAIN TERMS OF REFERENCE: 
 

 To monitor the operation and performance of the Council’s internal and external audit services 

 To consider the audit plan, management letter and other audit related issues and discuss the 
same with the Council’s external auditor 

 To approve (but not direct) the strategy, plan and performance of the Council’s internal audit 
service 

 To review summary internal audit reports and the main issues arising, and seek assurance that 
action has been taken where necessary 

 To consider the reports of external audit and inspection agencies 

 To consider the effectiveness of the Council’s risk management arrangements and control 
environment and seek assurances that action is being taken on risk related issues identified by 
auditors and inspectors 

 To satisfy itself that the Council’s assurance statements, including the annual governance 
statement, properly reflect the risk environment and any actions required to improve it 

 To ensure that there are effective relationships between the Council’s internal and external 
audit services and other agencies  

 To review financial statements, external auditors opinion and reports and monitor management 
action in response to issues raised by external audit. 

 To approve expenditure out of any items of unspent budget allocation identified in the final 
accounts for the immediately preceding financial year 

 To approve the Council’s final accounts on behalf of the Council. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 91



  
 

Page 24 of 24 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

MANAGEMENT REVIEW COMMITTEE 
 
 

MEMBERSHIP: Leader and Deputy Leader of the Council and the Leader of each of the 
   other political groups on the Council or their respective nominees. 
 
 
 
REPORTS TO: Council 
 
 
 
MAIN TERMS OF REFERENCE: 
 
 

 To review the terms and conditions of employment of the Council’s Chief Executive and 
Deputy Chief Executive and to agree any changes to the same deemed necessary 
following such review. In carrying out a review to obtain such internal or external support 
and advice that is required to enable a review to be fully and properly undertaken. 

 To determine the collective terms and conditions of employment of employees of the 
Council 

 To agree changes to staffing structures where these fall outside the scope of the scheme of 
delegation to officers 

 To agree the regrading of posts where this falls outside the scope of the scheme of 
delegation to officers 

 To consider and determine disciplinary appeals in respect of Chief Officers1 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                
 

Page 92



Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated 6

th
 June 2022                                 Page 1 of 8 

 

Appendix 2 

 

Terms of reference for the following Cabinet Portfolios: 
 
1. Leader  

2. Deputy Leader (Statutory) 
 

3. Housing, Health & Wellbeing 
 

4. Resources 
 

5. Environmental Services 
 
6. Levelling Up 
 

 

 

Page 93



Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated 6

th
 June 2022                                 Page 2 of 8 

 

PORTFOLIO: LEADER OF THE COUNCIL 

 

HELD BY: COUNCILLOR MILES PARKINSON 

 

TERMS OF REFERENCE: 

 

Overall responsibility for the Council’s strategic and corporate direction 

Overall strategic and financial management of the Council 

Partnerships and economic development 

Regeneration 

Police and Crime Commissioner 

Planning & Transportation 

Lancashire Leaders / Pennine Leaders / Shadow Combined Authority 

Arts & Culture 

 

NOTE:  

 

The portfolio holder will not have power to make decisions individually in respect of 
these functions, as all executive decisions are to be made by the leader and cabinet 
collectively. However, the portfolio holder will do the following in respect of the 
above: 

 act as spokesperson and representative for the executive 

 lead the development and implementation of policies, plans and strategies, in 
consultation with the relevant policy development board 

 be consulted by, and advise, officers in the exercise of their delegated powers 
where this is required by the Council’s scheme of delegation 

 monitor and review the delivery and performance of services 

 

 

Page 94



Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated 6

th
 June 2022                                 Page 3 of 8 

 

PORTFOLIO: DEPUTY LEADER OF THE COUNCIL  

 

(Statutory deputy for the purposes of the Local Government & Public 
Involvement in Health Act 2007) 
 

HELD BY: COUNCILLOR MARLENE HAWORTH 

 

TERMS OF REFERENCE: 

 

Deputising for the Leader of the Council  

 

Town Centres and Markets 

Public Events 

Sports centres and Leisure Trust 

Sports development 

Public halls  

Tourism 

 

 

NOTE:  

 

The portfolio holder will not have power to make decisions individually in respect of 
these functions, as all executive decisions are to be made by the leader and cabinet 
collectively. However, the portfolio holder will do the following in respect of the 
above: 

 act as spokesperson and representative for the executive 

 lead the development and implementation of policies, plans and strategies, in 
consultation with the relevant policy development board 

 be consulted by, and advise, officers in the exercise of their delegated powers 
where this is required by the Council’s scheme of delegation 

 monitor and review the delivery and performance of services 

 

  

Page 95



Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated 6

th
 June 2022                                 Page 4 of 8 

 

PORTFOLIO: HOUSING, HEALTH & WELLBEING 

 

HELD BY: COUNCILLOR KATHLEEN PRATT 

 

TERMS OF REFERENCE: 

 

Housing and neighbourhoods 

Liaison with housing associations and private sector housing providers 

Asset management and maintenance 

Equality and diversity 

Cohesion and integration 

Community and voluntary sector liaison 

Older people and vulnerable adults 

Health and social care 

Community safety  

Customer focus 

Education, Skills, Employment & Worklessness 

Children, young people and families 

 

 

 

NOTE: 

 

The portfolio holder does not have power to take decisions individually in respect of 
these functions, as all executive decisions are to be taken collectively by the 
Cabinet. However, the portfolio holder will do the following in respect of the above  

 act as spokesperson and representative for the executive 

 lead the development  and implementation of policies, plans and strategies in 
consultation with the relevant policy development board 

 be consulted by and advise officers in the exercise of their delegated powers 
where this is required by the Council’s scheme of delegation 

 monitor and review the delivery and performance of services 

 

 

 

 

Page 96



Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated 6

th
 June 2022                                 Page 5 of 8 

 

  

PORTFOLIO: RESOURCES  

 

HELD BY: COUNCILLOR JOYCE PLUMMER 

 

TERMS OF REFERENCE: 

 

Finance and the budget process 

Health and safety 

Revenues and Benefits Service 

IT 

Audit function 

Human resources and organisational development 

Constitution and corporate governance 

Licensing 

 

NOTE: 

 

The portfolio holder does not have power to take decisions individually in respect of 
these functions, as all executive decisions are to be taken collectively by the 
Cabinet. However, the portfolio holder will do the following in respect of the above  

 act as spokesperson and representative for the executive 

 lead the development  and implementation of policies, plans and strategies in 
consultation with the relevant policy development board 

 be consulted by and advise officers in the exercise of their delegated powers 
where this is required by the Council’s scheme of delegation 

 monitor and review the delivery and performance of services 

 

  

Page 97



Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated 6

th
 June 2022                                 Page 6 of 8 

 

PORTFOLIO: ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES 

 

HELD BY: COUNCILLOR STEVEN SMITHSON 

 

TERMS OF REFERENCE: 

 

Allotments and Prospects 

Climate change / Environmental agenda 

Environmental Services 

Waste management and enforcement 

Refuse and recycling collections  

Street Cleaning 

Parks and open spaces 

Grounds maintenance 

Cemeteries and crematoria 

Environmental Health 

CVMU 

 

 

NOTE:  

 

The portfolio holder will not have power to make decisions individually in respect of 
these functions, as all executive decisions are to be made by the leader and cabinet 
collectively. However, the portfolio holder will do the following in respect of the 
above: 

 act as spokesperson and representative for the executive 

 lead the development and implementation of policies, plans and strategies, in 
consultation with the relevant policy development board 

 be consulted by, and advise, officers in the exercise of their delegated powers 
where this is required by the Council’s scheme of delegation 

 monitor and review the delivery and performance of services 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 98



Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated 6

th
 June 2022                                 Page 7 of 8 

 

 
 

PORTFOLIO: LEVELLING UP  
 
HELD BY: COUNCILLOR PETER BRITCLIFFE 
 
TERMS OF REFERENCE: 
 
Levelling Up Fund 

UK Shared Prosperity Fund 

County Deal and devolution 

 
 
NOTE: 
 
The portfolio holder does not have power to take decisions individually in respect of 
these functions, as all executive decisions are to be taken collectively by the 
Cabinet. However, the portfolio holder will do the following in respect of the above  

 act as spokesperson and representative for the executive 

 lead the development  and implementation of policies, plans and strategies in 
consultation with the relevant policy development board 

 be consulted by and advise officers in the exercise of their delegated powers 
where this is required by the Council’s scheme of delegation 

 monitor and review the delivery and performance of services 
 
  

Page 99



Municipal Year 2022/23 
Updated 6

th
 June 2022                                 Page 8 of 8 

 

 

Page 100



  
 

Page 1 of 14 
Municipal Year 2022 / 23 
Updated May 2022 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Terms of reference for: 

 

1. Local Joint Negotiating & Consultative Committee 
 

2. Learning & Development Panel 
 

3. Regeneration and Housing Panel 
 

4. Health & Communities Working Group  
 

5. Standards Committee (Recruitment Of Independent Persons Panel) 
 

6. Standards Committee (Assessment Panel) 
 

7. Leaders Policy Development Board 
 

8. Local Plan Member Working Group 
 

9. Auditor Panel 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

  

Page 101



  
 

Page 2 of 14 
Municipal Year 2022 / 23 
Updated May 2022 
 
 
 
 

LOCAL JOINT NEGOTIATING CONSULTATIVE COMMITTEE 
 

TERMS OF REFERENCE AND CONSTITUTION FOR EMPLOYEES EMPLOYED UNDER N.J.C. 
FOR LOCAL GOVERNMENT SERVICES TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT 

 
 
TITLE 
 
The Committee is a consultative Committee and shall be named the Local Joint Negotiating and 
Consultative Committee for N.J.C. for Local Government Services Employees. 
 
SCOPE 
 
The functions of the Local Joint Negotiating Consultative Committee shall relate to all employees of 
Hyndburn Borough Council within the scope of the N.J.C. for Local Government Services. 
 
MEMBERSHIP 
 
The Council’s side of the L.J.N.C.C is to be chaired by the Leader of the Council or his delegated 
representative.  Membership to include the Leader of the Opposition or his/her delegated 
representative. One Member from the controlling group i.e. the Leader/Deputy Leader or Portfolio 
Holder who will be allocated a seat and may choose to attend the meeting.  The Council side will be 
supported by the Head of Policy & Organisational Development.  Departmental nominees may attend 
to respond to agenda items. 
 
The Unions will be allocated the following seats: 

 

UNISON 4 Seats 

T & GWU 1 Seat 

GMB 1 Seat 

       
       
Any Trade Union member of the L.J.N.C.C. may be represented at a meeting by a substitute, 
provided that such a substitute has been duly appointed by the appropriate trade union. 
 
 
If a member of the L.J.N.C.C. ceases to be an employee of the Council or a trade union representative 
he/she shall cease to be a member of the L.J.N.C.C.  On occurrence of a vacancy, a new member 
shall be appointed by the body in whose representation the vacancy occurs and shall be a member 
until the end of the period for which the previous member was appointed. 

 
Each L.J.N.C.C. shall be supported by the Head of Policy & Organisational Development or their 
nominated representative.  Departmental nominees will attend to respond to agenda items.  The 
Executive Director (Legal and Democratic Services) shall nominate an employee from the Member 
Services section to service and timetable the Committee. 
 

Page 102



  
 

Page 3 of 14 
Municipal Year 2022 / 23 
Updated May 2022 
 
 
 
 

FUNCTIONS 
 
The L.J.N.C.C.’s guiding functions and principles are to support and encourage: 
 

 a spirit of co-operation 
 

 high quality services delivered by a well trained, motivated workforce in a climate of 
security of employment.  To this end the Council endeavours to provide training and 
development opportunities for all its employees subject to its set budget constraints; 

 

 equal opportunities in employment and the removal of all discrimination.; equality is a core 
principle which underpins both service delivery and employment relations;  

 

 a flexible approach to providing services to the community, which where possible meets the 
needs of employees as well as the employers; 

 

 stable industrial relations, negotiation and consultation between the Council and 
recognised trade unions; 

 

 the development of local agreements on pay and conditions within the framework of 
relevant national and regional agreements; 

 

 the application of employment legislation through policy development  
 
 
Where any matter relates to any particular employee this shall not be considered by the L.J.N.C.C.  
The Council’s grievance procedure is the correct vehicle for employees raising matters of concern. 

 
In the event of a dispute over terms and conditions of employment arising between the two sides of 
the Council the dispute shall, if requested by either side, be referred for settlement by arbitration.  The 
arbitration shall be accepted by both sides and shall be treated as though it was an agreement 
between the two sides. 
 
CONDUCT OF BUSINESS 
 
Attendance of non-members in an advisory capacity; 
 
Other officers or member of the Trade Unions or other persons with specialist knowledge, may attend 
meetings in an advisory capacity, by invitation on either side, but they may only speak with the 
agreement of the Chair of the meeting. 

 
Full time officials of the relevant recognised Trade Unions may also attend meetings in an advisory 
capacity or as a substitute representative. 
 
CHAIR AND VICE CHAIR 
 

Page 103



  
 

Page 4 of 14 
Municipal Year 2022 / 23 
Updated May 2022 
 
 
 
 

The Chair and Vice-Chair shall be appointed annually on a rotation basis.  The Chair will be 
nominated by management and may be the elected member or the Executive Director (Legal & 
Democratic Services), with the Vice-Chair being elected by the staff side.   

 
The Chair shall preside at the meetings.  In the absence of the Chair the Vice-Chair shall preside over 
the meeting. 
 
 
MEETINGS & PAPERWORK 
 
Meetings will be held quarterly. 
 
Any scheduled meeting of the L.J.N.C.C. may be cancelled where the Chair, Executive Director (Legal 
& Democratic Services) and Vice Chair agree to the cancellation. 

 
The Executive Director (Legal & Democratic Services) must be notified of the matters to be considered 
at any scheduled meeting at least 7 working days in advance.  At the same time, the 
management/trade union representatives requesting the item to be considered by the L.J.N.C.C. must 
also provide a brief written statement relating to each item. 
 
These statements will be supplied (by the originator(s)) to both parties – see Appendix 1.  Where the 
statement concerns a particular service area, the relative Chief Officer (or vice versa the relative Trade 
Union representative) will be responsible for supplying any further written comments for consideration 
from their own viewpoint. 
 
Other than in very exceptional circumstances the only business to be considered at any meeting is 
that which has been notified.  Other business may only be considered if the item is admitted by the 
Chair or Vice-Chair of the meeting 

 

RESOLUTION OF ISSUES 

Where a resolution cannot be agreed at the meeting, the options available to either party are: 

a) refer the matter to the Chief Executive (should this fall within his delegated powers) for re-
consideration in the first instance prior to either side registering a failure to agree.   

b) refer the matter to Cabinet and then to Council to determine final approach where changes 
to terms and conditions occur 

c) to call in ACAS to assist in resolution if all parties are agreeable 
d) register a failure to agree with the option to bring in the Joint Secretaries to deal with 

matters of interpretation. 
 

MINUTES 
 
The Minutes of each meeting shall be submitted to attendees and the Portfolio Holder for information.  
The L.J.N.C.C. may also submit recommendations through the Portfolio Holder for Policy and 
Corporate Governance. 
 

Page 104



  
 

Page 5 of 14 
Municipal Year 2022 / 23 
Updated May 2022 
 
 
 
 

QUORUM 
 
The quorum of the L.J.N.C.C. shall be TWO representatives of each side. 
 
CONFIDENTIALITY 
 
Members of the L.J.N.C.C. shall have full regard to the Council’s Code of Conduct if confidential 
information is made available to them in the course of consultation. 

 
 
 
 
AGENDA ITEMS 
 
Where an issue has been unable to be resolved at departmental level and requires the intervention of 
the LJNCC, the representative/officer requesting the agenda item should submit this completed form 
to the Head of Policy & Organisational Development. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 105



  
 

Page 6 of 14 
Municipal Year 2022 / 23 
Updated May 2022 
 
 
 
 

LEARNING & DEVELOPMENT PANEL 
 
 
 

REPORTS TO:  Leader and Cabinet 
 

MEMBERSHIP:  5 Councillors 
 

     
 
 
TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 

 To support the review and development of organisational learning and development strategies for  
elected members 

 To enable councillors and officers to discuss and promote issues relating to the planning, delivery 
and evaluation of member development activities 

 To assist in identifying elected member training needs and providing information on resources  

 To monitor and evaluate performance regarding elected member development to ensure that all 
activities are planned and implemented within agreed budgets 

 To benchmark and improve activities against quality standards such as the North West Charter on 
Elected Member Development  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 106



  
 

Page 7 of 14 
Municipal Year 2022 / 23 
Updated May 2022 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

REGENERATION AND HOUSING PANEL 

 

REPORTS TO:       Leader and Cabinet 

 

MEMBERSHIP:     7 councillors 

 

MAIN TERMS OF REFERENCE 

 To provide direction to the Council’s growth, regeneration and housing plans and projects, and 
assist in the monitoring of projects and programmes. 

 

DETAILED TERMS OF REFERENCE: 

 To receive and examine regeneration and growth strategies, policies, plans, projects and 
programmes and to evaluate their impact on Hyndburn’s neighbourhoods 

 To receive and examine strategies and policies to meet the Borough’s housing needs and 
future requirements 

 To receive and examine strategies and plans for private housing, affordable and social housing 
and the private rented sector including housing in multiple occupancy 

 To be a consultation mechanism for the Council’s growth, regeneration and housing plans 

 To monitor the progress of growth, regeneration and housing projects and, where necessary, 
review the delivery and performance arrangements 

 To report to Cabinet on the above and any recommendations arising 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 107



  
 

Page 8 of 14 
Municipal Year 2022 / 23 
Updated May 2022 
 
 
 
 

HEALTH & COMMUNITIES WORKING GROUP 
 
 

MEMBERSHIP:                 4 Councillors 

REPORTS TO:                  Leader and Cabinet 

 

TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 

 To advise on the development, implementation and monitoring of Council policies relating to 
equal opportunities and / or the prevention of discrimination on the grounds of characteristics 
which are protected under the Equality Act 2010. These are age, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, gender, sexual orientation, marriage and civil 
partnership, and pregnancy and maternity. 

 

 To advise the Cabinet on issues relating to or affecting community cohesion and to formulate 
proposals for promoting community cohesion within the Borough. 

 

 To advise the Cabinet on developments to improve the health and wellbeing of the population 
and the provision of health services in the Borough. 

 

 
 

Page 108



  
 

Page 9 of 14 
Municipal Year 2022 / 23 
Updated May 2022 
 
 
 
 

  

 

STANDARDS COMMITTEE  

(RECRUITMENT OF INDEPENDENT PERSONS PANEL) 

 
 
 
Membership: 
 
 

2 members of Standards Committee. 
 

Reports To: Council 
 
 
 
   
Terms of Reference 
 
To assist in the recruitment of independent members of the Council’s Standard’s Committee by 
shortlisting and interviewing applicants and making recommendations for appointment to the Council. 
 

Page 109



  
 

Page 10 of 14 
Municipal Year 2022 / 23 
Updated May 2022 
 
 
 
 

STANDARDS COMMITTEE 

(ASSESSMENT PANEL) 

 
Membership 
 
For matters relating to 2 members, plus one independent person  
Hyndburn Borough   
Council 
 
For matters relating to  2 members, plus 1 independent person and 
Altham Parish   and 1 parish representative 
Council   
 
 
Main Terms of Reference 
 
To undertake an initial assessment of complaints of breach of the member code of conduct in respect 
of members of Hyndburn Borough Council and Altham Parish Council and to determine whether the 
complaint merits investigation 
 
Detailed Terms of Reference 
 

1. To receive allegations that a councillor or parish councillor is in breach of the member code of 
conduct and to determine: 

(a)   That the allegation should be referred to the monitoring officer for investigation or with a 
direction to take some other action; or 

(b)     That no action be taken. 

2. At its discretion, to refer an allegation to another relevant authority where the allegation relates to a 
person who is no longer a member of the Council or the Parish Council but is a member or co-
opted member of that other relevant authority. 

3. To determine whether any request for confidentiality on the part of the complainant should be 
granted and to what extent. 

 

Page 110



  
 

Page 11 of 14 
Municipal Year 2022 / 23 
Updated May 2022 
 
 
 
 

LEADER’S POLICY DEVELOPMENT BOARD 

 
Reports To:          Leader and Cabinet 
 
 
Membership:        5 (Leader and Deputy Leader of the Council, plus one other Cabinet member, 

together with the Leader and Deputy Leader of the Main Opposition Group. 
 

 
Terms of Reference 
 

 To monitor and review: 
 

 the implementation of modernised political management structures within the Council. 
 

 the  operation and effectiveness of the Council’s constitution 
 

 any recommendations from the Council’s Independent Remuneration Panel and the operation and 
administration of the Council’s members allowances scheme 

 

 To assist the Leader of the Council to monitor and review the delivery and performance of any 
services within his portfolio  

 

 To assist the Leader of the Council to consider and formulate proposals for the development and 
amendment of plans, policies and strategies within his portfolio 

 

 To make recommendations to the Leader and Cabinet (as appropriate) in respect of the  
above.  

Page 111



  
 

Page 12 of 14 
Municipal Year 2022 / 23 
Updated May 2022 
 
 
 
 

LOCAL PLAN MEMBER WORKING GROUP 
 
 
MEMBERSHIP:     7 councillors (comprising cross-party membership) 

 

REPORTS TO:      Leader and Cabinet 

 

TERMS OF REFERENCE: 

 

To work with officers to: 

 

1. Informally advise the relevant Cabinet Portfolio Holder on matters concerning the timetabling, 
preparation and review of the Hyndburn Local Plan; 

2. Consider the findings and implications of key evidence base documents in relation to the 
development of the Hyndburn Local Plan; 

3. Consider and advise on the content of Local Plan documents (e.g. the Development Management 
DPD, Site Allocations DPD and Core Strategy) including policies; reasoned justifications; 
supporting text; site allocations; and proposals maps; 

4. Consider and advise on Local Plan documents at key stages in the process prior to consideration 
by Cabinet and Full Council. Key stages include: 

a. Consultation Draft stage; 
b. Publication stage; 
c. Submission stage (to the Secretary of State); 
d. Examination stage and receipt of the Inspector’s report; and 
e. Adoption 
 

5. Consider and advise upon community involvement and consultation material for the review of the 
Local Plan;  

6. Consider and propose responses to representations received during statutory consultations, 
including proposed modifications to Local Plan documents following receipt of the Inspectors 
report; 

7. Consider the implications for Hyndburn of proposed plans, policies and strategies prepared by 
external agencies, and to make recommendations accordingly; 

8. Where necessary, consider the formal designation of Neighbourhood Areas and Neighbourhood 
Forums and support and advise in the production and adoption of Neighbourhood Plans; and 

9. Consider and advise upon proposed Supplementary Planning Documents to the Development 
Plan.  

 

 
  

Page 112



  
 

Page 13 of 14 
Municipal Year 2022 / 23 
Updated May 2022 
 
 
 
 

AUDITOR PANEL 

MEMBERSHIP: 1 Councillor and 2 Independent Members (with one of the Independent 

Members to be appointed as chair)  

REPORTS TO:    Full Council 

MAIN TERMS OF REFERENCE 

To consult with and advise the Council on the selection and appointment of a local auditor. 

 

DETAILED TERMS OF REFERENCE 

 To advise the Council on the selection and appointment of a local auditor to audit the Council’s 

accounts 

 To advise the Council on the maintenance of an independent relationship with the local auditor 

who has been appointed to audit the accounts 

 To advise the Council on any proposal by the Council to enter into a limited liability agreement 

with the local auditor pursuant to section 14 Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 

 To advise the Council whether to adopt a policy on obtaining non-audit services from the local 

auditor, including the contents of such a policy 

 If the Council proposes to adopt a policy on obtaining non-audit services from the local auditor, 

to advise as to the contents of such a policy, including: 

o the circumstances in which the Council should ask the Audit Panel for advice about 

obtaining non-audit services from the local auditor; and 

o the circumstances in which the Council should, or should not, purchase non-audit 

services from the Council’s local auditor 

 To advise the Council on the outcome of any investigation of an auditor’s resignation from 

office, if this occurs, or on any proposal to remove a local auditor from office 

 To receive from the Council and the local auditor a copy of any public interest report relating to 

the Council as soon as practicable after issue of the same 

 To exercise any other functions of a local authority audit panel as prescribed from time to time 

by regulations made pursuant to the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and to have 

regard to any guidance issued by the Secretary of State, in exercising, or deciding whether to 

exercise, its functions 

 

Page 113



  
 

Page 14 of 14 
Municipal Year 2022 / 23 
Updated May 2022 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 114



1 of 48 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting May 2022 
Amended 30

th
 June 2022 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Appendix 4 

 

 

This document is split into three parts: 

Part 1 - requirements applying to all delegations 

Part 2 – delegations of executive (i.e. Cabinet) functions 

Part 3 – delegations of non-executive (i.e. non Cabinet) functions 

Part 4  - appointment of statutory and proper officers 

 

 

NB: delegations of executive functions have been approved by the Leader 
of the Council and delegations of non-executive functions have been 
agreed by the full Council 

 
Part 1 
 
All delegations to officers are subject to the terms of the particular delegation and to the following 
general conditions: 
 

(i) When  exercising their  delegated powers officers must act  in accordance with the law, 
the Council’s constitution (with specific regard to the Financial and Contract Procedure 
Rules) and the Council’s other policies and procedures and must act within the budget 
for the relevant service area. 

 
(ii) an officer to whom a function is delegated may authorise another officer to exercise that 

function, provided that the other officer reports to or is responsible to the officer in 
question.  In the absence of the relevant officer, the Chief Executive shall have power 
to act in default. 

 
(iii) references to any enactment, regulation order or by-law shall include any amendment 

or  re-enactment, whether or not with amendments  

(iv) If authority is delegated to two or more officers, then in the event of a failure to agree, 
the decision will be taken by the Chief Executive or relevant Chief Officer. 

 
(v) Where the exercise of powers is to be subject to prior consultation with another officer 

or Portfolio Holder, that officer or Portfolio Holder may give his or her views in general 

Page 115



2 of 48 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting May 2022 
Amended 30

th
 June 2022 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

terms in advance to apply to any particular circumstance, to remove the need for 
consultation for each proposal. 

 
(vi) Any heading or sub-heading used to categorise the type of power, duty or functions 

being delegated, is for description only, and shall not be taken to limit or qualify it in any 
way. 

 
(vii) Subject to any express instructions to the contrary any power to approve also includes 

the power to refuse and the power to impose appropriate conditions. 
 

(viii) All delegated functions shall be exercised on behalf of and in the name of the Council. 
 

(ix) Emergency Action / Emergency Powers 
 

Executive / Cabinet functions 
 

In cases of emergency, each Chief Officer is authorised to take any necessary action in 
the interests of the Council or the residents or other persons having interests within the 
Borough provided that: 

 
o The action is within the powers of the Leader and Cabinet; 

 
o The emergency is certified as such by the Chief Executive (or his/her nominated 

deputy) and the Chief Officer concerned  (or his / her nominated Deputy); 
 
o The Leader, Deputy Leader and relevant Portfolio Holder are consulted and give 

approval in principle to the proposed action.  In the absence of any of these, 
another member of the Cabinet shall be consulted 

 
o The approval of the Deputy Chief Executive is obtained to any expenditure involved. 

 
 

Non-executive / Non-Cabinet functions 
 

In cases of emergency, each Chief Officer is authorised to take any necessary action in 
the interests of the Council or the residents or other person having interests within the 
Borough provided that: 

 

 The action is within the powers of the Council; 
 

 The emergency is certified as such by the Chief Executive (or his nominated 
Deputy) and the Chief Officer concerned (or his/her nominated Deputy); 

 

 The Chair and Vice-Chair of relevant committees and the Leader of the main 
opposition group are consulted and give approval in principle to the proposed 

Page 116



3 of 48 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting May 2022 
Amended 30

th
 June 2022 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

action.  In their absence, two substitutes shall be consulted from a panel 
comprising:- 

 
 Chairs of  any other Committee (excluding the Leader and Cabinet 

members) 
 

 Deputy Leader of the opposition 
 

 Opposition spokesperson on any committee 
 

 The approval of the Deputy Chief Executive is obtained to any expenditure involved.     
 
 

(x)      Limit on all delegations of executive functions 
 

 The functions set out in column (1) below are not the responsibility of the Leader and 
Cabinet if any of the circumstances in column (2) apply.  In such circumstances the 
officer concerned does not have any delegated authority and the matter must be 
referred to full Council for a decision. 

 

(1) 
Function 

 

(2) 
Circumstances 

A decision which is delegated to an 
officer by the Leader and Cabinet; and 
which is concerned with the Council’s 
budget, or its borrowing or capital 
expenditure. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A decision which is the responsibility of 
the Leader and Cabinet and in relation 
to which a plan or strategy (whether 
statutory or non-statutory) has been 
adopted or approved by the full Council 
 

The officer to whom the decision is 
delegated is minded to determine the matter 
contrary to, or not wholly in accordance 
with:-  
(i) the Council’s budget; or 
(ii) the plan or strategy for the time being 
approved or adopted by the Council in 
relation to its borrowing or capital 
expenditure; and 
the decision is not authorised by the 
Council’s constitution as being something 
that can be decided by the Leader and 
Cabinet. 
 
 
 
The officer to whom the decision is 
delegated is minded to determine the matter 
in terms contrary to the plan or, as the case 
may be, the strategy adopted or approved by 
the Council 

Page 117



4 of 48 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting May 2022 
Amended 30

th
 June 2022 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Part 2 - Delegation of Executive Functions to Officers 
 
 

DELEGATIONS TO ALL CHIEF OFFICERS 
 

Chief Officer for these purposes means the Chief Executive, the Deputy Chief Executive,  the 
Executive Director (Legal & Democratic), the Executive Director (Environment), the Deputy 
Head of Environmental Services, the Head of Regeneration and Housing, the Head of 
Environmental Health, the Head of Policy & Organisational Development and the Chief 
Planning & Transportation Officer 
 

Summary of Delegation Comments 

To perform and / or carry out those functions of the Council within the 
Chief Officers service area 

. “Functions” are to be construed in a broad and inclusive fashion and 
include the doing of anything which is calculated to facilitate or is 
conducive or incidental to the discharge of any of the relevant 
functions 

 
In exercising their delegated powers Chief Officers may: 

a. incur, vary and discontinue expenditure 

b. manage the staffing, property, financial and other resources within 
the Chief Officers’ control 

c) procure works, goods and services, including accepting tenders 
and signing contracts/agreements, subject to all necessary approvals 
being received 

d) terminate contracts 

e) exercise virement within the limits set out in the Finance Procedure 
Rules 

f) serve, receive and act upon notices, give or refuse consents, issue 
determinations, apply for permissions and make orders in the exercise 
of the Council’s powers and duties 

In exercising their delegated 
powers Chief Officers must: 

i) act within the law and in 
accordance with any statutory 
requirements and procedures 

ii) comply with the Council’s 
constitution, paying particular 
regard to the Financial Procedure 
Rules and the Contracts 
Procedure Rules 

iii) comply with the Council’s other 
policies and procedures 

iv) act within the budget for the 
relevant service area 

v) consult the relevant portfolio 
holder in respect of significant 
decisions and, where requested 
by the portfolio holder, refer the 
matter to Cabinet for decision 

vi) consult appropriate colleagues 
if the proposed decision may 

Page 118



5 of 48 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting May 2022 
Amended 30

th
 June 2022 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

g) set, vary  and waive fees and charges for the delivery of services 
and for the issue of any licence, permit, consent or approval subject to 
any statutory requirements and following consultation with the 
relevant portfolio holder 

h) charge for services, where a service beyond that normally supplied 
free of charge is requested, subject to the prior agreement of the 
person to be charged  

i) provide services to other local authorities and organisations 

j) respond to consultation from Government or other public bodies 

k) prepare bids for lottery and other  funding 

l) accept offers of grant funding made to the Council by the 
Government, Government agencies or charitable bodies and enter 
into grant agreements in respect of the same 

m) be responsible as client under the Construction (Design & 
Management) Regulations 1994 for all relevant projects undertaken 
by the Council within their service areas 
 
n) enter into data sharing agreements with third parties pursuant to 
the Data Protection Act 2018 or the General Data Protection 
Regulations 
 

have significant financial, legal, 
property or staffing implications 

v) keep a written record of the 
decision taken and the reasons 
for it 

 
 

 

In so far as they are executive functions, to authorise in accordance 
with any legal requirements or restrictions, any officer or other suitably 
qualified and/ or experienced person to exercise any of the functions 
delegated to that Chief Officer. 

The Chief Officer must maintain a 
proper record of such 
authorisation 
 
Such officers / authorised persons 
to be suitably qualified and/or 
experienced. 
 
The exercise of delegated powers 
by these individuals is subject to 
the same restrictions as apply to 
the relevant Chief Officer 

To deal with the following employment issues within the Chief Officers 
service area : 

i)  make changes to staffing structures within the relevant 
service budget 

ii) approve honoraria payments not exceeding £2000 

iii) make arrangements for maternity leave and staffing cover 

iv) approve applications for leave of absence in cases not 
covered by Council policy 

In exercising their delegated 
powers Chief Officers must: 

i) act within the law and in 
accordance with any statutory 
requirements and procedures 

iii) comply with the Council’s  
policies and procedures 

iv) act within the budget for the 

Page 119



6 of 48 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting May 2022 
Amended 30

th
 June 2022 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

relevant service area 

 

 
 
 

DELEGATIONS TO THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 
 

Summary of Delegation 
 

Comments 

To act as the head of paid service under section 4 of the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989 

 

To guide and where appropriate, direct chief officers in the exercise of 
their delegated functions in order to achieve the overall corporate 
aims and objectives of the Council 

 

To carry out any function which is delegated to a particular chief 
officer subject to any limits or conditions attaching to that delegation 

 

To grant exemptions on the political  restriction of officer posts under 
the Localism Act 2011 

 

To grant dispensations to Cabinet members prior to the taking of an 
executive decision in respect of which they have a conflict of interest 
pursuant to regulations 12 and 13 of The Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 
Regulations 2012 

In consultation with the monitoring 
officer 

Designation of reserve delegated officers in absence of the relevant 
Chief Officer 

 

To keep under review the terms and conditions of the Deputy Chief 
Executive, the Executive Director (Legal & Democratic Services) and 
the Executive Director (Environmental Services)  and make such 
revisions as considered appropriate within the resources available 

 

Attestation of the Common Seal and authorisation of other officers for 
this purpose in connection with the exercise of executive functions 

 

Appointment of officers(s) to act as deputy in respect of delegated 
functions in this constitution or in accordance with Cabinet minutes 

 

Exceptions to Flying the Flag policy  Consult with Mayor, Leader of the 
Council and Group Leaders  

Applications for marches under Public Order Act 1936 Consult with Leader, Deputy 
Leader and relevant Portfolio 
Holder.  

To take action within the Council’s powers in cases of emergency or 
in the absence or incapacity of the designated decision taker or in the 
failure of the Council in any year to agree executive arrangements by 
the statutory deadline for the holding of the Council’s annual meeting   

After consulting as widely as is 
practicable in the circumstances 
 

Power to authorise directed surveillance and to authorise the conduct  

Page 120



7 of 48 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting May 2022 
Amended 30

th
 June 2022 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

of covert intelligence sources pursuant to sections 28 and 29 
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 subject to the provisions 
and requirements of that Act 

To exercise powers under the Civil Contingencies Act 2004  

To receive and respond to expressions of interest under the 
Community Right to Challenge under Part 5 Chapter 2 Localism Act 
2011 

 

To designate approved duties for the purpose of the Council’s 
members allowances scheme 

 

To review decisions to include land and  / or buildings on the list of 
assets of community value pursuant to section 92 Localism Act 2011 
and to review decisions relating to compensation pursuant to section 
99 Localism Act 2011 in respect of assets of community value 

These functions may be 
delegated by the Chief Executive 
to the Deputy Chief Executive and 
the Executive Director (Legal & 
Democratic Services) 

To authorise surveillance which is not governed by the Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act 2000  
 

Subject to compliance with the 
Council’s guidance for officers on 
the application and use of 
surveillance which is not 
governed by the Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act 2000  
 
Subject to approval by the 
Executive Director (Legal & 
Democratic Services), or the 
Legal Services Manager or a 
solicitor within the Council’s Legal 
Services Section 

(Subject to the delegation in Part 2 paragraph 4.20 of this scheme of 
delegation) to exercise the powers conferred on the Council by the 
Anti-Social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014 and to appoint and 
authorise officers of the Council to exercise any of the powers and 
duties of the Council under that Act 

 

To ensure appropriate risk management arrangements are in place 
across the Council 

 

 
 

DELEGATIONS TO HEAD OF REGENERATION AND HOUSING 
 

Summary of Delegation Comments 

To approve housing renewal assistance as defined in the Council’s 
Housing Renewal Policy up to the following maximums 

 grant aid up to a maximum of £50,000 

 equity loan for refurbishment up to a maximum of £30,000 

 equity loan for relocation up to a maximum of £40,000 

 grant aid / equity loan for conversions of 2 or more dwellings to 1 

 

Page 121



8 of 48 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting May 2022 
Amended 30

th
 June 2022 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

to provide satisfactory accommodation up to a maximum of 
£50,000 

 energy efficiency grants / affordable warmth grants up to a 
maximum of £30,000 

 emergency works grants up to a maximum of £7,000 

 home security assistance grants up to a maximum of £3,000 

 hospital discharge grants up to a maximum of £3,000 

To make grants towards the cost of separate water connection  

Adaptations for the disabled – permit grant aid for extensions where 
internal amenities and structural change necessitate this to 
accommodate a stair lift or similar 

 

To determine whether or not to approve housing assistance  where 
works commenced prior to approval where good reason shown  

 

To set  fees for agency services for housing renewal activity as 
defined by the Council’s Housing Renewal Policy 

 

To acquire houses for Regeneration / Housing Renewal purposes and 
where appropriate selecting such houses for improvement  

 

To carry out necessary works (following tendering procedures) to 
houses for improvement for sale  

 

To be responsible for administration and pre-contract works of block 
rehabilitation schemes 

 

To make statutory returns under the Home Energy Conservation Act  

To assess housing need and make nominations to RSL’s under the 
terms of the Council’s approved allocations scheme 

 

To assess, advise and where appropriate assist all households 
presenting themselves as homeless or threatened with homelessness 
in accordance with homelessness legislation and any relevant Code 
of Guidance 

 

Under the Council’s regeneration programmes authorise the 
acquisition of properties by agreement in areas designated for 
redevelopment or authorise the payment for properties to be 
purchased under any proposed or confirmed CPO 

 

To negotiate a contract with a housing association without recourse to 
open tendering in circumstances where considered to be suitable and 
advantageous 

In consultation with the Chief 
Executive and the Executive 
Director (Legal & Democratic 
Services) 

In so far as they are executive functions, to implement and exercise 
the powers conferred by the following legislation and to authorise in 
accordance with any legal requirements or restrictions any officer or 
other suitably qualified and/ or experienced person pursuant to the 
following legislation ( and any re – enactment  or modification thereof 
and any regulations made thereunder) for any appropriate provisions 
which fall within the remit of housing , buildings, blight and 
environmental and animal protection. 

 

Page 122



9 of 48 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting May 2022 
Amended 30

th
 June 2022 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Acquisition of Land Act 1981 
Land Compensation Act 1972 
Housing Act 1985 
Housing Grants Construction & Regeneration Act 1989 
Housing Act 1996 
Regulatory Reform Order 2002 
Homelessness Act 2002 
Housing Act 2004 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
Building Act 1984 
Prevention of Damage by Pests Act 1949 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Acts 1976 and 1982 
Protection from Eviction Act 1977 (as amended by the Housing Act 
1988) 
Law of Property Act 1925 
Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994 
Law of Land Act 1925 
Local Government Act 2000 
The Redress Schemes for Lettings Agency Work and Property 
Management Work (Approval and Designation of Schemes)(England) 
Order 2013 
Mobile Homes Act 2013 
Energy Act 2013 / The Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) 
Regulations 2015 
Licensing Act 2003 
Anti-social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014 
Housing and Planning Act 2016 
Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 
Home Energy Conservation Act 1995 
Also any Regulations, Order, Byelaws or other subsidiary legislation 
made under the above and any enactments amending or replacing 
the same 

Virement between HIP expenditure blocks and between yearly 
programmes  

In consultation with the Deputy 
Chief Executive  

To authorise the sale of properties purchased  by the Council where 
the original purchase was made as part of the Council’s empty 
property strategy or where the property is located within a 
regeneration area 

In consultation with the Chief 
Executive and the relevant 
portfolio holder 

To award assistance, including grants, up to a maximum of £20,000 to 
help bring empty properties back into use 

Subject to the availability of 
resources 

To issue licences and generally to manage the Council’s scheme for 
the selected licensing of private rented accommodation. 

 

To enter into agreements with registered social landlords in respect of 
the Council’s duties under Part 4 Housing Act 2004 relating to 

In consultation with the Executive 
Director (Legal & Democratic 

Page 123



10 of 48 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting May 2022 
Amended 30

th
 June 2022 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

management orders Services) 

To create, review and maintain an advisory list of building contractors 
for renovation grants 
 
To determine whether or not to accept assignment of grant monies to 
contractors not on the Council’s advisory list 

 

(a) To exercise the powers conferred on the Council by the Scrap 
Metal Dealers Act 2013 (and any Regulations, Orders, Byelaws or 
other subsidiary legislation made under that Act and any enactments 
amending or replacing the same) and to appoint and authorise officers 
of the Council to exercise any of the powers and duties which are the 
responsibility of the Council under that Act; and 
(b) To determine scrap metal licence fees in accordance with 
Schedule 1 paragraph 6  Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013  

 
 
In consultation with the portfolio 
holder 

To exercise the powers of the Council under The Animal Welfare Act 
2006 and The Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving 
Animals)(England) Regulations 2018 in respect of: 
i) risk rating appeals 
ii) the suspension or variation of licences 
iii) the annual review and adjustment of fees and charges 
 

 

To make grants to voluntary sector bodies in connection with the 
Council’s obligations to prevent homelessness up to a maximum of 
£30,000 per grant 

Subject to consultation with the 
Portfolio Holder 

To authorise directed surveillance and the conduct of covert 
intelligence sources pursuant to section 28 and 29 Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act 2000 subject to the provisions and 
requirements of that Act 

 

To authorise disposal of items from the Howarth Art Gallery collection 
up to a value of £25,000 per disposal provided: 

- the disposal is in accordance with the Museum 
Association’s Code of Ethics; and 

- the Head of Regeneration & Housing is satisfied that 
the Council has capacity to dispose of the item 
following a proper due diligence exercise being carried 
out 

Subject to consultation with the 
Leader of the Council and the 
Portfolio Holder 

To authorise surveillance which is not governed by the Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act 2000  
 

Subject to compliance with the 
Council’s guidance for officers on 
the application and use of 
surveillance which is not 
governed by the Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act 2000  
 
Subject to confirmation of the 
approval by the Executive 

Page 124



11 of 48 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting May 2022 
Amended 30

th
 June 2022 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Director (Legal & Democratic 
Services), the Legal Services 
Manager or a solicitor within the 
Council’s Legal Services Section 

PROPERTY SERVICES 
 

 

To make appropriate planning applications on behalf of the Council for 
any Council owned land and property assets where it is considered 
that a planning permission for an alternative use would be beneficial 
to the future management or disposal of the asset provided that the 
costs of making such an application do not exceed £10,000 (ten 
thousand pounds) per individual asset. 

In consultation with the Leader, 
Deputy Leader and appropriate 
portfolio holder 

To negotiate, agree compensation and acquire properties identified by 
the Council and approved by Cabinet as appropriate for compulsory 
purchase under all appropriate Acts of Parliament. 

 

(i) To agree terms for the granting, acquisition, variation or 
extinguishment of easements and wayleaves and where necessary to 
enter into Licences to enter third party land for the purposes of 
carrying out works; and 
(ii) To negotiate and agree terms for the granting of leases, licences 
and tenancy agreements to statutory undertakers for the 
implementation of infrastructure in accordance with their statutory 
obligations. 

 

In connection with general vesting declarations, to agree further 
occupation periods of up to six months for occupiers of business 
premises. 

 

(i) To manage, agree terms and instruct the Council’s Legal Services 
department to effect all new and renewal leases, licences, tenancy 
agreements, lease surrenders and all ancillary or supplementary 
documentation notices and consents relating thereto in respect of all 
property owned by the Council and not occupied by the Council for 
the performance of its functions (including its investment land and 
other non-operational properties and property interests) provided that 
the delegated authority to agree terms shall not apply if any of the 
following applies to the new or ancillary transaction: 
- the term exceeds twenty-five years 
- the annual rent or fee until the first rent or fee review (if applicable) 
exceeds £20,000 (twenty thousand pounds) per annum; or 
- the letting is at less than best consideration 
 
(ii) To negotiate, agree terms and document all rent and licence fee 
reviews for all leases and licences granted by the Council 
 
(iii) To take all appropriate action to recover possession of all land and 
buildings let by the Council in circumstances where the lessee, tenant 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 125



12 of 48 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting May 2022 
Amended 30

th
 June 2022 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

or licensee has become bankrupt, insolvent or where such other 
grounds for forfeiture arise. 
 
(iv) To agree terms for and instruct the Council’s Legal Services 
department to effect the acquisition of new and renewal leases where 
the Council is the tenant provided that the lease term does not exceed 
five years and / or the annual rental during the term up until the first 
rent or licence review (if applicable) does not exceed £10,000 (ten 
thousand pounds) per annum. 
 
(v) To negotiate, agree terms and document all rent reviews for all 
leases held by the Council as the tenant.  
 
 
 
(vi) To negotiate and agree any dilapidation claim arising from a lease 
or licence either granted by or held by the Council provided the value 
of the claim does not exceed £100,000 (one hundred thousand 
pounds) (exclusive of fees). 
 
(vii) to accept the surrender of leases provided 
- the unexpired residue of the term does not exceed ten years; and 
- the annual rent payable at the time of surrender does not exceed 
£20,000 (twenty thousand pounds) per annum; 

 
 
 
(iv) In consultation with the 
Leader, Deputy Leader and 
appropriate portfolio holder 
 
 
 
 
(v) In consultation with the 
Leader, Deputy Leader and 
appropriate portfolio holder 
 
 
 
(vi) In consultation with the 
Executive Director (Legal & 
Democratic) Services 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(vii) In consultation with the 
Leader, Deputy Leader and 
appropriate portfolio holder 
 

To exercise statutory responsibility in relation to property 
management including such matters as the disposal of the Council’s 
freehold interest in the site of properties which fall under the 
provisions of the Leasehold Reform Act 1967, and the Leasehold 
Reform, Housing & Urban Development Act 1993 enabling the 
occupants to acquire (enfranchise) their landlord’s freehold interest. 

 

(i) To agree terms and instruct the Council’s Legal Services 
department in respect of all property and land asset disposals, lease 

(i) In consultation with the Leader, 
Deputy Leader and appropriate 

Page 126



13 of 48 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting May 2022 
Amended 30

th
 June 2022 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

surrenders, transfers and agreements of any interest where the 
capital value does not exceed £75,000 (seventy five thousand 
pounds) per transaction (exclusive of fees) and where the disposal 
sale or transfer is not at less than best consideration ;and 
(ii) To agree terms for the purchase of ground rents that it is 
considered beneficial for the Council to purchase provided that the 
total expenditure on such transactions does not exceed £10,000 (ten 
thousand pounds) (exclusive of fees) in any one financial year. 

portfolio holder 
(ii) In consultation with the 
Leader, Deputy Leader and 
appropriate portfolio holder 

To grant permission for community organisations to enter onto 
Council land under licence to undertake minor environmental 
improvement schemes.  “Minor” schemes will include all schemes 
where any increase in maintenance obligation or liability for the 
Council could be funded from existing approved budgets without 
detriment to other services and projects 

In consultation with the Leader, 
Deputy Leader and appropriate 
portfolio holder 

In respect of assets of community value  and pursuant to Sections 87, 
90,91, 92 (4), 93, 94, 97, 98, 99 and 102 Localism Act 2011 to (i) 
maintain a list of Assets of Community Value, (ii) to give notification of 
inclusion or removal of assets from the list, (iii) to remove entries from 
the list following a review, (iv) to maintain a list of unsuccessful 
nominations, (v) to publish and make available lists, (vi) to give notice 
of and publicise receipt of notice of intended disposal, (vii) to inform 
owners of requests to be treated as a bidder, (viii) to co-operate with 
other local authorities (ix) to determine nominations for the list of 
assets of community value (x) to administer a compensation scheme 

 

To grant licences for the purpose of providing Covid 19 testing or 
vaccination centres 
 

 

To agree to disposals of public open space provided: 
- notice of the proposed disposal has been given under 

section 123 Local Government Act 1972; and 
- all responses to the notice referred to above have been 

considered; and 
- the disposal it at market value or better; and 
- the consideration for the disposal does not exceed 

£75,000 (excluding fees) 

 

 
 

DELEGATIONS TO EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (LEGAL & DEMOCRATIC SERVICES) 
 

Summary of Delegation Comments 

In relation to executive functions to commence, defend, conduct, 
settle, and appear in any legal proceedings to protect the Council’s 
assets or interests or relating to the Council’s functions or, if 
appropriate, for the benefit of the inhabitants of the Borough and to 
prosecute any person or persons in accordance with the Council’s 

 

Page 127



14 of 48 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting May 2022 
Amended 30

th
 June 2022 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

executive functions. 

To authorise appropriate staff within the legal section to appear in 
court, including appearance in the magistrates court pursuant to 
section 223 Local Government Act 1972 

 

To instruct external solicitors and/or counsel to represent the Council  

To authenticate documents in connection  with the exercise of 
executive functions 

 

To settle legal documents relating to or affecting the functions of the 
Council and to sign documents on behalf of the Council, including any 
notice, demand or other document on behalf of the Council in 
connection with any actual or contemplated legal or enforcement 
proceedings 

 

To obtain particulars of land ownership in connection with any 
executive function 

 

To take all action required by law to acquire or dispose of interests in 
land and property including leases, tenancy agreements and 
easements 

 

To take all steps prescribed by law to implement compulsory 
purchase powers 

Subject to a decision by the 
Leader and Cabinet to exercise 
compulsory purchase powers 

To settle maladministration claims against the Council and to agree 
compensation to persons adversely affected by maladministration up 
to a maximum of £500 per claim, pursuant to section 92 Local 
Government Act 2000 

 

To authorise directed surveillance and the conduct of covert 
intelligence sources pursuant to sections 28 and 29 Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act 2000 subject to the provisions and 
requirements of that Act 

 

To act as the Senior Responsible Officer for the purpose of Part II 
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 

 

To make changes to the workplace smoking policy to take account of 
legislative requirements 

 

To take action to enforce a sale of property in the following 
circumstances:- 

1) To implement the Council’s Enforced Sales Procedure in 
accordance with the Council’s Empty Dwellings Strategy 
and/or in support of regeneration and housing renewal activity; 
or 

2) To recover an outstanding debt due to the Council with a 
minimum value of £1,500 (this includes both residential and 
commercial property) if satisfied that the power of sale is 
available to the Council in respect of a particular property. 

 
This includes serving the necessary notices pursuant to the Law of 
Property Act 1925, drawing up and sealing deeds, registering 

1) In consultation with the Head of 
Regeneration and Housing and 
the relevant Portfolio Holder 
2) In consultation with the Head of 
Department which raised the debt 
and the relevant Portfolio Holder 

Page 128



15 of 48 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting May 2022 
Amended 30

th
 June 2022 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

charges, taking possession and marketing the property in an 
appropriate manner and completing the sale of the property. 

To make changes to the Council’s policy on Councillors’ use of ICT 
services and equipment. 

In consultation with the Leader’s 
Policy Development Board 

To act as returning officer for Council elections (and deputy returning 
officer for other elections) in accordance with section 35 
Representation of the People Act 1983 

 

To act as electoral registration officer for the Council in accordance 
with section 8 Representation of the People Act 1983  

 

To administer the Council’s payroll function  

To authorise surveillance which is not governed by the Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act 2000  
 

Subject to compliance with the 
Council’s guidance for officers on 
the application and use of 
surveillance which is not 
governed by the Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act 2000  
 
Subject to confirmation of the 
approval by the Legal Services 
Manager or a solicitor within the 
Council’s Legal Services Section 

To make public spaces protection orders pursuant to the Anti-Social 
Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014 for the purpose of restricting 
access to highways and providing alley gates 

In consultation with the portfolio 
holder and relevant ward 
councillors 

To authorise officers of the Council to issue fixed penalty notices in 
respect of contravention of public spaces protection orders made 
pursuant to the Anti-Social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014 

 

Without prejudice to 4.19 and 4.20 above, to exercise the powers 
conferred on the Council by the Anti-Social Behaviour Crime and 
Policing Act 2014 and to appoint and authorise officers of the Council 
to exercise any of the powers and duties of the Council under that Act 

 

To agree amendments to the allotment guidelines and to publish the 
same 

In consultation with the portfolio 
holder and the Chief Planning & 
Transportation Officer 

To act as the Council’s data protection officer and to exercise the 
powers of the data protection officer in accordance with the General 
Data Protection Regulations and the Data Protection Act 2018 

 

To act as a single point of contact in connection with applications to 
access communications data pursuant to the Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act 2000, subject to the provisions and 
requirements of that Act 

 

 
 

Page 129



16 of 48 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting May 2022 
Amended 30

th
 June 2022 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

DELEGATIONS TO CHIEF PLANNING & TRANSPORTATION OFFICER 
 
 

Summary of Delegation Comments 

Directions under the provisions of Article 4 of the Town and Country 
Planning General Development Procedure Order 1995 

 

Following consultation with the relevant portfolio holder, power to 
respond on behalf of the Council to consultation by other local 
authorities on proposed or amended development plans, policies, 
strategies and supplementary planning guidance 

 

Following consultation with the relevant portfolio holder, power to 
respond on behalf of the local planning authority to consultation by 
external agencies and government departments 

 

To obtain additional information in connection with planning purposes 
whether under S330 of Town and Country Planning Act 1990 or by 
Planning Contravention Notice (S171C(2) and (3) of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 and S.16 Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 

 

Power to authorise directed surveillance and the conduct of covert 
intelligence sources pursuant to section 28 and 29 Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act 2000 subject to the provisions and 
requirements of that Act 

 

To exercise the Council’s residual highway functions In consultation with the relevant 
portfolio holder 

To authorise any officer or suitably qualified and/ or experienced  
persons to enter land in accordance with section 324 Town & Country 
Planning Act 1990 and section 88 Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 

 

To carry out the functions of the Council in respect of: 
(a) the numbering of properties and  
(b) the renumbering / renaming of existing properties   
under Section 17 and 18 of the Public Health Act 1925 

 

To provide seats on highway land, where appropriate  

To operate the Hedgerow Regulations 1997 on land in the Borough 
including issuing a Hedgerow Retention Notice 

 

The making of Temporary Highway Closure Orders under Section 21 
of the Town Police Clauses Act 1847 

 

To agree the terms of garage tenancy agreements,  to agree 
variations of the same and to take any steps prescribed by law to 
determine or enforce garage tenancy agreements 

 

To negotiate and agree terms for garage plot leases and to review and 
increase the rent payable under such leases 

 

ENGINEERING  

To receive notice of intention to demolish buildings or parts of  

Page 130



17 of 48 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting May 2022 
Amended 30

th
 June 2022 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

buildings (unless exempt) within the Borough.  To issue notices 
concerning the manner of any demolition to be carried out 

To take steps to protect unoccupied buildings from unauthorised entry 
or causing danger to public health 

 

To make additions to or deletions from list of contractors approved for 
demolition 

 

To exercise the Councils functions as risk management authority 
under section 6 Flood and Water Management Act 2010 

 

To exercise the Council’s functions as designating and responsible 
authority under Schedule 1 of the Flood and Water Management Act 
2010 

 

 
 

 
DELEGATIONS TO THE DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE   

 
 

Summary of Delegation Comments 

To undertake the proper administration of the Council’s financial 
affairs  and the operation of the Council’s accounting systems 

 

To arrange all borrowing, financing and investment in line with the 
Council’s Treasury Management Policy 

 

To exercise the budgetary control functions referred to the Deputy 
Chief Executive  in the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules 

 

To administer the calculation and payment of housing benefit and 
council tax support 

 

To make amendments to the Council’s council tax support scheme as 
required, to comply with national guidelines and to ensure the scheme 
remains fiscally neutral. 

 

to take all necessary steps to undertake the calculation, collection, 
administration and recovery of Council Tax and Non-domestic Rates 
in accordance with the Local Government Finance Act 2012, the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992 and the Local Government Finance 
Act 1988, (all as amended from time to time) and further government 
regulations and guidance, that may be issued. 

 

To determine the size of the Council Tax Support Exceptional 
Hardship Fund each year;  

 

To make appropriate banking arrangements on behalf of the Council  

 To insure against risks where he considers this appropriate   

To sign attachment of earnings orders  

To determine National Non Domestic Rates hardship cases and 
assess relief 

 
 
 

To authorise suitable officers to attend court and valuation  

Page 131



18 of 48 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting May 2022 
Amended 30

th
 June 2022 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

panels/tribunals on behalf of the Council for the administration and 
collection of council tax and non-domestic rates in accordance with 
legislation and Council policy 

To make payments for properties to be purchased  by agreement in 
an area proposed for redevelopment or for properties to be purchased 
under any confirmed compulsory purchase order 

 

To award, cancel and recover discretionary housing payments under 
the Discretionary Financial Assistance Regulations 2001 

 

Power to write off debts up to a value of  
£5,000 each 

 

Power to write off debts of any value if: 

 The debtor is bankrupt or in liquidation and there is no likelihood 
of the debt being paid; or 

 The debtor has absconded and all reasonable enquiries have 
failed to locate them; or 

 The debtor is in prison and has no means to pay; or 

 The debtor has died and there is no estate 

 

Power to write off debts of council tax and non-domestic rates of any 
value if: 

 The debt has been remitted by the magistrates court; or 

 The debtor has been imprisoned in respect of the debt 

 

Responsibility for maintaining an adequate and effective system of 
internal audit 

 

Responsible for the Council’s compliance with taxation regulations for 
the purposes of the CIPFA Code of Tax Management 

 

To operate the Council’s car loan and car leasing schemes  

To authorise the investigation and prosecution of offences pursuant to 
the Council  Tax Reduction Schemes (Detection of Fraud and 
Enforcement) (England) Regulations 2013 

 

LEISURE  
 

 

Granting of use of sports and leisure facilities for annual galas, tuition 
of school children and other similar events including free/discount use 
policy at Council leisure facilities 

 

To allocate athletics track at Wilson Playing Fields free of charge up 
to 4 times each year to Hyndburn Athletics Club 
 

 

Relaxation of by-laws for cycle races  In consultation with the relevant 
portfolio holder 

To determine Christmas closure arrangements in respect of leisure 
facilities 

In consultation with the relevant 
portfolio holder 

To determine the terms and conditions with artists/organisers for the 
arts and entertainments programme 

 
 
 

Page 132



19 of 48 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting May 2022 
Amended 30

th
 June 2022 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

Power to authorise directed surveillance and the conduct of covert 
intelligence sources pursuant to section 28 and 29 Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act 2000 subject to the provisions and 
requirements of that Act  

 

Power to surveillance which is not governed by the Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act 2000  
 

Subject to compliance with the 
Council’s guidance for officers on 
the application and use of 
surveillance which is not 
governed by the Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act 2000  
 
Subject to confirmation of the 
approval by the Executive 
Director (Legal & Democratic 
Services), the Legal Services 
Manager or a solicitor within the 
Council’s Legal Services Section 

(Subject to the delegation in Part 2 paragraph 4.20 of this scheme of 
delegation) to exercise the powers conferred on the Council by the 
Anti-Social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014 and to appoint and 
authorise officers of the Council to exercise any of the powers and 
duties of the Council under that Act 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DELEGATIONS TO THE HEAD OF AUDIT & INVESTIGATIONS 
 
 

Summary of Delegation Comments 

Power to authorise directed surveillance and the conduct of covert 
intelligence sources pursuant to section 28 and 29 Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act 2000 subject to the provisions and 
requirements of that Act 

 

Power to authorise surveillance which is not governed by the 
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000  
 

Subject to compliance with the 
Council’s guidance for officers on 
the application and use of 
surveillance which is not 
governed by the Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act 2000  
 

Page 133



20 of 48 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting May 2022 
Amended 30

th
 June 2022 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Subject to confirmation of the 
approval by the Executive 
Director (Legal & Democratic 
Services), the Legal Services 
Manager or a solicitor within the 
Council’s Legal Services Section 

To act as the Council’s data protection officer in the absence or 
incapacity of the Executive Director (Legal & Democratic Services) 
and in such circumstances to exercise the powers of the data 
protection officer in accordance with the General Data Protection 
Regulations and the Data Protection Act 2018 

 

To act as a single point of contact in connection with applications to 
access communications data pursuant to the Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act 2000, subject to the provisions and 
requirements of that Act 

 

 
 

 
DELEGATIONS TO HEAD OF BENEFITS, REVENUES AND CUSTOMER SERVICES 

 
 

Summary of Delegation Comments 

Power to write off debts relating to housing benefit overpayments, 
non-domestic rates and council tax up to a value of £2,000 each. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DELEGATIONS TO HEAD OF POLICY & ORGANISATIONAL DEVELOPMENT 
 
 

Summary of Delegation Comments 

To authorise internal candidate only recruitment exercises in 
accordance with the Council’s Recruitment and Selection policy 

 

To implement the Council’s job evaluation scheme  

To develop and implement the Council’s training and development 
programme for members and employees 

 

 
 

 

Page 134



21 of 48 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting May 2022 
Amended 30

th
 June 2022 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

DELEGATIONS TO THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (ENVIRONMENT) 
 

 

Summary of Delegation Comments 

Power to authorise directed  surveillance and the conduct of covert 
intelligence sources pursuant to section 28 and 29 Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act 2000 subject to the provisions and 
requirements of that Act 

 

In so far as they are executive functions , to implement and exercise  
the powers conferred by the following legislation and to authorise in 
accordance with any legal requirements or restrictions any officer or 
other suitably qualified and / or experienced person pursuant to the 
following legislation ( and any re –enactment or modification thereof 
and any regulations made thereunder) for any appropriate provisions 
which fall within the remit of Environmental Services: 
Anti Social Behaviour Act 2003 
Anti Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 
Control of Pollution Act 1974 
Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994 
Land Drainage Act 1991 
Refuse Disposal (Amenity) Act 1978 
Also any Regulations, Order, Byelaws or other subsidiary legislation 
made under the above and any enactments amending or replacing the 
same 

 

To authorise appropriate staff within Environmental Services  to appear 
in court in connection with proceedings relating to the functions listed in 
14.2 above 

 

To deal with applications for rubbish amnesty, Clean Streets initiatives 
or similar 

In consultation with the 
relevant Portfolio Holder 

To act as delegated officer in respect of the Council’s vehicle operator 
licence and MOT testing facility 

 

To amend and update the Council’s strategy and service standards for 
Environmental Services and to exercise the powers and duties of the 
Council pursuant to the Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2011 

In consultation with the 
relevant portfolio holder 

Power to authorise surveillance which is not governed by the 
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 

Subject to compliance with the 
Council’s guidance for officers 
on the application and use of 
surveillance which is not 
governed by the Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act 2000 
 
Subject also to confirmation of 
the approval of the Executive 
Director (Legal & Democratic 
Services) the Legal Services 

Page 135



22 of 48 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting May 2022 
Amended 30

th
 June 2022 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Manager or a solicitor within 
the Council’s Legal Services 
Section 

To exercise the provisions of and issue notices under Sections 43 and 
48 of the Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003 

 

To authorise holding of car boot sales/markets where organiser intends 
profits generated to be solely for charitable, sporting, social or political 
purposes  Provided no vans individual or organisation in same location 
more than once in 3 months 

 

Take appropriate action in behalf of the Council’s market franchise 
rights 

In consultation with the 
Executive Director (Legal & 
Democratic Services) 

To manage the Council’s markets  

To determine the number and location of Christmas light “switch on” 
events to be supported by Council staff each year 

In consultation with the 
Portfolio Holder 

 
 

 
DELEGATIONS TO THE DEPUTY HEAD OF ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES 

 
 

Summary of Delegation Comments 

The provision and management of the Cemeteries and Crematoria   

The appointment of the Medical Referee and Deputy Medical Referee 
by virtue of  
Cremation Regulations 1930 

 

To grant permission for community organisations to enter onto parks 
and cemetery  land under licence to undertake minor environmental 
improvement schemes.  “Minor” schemes will include all schemes 
where any increase in maintenance obligation or liability for the Council 
could be funded from existing approved budgets without detriment to 
other services and projects 

In consultation with the 
Leader, Deputy Leader and 
appropriate Portfolio Holder 

 
 

DELEGATIONS TO HEAD OF ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH 
 
 

Summary of Delegation Comments 
 

To take action under section 215 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 (including the service of notices) and to take action to enforce any 
notice served under section 215 

 

To authorise appropriate staff within Environmental Services to appear 
in court 

 

To exercise the powers conferred by section 68 Local Government  

Page 136



23 of 48 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting May 2022 
Amended 30

th
 June 2022 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Summary of Delegation Comments 
 

(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 and to appoint and authorise 
officers within Environmental Services to exercise such powers 

To implement and exercise the powers conferred by the following 
legislation and to authorise in accordance with any legal requirements 
or restrictions any officer or other suitably qualified and / or experienced 
person pursuant to the following legislation ( and any re–enactment or 
modification thereof and any regulations made thereunder) for any 
appropriate provisions which fall within the remit of  the Council’s 
environmental health and environmental protection functions 
:Applicable to:- 
Animal Boarding Establishments Act 1963 
Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act 1960 
Breeding of Dogs Act 1973 / 1991 
Breeding and Sale of Dogs (Welfare) Act 1999 
Clean Neighbourhoods & Environment Act 2005 
Licensing Act 2003 
Riding Establishments Act 1964 / 1970 
Pet Animals Act 1951 
Public Health Act 1936 / 1961 
Refuse Disposal (Amenity) Act 1978 
Dangerous Wild Animals Act 1976 
Health & Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 
Food Safety Act 1990 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 (in so far at it is a non-executive 
function) 
Environmental Damage (Prevention & Mediation) Regulations 2009 
Slaughter of Poultry Act 1967 
The Specified Products from China (Restriction on First Placing on the 
Market) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2012 
Sunbed (Regulations) Act 2010 
Sunday Trading Act 1994 
The Trade In Animals and Related Products Regulations 2011 
Transmissible Spongiform Encephalopathies (England) Regulations 
2010 
Water Act 2014 
Water Supplies (Water Fittings) Regulations 1999 
Water Supplies (Water Quality) Regulations 2010 
Food Safety and Hygiene (England) Regulations 2013 
Food Hygiene (England) Regulations 2005 
Food Act 1984 
Microbiological Criteria for Foodstuffs Regulations 2005 
Mobile Homes Act 2013   
Official Feed and Food Controls (England) Regulations 2009 

 

Page 137



24 of 48 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting May 2022 
Amended 30

th
 June 2022 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Summary of Delegation Comments 
 

Prevention of Damage by Pests Act 1949 
Private Water Supply Regulations 2009 
Processed Animal Protein (England) Regulations 2001 
Products of Animal Origin (Third Country Imports) Regulations 2006 
and 2007 (Amendment Regulations) 
Riding Establishments Act 1964 and 1970 
Cinemas Act 1985 
Theatres Act 1968 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 / 1982 
Food Safety and Hygiene Regulations 2013 
Fire Safety and Safety of Places of Sport Act 1987 
Performing Animals (Regulation) Act 1925 
Safety at Sports Grounds Act 1975 
Slaughterhouses Act 1974 
Zoo Licensing Act 1981 
Scrap metal Dealers Act 2013 
Animal Welfare Act 2006 
The Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals)(England) 
Regulations 2018 
Control of Pollution Act 1974 
Environment Act 1995 
Noise Act 1996 
Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005 
Water Industry Act 1991 
Clean Air Act 1993 
Building Act 1984 
Dangerous Dogs Act 1991 
Clean Air Act 1993 (in so far as it is a non-executive function 
Noise and Statutory Nuisance Act 1993 (in so far as it is a non-
executive function) 
Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994 (including taking legal 
proceedings) 
Health Act 2006 
Public Health (Control of Disease) Act 1984 
Coronavirus Act 2019 
Environmental Permitting (England & Wales) Regulations 2010 
Private Water Supply Regulations 2009 
Pollution Prevention and Control Act 1999 
Noise and Statutory Nuisance Act 1993 
Riding Establishments Act 1964 
Animal Boarding Establishments Act 1963 
Breeding of Dogs Act 1973 and 1991 
Pet Animals Act 1951 

Page 138



25 of 48 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting May 2022 
Amended 30

th
 June 2022 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Summary of Delegation Comments 
 

Dangerous Wild Animals Act 1976 
Agriculture Act 1970 
Agriculture (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1968 
Agriculture (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1968 
Animal By-Products (England) Regulations 2005 
Animal Feed (Composition, Marketing and Use) (England) Regulations 
2015 
Animal Feed (Hygiene, Sampling, etc. and Enforcement) (England) 
Regulations 2015 
 
Also any Regulations, Orders, Byelaws or other subsidiary legislation 
made under the above and any enactments amending or replacing the 
same 
 

To authorise rights of entry on land under section 196 Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 for appropriate staff within the Section 

 

To appoint proper officers and alternative proper officers for the 
purposes of the Public Health (Control of Disease) Act 1984 or any 
statutory enactment or amendment to that Act 

 

To review and update the Council’s annual food service plan  

To exercise the powers conferred by section 68 Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 and to appoint and authorise 
officers within Environmental Services to exercise such powers 

 

 
 
 

Part 3 - Delegation of Non-Executive Functions to Officers 
 

Chief Officer for the purposes of this Part means the Chief Executive, the Deputy Chief 
Executive,  the Executive Director (Legal & Democratic), the Executive Director (Environment), 
the Deputy Head of Environmental Services, the Head of Regeneration and Housing, the Head 
of Environmental Health, Head of Policy and Organisational Development and the Chief 
Planning & Transportation Officer 

 
 

DELEGATIONS TO ALL CHIEF OFFICERS 
 

Summary of Delegation Comments 
 

POWERS RELATING TO COVID 19 
 

 

To implement and exercise the powers conferred on the Council by:   

Page 139



26 of 48 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting May 2022 
Amended 30

th
 June 2022 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Summary of Delegation Comments 
 

- the Coronavirus Act 2020 
- the Public Health (Control of Disease) Act 1984  
- any other legislation conferring specific powers on the Council in 

respect of the Covid 19 pandemic 
- any re-enactment or modification of the legislation referred to above 

and any regulations, order or other subsidiary legislation made 
thereunder 

 
and to authorise any officer or suitably qualified and experienced person 
to take action pursuant to the legislation, regulations and other subsidiary 
legislation referred to above. 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
DELEGATIONS TO CHIEF PLANNING & TRANSPORTATION OFFICER  

 
Summary of Delegation Comments 

 

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL FUNCTIONS 
 

 

DETERMINATION OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS  
 

 

All applications for permission, consent, certificates determinations and prior 
notifications made under Town and Country Planning legislation unless: 

1. the Chief Planning and Transportation Officer considers that the 
application should be considered by the Planning Committee 

2. the application would constitute a significant departure from the 
policies of the statutory development plan and it is intended to 
approve the application 

3. the application is for a significant proposal by the Council or the 
County Council and is not of a minor nature 

4. the applicant is a member of the Council 
5. the applicant is an employee of the Planning & Transportation Section 

or is a senior manager of the Council 
6. the application is recommended for approval subject to a planning 

agreement under s106 Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
(although planning applications for renewals/time extensions do not 
need to be referred to Planning Committee if there is a Section 106 

 

Page 140



27 of 48 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting May 2022 
Amended 30

th
 June 2022 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Summary of Delegation Comments 
 

agreement). 
7. a local Councillor has  requested in writing that the application be 

referred to Planning Committee within 14 days of such a planning 
application first being included on the weekly list of planning 
applications and subject to the local Councillor giving planning 
reasons for the referral to Planning Committee. 

8. the application is a major planning application and, following 
consultation, either the Chair of Planning, Vice Chair of Planning or 
the Shadow Chair of Planning has requested in writing that the 
application be referred to Planning Committee  

 
This includes legislation relating to listed buildings, conservation areas and 
hazardous substances. 

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL   
Serve Building Preservation Notices  

Service of Discontinuance Notices under the Advertisement Regulations for 
advertisements which seriously conflict with adopted policies, taking into 
account possible compensation liability 

Consult the Executive 
Director (Legal & 
Democratic Services) 

Secure removal of an advertisement displayed in contravention of 
Regulations or use of any site 

Consult Executive 
Director (Legal & 
Democratic Services) 

Removal or obliteration of placards and posters  

Issue of enforcement notices for breach of planning control under the Town & 
Country Planning legislation 

To be reported to 
Planning Committee 
every six months.   

In relation to listed buildings: 

Issue of listed building enforcement notices 

Issue of repairs notices 

Execution of urgent works 

Consultation required 
with the Executive 
Director (Legal and 
Democratic Services) 

Issue of stop notices and temporary stop notices 
 
Issue of breach of conditions notices or planning contravention notices 
 
Issue of completion notices 

Consultation required 
with the Executive 
Director (Legal and 
Democratic Services) 

Take steps to secure compliance with an enforcement notice either through 
prosecution or by taking direct action under the Town & Country Planning 
Acts 

Consultation with the 
Executive Director (Legal 
& Democratic Services) 

For purposes of the Town & Country Planning (Enforcement Notices & 
Appeals) Procedure, to make a statement as to whether or not the Council 
would grant planning permission for the development alleged and, if so, on 
what conditions 

 

Page 141



28 of 48 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting May 2022 
Amended 30

th
 June 2022 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Summary of Delegation Comments 
 

To make representations (for or against) on planning applications for 
developments in neighbouring districts 

 

Assess interim development order submissions relating to mineral extraction 
and give observations to Lancashire County Council 

 

Take action on dangerous trees  
1.2.17  To do any of the following unless a ward councillor has requested in 
writing that the decision be referred to the Planning (Trees) Sub-Committee 
within seven days of the relevant ward councillors being given notice of the 
matter in question: 
 
(a) Make and confirm Tree Preservations Orders where satisfied that trees 
are in danger of felling or lopping or to preserve the amenity of an area 
(following consultation with the relevant portfolio holder and ward councillors, 
save where the possibility of felling or lopping is so imminent that time does 
not permit consultation to take place in which case paragraph 1.2.19 below 
shall apply);  
 
(b) Serve notices and take appropriate action for replacement tree planting 
under the Town and Country Planning Acts; 
 
(c) Operate the Town and Country Planning (Tree Preservation) (England) 
Regulations 2012 in all cases involving works to trees protected by Tree 
Preservation Orders and situated on land owned or controlled by the Council 
except where the trees in question are managed by the Chief Planning and 
Transportation Officer;  
 
(d) Determine applications to carry out work on trees protected by Tree 
Preservation Orders except in the case of proposed felling;  
 
(e) Determine applications to fell trees protected by Tree Preservation Orders 
and situated on land which is not owned or controlled by the Council if: 
 
i.  The trees are causing structural damage to property, retaining 

walls, services or similar;  or  
 
ii.  The trees contain decay which is not advanced enough to make 

them immediately dangerous, but which will make them potentially 
dangerous within the next 5 years; or 

  
iii.  The trees are not immediately dangerous, but are growing in a 

particular way (such as with a pronounced lean) that makes them 
potentially dangerous within the next 5 years 

 

 

Page 142



29 of 48 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting May 2022 
Amended 30

th
 June 2022 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Summary of Delegation Comments 
 

iv.  The trees are growing close to other trees and are stunted in their 
growth by the competition with neighbouring trees and the trees 
need to be felled as a thinning operation to allow adjacent trees to 
develop properly 

 
(f) Following consultation with the Chair and Vice-Chair of Planning (Trees) 
Sub-Committee, determine applications to fell trees protected by Tree 
Preservation Orders and situated on land which is not owned or controlled by 
the Council in circumstances not covered by (e) above; 
 
(g) Determine repeat applications to fell trees protected by Tree Preservation 
Order and situated on land which is not owned or controlled by the Council if 
made within 2 years of an original application which was refused and if the 
officer recommendation remains unchanged from the original application; 
 
(h) Operate the Hedgerow Regulations 1997 on land in ownership other than 
Hyndburn Borough Council including the issue of hedgerow retention notices; 
 
(i) Obtain an ecological or archaeological survey on a hedgerow once a 
hedgerow removal notice has been received; 
 
(j) Determine, in consultation with the Executive Director (Legal & Democratic 
Services), whether to prosecute after contravention of Tree Preservation 
Order or hedgerow regulations and to undertake appropriate action. 

Apply for an injunction pursuant to section 214A of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (as amended) in cases which he determines to be urgent;  
and 
 
Authorise an officer or any other suitably qualified and / or experienced 
person to exercise a right of entry pursuant to section 214B of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended);     

 

Make and confirm Tree Preservation Orders where satisfied that trees are in 
danger of felling or lopping or to preserve the amenity of an area where the 
possibility of felling or lopping is so imminent that time does not permit 
consultation with the relevant ward councillors or consideration of the matter 
by the Planning (Trees) Sub-Committee to take place (and the Portfolio 
Holder and relevant ward councillors shall be notified of the making of the 
Tree Preservation Order within 1 working day); 

 

Make structural appraisal of building regulation applications.  This includes 
making arrangements for outside specialist appraisal, if necessary 

 

Determine all applications for building regulation approval/rejection  

Process all applications for determination of building regulations  

Securing deposited plans providing access and other safety for the fire  

Page 143



30 of 48 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting May 2022 
Amended 30

th
 June 2022 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Summary of Delegation Comments 
 

brigade 

Approve repair grants involving replacement of lead water service pipes 
where not in a designated improvement area and unlikely to receive a 
renovation grant within 5 years or to support a common water supply 
replacement scheme 

 

Allow withdrawal of a notice served under Section 65 of Public Health Act 
1936 if this proves necessary after receipt  of an independent report from a 
suitably qualified person 

 

Use of powers re ruinous, dilapidated and neglected sites  

Use of powers re dangerous buildings and structures  

To authorise any officer or other suitably qualified and / or experienced  
person to exercise the  rights of entry on land conferred by S196A of Town & 
Country Planning Act 1990  

 

To deal with all matters relating to the listing of buildings  

To take action pursuant to the Anti-social Behaviour Act 2003 in connection 
with high hedges, including the service of remedial notices and action in 
default of remedial notices 

In consultation with the 
Executive Director (Legal 
& Democratic Services) 

To decide the level of fee payable for processing complaints made about high 
hedges under the Anti-social Behaviour Act 2003 

In consultation with the 
relevant portfolio holder 
and the Deputy Chief 
Executive 

To waive or refund application fees payable for processing complaints about 
high hedges under the Anti-social Behaviour Act 2003 where the complainant 
is in receipt of income support, income based job seekers allowance or 
guaranteed pension credit 

In consultation with the 
relevant portfolio holder 

To order works in default of a remedial notice served in respect of high 
hedges in anticipation of full cost recovery 

 

To make agreements under s25 Highways Act 1980  

To make orders under s26 Highways Act 1980  

To require the discontinuance of a use of land  

To apply for injunctions restraining a breach of planning control or in relation 
to a listed building 

In conjunction with the 
Executive Director (Legal 
Services) 

To take action under section 215 Town and Country Planning Act 1090 
(including the service of notices) and to take action to enforce any notice 
served under section 215 

In consultation with the 
Chair and Vice Chair of 
Planning Committee and 
the Executive Director 
(Legal & Democratic 
Services) 

 
 
 

Page 144



31 of 48 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting May 2022 
Amended 30

th
 June 2022 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

DELEGATIONS TO CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

 
 

Summary of delegation 
 

Comments 

Power to designate attendance at meetings and other events as approved 
duties for the purpose of eligibility for travel and subsistence allowance where 
such attendance is in connection with the discharge of the Council’s 
functions, including its executive function 

 

Power to approve applications for early retirement / voluntary redundancy 
including under the Local Government Pension Scheme 85 year rule (while in 
force) and to approve retirement of employees on the grounds of efficiency of 
the service  

Having regard to the 
relevant Council policy 

Appointment of, dismissal of and taking of disciplinary action as defined in the 
Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 2001 (“the 
2001Regs”) against chief officers within the meaning of sections 2(6) and 
2(7) Local Government and Housing Act 1989 (“the 1989 Act”), Deputy Chief 
Officers within the meaning of Section 2(8) of the 1989 Act and political 
assistants within the meaning of section 9 of the 1989 Act. 
 
This delegation does not authorise the Chief Executive to take disciplinary 
action as defined in the 2001 Regs or to dismiss the officers designated as  
monitoring officer (within the meaning of section 5 1989 Act) or chief finance 
officer (within the meaning of section 151 if the Local Government Act 1972) 
and other officers who have the benefit of the JNC Chief Officers terms and 
Conditions of Employment   

This delegation must be 
exercised in accordance 
with the Officer 
Employment Procedure 
Rules 
 
The Chief Executive 
must report on any 
action taken under this 
delegation to the next 
available meeting of the 
Council and include in 
such report confirmation 
that the said Procedure 
Rules have been 
followed 
 
The Chief Executive is 
not authorised to 
delegate the 
appointment or dismissal 
or the taking of 
disciplinary action 
against a chief officer to 
another officer 

Approval of changes to any document forming part of the Council’s policy 
framework provided the proposed change: 

a) is prescribed by legislation or statutory instrument; or 
b) merely corrects a typographical error or errors; or 
c) is of a minor nature (i.e. the proposed change does not affect the 

substance of the document or change Council policy) 

 

 

 

Page 145



32 of 48 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting May 2022 
Amended 30

th
 June 2022 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 
DELEGATIONS TO ALL CHIEF OFFICERS 

 
 
 
Summary of delegation 

 
Comments 

Power to refuse applications for early retirement / voluntary redundancy 
including under the Local Government Pension Scheme 85 year rule having 
regard to the relevant Council policy 

Final approval of such 
applications is 
delegated to the Chief 
Executive 
 
A Chief Officer wishing 
to recommend approval 
of such an application 
must make a report to 
the Chief Executive 

Determination of appeals against cautions under the Council’s capability 
procedures 

An officer determining 
an appeal must have 
had no previous 
involvement with the 
relevant capability 
process 

Determination of appeals against dismissal under the Council’s capability 
procedures 

In consultation with the 
Leader of the Council 
or his / her nominee 
and the Leader of the 
main opposition party 
or his / her nominee 
and the Head of 
Human Resources or 
his / her nominee and 
in accordance with the 
Council’s capability 
policy 
 
A Chief Officer must 
have had no previous 
involvement with the 
relevant capability 
procedure or decision 
making process 
 
Determination of 
appeals against 
dismissal may not be 

Page 146



33 of 48 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting May 2022 
Amended 30

th
 June 2022 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

delegated by a chief 
officer 

To deal with the following employment issues within the Chief Officers 
service area : 

i) engage, suspend, dismiss and deploy staff 

ii) take disciplinary action against staff 

iii) apply conditions of service 

iv) regrade posts in accordance with the Council’s job evaluation 
scheme 

v) approve honoraria payments not exceeding £2000 

vi) award car / telephone allowances 

vii) amend job descriptions of staff within his/her department 

 

In exercising their 
delegated powers Chief 
Officers must: 

i) act within the law and 
in accordance with any 
statutory requirements 
and procedures 

iii) comply with the 
Council’s  policies and 
procedures 

iv) act within the budget 
for the relevant service 
area 

 

 
 

 
DELEGATIONS TO EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (LEGAL & DEMOCRATIC SERVICES) 

 
 

 
Summary of delegation 

 
Comments 

To approve changes to the Council’s written constitution provided the 
proposed change: 

a) is prescribed by legislation or statutory instrument; or 
b) merely corrects a typographical error or errors 

 

To appoint Independent Members to the Standards Committee In consultation with the 
Chair of the Standards 
Committee 

To appoint Members of the Independent Remuneration Panel  

To agree and enter into agreement pursuant to section 106 Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 

In consultation with the 
Chief Planning and 
Transportation Officer  

In respect of Part 1 Chapter 1 Local Government and Public Involvement in 
Health Act 2007: 
To undertake consultations in respect of proposed changes to the Council’s 
scheme for elections; and 
To comply with the statutory requirements for publicity and notification of the 
Electoral Commission in respect of changes to the Council’s scheme for 
elections 

 

In respect of community governance reviews under Chapter 3 Part 4 Local  

Page 147



34 of 48 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting May 2022 
Amended 30

th
 June 2022 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007; 
To comply with the notification and publicity requirements in sections 80, 96 
and 98; and 
To make agreements about incidental matters under section 99 

In relation to non-executive functions, to commence, defend, settle or appear 
in legal proceedings to protect the Council’s assets or interests or if 
appropriate for the benefit of the inhabitants of the Borough and to prosecute 
any person or persons in accordance with the Council’s non-executive 
powers 

 

Power to advertise and seek applications for the position of independent 
member of the audit panel pursuant to the Local Audit & Accountability Act 
2014 
 

 

Licensing Functions 
 

 

To exercise the powers conferred by the following legislation (including, 
without limitation, the determination of fees) and to appoint and authorise 
officers  and any other suitably qualified and / or experienced person under 
any of the Statutes for any of the appropriate provisions which fall within the 
remit of the Licensing Section and any re-enactment of similar provisions or 
regulations made under any of the Acts. 
Applicable to:- 
Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013 
Public Health Act 1936 
Health & Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 
Cinemas Act 1985 
Theatres Act 1968 
Sunday Entertainments Act 1932 
Sunday Theatre Act 1972 
Hypnotism Act 1952 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1982  
Transport Act 1985 
Town Police Clauses Act 1847 
Lotteries and Amusements Act 1976 
Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994 (including taking legal 
proceedings) 
County of Lancashire Act 1984 
Game Act 1831 
Game Licences Act 1860 
Gambling Act 2005 
Gaming Act 1968 
Vehicle (Crime) Act 2001 
Also any Regulations, Orders, Byelaws or other subsidiary legislation made 

 

Page 148



35 of 48 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting May 2022 
Amended 30

th
 June 2022 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

under the above and any enactments amending or replacing the same 

To exercise functions under the Licensing Act 2003  In accordance with the 
Statement of Licensing 
Policy 

To authorise officers pursuant to section 304 Gambling Act 2005 In accordance with the 
Statement of Gambling 
Licensing Policy and 
Principles 

To determine applications for premises licenses under the Gambling Act 
2005 where no representations received or representations have been 
withdrawn 

 

To determine applications for variation of premises licenses under the 
Gambling Act 2005 where no representations received or representations 
withdrawn 

 

To determine applications for transfer of premises licenses under the 
Gambling Act 2005 where no representations received from the Gambling 
Commission 

 

To determine applications for a provisional statement under the Gambling Act 
2005 where no representations have been received or representations have 
been withdrawn 

 

To determine applications for club gaming or club machine permits under the 
Gambling Act 2005 where no objections have been received or 
representations have been withdrawn 

 

To set fees under the Gambling Act 2005  

In respect of the Gambling Act 2005 and subordinate legislation:: 
Power to exchange information; 
Power to provide information to the Gambling Commission 
Power to exercise functions relating to the registration and regulation of small 
lotteries 

 

To undertake the following functions in respect of the licensing of sex 
establishments under the provisions of Part II and Schedule 3 of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 and (where applicable) in 
accordance with the Council’s Sexual Entertainment Venue Policy: 

 determining applications for grant, renewal, transfer or variation of a 
licence where no relevant objections have been received; 

 cancellation of licence 

 determining license fees 

 enforcement of the provisions of Part II and Schedule 3 of the said 
1982 Act 

 

 

 

 

DELEGATIONS TO DEPUTY HEAD OF ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES 

Page 149



36 of 48 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting May 2022 
Amended 30

th
 June 2022 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 

Summary of Delegation Comments 
 

To exercise the powers conferred by the following legislation and to appoint 
and authorise officers or any other suitably qualified  and or experienced 
person under any of the Statutes for any of the appropriate provisions which 
fall within the remit of the Environmental Services Division and any re-
enactment of similar provisions or regulations made under any of the Acts. 
Applicable to:- 
Health & Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 (in so far at it is a non-executive function) 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 
Clean Neighbourhoods & Environment Act 2005 
Local Authorities Cemeteries Order 1977 
 
Also any Regulations, Orders, Byelaws or other subsidiary legislation made 
under the above and any enactments amending or replacing the same 

 

To liaise with Lancashire County Council on residual highway arrangements 
and in particular standards and funding for the maintenance of highway 
verges, trees and weed control. 

 

To authorise appropriate staff within the Parks and Cemeteries Section to 
appear in court 

 

Take action on dangerous trees  

 
 

DELEGATIONS TO THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR ENVIRONMENT 
 

Summary of Delegation Comments 
 

To implement and exercise the powers conferred by the following legislation 
and to authorise in accordance with any legal requirements or restrictions any 
officer or other suitably qualified and / or experienced person pursuant to the 
following legislation ( and any re –enactment or modification thereof and any 
regulations made thereunder) for any appropriate provisions which fall within 
the remit of Environmental Services. 
Applicable to:- 
Refuse Disposal (Amenity) Act 1978 
Health & Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 (in so far at it is a non-executive function) 
Clean Neighbourhoods & Environment Act 2005 
Also any Regulations, Orders, Byelaws or other subsidiary legislation made 
under the above and any enactments amending or replacing the same 

 

To represent the Council at the Lancashire Waste Partnership  

Page 150



37 of 48 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting May 2022 
Amended 30

th
 June 2022 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Summary of Delegation Comments 
 

To exercise the powers conferred by section 68 Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 and to appoint and authorise officers 
within Environmental Services to exercise such powers 

 

  

To take action under section 215 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
(including the service of notices) and to take action to enforce any notice 
served under section 215 

 

To authorise rights of entry on land under section 196 Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 for appropriate staff within the Section 

 

 
 

 
 

 

DELEGATIONS TO HEAD OF POLICY & ORGANISATIONAL DEVELOPMENT 
 

Summary of Delegation Comments 
 

To make changes to the terms and conditions of the Chief Executive, Deputy 
Chief Executive and Executive Director (Legal & Democratic Services) and 
the Executive Director (Environment) provided there is no additional cost to 
the Council 

Subject to the Leader 
of the Council and the 
relevant postholder(s) 
indicating their 
agreement to the 
proposed change 

 
 

DELEGATIONS TO HEAD OF ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH 
 
 

Summary of Delegation Comments 
 

To take action under section 215 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 (including the service of notices) and to take action to enforce any 
notice served under section 215 

 

To authorise appropriate staff within Environmental Services to appear 
in court 

 

To exercise the powers conferred by section 68 Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 and to appoint and authorise 
officers within Environmental Services to exercise such powers 

 

To implement and exercise the powers conferred by the following 
legislation and to authorise in accordance with any legal requirements 
or restrictions any officer or other suitably qualified and / or experienced 
person pursuant to the following legislation ( and any re–enactment or 

 

Page 151



38 of 48 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting May 2022 
Amended 30

th
 June 2022 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Summary of Delegation Comments 
 

modification thereof and any regulations made thereunder) for any 
appropriate provisions which fall within the remit of  the Council’s 
environmental health and environmental protection functions 
:Applicable to:- 
Animal Boarding Establishments Act 1963 
Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act 1960 
Breeding of Dogs Act 1973 / 1991 
Breeding and Sale of Dogs (Welfare) Act 1999 
Clean Neighbourhoods & Environment Act 2005 
Licensing Act 2003 
Riding Establishments Act 1964 / 1970 
Pet Animals Act 1951 
Public Health Act 1936 / 1961 
Refuse Disposal (Amenity) Act 1978 
Dangerous Wild Animals Act 1976 
Health & Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 
Food Safety Act 1990 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 (in so far at it is a non-executive 
function) 
Environmental Damage (Prevention & Mediation) Regulations 2009 
Slaughter of Poultry Act 1967 
The Specified Products from China (Restriction on First Placing on the 
Market) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2012 
Sunbed (Regulations) Act 2010 
Sunday Trading Act 1994 
The Trade In Animals and Related Products Regulations 2011 
Transmissible Spongiform Encephalopathies (England) Regulations 
2010 
Water Act 2014 
Water Supplies (Water Fittings) Regulations 1999 
Water Supplies (Water Quality) Regulations 2010 
Food Safety and Hygiene (England) Regulations 2013 
Food Hygiene (England) Regulations 2005 
Food Act 1984 
Microbiological Criteria for Foodstuffs Regulations 2005 
Mobile Homes Act 2013   
Official Feed and Food Controls (England) Regulations 2009 
Prevention of Damage by Pests Act 1949 
Private Water Supply Regulations 2009 
Processed Animal Protein (England) Regulations 2001 
Products of Animal Origin (Third Country Imports) Regulations 2006 
and 2007 (Amendment Regulations) 
Riding Establishments Act 1964 and 1970 

Page 152



39 of 48 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting May 2022 
Amended 30

th
 June 2022 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Summary of Delegation Comments 
 

Cinemas Act 1985 
Theatres Act 1968 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 / 1982 
Food Safety and Hygiene Regulations 2013 
Fire Safety and Safety of Places of Sport Act 1987 
Performing Animals (Regulation) Act 1925 
Safety at Sports Grounds Act 1975 
Slaughterhouses Act 1974 
Zoo Licensing Act 1981 
Scrap metal Dealers Act 2013 
Animal Welfare Act 2006 
The Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals)(England) 
Regulations 2018 
Control of Pollution Act 1974 
Environment Act 1995 
Noise Act 1996 
Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005 
Water Industry Act 1991 
Clean Air Act 1993 
Building Act 1984 
Dangerous Dogs Act 1991 
Clean Air Act 1993 (in so far as it is a non-executive function 
Noise and Statutory Nuisance Act 1993 (in so far as it is a non-
executive function) 
Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994 (including taking legal 
proceedings) 
Health Act 2006 
Public Health (Control of Disease) Act 1984 
Coronavirus Act 2019 
Environmental Permitting (England & Wales) Regulations 2010 
Private Water Supply Regulations 2009 
Pollution Prevention and Control Act 1999 
Noise and Statutory Nuisance Act 1993 
Riding Establishments Act 1964 
Animal Boarding Establishments Act 1963 
Breeding of Dogs Act 1973 and 1991 
Pet Animals Act 1951 
Dangerous Wild Animals Act 1976 
Agriculture Act 1970 
Agriculture (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1968 
Agriculture (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1968 
Animal By-Products (England) Regulations 2005 
Animal Feed (Composition, Marketing and Use) (England) Regulations 

Page 153



40 of 48 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting May 2022 
Amended 30

th
 June 2022 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Summary of Delegation Comments 
 

2015 
Animal Feed (Hygiene, Sampling, etc. and Enforcement) (England) 
Regulations 2015 
Also any Regulations, Orders, Byelaws or other subsidiary legislation 
made under the above and any enactments amending or replacing the 
same 

To authorise rights of entry on land under section 196 Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 for appropriate staff within the Section 

 

To appoint proper officers and alternative proper officers for the 
purposes of the Public Health (Control of Disease) Act 1984 or any 
statutory enactment or amendment to that Act 

 

To review and update the Council’s annual food service plan  

To exercise the powers conferred by section 68 Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 and to appoint and authorise 
officers within Environmental Services to exercise such powers 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 154



41 of 48 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting May 2022 
Amended 30

th
 June 2022 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Part 4 - Appointment of Statutory and Proper Officers 
 
1. The posts set out below shall be the designated statutory or proper officers of the 

Council and shall be responsible for the statutory responsibilities attached to the role of 
the relevant statutory or proper officer. 

 
2. In the event of any officers mentioned below being for any reason unable to act or of 

any of their posts being vacant, the Chief Executive, or in his absence, the Executive 
Director (Legal & Democratic Services), and in the absence of both, the Deputy Chief 
Executive, shall nominate an officer to act in their stead. 

 
3. Until the Council decides otherwise the Chief Executive is appointed the proper officer 

for the purpose of all statutory provisions, whether existing or future, in respect of which 
no express proper officer appointment has, for the time being, been made. 

 
Statutory Officers 
 

Legislation 
 

Section Statutory Officer Allocated To 

Local Government Act 
1972 
 
Local Government 
Finance Act 1988 
 

S151 Chief Finance Officer Deputy Chief Executive   

Local Government 
and Housing Act 1989 
 
 

S4 Head of Paid Service Chief Executive 

Local Government 
and Housing Act 1989 
 
 

S5 Monitoring Officer Executive Director (Legal 
& Democratic Services) 

 
Proper Officers 
 

Legislation 
 

Section Provision Proper Officer 

Any reference to any enactment passed before or during the 
1971-72 session of Parliament other than the Local 
Government Act 1972 or in any instrument made before 26th 

Chief Executive 

Page 155



42 of 48 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting May 2022 
Amended 30

th
 June 2022 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

October 1972 to the Town Clerk of a Borough which, by 
virtue of any provision of the said Act, is to be construed as a 
reference to the Proper Officer of the Council. 

Any reference in any local statutory provision to the Clerk of 
the Council or similar which, by virtue of an order made under 
the Local Government Act 1972 or the Local Government Act 
1992, is to be construed as a reference to the Proper Officer 
of the Council 

Chief Executive 

 S83 Accepting 
declarations of 
acceptance of office 

Executive Director 
(Legal & Democratic 
Services) 

 S84 Receiving 
resignations from 
office 

Executive Director 
(Legal & Democratic 
Services) 

 S88 Convening Council 
meeting for election 
of chairman 

Chief Executive 

 S89 Receiving notice of 
casual vacancy in 
office of councillor 

Executive Director 
(Legal & Democratic 
Services) 

 S96 Receiving and 
recording member 
interests 

Executive Director 
(Legal & Democratic 
Services) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Local Government 
Act 1972 
 

S100(B)(2) 
 

Circulation of reports 
and agendas  

Chief Executive 

S100(B)(7) Supply of papers to 
press 

Chief Executive 

S100(C)(2) Summary of minutes Chief Executive 

S100(D)(1)(a) Compilation of 
background papers 

Chief Executive 

S100(D)(5)(a) Identification of 
background papers 

Chief Executive 

S100(F) Identification of 
confidential 
documents not open 
to Members 

Chief Executive 

S115(2) Receipt of money 
due from Officers 

Deputy Chief Executive  

S146(1)(a)& 
(b) 

Declarations and 
certificates with 
regard to securities  

Deputy Chief Executive  

Page 156



43 of 48 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting May 2022 
Amended 30

th
 June 2022 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 S191 Ordnance Survey 
requests for 
assistance 

Chief Executive 

 S204(3) Receipt of application 
for licence under 
Licensing Act 1964  

Executive Director 
(Legal & Democratic 
Services) 

S210(6) & (7) Charity functions of 
holders of offices with 
existing authorities 
transferred to holders 
of equivalent office 
with new authorities, 
or if there is no such 
office, to the Proper 
Officer  

Deputy Chief Executive  

 S225(1) Deposit of 
documents  

Chief Executive 

 S228(3) Accounts – to be 
open for inspection 

Deputy Chief Executive  

 S229(5) Deposit of 
documents - 
certification 

Deputy Chief Executive  

 S234 Authentication of 
documents  

Deputy Chief Executive  

 S234(2) Statutory Notices 
under various Public 
Health and 
Associated 
Legislation 

Chief Executive 

 S236(9)&10 Service of Byelaws 
on other Authorities  

Executive Director 
(Legal & Democratic 
Services) 

 S238 Certification of 
Byelaws 

Executive Director 
(Legal & Democratic 
Services) 

 Schedule 14 
Para 25(7) 

Certification of 
resolutions – Para 25 

Executive Director 
(Legal & Democratic 
Services) 

 
 
 

S248 (2) Keeping roll of 
Freeman 

Chief Executive 
 

Schedule 12 Signature of Chief Executive 

Page 157



44 of 48 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting May 2022 
Amended 30

th
 June 2022 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Para 4(2)(b) summons to Council  

Schedule 12 
Para 4 (3) 

Receipt of notices 
regarding addresses 
which Summons to 
meeting are to be 
sent 

Chief Executive 

Schedule 16 
Para 28 

Receipt of deposit 
lists of protected 
buildings 

Executive Director 
(Legal & Democratic 
Services) 

N/A Any reference in any 
local statutory 
provision to the 
Treasurer of a 
specified Council or 
the Treasurer of a 
specified Borough 
which, by virtue of 
order made under 
Section 254 of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972, or the 
Local Government 
Act 1992, is to be 
construed as a 
reference to the 
Proper Officer of the 
Council  

Deputy Chief Executive  

N/A Any reference in any 
enactment passed 
before or during the 
1971/72 session of 
Parliament other than 
the Local 
Government Act 
1972 or in any 
instrument made 
before 26th October 
1972 to the Treasurer 
or a Treasurer of a 
Borough which virtue 
of any provision of 

Deputy Chief Executive  

Page 158



45 of 48 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting May 2022 
Amended 30

th
 June 2022 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

the said Act is to be 
construed as a 
reference to the 
Proper Officer of the 
Council 

Local Government 
Act 1974 

S30(5) Notice of Local 
Government 
Ombudsman report 

Chief Executive 

Local Government 
(Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 
1976 

S41 Certification of copies 
of resolutions, 
Minutes, other 
documents 

Chief Executive 

Rent (Agriculture) 
Act 1976 

All Provision of 
alternative 
accommodation 
Regeneration and 
Architecture  

Deputy Chief Executive  

Local Authorities 
Cemeteries Order 
1977 

All Officer of the burial 
authority 

Executive Director 
(Environment) 

All Registrar for various 
matters relating to 
cremation Health and 
to nominate a 
Medical Referee and 
Deputy Referees 
under the regulations 

Executive Director 
(Environment) 

Cremation 
Regulations 

All Registrar for various 
matters relating to 
cremation Health and 
to nominate a 
Medical Referee and 
Deputy Referees 
under the regulations 

Executive Director 
(Environment) 

Rent Act 1977 S15 Certificates of 
provision of suitable 
alternative 
Regeneration and 
Architecture  
 
Part 1V 
accommodation 

Chief Executive  

Page 159



46 of 48 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting May 2022 
Amended 30

th
 June 2022 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Rates Act 1984 S7 Certification of rate Deputy Chief Executive  

 
 
 
 
Building Act 1984 

S61(2) Repair etc., of drain  Executive Director 
(Legal & Democratic 
Services) 

S78 To act as “the 
Surveyor” 
empowered to take 
and authorise 
emergency action in 
respect of damage to 
dangerous buildings, 
walls etc. 
 
To order the 
demolition of 
buildings rendered 
dangerous by 
damage, without prior 
authorisation of the 
Council 

Executive Director 
(Legal & Democratic 
Services) 

Weights and 
Measures Act 1985 
 

S72 Chief Inspector 
(Weights and 
Measures) 

Chief Executive 

 
 
 
 
 
Local Elections 
(Principal Areas) 
Rule 1986 

Rule 50 Receipt from 
Returning Officer of 
names of persons 
elected to Council 

Executive Director (Legal 
& Democratic Services) 

Rule 52 Receipt from 
Returning Officer of 
election documents 

Executive Director (Legal 
& Democratic Services  

Rule 51 - 54 Retention of election 
documents and 
making them 
available for public 
inspection  

Executive Director (Legal 
& Democratic Services) 

 
 
 
 
Elections 

Representation 
of the People 
Act 1982 

Registration Officer 
for any constituency 
or part of a 
constituency 
coterminous with or 
contained in the 

Executive Director (Legal 
& Democratic Services) 

Page 160



47 of 48 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting May 2022 
Amended 30

th
 June 2022 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Council  

Local 
Government 
Act 1972 

Returning Officer for 
the election of 
Councillors for the 
Borough  

Executive Director 
(Legal & Democratic 
Services) 

Representation 
of the People 
Act 1982 

Officer who may do 
acts in respect of 
Registration in the 
event of the 
Executive Director 
(Legal & Democratic 
Services) incapacity 

Chief Executive 

  Custody of 
declarations of 
acceptance of office 

Executive Director 
(Legal & Democratic 
Services) 

Representation of 
the People Act 1983 

S82 Witnessing 
signatures on 
declarations as to 
local election 
expenses 

Executive Director 
(Legal & Democratic 
Services) 

 S52 Deputy to the 
registration officer 

Chief Executive 

Local Government 
Finance Act 1988 

S114 Preparing reports in 
the case of unlawful 
expenditure 

Deputy Chief Executive 

 S116 Notifying auditor of 
meetings to consider 
reports under s114 

Deputy Chief Executive 

 
 
 
Local Government 
and Housing Act 
1989 
 

S2 Receipt of list of 
Politically Restricted 
Posts 

Executive Director (Legal 
& Democratic Services) 

S15-17 Notice of formation of 
political group, 
changes in 
membership or name 
or leader or deputy 
leader of a political 
group and group 
nominations to 
committee’s 

Executive Director (Legal 
& Democratic Services) 

S19 Members interests – Executive Director (Legal 

Page 161



48 of 48 
Municipal Year 2022/23 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting May 2022 
Amended 30

th
 June 2022 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

notification & Democratic Services) 

 S3  /3A Certifying that a post 
is or is not politically 
restricted 

Executive Director 
(Legal & Democratic 
Services) 

Environmental 
Protection Act 1990 

S149 Stray dogs Executive Director 
(Environment) 

Local Authority 
(Members 
Allowances) 
Regulations 1991 

R14 Receipt of notice 
from members 
electing to forego 
entitlement to 
allowances 

Executive Director 
(Legal & Democratic 
Services) 

Council Tax 
(Administration and 
Enforcement) 
Regulations 1992 

Reg 7 Service of 
Attachment of 
Earnings Orders 

Executive Director 
(Legal & Democratic 
Services) 

The Local 
Authorities 
(Executive 
Arrangements) 
(Access to 
Information 
(England) 
Regulations 2000 

Regs 3 and 4 Recording of 
collective Executive 
Decisions Verification 
etc. of Mayoral 
Petitions 

Chief Executive 
 

The Local 
Authorities 
(Standing Orders) 
(England) 
Regulations 2000 

Regs 3 and 4 
and Schedule 
1 

Provision relating to 
the appointment and 
dismissal of staff 

Chief Executive 
 

Regulation of 
Investigatory 
Powers Act 2000 

Part II of the 
Act 

Appointment to act 
as the Senior 
Responsible Officer 

Executive Director (Legal 
& Democratic Services) 

Local Government 
Act 2000 

S81 Maintaining a register 
of members financial 
and other interests 

Executive Director 
(Legal & Democratic 
Services) 

 
 

Page 162



  
 

 
1 of 21 

Municipal Year 2019/20 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting on 16

th
 May 2019 

Amended by Council on 30
th
 June 2022 

A. COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES 
 

CONTENTS 
Rule  
 
A1. Annual meeting of the Council 
 
A2. Ordinary meetings 
 
A3. Extraordinary meetings 
 
A4. Notice of and summons to meetings 
 
A5. Chair of meeting 
 
A6. Quorum 
 
A7. Duration of meeting 
 
A8. Questions by members 
 
A9. Motions on notice 
 
A10. Motions without notice  
 
A11. Amendments to motions 
 
A12. Alteration and withdrawal of motions 
 
A13. Motions which may be moved during debate 
 
A14. Rules of debate 
 
A15. Previous decisions and motions 
 
A16. Voting 
 
A17. Minutes 
 
A18. Record of attendance 
 
A19. Exclusion of public 
 
A20. Members’ conduct 
 
A21. Disturbance by public 
 
A22. Suspension and amendment of Council Procedure Rules 
 
A23. Mayor, Deputy Mayor and Chair of Council Business 
 
A24.  Council Urgency Procedure 
 
A25. Petitions 
 

Page 163



  
 

 
2 of 21 

Municipal Year 2019/20 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting on 16

th
 May 2019 

Amended by Council on 30
th
 June 2022 

 
 
A26. Rules applying to committees 
 
 A26.2  Delegation to Committees and Sub-Committees 
 A26.6  Committee urgency procedure (including Area Councils) 
 A26.7  Attendance by Leader and Deputy 
 A26.8  Appointment of Substitutes 
 A26.9  Quorum (of Committees and Sub-Committees)  
 A26.10  Rules applying to Planning Committee 
 A26.11  Attendance at Committees 
 A26.12  Extraordinary Committee Meetings 
 
A27. Disclosable pecuniary interests 

Page 164



  
 

 
3 of 21 

Municipal Year 2019/20 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting on 16

th
 May 2019 

Amended by Council on 30
th
 June 2022 

A1.  ANNUAL MEETING OF THE COUNCIL 
 
1.1  Timing 
 
 In a year when there is an ordinary election of councillors, the annual meeting will take 

place within 21 days of the retirement of the outgoing councillors.  In any other year, the 
annual meeting will take place in April or May. The date and time of the annual meeting 
shall be agreed by, and may be changed with the consent of the Chief Executive. 

 
1.2 Business 
 
 The annual meeting will: 
 
 (i) elect the Mayor; 
 
 (ii) elect the Deputy Mayor; 

(iii) elect the Chair of Council Business (who shall act as the chair of the meeting 
instead of the Mayor) if required for the municipal year in question) 

(iv) agree the appointment of, or the process for the appointment of, one or more Vice 
Chairs of Council Business (if required for the municipal year in question) 

 
[If a Chair of Council Business has been appointed the Mayor or Deputy Mayor shall 
then retire from the chair and the Chair of Council Business shall assume the chair 
for the remainder of the business] 

 
 (iv)  approve the minutes of the last meeting; 
 
 (v) receive any announcements from the Mayor, Leader of the Council and/or the Chief 

Executive; 
 
 (vi) elect the Leader of the Council; 
 

(vii) (at the option of the Leader) receive a report from the Leader of the Council 
confirming the appointment of members of the Cabinet and the allocation of 
portfolio’s; 

 (viii) appoint such Committees and Sub-Committees as the Council considers 
appropriate (including at least one overview and scrutiny committee) and determine 
their size and terms of reference; 

 
 (ix) decide the allocation of seats on Committees and Sub-Committees in accordance 

with the political balance rules and appoint each Committee and Sub-Committee, 
including the Chair and Vice Chair; 

 
 (x) make appointments to outside bodies where this is the responsibility of the Council; 
 
 (xi) agree the scheme of delegation of non-executive functions; 
 

(xii) if Council wishes, agree a protocol for the conduct of ordinary meetings of the 
Council 

 
 (xiii) approve a programme of ordinary meetings of the Council for the year;  
 
 (xiv) consider any other business set out in the notice convening the meeting. 

Page 165



  
 

 
4 of 21 

Municipal Year 2019/20 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting on 16

th
 May 2019 

Amended by Council on 30
th
 June 2022 

 
 
A2. ORDINARY MEETINGS 
 
2.1 Timing 
 
 Ordinary meetings shall be held at the dates and times agreed at the annual meeting.  The 

date and time of an ordinary meeting may be changed with the consent of the Chief 
Executive. 

 
2.2 Business 
 
 Subject to Rule 2.3, ordinary meetings will:- 
 

(i) elect a person to preside in the absence of the Mayor and Deputy Mayor (or Chair 
and Vice Chair(s) of Council Business if appointed for the municipal year in 
question): 

 
 (ii) receive any declarations of interest and apologies for absence from members; 
 

(iii) receive any announcements from the Mayor, Leader, or the Chief Executive; 
 

[If a Chair of Council Business has been appointed the Mayor or Deputy Mayor shall 
then retire from the chair and the Chair of Council Business shall assume the chair 
for the remainder of the business] 

 
 (iv) approve the minutes of the last meeting; 
 

(v) deal with any business from the last Council meeting; 

(vi) hold a  Question Time with questions limited to the functions of the Council and 
matters of interest to the Borough (which will last for up to 30 minutes).  

Questions for the Leader of the Council, a member of the Cabinet or a committee 
chair may be submitted by councillors or members of the public. 

Questions must be submitted in writing or by electronic mail to the Chief Executive 
at least five clear days in advance of the meeting and must be received by twelve 
noon on the last day for receipt of the question. “Clear days” means working days 
and excludes the day the question was received and the day of the meeting. 

Questions will be set out in the agenda for the meeting 

Questions will be put by the chair of the meeting and will be taken in the order in 
which they are received by the Chief Executive and will receive an oral answer. 
Questions that cannot be put within the allotted time will receive a written answer 
within 10 working days. 

A member may put only one question to each meeting, except with the consent of 
the Chair, but may ask a question may ask one supplementary question without 
notice of the member to whom the first question was asked. The supplemental 
question must arise directly out of the original question or the reply.  

Each question submitted by a member of the public must give the name and 
address of the questioner. A member of the public may put only one question to 
each meeting, except with the consent of the Chair. 

The Chief Executive may reject a question if it: 

Page 166



  
 

 
5 of 21 

Municipal Year 2019/20 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting on 16

th
 May 2019 

Amended by Council on 30
th
 June 2022 

i) is not about a matter for which the Council has a responsibility or which  
affects Hyndburn 

ii) is defamatory, frivolous or offensive 

iii) is substantially the same as a question which has been put at a meeting of 
the Council in the last 6 months 

iv) requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information 

Questions must, in the opinion of the Chief Executive contain no expression of 
opinion. 

 
 (vii) consider any  business requiring a Council decision and specified in the summons 

to the meeting 

(viii) receive any petitions for debate in accordance with the Council’s Petitions Scheme  
 
(ix) receive a report from a Cabinet member in respect of his / her portfolio area. The 

Cabinet member will be allowed up to 10 minutes to present the report, then up to 
10 minutes will be allowed for questions, then the Leader may comment on the 
report for up to 5 minutes and then the Cabinet member will have up to 5 minutes to 
sum up.   

 
(x) receive the minutes of Cabinet for information and comment only. The minutes will 

be moved and seconded. Cabinet members may respond to any points raised in 
debate and will be allowed up to 5 minutes each. At the end of the debate the 
Leader will have up to 15 minutes to comment and answer any questions raised on 
the Cabinet minutes; 

(xi) receive the minutes of the Council’s committees for information and comment only. 
The Leader will introduce the minute book as a whole. The chair of the relevant 
Committee may respond to any points raised in the debate and the Leader will close 
the debate. 

(xii) consider motions of which notice has been given under Rule A9; 
 

(xiii) receive a report from the chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee in respect of 
the Committee’s activities. The chair will be allowed up to 5 minutes to present his / 
her report, then up to 5 minutes will be allowed for questions and the chair will then 
be allowed up to 5 minutes to sum up; 

(xiv) receive an MP’s report (up to 15 minutes) 

(xv) receive a presentation from an external speaker at the invitation of the Chief 
Executive, in consultation with the Leader of the Council and Mayor (up to 15 
minutes), followed by a question and answer session, up to 15 minutes, with 
provision to extend the time, with the consent of the meeting. 

(xvi) on two separate occasions in each municipal year (up to and including the January 
Council of each municipal year) hold a debate on an issue chosen by an Opposition 
Group. In any municipal year one such debate may be held by the main Opposition 
Group and one by the minority Opposition Group. The Leader of the relevant 
Opposition Group (or his / her nominee) may make a presentation for up to 10 
minutes. There will then be up to 20 minutes debate. The Leader of the Council will 
have up to 5 minutes to sum up and any further questions or points of clarification 
raised will be dealt with at the discretion of the chair of the meeting.   

Page 167



  
 

 
6 of 21 

Municipal Year 2019/20 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting on 16

th
 May 2019 

Amended by Council on 30
th
 June 2022 

 (xvii) consider any other item of business which in the opinion of the chair of the meeting 
must be considered as a matter of urgency. 

 
 
 
2.3 Budget Council meeting 

The meeting of the Council designated as the budget council meeting shall deal with the 
following items of business: 

a. items (i) to (iv) in Rule 2.2 above 

b. the Council’s prudential indicators and treasury management strategy for the 
next following financial year 

c. the Council’s medium term financial strategy  

d. proposals for the Council’s revenue budget and capital programme for the next 
following financial year   

and no additional item of business shall be considered without the agreement of the Chief 
Executive (following consultation with the Leader of the Council and the leader of the main 
opposition group) that the item is urgent and cannot reasonably wait until the next 
scheduled ordinary meeting of the Council. 

 
2.4 Variation of order of business 
 
 The chair of the meeting may, particularly if members of the public are present, make any 

necessary introductions and explanations.  Business falling under (i) - (iv) above shall not 
be displaced but otherwise order of other items may be varied 

 
  - by the chair at his or her discretion; or 
 

- by a resolution passed on a motion (which need not be in writing) duly 
moved and seconded, which shall be moved and put without discussion.  

 
 
A3. EXTRAORDINARY MEETINGS 
 
3.1 Timing 
 
 Those listed below may request the Chief Executive to call an extra-ordinary meeting of the 

Council at any time:- 
 
 (i) the Mayor; 
 
 (ii) the Leader; 
 
 (iii) any five members of the Council if they have signed a requisition presented to the  
  Mayor and he/she has refused to call a meeting or has failed to call  
  a meeting within seven days of the presentation of the requisition; and 
 
 (iv) the Monitoring Officer or Section 151 Officer pursuant to their statutory powers. 
 
3.2 Any call for an extra-ordinary meeting should be in writing and must specify the business 

for which it is called and be signed by the person(s) making the request. 
 

Page 168



  
 

 
7 of 21 

Municipal Year 2019/20 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting on 16

th
 May 2019 

Amended by Council on 30
th
 June 2022 

 On receiving a call for an extra-ordinary meeting the Chief Executive will summon a 
meeting in accordance with Rule A4 only if s/he is satisfied that the proposed business is 
genuinely urgent and cannot reasonably wait until the next scheduled ordinary meeting of 
the Council. 

 
 
 
 
3.3 Business 
 
 The summons to all extraordinary meetings shall set out the business to be considered and 

no business other than that set out in the summons may be considered at that meeting, 
except that the chair may in his absolute discretion permit other items of business to be 
considered for the efficient discharge of the Council’s business. 

 
 
A4. NOTICE OF AND SUMMONS TO MEETINGS 

 
 The Chief Executive will give notice to the public of the time and place of any meetings of 

Council in accordance with the Access to Information Rules.  At least five clear days before 
a meeting, the Chief Executive will send a summons signed by him or her by an appropriate 
method. If the member has given consent for the summons to be transmitted in electronic 
form, it will be sent by email to the member’s designated email address. Otherwise, the 
summons will be posted to, or left at, the member’s usual place of residence, or at an 
address specified by him or her.  The summons will give the date, time and place of each 
meeting and specify the business to be transacted and will be accompanied by such 
reports as are available.  

 
“Clear days” means working days and excludes the day the notice is given and the day of 
the meeting 

 
 
A5. CHAIR OF MEETING 
 
5.1 The person presiding at the meeting may exercise any power or duty of the chair. 

 
5.2 Whenever the chair speaks during a meeting a member then speaking shall be  
 silent.  
 
5.3 The ruling of the chair on a point of order or on the admissibility of a personal  
 explanation shall not be open to discussion.  
 
5.4 The ruling of the chair as to the construction or application of any of these Rules, or on any 

issue (whether or not specifically regulated by these Rules) arising out of the proceedings 
at a meeting, shall not be challenged. 

5.5 If no Chair of Council Business has been appointed for the municipal year in question, the 
Mayor will preside over Council meetings. In the absence of the Mayor, the Deputy Mayor 
shall preside. If both the Mayor and the Deputy Mayor are absent the Council will select 
another member to preside at the meeting.  

If a Chair of Council Business has been appointed for the municipal year in question, the 
Mayor shall preside over the civic part of the agenda and the Chair of Council Business will 
preside over the business items on the agenda, in accordance with Rules 1.2 and 2.2. If the 
Chair of Council Business is absent a Deputy Chair of Council Business will preside in his 
or her place. If all are absent the Council will select another member to preside. 

Page 169



  
 

 
8 of 21 

Municipal Year 2019/20 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting on 16

th
 May 2019 

Amended by Council on 30
th
 June 2022 

 
 
A6. QUORUM 
 
6.1 The quorum of a meeting will be one quarter of the whole number of members.  
 
6.2 If during any meeting of the Council or a Committee the chair after counting the number of 

members present declares that there is not a quorum present the meeting shall stand 
adjourned.  The consideration of any business not transacted shall be adjourned to a time 
fixed by the chair at the time the meeting is adjourned, or, if he or she does not fix a time, to 
the next ordinary meeting of the Council or Committee.  

 
 
A7. DURATION OF MEETING 
 
 Unless the majority of members present vote for the meeting to continue, all Council 

meetings shall adjourn at 10.00 pm.  Subject to paragraph 9.6, remaining business will be 
considered at a time and date fixed by the chair and, if he/she does not fix a date, the 
remaining business will be considered at the next ordinary meeting.  

 
 
A8. QUESTIONS BY MEMBERS 
 
8.1 On reports and minutes 
 
 A member of the Council may ask the Leader any question without notice upon an item in a 

report of the Cabinet when that item is being received or is under consideration by the 
Council and may ask the chair of a Committee any question without notice upon an item in 
a report from that Committee when that item is being received or is under consideration by 
the Council. 

 
 A member of the Council may ask the Leader of the Council any question without notice 

arising out of minutes of meetings of the Cabinet when those minutes are being received by 
the Council and may ask the Chair of a Committee any question without notice arising out 
of the minutes of that Committee when those minutes are being received by the Council 

 
 
A9. MOTIONS ON NOTICE 
 
9.1 Notice 
 
 Except for motions which can be moved without notice under Rule A10, written notice of 

every motion, signed by the member or members of the Council giving the notice must be 
delivered to the Chief Executive not later than 5 clear days before the date of the meeting 
and must be received by twelve noon on the last day for receipt of the motion.  These will 
be entered in a book open to public inspection.  

“Clear days” means working days and excludes the day the notice is given and the day of 
the meeting 

 
9.2 Scope 
 
 Motions must be about matters for which the Council has a responsibility or which affect 

Hyndburn.  

A motion cannot: 

Page 170



  
 

 
9 of 21 

Municipal Year 2019/20 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting on 16

th
 May 2019 

Amended by Council on 30
th
 June 2022 

(i) Ask the Council to take an executive decision; or 

(ii) Ask the Council to approve or amend a policy falling within the Council’s policy 
framework  unless the requirements of the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure 
Rules have been complied with in respect thereof; 

(iii) Ask the Council to take a decision without the benefit of advice on the technical, 
operational, legal, financial, staffing and / or equalities implications of the decision 
where, in the opinion of the Chief Executive, such advice is required in respect of at 
least of these issues to enable the Council to take a lawful decision (and such 
motions shall be deferred to the next meeting of the Council to enable such advice 
to be given). 

9.3 Motion set out in agenda 
 
 Valid motions for which notice has been properly given will be listed on the agenda in the 

order in which notice was received, unless the member giving notice states, in writing, that 
they propose to move it to a later meeting or withdraw it 

 
9.4 Motions not moved 
 
 If a motion set out in the summons is not moved either by a member who gave notice 

thereof or by some other member on his or her behalf it shall, unless postponed by consent 
of the Council, be treated as withdrawn and shall not be moved without fresh notice.  

 
9.5 Automatic reference to Committee 
 
 The following procedure shall apply where the subject matter of any motion of which notice 

has been given comes within the terms of reference of a committee. 
 
 After being moved and seconded, the notice of motion shall be referred without discussion 

to that committee unless the chair (at his/her discretion) considers it convenient and 
conducive to the despatch of business to allow the motion to be dealt with at the meeting at 
which it is brought forward.  

9.6       Timing of debate on motions 

Each motion shall be debated for no more than 20 minutes before being put to the vote. 

No more than one and a half hours in totality shall be allowed at each Council meeting for 
the debate of the motions on the agenda. Any motions not debated by the close of the 
meeting shall be treated as withdrawn and shall not be moved without fresh notice. 

 
 
A10. MOTIONS WITHOUT NOTICE 
 
 The following motions may be moved without notice: 
 
 (a) to appoint a chair of the meeting at which the motion is moved; 
 
 (b) in relation to the accuracy of the minutes 
 
 (c) to change the order of business in the agenda; 
 
 (d) to refer something to an appropriate body, committee or individual; 
 
 (e) to appoint a Committee, working group or member arising from an item on the 

summons for the meeting; 

Page 171



  
 

 
10 of 21 

Municipal Year 2019/20 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting on 16

th
 May 2019 

Amended by Council on 30
th
 June 2022 

 
(f) to receive reports or adoption of recommendations of Committees or officers and 

any resolutions following from them; 
 
 (g) to withdraw a motion; 
 
 (h) to amend a motion; 
  
 (i) to proceed to the next business; 
 
 (j) that the question be now put; 
 
 (k) to adjourn a debate; 
 
 (l) to adjourn a meeting; 
 
 (m) that the meeting continue beyond 10.00 pm; 
 
 (n) to suspend a particular council procedure rule; 
 
 (o) to exclude the public and press in accordance with the Access to Information Rules; 
 

(p) to not hear further a member named under Rule A20.4 or to exclude them from the 
meeting under Rule A20.4; 

 
 (q) to give the consent of the Council where its consent is required by this Constitution; 
 
 (r) to extend the time limit for speeches. 
 
 
A11. AMENDMENTS TO MOTIONS 
 
 (1) An amendment to a motion must be relevant to the motion and will either be: 
 
  (a) to refer the matter to an appropriate body or individual for consideration or 
   reconsideration; 
 
  (b) to leave out words; 
 
  (c) to leave out words and insert or add others; or 
 
  (d) to insert or add words; 
 
  as long as the effect of (b) to (d) is not to negate the motion. 
 
 (2) Usually only one amendment may be moved and discussed at a time.  However the 

chair may permit two or more amendments to be discussed together (but not voted 
upon) if he or she considers that this would allow the Council’s business to be dealt 
with more effectively. 

 
 (3) If an amendment is lost, other amendments may be moved on the original motion.  

If an amendment has been carried the motion as amended takes the place of the 
original motion. The Chair shall read out the amended motion before accepting any 
further amendments.  No further amendment may be moved that would have the 
effect of reviving the original motion. 

Page 172



  
 

 
11 of 21 

Municipal Year 2019/20 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting on 16

th
 May 2019 

Amended by Council on 30
th
 June 2022 

 
 
A12. ALTERATION AND WITHDRAWAL OF MOTION 
 
 (a) The mover of a motion may with the consent of the meeting alter the motion if it has 

not yet been seconded.  The meeting’s consent will be signified without discussion. 
 
 (b) The mover of a motion may alter a motion which he/she has moved and which has 

been seconded with the consent of both the meeting and the seconder.  The 
meeting’s consent will be signified without discussion. 

 
 (c) Only alterations which could be made as an amendment may be made. 
 
 (d) A member may withdraw a motion which he/she has moved with the consent of both 

the meeting and the seconder (if any).  The meeting’s consent will be signified 
without discussion.  No member may speak on the motion after the mover has 
asked permission to withdraw it unless permission is refused. 

 
 
 
A13. MOTIONS WHICH MAY BE MOVED DURING DEBATE 
 
 When a motion is under debate, no other motion may be moved except the following 

procedural motions: 
 
 (i) to withdraw a motion; 
 
 (ii) to amend a motion; 
 
 (iii) to proceed to the next business; 
 
 (iv) that the question be now put; 
 
 (v) to adjourn a debate; 
 
 (vi) to adjourn the meeting; 
 
 (vii) that the meeting continue beyond 10.00 pm  
 
 (viii) to exclude the public and press in accordance with the Access to Information Rules; 
  and 
 
 (ix) to not hear further a member named under Rule A20.3 or to exclude them from the  
  meeting under Rule A20.4. 
 
 
A14. RULES OF DEBATE 
 
14.1 No speeches until motion or amendment moved and seconded 
 
 A motion or amendment shall not be debated unless it has been moved and seconded 
 
14.2 Right to require motion or amendment in writing 
 

Page 173



  
 

 
12 of 21 

Municipal Year 2019/20 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting on 16

th
 May 2019 

Amended by Council on 30
th
 June 2022 

 Unless notice of the motion or amendment has already been given, the chair may require it 
to be written down and handed to him/her before it is discussed.  

 
14.3 Seconder’s speech 
 
 When seconding a motion or amendment, a member may reserve their speech until later in 

the debate.  
 
14.4 Content and length of speeches 
 
 Speeches must be directed to the question under discussion or to a personal explanation or 

point of order.  Subject to Rule A2.2, no speech may exceed 10 minutes in the case of a 
mover of a motion and 5 minutes in all other cases, except by the consent of the chair. 

 
14.5 When a member may speak again 
 
 A member who has spoken on a motion may not speak again whilst it is the subject of 

debate, except; 
 
 (i) to speak once on an amendment moved by another member; 
 
 (ii) to move a further amendment if the motion has been amended since he/she last 

 spoke; 
 

(iii) if his/her first speech was on an amendment moved by another member, to speak 
on the main issue (whether or not the amendment on which he/she spoke was 
carried); 

 
 (iv) in exercise of a right of reply; 
 
 (v) on a point of order in accordance with Rule A14.8; 
 
 (vi) by way of personal explanation in accordance with Rule A14.9; 
 
 (vii) to answer a question raised by the chair or Chief Executive; 
 
 (viii) to request the chair for clarification of a procedural issue related to the debate.  
 
 
14.6 Right of reply 
 
 (i) The mover of a motion has a right to reply at the end of the debate on the motion,  
  immediately before it is put to the vote.  
 

(ii) If an amendment is moved, the mover of the original motion has the right of reply at 
the close of the debate on the amendment, but may not otherwise speak on it.  

 
 (iii) The mover of the amendment has no right to reply to the debate on his or her  
  amendment.  
 
14.7 Closure motions 
 

(i) A member may move, without comment, the following motions at the end of a 
speech of another member; 

 

Page 174



  
 

 
13 of 21 

Municipal Year 2019/20 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting on 16

th
 May 2019 

Amended by Council on 30
th
 June 2022 

  (a) to proceed to the next business; 
 
  (b) that the question be now put; 
 
  (c) to adjourn the debate; or 
 
  (d) to adjourn the meeting.  
 

(ii) If a motion to proceed to next business is seconded and the chair thinks the item 
has been sufficiently discussed, he or she will give the mover of the original motion 
a right of reply and then put the procedural motion to the vote.  

 
(iii) If a motion that the question be now put is seconded and the chair thinks the item 

has been sufficiently discussed, he/she will put the procedural motion to the vote.  If 
it is passed he/she will give the mover of the original motion a right of reply before 
putting his/her motion to the vote.  

 
(iv) If a motion to adjourn the debate or to adjourn the meeting is seconded and the 

chair thinks the item has not been sufficiently discussed and cannot reasonably be 
so discussed on that occasion, he/she will put the procedural motion to the vote 
without giving the mover of the original motion the right of reply.  

 
 
 
 
14.8 Point of order 
 
 A member may raise a point of order at any time.  The chair will hear them immediately.  A 

point of order may only relate to an alleged breach of these Council Rules of Procedure or 
the law.  The member must indicate the rule or law and the way in which he/she considers 
it has been broken.   The ruling of the chair on the matter will be final.  

 
14.9 Personal explanation 
 
 A member may make a personal explanation at any time.  A personal explanation may only 

relate to some material part of an earlier speech by the member which may appear to have 
been misunderstood in the present debate.  The ruling of the chair on the admissibility of a 
personal explanation will be final. 

 
 
A15. PREVIOUS DECISIONS AND MOTIONS 
 
15.1 Motion to rescind a previous decision 
 
 A motion, or amendment, to rescind a decision made at a meeting of Council within the 

past six months cannot be moved unless the notice of motion is signed by at least one third 
of all members.  

 
15.2 Motion similar to one previously rejected 
 
 A motion or amendment in similar terms to one that has been rejected at a meeting of 

Council in the past six months cannot be moved unless the notice of motion or amendment 
is signed by at least one third of all members.  Once the motion or amendment is dealt with, 
no one can propose a similar motion or amendment for six months.  

 

Page 175



  
 

 
14 of 21 

Municipal Year 2019/20 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting on 16

th
 May 2019 

Amended by Council on 30
th
 June 2022 

NB: this Rule 15 does not apply to any motion to remove or change the Leader of the 
Council 

 
 
A16. VOTING 
 
16.1 Majority 
 
 Unless this Constitution provides otherwise, any matter will be decided by a simple majority 

of those members voting and present in the room at the time the question was put.   
 
16.2 Chair’s casting vote 
 
 If there are an equal number of votes for and against, the chair (or vice chair in the chair’s 

absence) will have a second or casting vote.  There will be no restriction on how the chair 
(or vice chair in the chair’s absence) chooses to exercise a casting vote. In the absence of 
the chair and vice chair, the chair of the meeting shall have a second or casting vote and 
there shall similarly be no restriction on how this is exercised. 

 
16.3 Show of hands 
 
 Unless a ballot or recorded vote is demanded under Rules A17.4 and A17.5, the chair will 

take the vote by show of hands, or if there is no dissent, by the affirmation of the meeting.  
 
 
 
 
16.4 Ballots 
 
 The vote will take place by ballot if one third of the members present at the meeting 

demand it.  The chair will announce the numerical result of the ballot immediately the result 
is known.  

 
16.5 Recorded vote 
 
 If six members present at the meeting demand it, the names for and against the motion or 

amendment or abstaining from voting will be taken down in writing and entered into the 
minutes.  A demand for a recorded vote will override a demand for a ballot. 

 
16.6 Right to require individual vote to be recorded 
 
 Where any member requests it immediately after a vote is taken, their vote will be so 

recorded in the minutes to show whether they voted for or against the motion or abstained 
from voting.  

 
16.7 Recorded votes at budget meetings 
 

Immediately after any vote is taken on a budget decision at the budget decision meeting of 
the Council, there must be recorded in the minutes of the proceedings of that meeting the 
names of the persons who cast a vote for the decision or against the decision or who 
abstained from voting. This will include a recorded vote on any amendment proposed at the 
meeting. 
 
For the purposes of this rule: 
 

Page 176



  
 

 
15 of 21 

Municipal Year 2019/20 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting on 16

th
 May 2019 

Amended by Council on 30
th
 June 2022 

(a) “budget decision meeting” means a meeting of the Council at which it – 
 

(i) makes a calculation (whether originally or by way of substitute) in accordance 
with any of sections 31A, 31B, 34 to 36A, 42A, 42B, 45 to 49, 52ZF, 52ZJ of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1992(a); or 

(ii) issues a precept under Chapter 4 of Part 1 of that Act, and includes a meeting 
where making the calculation or issuing the precept as the case may be was 
included as an item of business on the agenda for that meeting; and  

 
(b) references to a vote are references to a vote on any decision related to the making 
 of the calculation or the issuing of the precept as the case may be.”; 

 
16.8 Voting on appointments 
 

(i) If there are more than two people nominated for any position to be filled and there is 
not a clear majority of votes in favour of one person, then the name of the person 
with the least number of votes will be taken off the list and a new vote taken.  The 
process will continue until there is a majority of votes for one person.  

 
(ii) The chair of the meeting may if there are a large number of appointments to be 

made suggest that the procedure outlined in (1) above be dispensed with and that  
where there are more than two persons nominated the number of votes for each 
person nominated be recorded and that the person with the highest number of votes 
be appointed.  If no member objects to this procedure it shall be adopted in 
preference to (1) above.  If this procedure is adopted and two or more persons 
secure the highest number of votes and the chair does not exercise a casting vote, 
any person nominated who secured a lower number of votes shall be struck off the 
list and a fresh vote taken.  

 
A17. MINUTES 
 
 Minutes of meetings of Cabinet and Committees are presented to Council meeting for 

information as a basis for questioning and comment.  There is no need for any motion or 
vote to receive them. 

 
The chair will sign the minutes of the previous meeting as a correct record and the only part 
of the minutes that can be discussed is their accuracy. 

 
 
A18. RECORD OF ATTENDANCE 
 
 All members present during the whole or part of a meeting must sign their names on the 

attendance sheets before the conclusion of every meeting to assist with the record of 
attendance.  

 
 
A19. EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC 
 
 Members of the public and press may only be excluded either in accordance with the 

Access to Information Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution or Rule A21 (Disturbance by 
Public). 

 
 
A20. MEMBERS’ CONDUCT 
 

Page 177



  
 

 
16 of 21 

Municipal Year 2019/20 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting on 16

th
 May 2019 

Amended by Council on 30
th
 June 2022 

20.1 Standing to speak 
 
 When a member speaks at full Council they must stand and address the meeting through 

the chair.  If more than one member stands, the chair will ask one to speak and the others 
must sit.  Other members must remain seated whilst a member is speaking unless they 
wish to make a point of order or a point of personal explanation.  

 
20.2 Chair standing 
 
 When the chair stands during a debate, any member speaking at the time must stop and sit 

down.  The meeting must be silent.  
 
20.3 Member not to be heard further 
 
 If a member persistently disregards the ruling of the chair by behaving improperly or 

offensively or deliberately obstructs business, the chair may move that the member be not 
heard further.  If seconded, the motion will be voted on without discussion.  

 
20.4 Member to leave the meeting 
 
 If a member continues to behave improperly after a motion is carried under Rule A20.3, the 

chair may move that either the member leaves the meeting or that the meeting is adjourned 
for a specified period.  If seconded, the motion will be voted on without discussion.  

 
20.5 General disturbance 
 
 If there is a general disturbance making orderly business impossible, the chair may adjourn 

the meeting for as long as he/she thinks necessary.  
 
 
A21. DISTURBANCE BY PUBLIC 
 
21.1 Removal of member of the public 
 
 If a member of the public interrupts proceedings, the chair will warn the person concerned.  

If they continue to interrupt, the chair may order their removal from the meeting room.  
 
21.2 Clearance of part of meeting room 
 
 If there is a general disturbance in any part of the meeting room open to the public, the 

chair may call for that part to be cleared.  
 
 
A22. SUSPENSION AND AMENDMENT OF COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES 
 
22.1 Suspension 
 
 All of these Council Rules of Procedure except Rule A16.6 may be suspended by motion 

on notice or without notice if at least one half of the members present at the meeting vote in 
favour.  Suspension can only be for the duration of the meeting.  

 
22.2 Amendment 
 

Page 178



  
 

 
17 of 21 

Municipal Year 2019/20 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting on 16

th
 May 2019 

Amended by Council on 30
th
 June 2022 

 Any motion to add to, vary or revoke these Council Rules of Procedure will, when proposed 
and seconded, stand adjourned without discussion to the next ordinary meeting of the 
Council.  

 
 
A23. MAYOR AND DEPUTY MAYOR  
 
23.1 Mayor 
 

(i) The Mayor shall, unless he or she resigns or becomes disqualified, continue in 
office until his or her successor becomes entitled to act as Mayor. 

 
(ii) All members of the Council shall be eligible to stand for election as Mayor 

irrespective of membership or non-membership of any political group but no 
member may stand for a second consecutive term as Mayor. 

 
(iii) In the event of the Mayor resigning or becoming disqualified during his or her term 

of office a successor shall be appointed at the next ordinary meeting of the Council 
or at an extraordinary meeting convened for that purpose and shall continue in 
office for the remainder of his or her predecessor’s term of office.  This period in 
office shall not preclude the successor from standing for election at the next 
following Annual  Meeting. 

  

(iv) The Mayor shall have precedence in the Borough, but not so as to prejudicially 
affect Her Majesty’s royal prerogative.  The Mayor shall, unless the Council shall 
have decided otherwise represent or arrange the representation of the Council on 
all state, civic or formal occasions.  

 
23.2 Deputy Mayor 
 

(i) The Deputy Mayor shall, unless he or she resigns or becomes disqualified, 
continued in office until his or her successor becomes entitled to act as Deputy 
Mayor.  

 
(ii) All members of the Council shall be eligible to stand for election as Deputy Mayor 

irrespective of membership or non-membership of any political group but no 
member may stand for a second consecutive term as Deputy Mayor.  

 
(iii) In the event of the Deputy Mayor resigning or becoming disqualified during his or 

her term of office a successor shall be appointed at the next ordinary meeting of the 
Council or at an extraordinary meeting convened for that purpose and shall continue 
in office for the remainder of his or her predecessor’s term of office.  This period of 
office shall not preclude the successor from standing for election at the next 
following Annual Meeting.  

 
(iv) The Deputy Mayor shall assist the Mayor as requested and shall if necessary assist 

the Mayor in representing the Council on state, civic or formal occasions. 
 
23.3     Mayoress and Consort 
 
            No-one may serve as mayoress and / or mayor’s consort whilst they are the leader or 

deputy leader of a political group represented on the Council.  
 
23.4    Nature of the Role 
 

Page 179



  
 

 
18 of 21 

Municipal Year 2019/20 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting on 16

th
 May 2019 

Amended by Council on 30
th
 June 2022 

 The role of the Mayor (and Deputy Mayor) is strictly a non-political one and all councillors 
will respect the Mayor (and Deputy Mayor’s) neutral position. For example, the Mayor (or 
Deputy Mayor) will maintain an apolitical stance when chairing Council meetings and will 
allow different opinions to be fully and fairly represented and debated subject to the 
requirements of these Procedure Rules. 

 

A24. COUNCIL URGENCY PROCEDURE 

Decisions within the terms of reference of the Council that cannot be deferred until the next 
scheduled ordinary meeting of the Council by reason of urgency may be taken by the Chief 
Executive under delegated powers following consultation with the following: 

(a) the Leader and Deputy Leader of the Council; and 

(b) the Leader and Deputy Leader of the political group with the next largest number of 
seats after the controlling group 

provided that the Chief Executive may not exercise such delegated powers in respect of a 
decision for which an extraordinary meeting of the Council has been requested pursuant to 
Rule A3, even if the request for an extraordinary meeting is declined pursuant to Rule A3.2. 

 
 

A25. PETITIONS 

At any one meeting of the Council no person may present more than one petition. 

The following shall apply where a petition is referred to Council by the Leader of the Council 
or the Chief Executive: 

(i) the organiser of the petition (or their nominee) may speak for up to 5 minutes to 
present the petition to the Council 

(ii) the petition may then be debated for up to 20 minutes 

(iii) Leader of the Council will then have up to 5 minutes to sum up following  the petition 
debate 

The Council will decide how to respond to the petition at the meeting. Such response may 
include: 

i) taking the action the petition requests 

ii) declining to take the action the petition requests 

iii) requesting further investigation into the matter 

iv) making recommendations to Cabinet where the matter relates to an executive decision 

The petition organiser will receive written confirmation of this decision. 

 
A26. COMMITTEES 
 
 Application to Committees and Sub-Committees 
 
26.1 Only Rules A2.3, A3.3, A5.2-5.4, A6.2, A8.1, A16-22.1 (but not Rule A20.1) and A26 apply 

to meetings of committees and sub-committees.  Rules A16.5 and A16.6 shall not apply to 
the Planning Committee, Judicial Committee and Licensing Committee 

 
 Delegation to Committees and Sub-Committees 
 

Page 180



  
 

 
19 of 21 

Municipal Year 2019/20 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting on 16

th
 May 2019 

Amended by Council on 30
th
 June 2022 

26.2 Matters delegated to a particular Committee or Sub-Committee will, in the absence of any 
contrary provision, and subject to Rule A26.3 below, be actionable immediately upon the 
committee granting the approval 

26.3 Any item may be referred to the next meeting of the Council where either: 

(a) not less than 4 members of the committee (including the proposer and any member 
attending as a substitute) vote at the meeting to request a reference to Council; or 

(b) not less than 7 members of the Council (in any combination of committee / non-
committee members) submit a signed resolution addressed to the committee chair 
requesting a reference to Council  

26.4 If a resolution under Rule A26.3 is carried, no action may be taken until the Council has 
considered the item. This is a request for “Reference to Council” and must be made before 
the item of business is discussed 

26.5 The Council may, if appropriate, refer the issue back to the Committee or Sub-Committee 
for decision. 

  
26.6 Committee urgency procedure  
 
 Decisions within the terms of reference of a Committee or Sub-Committee which cannot be 

deferred until the next scheduled meeting of the Committee or Sub-Committee by reason of 
urgency may be taken by the Chief Executive (or the Deputy Chief Executive if the Chief 
Executive is unavailable or unable to act) under delegated powers following consultation 
with the chair and vice chair of the Committee or Sub-Committee, plus the main 
spokesperson for each political group represented on the Committee or Sub-Committee. 
 

26.7 Attendance by Leader and Deputy 
 
 The Leader and Deputy Leader of the Council may attend meetings of all Committees and 

Sub-Committees where this is permitted by law and may address the meeting once without 
leave and thereafter only with the consent of the chair of the meeting. 

 
26.8 Appointment of Substitutes 
 
 The following rules shall apply so as to permit the substitution of reserve members for 

members who are unable to attend Committee meetings. 
 
a The Council shall,  when appointing Committees, appoint to each of them reserve members 

who may act as members of a Committee only when nominated in accordance with these 
rules, provided that no reserve members may be appointed in respect of the Standards 
Committee. 

 
b The reserve members shall be divided into lists for each political group and the designated 

lists for each Committee shall include all members of the Council not serving on that 
particular body. 

 
c A member of a Committee shall, if he wishes a reserve member to attend a meeting of that 

committee in his or her place, give the Chief Executive written or oral notice before the time 
arranged for the start of that meeting that he or she is unable to attend and that the reserve 
member named in the substitution notice or orally will attend in his or her place.  

 
d The effect of such substitution notices shall be that the member giving the notice shall 

cease to be a member of that committee for the duration of that meeting and for the 
duration of any adjournment of it, and that the reserve member shall be a full member of 
the committee for the same period.  

Page 181



  
 

 
20 of 21 

Municipal Year 2019/20 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting on 16

th
 May 2019 

Amended by Council on 30
th
 June 2022 

 
e A written or oral substitution notice, once given in respect of a meeting of a committee, may 

not be revoked in respect of such meeting, or any adjournment of it. 
 
f The member giving notice under (c) above shall be responsible for notifying the relevant 

reserve member of the substitution and for passing on the relevant agenda and reports.  

g A reserve member arriving during the course of a committee or sub-committee meeting 
may take part in the meeting but may only vote on items for which they have been present 
throughout. The reserve member must declare themselves as such upon arrival at the 
meeting and must confirm the name of the member for whom they acting as a reserve 
member. 

 
26.9 Quorum 
 
 Except where authorised by a statute or ordered by the Council, business shall not be  
 transacted at a meeting of any Committee unless at least one quarter of the whole number 

of the committee is present. 
 
 Provided that in no case shall the quorum of a Committee be less than four members, 

except in the case of the Audit Committee, the Judicial Committee (Private Hire and 
Hackney Carriage Licensing), the Management Review Commitee and the Standards 
Committee where the quorum shall be not less than 3 members.  

 
26.10 Rules applying to Planning Committee  
 
 The public shall have the right to address the Planning Committee in respect of individual 

planning applications subject to the following rules: 

 26.10.1 The number of members of the public speaking in respect of each major 
planning application (as defined by Regulations) shall be limited to two on behalf 
of the applicant / agent for the applicant and two others; 

 26.10.2 The number of members of the public speaking in respect of any other planning 
application shall be limited to one on behalf of the applicant / applicant’s agent 
and one other; 

 26.10.3 In addition to the above, Ward Councillors (who are not members of the 
Planning Committee) will be given the right to speak on a planning application in 
their ward or township of which their ward forms part, and will be allowed up to 
five minutes. These rights are subject to the Ward Councillor’s obligations under 
the Code of Conduct, whereby if he/she has a disclosable pecuniary interest in 
the application, he/she will be unable to speak (unless he/she has obtained a 
dispensation from Standards Committee).  

 26.10.4 In addition to the above, a properly nominated representative of Altham Parish 
Council may speak in respect of planning applications within the boundary of the 
Parish of Altham for up to five minutes. 

 26.10.5 Each person addressing the Planning Committee pursuant to Procedure Rules 
26.10.1 to 26.10.3 above may speak for up to five minutes only and they shall  
be invited to do so by the Chair immediately after the application has been 
presented to the Committee by the planning officer and they shall speak in the 
following order: 

“other” speaker 

Altham Parish Council (if Rule 26.10.4 applies) 

applicant / applicant’s agent 

Page 182



  
 

 
21 of 21 

Municipal Year 2019/20 
Approved at the Annual General Meeting on 16

th
 May 2019 

Amended by Council on 30
th
 June 2022 

26.10.6 Applications to address the Planning Committee shall be allocated on a first 
come first served basis prior to the meeting of the Planning Committee and only 
those whose names have been notified to the Chair at the start of the meeting of 
each Committee shall be permitted to speak  

  
26.11 Attendance at Committees 
 
 A member of the Council may attend as an observer any meeting of a committee of which 

he or she is not a member.  He or she may not engage in debate or discussion or vote, but 
may speak by way of explanation on any matter of which the chair has been previously 
notified. 

 
26.12 Extraordinary Committee Meetings 
 
 (i) The chair of a committee may call an extraordinary meeting of the committee at  
  any time; 
 

(ii) An extraordinary meeting of a committee shall also be called by the Chief Executive 
on the requisition of a quarter of the total membership of the committee or four 
members whichever is greater. 

 
(iii) The summons to the special meeting will set out the business to be considered and 

no other business other than that set out in the summons may be considered at the 
meeting. 

 
 
A27.   DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS  
 

A member of the Council with a disclosable pecuniary interest in any matter to be 
considered, or being considered, at a meeting of the Council, or Cabinet, or a committee, 
sub-committee, joint committee or joint sub-committee of the Council, shall withdraw from the 
room where the meeting is being held whenever it becomes apparent that the matter in which 
the member has a disclosable pecuniary interest is being considered unless the member has 
obtained a dispensation from the Council’s Standards Committee. 

Page 183



This page is intentionally left blank



1 of 7 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

B. EXECUTIVE PROCEDURE RULES 

 

CONTENTS 

 

 

 
RULE  

 
B1 Decision making 
 

 

B2 Delegation by the executive 
 

 

B3 Sub-delegation of executive functions 
 

 

B4 Council’s scheme of delegation and executive functions 
 

 

B5 Conflicts of interests 
 

 

B6 Frequency of meetings 
 

 

B7 Public and private meetings 
 

 

B8 Quorum 
 

 

B9 How decisions are taken 
 

 

B10 Chair of meetings 
 

 

B11 Attendance at meetings 
 

 

B12 Order of business 
 

 

B13 Consultation 
 

 

B14 Agenda formation 
 

 

B15       Policy Development Boards 
 

 

B16       Urgency Procedure  

 
 

B17      Application of Council Procedure Rules 
 

 

 
 

Page 185



2 of 7 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

 

EXECUTIVE PROCEDURE RULES 

 

 How does the executive operate? 
 

B1 Decision making  
 

The Leader of the Council will decide how executive functions are to be exercised and may 
provide for executive functions to be discharged by: 
 
i) the executive as a whole; 
 
ii) a committee of the executive; 
 
iii) an individual member of the executive; 
 
iv) an officer; 
 
v) an area committee; 
 
vi) joint arrangements; or 
 
vii) another local authority. 

 

B2 Delegation by the Council and Leader 
 
(a)    At the annual meeting of the Council, the leader will inform the Council of the size and 

composition of the Cabinet and the allocation of portfolios to members of the cabinet for 
inclusion in the Council’s scheme of delegation at Part 3 to this Constitution.   

(b)       At Leader of the Council will determine: 

             i)      the extent of any authority delegated members of the cabinet individually, including details 
of any limitation on their authority; 

 
ii) the terms of reference and constitution of any executive committees and the portfolio 

holders appointed to them; 
 
iii) the nature and extent of any delegation of executive functions to area committees, any 

other authority or any joint arrangements and the portfolio holders appointed to any joint 
committee for the coming year;  and 

 
iv) the nature and extent of any delegation to officers with details of any limitation on that 

delegation, and the title of the officer to whom the delegation is made. 

Such determinations shall be made in writing and signed by the Leader and shall be delivered 
forthwith to the Council’s Managing Director 

(c)       The Leader may agree the creation, and terms of reference of, cabinet committees comprising a 
minimum of three members of the executive. The membership of cabinet committees may be 
determined from time to time by the Leader. Such determinations shall be made in writing and 
signed by the Leader and shall be delivered forthwith to the Council’s Chief Executive.  
 

 

B3 Sub-delegation of executive functions 
 

(a) Where the executive, a committee of the executive or an individual member of the 
executive is responsible for an executive function, they may delegate further to an area 
committee, joint arrangements or an officer. 

Page 186



3 of 7 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

 
            (b) Unless the Leader directs otherwise, a committee of the executive to whom functions 

have been delegated by the Leader may delegate further to an officer. 
  
(c) Even where executive functions have been delegated, that fact does not prevent the 

discharge of delegated functions by the person or body who delegated them. 
 

B4 The Council’s scheme of delegation and executive functions 
 

(a) Subject to (b) below the Council’s scheme of delegation will contain the details required 
in Article 7 and set out in Part 3 of this Constitution. 

 
(b) The Leader may amend the scheme of delegation relating to executive functions at any 

time during the year.  To do so, the leader must give written notice to the proper officer 
and to the person, body or committee concerned.  The notice must set out the extent of 
the amendment to the scheme of delegation, and whether it entails the withdrawal of 
delegation from any person, body, committee or the executive as a whole.  The proper 
officer will present a report to the next ordinary meeting of the Council setting out the 
changes made by the leader. Where the leader seeks to withdraw delegation from a 
committee, notice will be deemed to be served on that committee when he/she has 
served it on its chair. 

 

B5 Conflicts of Interest 
 

(a) Where the leader has a conflict of interest this should be dealt with as set out in the 
Council’s Code of Conduct for Members in Part 5 of this Constitution. 

 
(b) If every member of the executive has a conflict of interest this should be dealt with as set 

out in the council’s Code of Conduct for Members in Part 5 of this Constitution. 
 
(c) If the exercise of an executive function has been delegated to a committee of the 

executive, an individual member or an officer, and should a conflict of interest arise, then 
the function will be exercised in the first instance by the person or body by whom the 
delegation was made and otherwise as set out in the Council’s Code of Conduct for 
Members in Part 5 of this Constitution. 

 

B6 Frequency of meetings 
 

The executive will meet at least once every three weeks at times to be agreed by the leader.  
The executive shall meet at the Council’s main offices or another location to be agreed by the 
leader. 

 

B7 Public and private meetings of the executive 
 

Any part of an executive meeting where a key decision is to be taken must be open to the public 
unless confidential or exempt information is to be discussed.  Where key decisions are not to be 
discussed the executive can decide whether to hold the meeting in public or in private. 

 

B8 Quorum 
 

The quorum for a meeting of the executive, or a committee of it, shall be 3
1
 members of the 

executive. 
 

B9 How decisions are taken by the executive 
 

                                                      
1
 Reduced from 4 to 3 at Council, 6

th
 December 2012 

Page 187



4 of 7 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

(a) Executive decisions which have been delegated to the executive as a whole will be taken 
at a meeting convened in accordance with the Access to Information Rules in Part 4 of 
this Constitution unless the urgency procedure in B16 applies. 

 
(b) Where executive decisions are delegated to a committee of the executive, the rules 

applying to executive decisions taken by them shall be the same as those applying to 
those taken by the executive as a whole. 

 
 

 How are executive meetings conducted? 
 

B10 Chair of meetings 
 

If the leader is present he/she will preside.  In his/her absence, the deputy leader will preside 
and if he/she is absent as well, a person appointed to do so by those present shall preside. 

 

B11 Attendance at meetings 
 

(a)      Any part of an executive meeting where a key decision is to be taken must be open to the 
public unless confidential or exempt information is to be discussed (see Rule 10 of the 
Access to Information Procedure Rules). 

 
(b)       Executive meetings, or parts of meetings that do not involve key decisions, may be held 

in public or in private at the discretion of the executive. 
 

           (c)        Private meetings of the executive and its committees may be attended by:- 
 

the Chief Executive 
 

the Executive Director (Resources) 
 

the Monitoring Officer 
 

a minute taker 
 

chair of overview and scrutiny committee (for items within that committee’s remit) 
 
(d)    Private meetings of any committee of the executive may also be attended by all      
           members of the executive. 

 

B12 Order of business 
 

At each meeting of the executive the following business will be conducted: 
 

i) apologies and declarations of interest, if any; 
 

ii) consideration of the minutes of the last meeting; 
 

 iii) matters referred to the executive (whether by an overview and scrutiny committee or by 
the Council) for reconsideration by the executive in accordance with the provisions 
contained in the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules or the Budget and Policy 
Framework Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution; 

 
iv) consideration of reports from overview and scrutiny committees;  and 
 

Page 188



5 of 7 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

v) matters set out in the agenda for the meeting and the agenda shall indicate which are 
key decisions and which are not in accordance with the Access to Information Procedure 
rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

 

B13 Consultation 
 

All reports to the executive from any member of the executive or an officer on proposals relating 
to the budget and policy framework must contain details of the nature and extent of consultation 
with stakeholders and relevant overview and scrutiny committees, and the outcome of that 
consultation.  Reports about other matters will set out the details and outcome of consultation 
as appropriate.  The level of consultation required will be appropriate to the nature of the matter 
under consideration. 
 

B14 Agenda formation 
 

(i) Subject to (ii) - (v) below the leader will decide upon the agenda for the meetings of the 
executive.  He/she may put on the agenda of any executive meeting any matter which 
he/she wishes, whether or not authority has been delegated to the executive, a 
committee of it or any member or officer in respect of that matter.  The proper officer will 
comply with the leader’s requests in this respect. 

 
(ii) Any member of the executive may require the proper officer to make sure that an item is 

placed on the agenda of the next available meeting of the executive for consideration.  If 
he/she receives such a request the proper officer will comply. 

 
(iii) The proper officer will make sure that an item is placed on the agenda of the next 

available meeting of the executive where a relevant overview and scrutiny committee or 
the full Council have resolved that an item be considered by the executive.  However, 
there may only be up to 4 such items on any one agenda. Once this number has been 
reached any further items will be deferred to the next meeting of the executive. 

 
(iv) Any councillor may ask the leader to put an item on the agenda of an executive meeting 

for consideration, and if the leader agrees the item will be considered at the next 
available meeting of the executive.  The notice of the meeting will give the name of the 
councillor who asked for the item to be considered.  This individual will be invited to 
attend the meeting, whether or not it is a public meeting.  However, there may only be up 
to 2 such items per executive meeting and once this number has been reached any 
further items will be deferred to the next meeting of the executive. If the leader does not 
agree to the request for the item to be included on the agenda of an executive meeting 
he / she will write to the member concerned giving a reason for the refusal 

 
(v) The monitoring officer and/or the chief financial officer may include an item for 

consideration on the agenda of an executive meeting and may require the proper officer 
to call such a meeting in pursuance of their statutory duties.  In other circumstances, 
where any two of the head of paid service, chief financial officer and monitoring officer 
are of the opinion that a meeting of the executive needs to be called to consider a matter 
that requires a decision, they may jointly include an item on the agenda of an executive 
meeting.  If there is no meeting of the executive soon enough to deal with the issue in 
question, then the person(s) entitled to include an item on the agenda may also require 
that a meeting be convened at which the matter will be considered. 

 

B15  Policy development boards 

 
(i) The executive may approve the formation, size, terms of reference and membership of a 

policy development board to assist and advise each member of the cabinet in 
connection with their portfolio. The policy development boards will not be decision- 
making and will report to the executive.  

Page 189



6 of 7 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

(ii) Each policy development board shall comprise the portfolio holder and up to 6 other 
councillors. The membership of each policy development board may include one cabinet 
member in addition to the relevant portfolio holder, but the executive must give 
preference to non-executive councillors when determining membership of policy 
development boards. 
 

(iii) The composition of each policy development board will reflect the political balance of the 
Council. The portfolio holder may put forward names of members willing to serve on 
his/her policy development board and the executive shall ask the opposition political 
group(s) for nominations to any places they may be allocated on the relevant board.  

(iv) The Leader and Deputy Leader may attend meetings of any policy development board 
and speak at the same. 

(v) Each policy development board may meet in private and the frequency of meetings will 
be determined by the relevant portfolio holder. The proceedings of each policy 
development board should be informal in style and these Procedure Rules will not apply. 
The meetings will be services by a Lead Officer designated by the executive. 

(vi) Substitute members may attend policy development board meetings provided the 
substitution has been agreed in advance by the relevant portfolio holder. 

(vii) The executive may disband a policy development board or alter its size or terms of 
reference at any time.  

 

B16 Urgency procedure 

(a) Urgent executive decisions which cannot be delayed until the next meeting of the executive or 
executive committee (as the case may be) may be taken by the relevant chief officer after 
consultation with the following: 

Leader 

Deputy leader 

Relevant portfolio holder (if any) or any other cabinet member if there is no relevant 
portfolio holder in respect of the decision in question 

The mayor pursuant to Rule C15 of the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules. 

Plus one of the following: 

   the Chief Executive; or 

  the Deputy Chief Executive (in the absence of the Chief Executive or if the Chief 
Executive is the decision taker) or 

  the monitoring officer (in the absence of the Chief Executive and Deputy Chief 
Executive or if one is absent and the other is the decision taker) 

(b) In the absence of the leader, deputy leader or portfolio holder (if any) the consent of another 
cabinet member will be required. 

(c) The urgent decision, the reason for it and the reason for the use of the urgency procedure must 
be reported to the next meeting of the executive or executive committee (as the case may be). 

 

B17 Application of Council Procedure Rules 

The following Council Procedure Rules apply to meetings of the executive: 

A7 Duration of meeting 

A20.3 Member not to be heard further 

A20.4 Member to leave the meeting 

A20.5 General disturbance 

Page 190



7 of 7 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

A21 Disturbance by the public 

Page 191



This page is intentionally left blank



Municipal Year 2021/22 
Last updated 23

rd
 September 2021                                   Page 1 of 12 

 

C - OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY AND PROCEDURE RULES 
 

CONTENTS 
 
 

Rule 
 
C1. Number and arrangements for Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
 
C2. Right to sit on Overview and Scrutiny committees 
 
C3. Frequency of meetings 
 
C4. Quorum 
 
C5. Chair of overview and scrutiny meetings 
 
C6. Work programme 
 
C7. Agenda items 
 
C8. Policy review and development 
 
C9. Reports from Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
C10. Consideration of Overview and Scrutiny reports by the executive. 
 
C11. Rights of Overview and Scrutiny Committee members to documents.  
 
C12. Members and officers giving account. 
 
C13. Attendance by others. 
 
C14. Call-in 
 
C15. The party whip 
 
C16. Procedure at Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

 
C17.  Panels 
 
C18   Councillor Call For Action 
 
C19 Crime and Disorder Matters 
 
C20. Exempt and Confidential Information

Page 193



Municipal Year 2021/22 
Last updated 23

rd
 September 2021                                   Page 2 of 12 

 

C. OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PROCEDURE RULES 
 

 
C1. Number and arrangements for overview and scrutiny committees 
 
 The Council will appoint up to two overview and scrutiny committees with such terms of 

reference as it shall determine. A joint meeting of the overview and scrutiny committees may 
be held no more than once per municipal year. Joint meetings of the Committees will be 
chaired alternately between the committee chairs or as the committee chairs may both agree. 

 
C2. Right to sit on overview and scrutiny committees 
 

 Up to four members of the public may be appointed to each Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee as non-voting co-optees, if they are deemed to have relevant experience of 
matters falling within the remit of that Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  

(i) Co-optees may be appointed following nomination by a councillor or following 
an application received directly from a member of the public.  

 
(ii)    Applications received directly from the public will be considered first at the 

relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee. The Committee will consider the 
knowledge and experience of the applicant relevant to the terms of reference or 
work programme of the Committee.  If the majority of the Overview and Scrutiny 
members support the appointment of the applicant, the proposed appointment 
will be presented to Council for approval.  

 
(iii)   Nominations received from councillors will be presented to the Council for 

approval, if supported by the Chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. In reaching a decision, the Council will consider the knowledge and 
experience of the nominee relevant to the terms of reference or work 
programme of the Committee. 

 
 

 
C3. Frequency of meetings 
 
 Ordinary meetings of the overview and scrutiny committees shall be held no more than once in 

every committee cycle.   
 
 In addition, extraordinary meetings may be called from time to time by: 

(i)   the chair of the relevant overview and scrutiny committee,  
(ii)  any 5 members of the relevant overview and scrutiny committee 
(iii) the Chief Executive if he/she considers it necessary or appropriate. 
 

C4. Quorum 
 
 The quorum of each overview and scrutiny committee shall be one quarter of the members of 

the committee or 3, whichever is the larger.   
 
 
 

Page 194



Municipal Year 2021/22 
Last updated 23

rd
 September 2021                                   Page 3 of 12 

 

C5. Chairs of overview and scrutiny committee meetings 
 
 The Chair of each overview and scrutiny committee will be drawn from among the councillors 

sitting on the committee  
 
C6. Work programme 
 
 (a) The chair and vice chair of each overview and scrutiny committee will meet with the 

Cabinet within four weeks of each Annual Meeting to discuss the Cabinet’s policy priorities for 
the coming year.  The chairs and vice chairs will propose a draft work programme for their 
committee within two weeks of that meeting.  The draft work programmes will be submitted to 
the next following meeting of the Cabinet for comment and the draft work programme for each 
overview and scrutiny committee will then be submitted to the next following meeting of that 
committee (together with any comments or recommendations from the Cabinet) for approval. 

 
 (b)The overview and scrutiny committees will, subject to the above, be responsible for setting 

their own work programme and in doing so they shall take into account the wishes of 
committee members who are not members of the largest political group on the Council. 

 
C7. Agenda items 
 
 (a) Any member of an overview and scrutiny committee may to give notice to the chair (or vice 

chair in the chair’s absence) that they wish an item relevant to the functions of the committee 
to be included on the agenda for the next available meeting of the committee.  On receipt of 
such a request the chair or vice chair will ensure that it is included on the next available 
agenda.  A request may be refused if, in the opinion, of the chair or vice chair the item is not 
relevant to the functions of the committee. Only 6 such items may be placed on the agenda for 
any particular meeting. If notice is received of more than 6 such items, the chair of the 
overview and scrutiny committee, (or the vice chair in the chair’s absence), shall determine 
which 6 items to place on the agenda and the remaining items shall be deferred to the next 
meeting of the relevant committee. 

 
 (b) Any 5 members of the Council who are not members of the relevant overview and scrutiny 

committee may give written notice to the chair (or vice chair in the chair’s absence) that they 
wish an item relevant to the functions of the committee to be included on the agenda for the 
next available meeting of the committee.  If the chair or vice chair receives such a notification, 
then he/she will include the item on the next available agenda.  The request may be refused if, 
in the opinion of the chair or vice chair, the item is not relevant to the functions of that 
committee. Only 3 such items may be placed on the agenda for any particular meeting. If 
notice is received of more than 3 such items, the chair of the overview and scrutiny committee, 
(or the vice chair in the chair’s absence), shall determine which 3 items to place on the agenda 
and the remaining items shall be deferred to the next meeting of the relevant committee. 
 

 
 (c)The relevant overview and scrutiny committee shall also respond, as soon as their work 

programme permits, to requests from the Council and the executive to review particular areas 
of Council activity.  Where they do so, the overview and scrutiny committee shall report their 
findings and any recommendations back to the body which requested the review. That body 
shall consider the report of the overview and scrutiny committee within one month of receiving 
it.  

 
(Note: for Councillor Calls For Action, see Rule C18) 

Page 195



Municipal Year 2021/22 
Last updated 23

rd
 September 2021                                   Page 4 of 12 

 

(Note: for crime and disorder matters, see Rule C19) 
 

 
C8. Policy review and development 
 
(a) The role of the overview and scrutiny committees in relation to the development of the 

Council’s budget and policy framework is set out in detail in the Budget and Policy Framework 
Procedure Rules.  

 
(b) In relation to the development of the Council’s approach to other matters not forming part of its 

policy and budget framework, the overview and scrutiny committees may make proposals to 
the executive in so far as they relate to matters within their terms of reference.  

 
(c) The overview and scrutiny committees may hold enquiries and investigate the available 

options for future direction in policy development and may appoint advisers and assessors to 
assist them in this process.  They may go on site visits, conduct public surveys, hold public 
meetings, commission research and do all other things that they reasonably consider 
necessary to inform their deliberations.  They may ask witnesses to attend to address them on 
any matter under consideration and may pay to any advisers, assessors and witnesses a 
reasonable fee and expenses for doing so.  

 
C9. Reports from overview and scrutiny committee 
 

(a) Once it has formed recommendations or prepared a formal report the overview and 
scrutiny committee may submit the report or recommendations to the proper officer for 
consideration by the Cabinet (if the proposals are consistent with the existing budget 
and policy framework), or to the Council as appropriate (e.g. if the recommendation 
would require a departure from or a change to the agreed budget and policy 
framework). Any dispute as to whether a report should be considered by the Council or 
the Cabinet will be determined by the Chief Executive 

(b) If an overview and scrutiny committee cannot agree on one single final report to the 
Council or Cabinet as appropriate, then up to one minority report may be prepared and 
submitted for consideration by the Council or Cabinet with the majority report.  

(c) The Council or Cabinet as appropriate shall consider the report of the overview and 
scrutiny committee within two months of it being submitted to the proper officer.  

 
C10. Consideration of overview and scrutiny reports by the executive  
 

(a) The agenda for Cabinet meetings shall include an item entitled ‘Issues arising from 
overview and scrutiny’.  Overview and scrutiny committee reports or recommendations 
referred to the Cabinet shall be included at this point in the agenda (unless they have 
been considered in the context of the Cabinet’s deliberations on a substantive item on 
the agenda) of the next meeting of the Cabinet unless this occurs within 5 working days 
of the relevant meeting of the overview and scrutiny committee, in which case the 
report will be referred to the next meeting after that, subject to (b) below.  

 
(b) Reports and recommendations to Council or to Cabinet will be considered by Cabinet 

or Council (as appropriate) within two months of receipt by the proper officer. If for any 
reason the Cabinet does not consider the overview and scrutiny report  within two 
months then the matter will be referred to Council for review, and the proper officer will 
arrange for the report to be included on the agenda for the next Council meeting for 
consideration. 

Page 196



Municipal Year 2021/22 
Last updated 23

rd
 September 2021                                   Page 5 of 12 

 

 
(c) Cabinet will respond to the report or recommendations of the relevant Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee by the date of the next following Cabinet meeting after considering 
the report or recommendations, unless the next following Cabinet meeting is scheduled 
to take place within 14 days of the Overview & Scrutiny meeting at which the report or 
recommendations were approved, in which case the same may at the option of the 
Leader of the Council be referred to the next Cabinet meeting after that one to allow 
sufficient time for the report or recommendations to be considered 

  
(d) The overview and scrutiny committees will in any event have access to the Cabinet’s 

forward plan and timetable for decisions and intentions for consultation.  Even where an 
item is not the subject of detailed proposals from an overview and scrutiny committee 
following a consideration of possible policy/service developments, the committee will at 
least be able to respond in the course of the Cabinet’s consultation process in relation 
to any key decision.  

 
C11. Rights of overview and scrutiny committee members to documents 
 

(a) In addition to their rights as councillors, members of overview and scrutiny committees 
have the additional right to documents, and to notice of meetings as set out in the 
Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution.  

 
(b) Nothing in this paragraph prevents more detailed liaison between the executive and 

overview and scrutiny committees as appropriate depending on the particular matter 
under consideration.  

 
C12. Members and officers giving account 
 

(a) Each overview and scrutiny committee may scrutinise and review decisions made or 
actions taken in connection with the discharge of any Council functions within the 
overview and scrutiny committee’s terms of reference.  As well as reviewing 
documentation, in fulfilling the scrutiny role, it may require any member of the 
executive, the Chief Executive and/or any chief officer or service head to attend before 
it to explain in relation to matters within their remit: 

 
  (i) any particular decision or series of decisions; 
 
  (ii) the extent to which the actions taken implement Council policy; and/or 
 
  (iii) their performance 
 
  and it is the duty of those persons to attend if so required.  
 

(b) Where any member or officer is required to attend an overview and scrutiny committee 
under this provision, the chair of that committee will inform the Chief Executive.  The 
Chief Executive shall inform the member or officer in writing giving at least 5 working 
days notice of the meeting at which he/she is required to attend.  The notice will state 
the nature of the item on which he/she is required to attend to give account and 
whether any papers are required to be produced for the committee.  Where the account 
to be given to the committee will require the production of a report, then the member or 
officer concerned will be given sufficient notice to allow for preparation of that 
documentation.  

Page 197



Municipal Year 2021/22 
Last updated 23

rd
 September 2021                                   Page 6 of 12 

 

 
(c) Where, in exceptional circumstances, the member or officer is unable to attend on the 

required date, then the overview and scrutiny committee shall in consultation with the 
member or officer arrange an alternative date for attendance. 

 
C13. Attendance by others 
 
 Each overview and scrutiny committee may invite people other than those people referred to in 

paragraph 12 above to address it, discuss issues of local concern and/or answer questions. It 
may for example wish to hear from residents, stakeholders and members and officers in other 
parts of the public sector and shall invite such people to attend.  

 
C14. Call-in 
 

This Procedure Rule applies to each overview and scrutiny committee 
 

(a) When a decision is made by the executive (or an individual member of the executive, a 
committee of the executive, an area committee or under joint arrangements or a key 
decision is made by an officer with delegated authority from the executive) the decision 
shall be published, including where possible by electronic means, and shall be 
available at the main offices of the Council normally within 2 days of being made.  
Chairs of the overview and scrutiny committees will be sent copies of the records of all 
such decisions within the same timescale, by the person responsible for publishing the 
decision.  If the chair of the overview and scrutiny committee is of the same political 
party as the executive, copies of all such decisions shall also to be sent to all members 
of the committee.  

 
(b) That notice will bear the date on which it is published and will specify that the decision 

will come into force, and may then be implemented, on the expiry of 6 working days 
after the publication of the decision, unless an overview and scrutiny committee objects 
to it and calls it in. 

(c) During that period, the proper officer shall call-in a decision for scrutiny by the relevant 
committee upon receipt of the appropriate call-in form signed by the chair (or the vice 
chair in the chair’s absence) or any 2 members of the committee, and shall then notify 
the decision-taker of the call-in.  He/she shall call a meeting of the committee on such 
date as he/she may determine, where possible after consultation with the chair of the 
committee, and in any case within 9 working days of the end of the 6 working day call-in 
period.  

(d) If, having considered the decision, the overview and scrutiny committee is still 
concerned about it, then it may refer it back to the decision making person or body for 
reconsideration, setting out in writing the nature of its concerns.  The decision maker 
shall then reconsider amending the decision or not, before adopting a final decision.  If 
it is a Cabinet decision it will be reconsidered at the next scheduled meeting of the 
Cabinet.  The member who sponsored the call-in may attend the relevant Cabinet 
meeting to make representations on the item, as may the chair of the relevant overview 
and scrutiny committee if he/she supported the call-in.  If it is an officer decision or a 
decision by an individual cabinet member it will be reconsidered within 5 working days. 

 
(e) If following an objection to the decision, the overview and scrutiny committee does not 

meet in the period set out above, or does meet but does not refer the matter back to the 
decision making person or body, the decision shall take effect on the date of the 

Page 198



Municipal Year 2021/22 
Last updated 23

rd
 September 2021                                   Page 7 of 12 

 

overview and scrutiny meeting, or the expiry of the10 working day call-in period 
whichever is the earlier. 

 
(f) Where an executive decision has been taken by an area council then the right of call-in 

shall extend to any other area council which resolves to refer a decision which has 
been made but not implemented to a relevant overview and scrutiny committee for 
consideration in accordance with these provisions.  An area council may only request 
the proper officer to call-in the decision if it is of the opinion that the decision will have 
an adverse effect on the area to which it relates.  All other provisions relating to call-in 
shall apply as if the call in has been exercised by members of a relevant overview and 
scrutiny committee.  

 
(g) Details of all decisions called in by overview and scrutiny committees and the decision 

makers response to them shall be reported to the next meeting of the Council for 
information.  

 
 CALL-IN AND URGENCY 
 

(i) The call-in procedure set out above shall not apply where the decision being taken by 
the executive is urgent.  A decision will be urgent if any delay likely to be caused by the 
call in process would seriously prejudice the Council’s or the public interest.  The record 
of the decision, and notice by which it is made public shall state whether in the opinion 
of the decision making person or body, the decision is an urgent one, and therefore not 
subject to call-in and the reason for that opinion.  The mayor must agree both that the 
decision proposed is reasonable in all the circumstances and to it being treated as a 
matter of urgency.  In the absence of the mayor, the deputy mayor’s consent shall be 
required.  In the absence of both, the head of paid service or his/her nominee’s consent 
shall be required.  Decisions taken as a matter of urgency must be reported to the next 
available meeting of the Council, together with the reasons for urgency.  

 
(j) The operation of the provisions relating to call-in and urgency shall be monitored 

annually, and a report submitted to Council with proposals for review if necessary.  
 
C15. The party whip 
 

This Procedure Rule applies to the overview and scrutiny committees 
 
 (a) “Party whip” means any instruction given by or on behalf of a political group to any 

councillor who is a member of that group as to how that councillor shall speak or vote on any 
matter before the Council or any committee, or the application or threat to apply any sanction 
by the group in respect of that councillor should he/she speak or vote in any particular manner. 

 
 (b) When considering any matter in respect of which a member of an overview and scrutiny 

committee is subject to a party whip the member must declare the existence of the whip, and 
the nature of it before the commencement of the committee’s deliberations on the matter.  The 
declaration, and the detail of the whipping arrangements, shall be recorded in the minutes of 
the meeting.  

 
C16. Procedure at overview and scrutiny committee meetings 
 

This Procedure Rule applies to the overview and scrutiny committees 
 

Page 199



Municipal Year 2021/22 
Last updated 23

rd
 September 2021                                   Page 8 of 12 

 

 (a) The overview and scrutiny committees shall consider the following business: 
 
  (i) apologies 
 
  (ii) declarations of interest (including whipping declarations); 
 
  (iii) minutes of the last meeting; 
 
  (iv) consideration of any matter referred to the committee for a decision in relation 
   to call in of a decision; 
 
  (v) responses of the executive to reports of the overview and scrutiny committee; 
   and 
 
  (vi) the business otherwise set out on the agenda for the meeting.  
 

(b) Where the overview and scrutiny committee conducts investigations (e.g. with a view to 
policy development), the committee may also ask people to attend to give evidence at 
committee meetings which are to be conducted in accordance with the following 
principles: 

 
(i) that the investigation be conducted fairly and all members of the committee be 

given the opportunity to ask questions of attendees, and to contribute and 
speak; 

(ii) that those assisting the committee by giving evidence be treated with respect 
and courtesy; and  

(iii) that the investigation be conducted so as to maximise the efficiency of the 
investigation or analysis. 

 
(c) Following any investigation or review, the committees shall prepare a  report, for 

submission to the executive and/or Council as appropriate and shall make its report 
and findings public.  

 
C17 Panels 
 

Each Overview & Scrutiny committee may appoint up to one panel at any time and may 
determine the Panel’s terms of reference, size, membership and duration   
 

C18    Councillor Call For Action 

(a) Subject to this Rule C18 any councillor may instigate a Councillor Call For Action in respect 
of issues of concern affecting all or part of the wards they represent. 

(b) In order to qualify as a Councillor Call for Action the issue of concern must: 
(i) be within the functions of the overview and scrutiny committee concerned 
(i) affect all or part of the ward the member represents or people who live and work 

there; 
(iii)  not be a local crime and disorder matter within s19 Police and Justice Act 2006; 
(iv) not relate to a decision in respect of an application for an agreement, approval 

or permission under planning legislation 
(v) not relate to an enforcement decision under planning legislation 

Page 200



Municipal Year 2021/22 
Last updated 23

rd
 September 2021                                   Page 9 of 12 

 

(vi) not relate to a decision in respect of an application for a premises licence, a club 
premises certificate or a temporary event notice or a request for a review of 
such a decision 

(vii) not relate to any enforcement decision made under the Licensing Act 2003 
(viii) not relate to a matter in respect of which there is a statutory right of appeal or 

review (but the item is not excluded just because there is a right to pursue it with 
the Local Government Ombudsman) 

 
(c ) The councillor shall complete the Councillor Call for Action form (available from Member 

Services) which must state the reason for the referral to the committee and demonstrate 
that other appropriate methods of resolving the issue have been tried and exhausted  

 
(d) The Councillor Call for Action form must be delivered to the Chief Executive.  

(e)  The Councillor Call for Action will be considered by the chair of the relevant committee (or 
vice chair in the chair’s absence) within 6 working days of its receipt (not counting the day 
of receipt) and the Call for Action may be refused if in the opinion of the chair (or vice chair 
in the chair’s absence): 

 the issue of concern does not meet  the criteria referred to in (b) above; or 

 it is vexatious or discriminatory; or 

 the chair (or vice chair in the chair’s absence) is not satisfied that reasonable steps 
have been taken to resolve the issue of concern in other ways 

 (f) If the chair (or vice chair) receives a notification which satisfies the criteria referred to in (b) 
and (e) above then s/he will include the Councillor Call for Action on the agenda for the 
next available meeting of the committee. Only 3 such items may be placed on the agenda 
of any particular meeting. If valid notice is received of more than 3 Councillor Call for 
Action, the chair of the overview and scrutiny committee (or the vice chair in the chair’s 
absence) shall determine which 3 items to place on the agenda and the remaining items 
shall be deferred to the next meeting of the relevant committee.  

 
(g)  The overview and scrutiny committee may permit the councillor who made the Call for 

Action to make representations in respect of the issue of concern, including the reason for 
the Call for Action and the steps already taken to resolve the same.  

 
(h) If the overview and scrutiny committee decides to take no action in respect of a Councillor 

Call for Action it must inform the councillor who instigated it accordingly and give reasons 
for its decision. If the overview and scrutiny committee decides to take action in respect of 
the item it must inform the councillor who instigated the Call for Action accordingly and give 
him / her a copy of any report or recommendations it makes to Council or to Cabinet 

 

C19 Crime and Disorder Matters 

(a) This Rule applies to the overview and scrutiny committee with responsibility for crime 
and disorder matters 

(b) In this Rule the following expressions have the meaning shown: 

local crime and disorder matter (i) crime and disorder (including in particular 
forms of crime and disorder that involve anti-
social behaviour or other behaviour adversely 
affecting the local environment); or 

Page 201



Municipal Year 2021/22 
Last updated 23

rd
 September 2021                                   Page 10 of 12 

 

(ii) misuse of drugs, alcohol or other substances 

which affects all or part of ward the councillor making 
the referral represents, or people who live or work 
there 

responsible authorities  Chief Officer of Lancashire Police 

Lancashire County Council 

Lancashire Police Authority 
 
Lancashire Fire and Rescue Service 
 
East Lancashire NHS Teaching Primary Care Trust 

 

co-operating bodies  the local Probation Board 

providers of probation services in Hyndburn pursuant 
to section 3 Offender Management Act 2007 

Altham Parish Council 

governing bodies of schools maintained by the local 
education authority 

governing body of Accrington & Rossendale College 

East Lancashire Hospitals NHS Trust  
 
 

Lancashire Care NHS Foundation Trust 
 

Proprietors of Independent Schools – Heathland 
Private School, “Broad Oak”, Sandy Lane, 
Accrington 

 

relevant committee the overview and scrutiny committee with 
responsibility for crime and disorder matters 

written information Information relating to: 

(i) the discharge or decisions of, or other 
action taken by, the responsible 
authorities in connection with their crime 
and disorder functions 

(ii) local crime and disorder matters 

the information will be depersonalised unless the 
identification of an individual is necessary or 
appropriate to enable the relevant committee to 
properly exercise its powers 

the information will not include information that would 
be reasonably likely to prejudice legal proceedings or 
current or future operations by the responsible 
authorities or the co-operating bodies 

Page 202



Municipal Year 2021/22 
Last updated 23

rd
 September 2021                                   Page 11 of 12 

 

 

(c)  The relevant committee will meet at least once in each municipal year to review the 
exercise by the responsible authorities of their crime and disorder functions under 
section 6 Crime And Disorder Act 1998. Where the relevant committee makes a report 
or recommendations either to Cabinet or to Council in respect of such matters it shall 
provide a copy of the report or recommendation to each of the responsible authorities 
and each of the co-operating bodies. 

(d) The relevant committee may request written information from the responsible 
authorities and the co-operating bodies and may specify a date by which the written 
information should be provided 

(e) The relevant committee may require the attendance before it of an officer or employee 
of a responsible authority or a co-operating body to answer questions but must give 
reasonable notice of the date and time of the meeting at which attendance is required 

Member referrals of local crime and disorder matters 

(f) Any councillor may refer a local crime and disorder matter to the relevant committee. 
The referral must be made in writing, giving full details of the local crime and disorder 
matter and the reason for the referral. The referral must be delivered to the Chief 
Executive. 

(g) Valid referrals will be placed on the agenda for the next available meeting of the 
relevant committee. Only 3 such items may be placed on the agenda for any particular 
meeting. If valid referrals are received in respect of more than 3 local crime and 
disorder matters the chair of the relevant committee (or the vice chair in the chair’s 
absence) shall determine which 3 items to place on the agenda and the remaining 
items shall be deferred to the next meeting of the relevant committee. 

(h) The relevant committee must consider whether to make a report or recommendations 
to either the Council or the Cabinet in respect of the local crime and disorder matter, 
having regard to any representations made by the councillor who made the referral. If 
the relevant committee decides to take no action it must notify the councillor who made 
the referral of its decision and reason for it. If the relevant committee decides to make a 
report or recommendations either to the Cabinet or to Council it must provide a copy of 
the report or recommendations to: 

(i) the councillor who made the referral 

(ii) such of the responsible bodies as it thinks it appropriate 

(iii) such of the co-operating bodies as it thinks it appropriate. 

(i) Where the relevant committee makes a report or recommendations to Council or 
Cabinet and provides a copy of the same to any responsible authority or co-operating 
body the relevant committee must inform each of them of their obligations under 
section 19(8B)(b) Police and Justice Act 2006, namely: 

(i) to consider the report or recommendations 

(ii) to respond to the relevant committee in writing to say what action (if any) it 
proposes to take, such response to be made within 28 days of receipt of the 
report or recommendations (or, if this is not reasonably possible, as soon as 
reasonably possible thereafter)  

(iii) to have regard to the report or recommendations in exercising its functions 

Page 203



Municipal Year 2021/22 
Last updated 23

rd
 September 2021                                   Page 12 of 12 

 

 

C20 Exempt and Confidential Information 

(a) Where an overview and scrutiny committee intends to 

(i)  publish a report or recommendations; or 
(ii) submit a report or recommendations to another organisation  

      it must first do the following: 

 request the proper officer to exclude any confidential information (i.e. any information 
the Council is legally prevented from disclosing pursuant to s100A(3) Local 
Government Act 1972); and 

 consider whether any exempt information should be excluded (i.e. any information 
covered by s100I Local Government Act 1972 and / or s246 National Health Service 
Act 2006) and, if it decides that it should, request the proper officer to remove any such 
information prior to disclosure. 

(b)  Where an overview and scrutiny committee intends to supply a copy of a report or 
recommendations to a member of the Council it must first consider whether any 
confidential or exempt information should be excluded and, if it decides that it should, 
request the proper officer to remove any such information prior to disclosure 

(c ) Where any exempt or confidential information is removed from a report or 
recommendations the proper officer shall provide sufficient non-exempt and non-
confidential information to the recipient to enable the report or recommendations to be 
properly understood. 

 
 

 

 
 

Page 204



1 of 11 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

D. ACCESS TO INFORMATION PROCEDURE RULES 

 
CONTENTS 

 
RULE 

 
 

D1 Scope 
 

 

D2 Additional rights to information 
 

 

D3 Rights to attend meetings 
 

 

D4 Notice of meetings 
 

 

D5 Access to agenda and reports before meetings 
 

 

D6 Supply of copies 
 

 

D7 Access to Minutes after meetings 
 

 

D8 Background papers 
 

 

D9 Summary of public’s rights 
 

 

D10 Exclusion of access by the public to meetings 
 

 

D11 Exclusion of access by the public to reports 
 

 

D12 Application of rules to the executive 
 

 

D13 Procedure before taking key decisions 
 

 

D14 The forward plan 
 

 

D15 General exception 
 

 

D16 Special urgency 
 

 

D17 Report to Council 
 

 

D18 Record of decisions 
 

 

D19 Executive meetings relating to matters which are not key decisions 
 

 

D20 Notice of private meetings of the Executive 
 

 

D21 Attendance at private meetings of the Executive 
 

 

D22 Decisions by individual members of the Executive 
 

 

D23 Overview and Scrutiny Committees:  access to documents 
 

 

D24 Additional rights of access for members  

 

Page 205



2 of 11 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

Access to Information Procedure Rules 
 

D1. SCOPE 

 
 These rules apply to all meetings of the Council, overview and scrutiny committees, area 

council’s, the standards committee and all other committees and public meetings of the 
executive (together called meetings). 

 

D2. ADDITIONAL RIGHTS TO INFORMATION 

 
 These rules do not affect any more specific rights to information contained elsewhere in this 

Constitution or the law.  
 

D3. RIGHTS TO ATTEND MEETINGS 

 
 Members of the public may attend all meetings, subject only to the exceptions in these rules.  
 

D4. NOTICES OF MEETINGS 

 
 The Council will give at least five clear days notice of any meeting by posting details of the 

meeting at Scaitcliffe House, Ormerod Street, Accrington. 
 

D5. ACCESS TO AGENDA AND REPORTS BEFORE THE MEETING 

 
 The Council will make copies of the agenda and reports open to the public available for 

inspection at Scaitcliffe House, Ormerod Street in Accrington at least five clear days before the 
meeting.  If an item is added to the agenda later, the revised agenda (where reports are 
prepared after the summons has been sent out, the designated officer shall make each such 
report available to the public as soon as the report is completed and sent to councillors) will be 
open to inspection from the time the item was added to the agenda.  

 

D6. SUPPLY OF COPIES 

 
 The Council will supply copies of: 
 
 (a) any agenda and reports which are open to public inspection; 
   
 (b) any further statements or particulars necessary to indicate the nature of the items in the  
  agenda; and 
  
 (c) if the Managing Director thinks fit, copies of any other documents supplied to councillors 
  in connection with an item 
 
 to any person on payment of a charge for postage and any other costs.  
 

D7. ACCESS TO MINUTES ETC AFTER THE MEETING 

 
 The Council will make available copies of the following for six years after a meeting: 
 
 (a) the minutes of the meeting or records of decisions taken, together with reasons, for all  
  meetings of the executive, excluding any part of the minutes of proceedings when the  
  meeting was not open to the public or which disclose exempt or confidential information; 
 (b) a summary of any proceedings not open to the public where the minutes open to  
  inspection would not provide a reasonably fair and coherent record; 

Page 206



3 of 11 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

 
 (c) the agenda for the meeting; and 
 
 (d) reports relating to items when the meeting was open to the public. 
 

D8. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 

8.1 List of background papers 

 
 The proper officer will set out in every report a list of those documents (called background 

papers) relating to the subject matter of the report which in his/her opinion.  
 
 (a) disclose any facts or matters on which the report or an important part of the report is  
  based; and  
 
 (b) which have been relied on to a material extent in preparing the report 
 
 but does not include published works or those which disclose exempt or confidential information 

(as defined in Rule 10) and in respect of executive reports, the advice of a political advisor.  
 

8.2 Public inspection of background papers 

 
 The Council will make available for public inspection for four years after the date of the meeting 

one copy of each of the documents on the list of background papers.  
 

D9. SUMMARY OF PUBLIC’S RIGHTS 

 
 A written summary of the public’s rights to attend meetings and to inspect and copy documents 

must be kept at and available to the public at Scaitcliffe House, Ormerod Street, Accrington. 
 

D10. EXCLUSION OF ACCESS BY THE PUBLIC TO MEETINGS 

 

10.1 Confidential information - requirement to exclude public 

 

 The public must be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view of the nature of the 

business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that confidential information would 
be disclosed.  

 
 Confidential information means information given to the Council by a Government Department 

on terms which forbid its public disclosure or information which cannot be publicly disclosed by 
Court Order or by virtue of an enactment.  

 

10.2 Exempt information - discretion to exclude public 

 

 The public may be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view of the nature of the 

business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that exempt information would be 
disclosed.  

 
 Where the meetings will determine any person’s civil rights or obligations, or adversely affect 

their possessions, Article 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998 establishes a presumption that the 
meeting will be held in public unless a private hearing is necessary for one of the reasons 
specified in Article 6. 

 

10.3 Meaning of exempt information 

Page 207



4 of 11 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

 
 Exempt information means information falling within the following 7 categories (subject to the 

qualifications set out below): 
 

Category Comment 
1. Information relating to any individual 

 
 

2.Information which is likely to reveal the 
identity of an individual 
 

 

3. Information relating to the financial or 
business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that 
information) 
 

Financial or business affairs includes 
contemplated, as well as past or current, 
activities 

4. Information relating to any consultations or 
negotiations, or contemplated consultations or 
negotiations, in connection with any labour 
relations matter arising between the authority 
or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, 
of office holders under, the authority 
 

Employee means a person employed under a 
contract of service 
 
Labour relations matter means (a) any matter 
specified in para’s a to g of section 218 Trade 
Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) 
Act 1992 or (b) any dispute about a matter 
falling within (a) and this shall apply with the 
necessary modifications to officer holders as it 
applies to employees of the Council 
 
Office holder means in relation to the Council, 
the holder of any paid office appointments to 
which are or may be made or confirmed by 
the Council or by any joint board on which the 
Council is represented or by any person who 
holds any such office or is an employee of the 
Council 

5. Information in respect of a claim to legal 
professional privilege could be maintained in 
legal proceedings 

 

 
6. Information which reveals that the authority 
proposes 

(a) to give under any enactment a notice 
under or by virtue of which 
requirements are imposed on a 
person, or 

(b) to make an order or direction under 
any enactment 

  

 

7. Information relating to any action taken or 
to be taken in connection with the prevention, 
investigation or prosecution of crime 

 

 

 

Qualifications to exemption 
 

Page 208



5 of 11 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

(a) Information falling within any of paragraphs 1 - 7 is not exempt if it relates to proposed 
development for which the local planning authority can grant itself planning permission 
under Regulation 3 of the Town and Country Planning General Regulations 1992.  

(b) Information falling within paragraph 3 above is not exempt information by virtue of that 
paragraph if it is required to be registered under 

Companies Act 1985 
Friendly Societies Act 1974 
Friendly Societies Act 1992 
Industrial and Provident Societies Acts 1965 to 1978 
Building Societies Act 1986 
Charities Act 1993 
 

(c) Information which falls within any of paragraphs 1-7 and which is not prevented from being 
exempt by paragraphs (a) and (b)  above, is exempt information if and so long as in all the 
circumstances of the case the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing the information 

 

D11. EXCLUSION OF ACCESS BY THE PUBLIC TO REPORTS 

 
 If the Managing Director thinks fit, the Council may exclude access by the public to reports 

which in his or her opinion relate to items during which, in accordance with Rule 10, the meeting 
is likely not to be open to the public.  Such reports will be marked “Not for publication” together 
with the category of information likely to be disclosed.  

 

D12. APPLICATION OF RULES TO THE EXECUTIVE 

 
 (a) Rules 13 - 24 apply to the executive and its committees (if any).  If the executive or its      

committees meet to take a key decision then it must also comply with Rules 1 - 11 unless Rule 
15 (general exception) or Rule 16 (special urgency) apply.   

              
            (b) A key decision is one which:- 
 
 (i) results in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or making savings which are,  
  significant having regard to the Council’s budget for the service or function to which the 
  decision relates.; or  
 
 (ii) is likely to be significant in terms of their effects on communities in two or more wards  
  of the Council. 
 

(c) For the purpose of (i) above, expenditure from the source specified in the right hand column 
below will be deemed to be significant if it exceeds the amount specified in the right hand 
column below: 
 

General fund revenue account £150,000 

Capital programme £200,000 

 
(d) Officer reports to the executive must state whether the report relates to a key decision. 

 
 (e) If the executive or its committees meet to discuss a key decision to be taken collectively, 

with an officer other than a political assistant present, within 28 days of the date according to 
the forward plan by which it is to be decided, then it must also comply with Rules 1 - 11 unless 
Rule 15 (general exception) or Rule 16 (special urgency) apply.  This requirement does not 
include meetings, whose sole purpose is for officers to brief members. 

Page 209



6 of 11 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

D13. PROCEDURE BEFORE TAKING KEY DECISIONS 

 
 Subject to Rule 15 (general exception) and Rule 16 (special urgency), a key decision may not 

be taken unless: 
 
 (a)  a notice (called here a forward plan) has been published in connection with the matter  
  in question; 
 
 (b) at least 5 clear days have elapsed since the publication of the forward plan; and 
 
 (c) where the decision is to be taken at a meeting of the executive or its committees, notice  
  of the meeting has been given in accordance with Rule 4 (notice of meetings).  
 

D14. THE FORWARD PLAN 

 

14.1 Period of forward plan 

 
 Forward plans will be prepared by the leader to cover a period of four months, beginning with 

the first day of any month.  They will be prepared on a monthly basis and subsequent plans will 
cover a period beginning with the first day of the second  month covered in the preceding plan.  

 

14.2 Contents of forward plan 

 
 (a) The forward plan will contain matters which the leader has reason to believe will be subject 

of a key decision to be taken by the executive, a committee of the executive, individual 
members of the executive, officers, area committees or under joint arrangements in the course 
of the discharge of an executive function during the period covered by the plan.  It will describe 
the following particulars in so far as the information is available or might reasonably be 
obtained: 

 
 (i) the matter in respect of which a decision is to be made; 
 
 (ii) where the decision taker is an individual, his/her name and title, if any and where the  
  decision taker is a body, its name and details of membership; 
 
 (iii) the date on which, or the period within which, the decision will be taken; 
 
 (iv) the identity of the principal groups whom the decision taker proposes to consult before 
  taking the decision; 
 
 (v) the means by which any such consultation is proposed to be undertaken; 
 
 (vi) the steps any person might take who wishes to make representations to the executive 
  or decision taker about the matter in respect of which the decision is to be made, and  
  the date by which those steps must be taken; and 
 
 (vii) a list of the documents submitted to the decision taker for consideration in  relation 

to  the matter; 
 
 (b) The forward plan must be published at least 14 days before the start of the period covered.  

The Managing Director will publish once a year a notice in at least one newspaper circulating in 
the area, stating: 

 

Page 210



7 of 11 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

 (i) that key decisions are to be taken on behalf of the Council; 
 
 (ii) that a forward plan containing particulars of the matters on which decisions are to be  
  taken will be prepared on a monthly basis; 
  
 (iii) that the plan will contain details of the key decisions to be made for the four month  
  period following its publication; 
 
 (iv) that each plan will be available for inspection at reasonable hours free of charge at the 
  Council’s offices; 

 
 (v) that each plan will contain a list of the documents submitted to the decision takers for  
  consideration in relation to the key decisions on the plan; 
 
 (vi) the address from which, subject to any prohibition or restriction on their disclosure,  
  copies of, or extracts from, any document listed in the forward plan is available; 
 
 (vii) that other documents may be submitted to decision takers; 
 

(viii) the procedure for requesting details of documents (if any) as they become available;  
 
 (ix) the dates on each month in the following year on which each forward plan will be  
  published and available to the public at the Council’s offices. 
 
 (c) Exempt information need not be included in a forward plan and confidential information 

cannot be included.  
 

D15. GENERAL EXCEPTION 

 
 If a matter which is likely to be a key decision has not been included in the forward plan, then 

subject to Rule 16 (special urgency), the decision may still be taken if: 
 
 (a)  the decision must be taken by such a date that it is impracticable to defer the decision 
  until it has been included in the next forward plan and until the start of the first month to  
  which the next forward plan relates; 
 
 (b) the proper officer has informed the chair of a relevant overview and scrutiny committee, 
  of if there is no such person, each member of that committee in writing, by notice, of the 
  matter to which the decision is to be made; 
 
 (c) the proper officer has made copies of that notice available to the public at the offices 
  of the Council; and  
 
 (d) at least 5 clear days have elapsed since the proper officer complied with (b) and (c)  
             Where such a decision is taken collectively, it must be taken in public.  
 

Page 211



8 of 11 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

 D16. SPECIAL URGENCY 

 
 If by virtue of the date by which a decision must be taken Rule 15 (general exception) cannot be 

followed, then the decision can only be taken if the decision taker (if an individual) or the chair of 
the body making the decision, obtains the agreement of the chair of a relevant overview and 
scrutiny committee that the taking of the decision cannot be reasonably deferred.  If there is no 
chair of a relevant overview and scrutiny committee, or if the chair of each relevant overview 
and scrutiny committee is unable to act, then the agreement of the Mayor, or in his/her absence 
the Deputy Mayor will suffice.  

 

D17. REPORT TO COUNCIL 

 

17.1 When an overview and scrutiny committee / sub-committee can require a report 

 
 If an overview and scrutiny committee thinks that a key decision has been taken which was not: 
 
 (a)  included in the forward plan; or 
 
 (b) the subject of the general exception procedure; or 
 
 (c) the subject of an agreement with a relevant overview and scrutiny committee chair, or 
  the Mayor / Deputy Mayor under Rule 16; 
 
 the committee / sub-committee may require the executive to submit a report to the Council 

within such reasonable time as the committee specifies.  The power to require a report rests 
with the committee, but is also delegated to the proper officer, who shall require such a report 
on behalf of the committee when so requested by the chair or any 5 members.  Alternatively, 
the requirement may be raised by resolution passed at a meeting of the relevant overview and 
scrutiny committee / sub-committee.  

 

17.2 Executive’s report to Council 

 
 The executive will prepare a report for submission to the next available meeting of the Council.  

However, if the next meeting of the Council is within 7 days of receipt of the written notice, or 
the resolution of the committee, then the report may be submitted to the meeting after that.  The 
report to Council will set out particulars of the decision, the individual or body making the 
decision, and if the leader is of the opinion that it was not a key decision the reasons for that 
opinion.  

 

17.3 Quarterly reports on special urgency decisions 

 
 In any event the leader will submit quarterly reports to the Council on the executive decisions 

taken in the circumstances set out in Rule 16 (special urgency) in the preceding three months.  
The report will include the number of decisions so taken and a summary of the matters in 
respect of which those decisions were taken.  

 

D18. RECORD OF DECISIONS 

 
 After any meeting of the executive or any of its committees, whether held in public or private, 

the proper officer or, where no officer was present, the person presiding at the meeting, will 
produce a record of every decision taken at that meeting as soon as practicable.  The record 
will include a statement of the reasons for each decision and any alternative options considered 
and rejected at that meeting.  

D19. EXECUTIVE MEETINGS RELATING TO MATTERS WHICH ARE NOT KEY DECISIONS 

Page 212



9 of 11 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

 
 The executive will decide whether meetings relating to matters which are not key decisions will 
 be held in public or private.  
 

D20. NOTICE OF PRIVATE MEETING OF THE EXECUTIVE 

 
 Members of the executive or its committees will be entitled to receive 5 clear working days 

notice of a meeting to which they are summoned, unless the meeting is convened at shorter 
notice as a matter of urgency.  

 

D21. ATTENDANCE AT PRIVATE MEETINGS OF THE EXECUTIVE 

 

21.1 Executive members 

 
 (a) All members of the executive will be served notice of all private meetings of committees 
  of the executive, whether or not they are members of that committee. 
 
 (b) All members of the executive are entitled to attend a private meeting of any committee 
  of that executive.  All those in attendance are entitled to speak, but only members of the  
  committee may vote.  
 

21.2. Overview & Scrutiny Committee Members 

 
 (a) Notice of private meetings of the executive and its committees will be served on the  
  chairs of all overview and scrutiny committees, at the same time as notice is served on 
  members of the executive. 
 
 (b) Where a matter under consideration at a private meeting of the executive, or a  
  committee of it, is within the remit of an overview and scrutiny committee the chair of  
  that committee or in his/her absence the vice chair may attend that private meeting with 
  the consent of the person presiding, through not speak unless those present agree.  
 

21.3 Officers 

 
 (a)  The Managing Director, the chief financial officer and the monitoring officer, and their  
  nominees are entitled to attend any meeting of the executive and its committees.  The 
  executive may not meet unless the managing director has been given reasonable notice 
  that a meeting is to take place.  
 
 (b) A private executive meeting may only take place in the presence of the proper officer 
  or his/her nominee with responsibility for recording and publicising the decisions.  The  
  provisions of Rule 18 (recording and publicising decisions) will apply to the meetings  
  described in Rules 21.1 - 21.3. 
 

D22. DECISIONS BY INDIVIDUAL MEMBERS OF THE EXECUTIVE 

 

22.1 Reports intended to be taken into account 

 
 Where an individual member of the executive receives a report which he/she intends to take 

into account in making any key decision, then he/she will not make the decision until at least  
 5 clear days after receipt of that report.  
 

22.2 Provision of copies of reports to overview and scrutiny committees 

 

Page 213



10 of 11 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

 On giving of such a report to an individual decision maker, the person who prepared the report 
 will give a copy of it to the chair of every relevant overview and scrutiny committee as soon as 

reasonably practicable, and make it publicly available at the same time.  
 

22.3 Record of individual decision 

 
 As soon as reasonably practicable after an executive decision has been taken by an individual 

member of the executive or a key decision has been taken by an officer, he/she will prepare, or 
instruct the proper officer to prepare, a record of the decision, a statement of the reasons for it 
and any alternative options considered and rejected.  The provisions of Rules 7 and 8 
(inspection of documents after meetings) will also apply to the making of decisions by individual 
members of the executive.  This does not require the disclosure of exempt or confidential 
information or advice from a political or mayor’s assistant.  

 

D23. OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEES / SUB-COMMITTEES ACCESS TO 

DOCUMENTS 

 

23.1 Rights to copies 

 
 Subject to Rule 23.2 below, an overview and scrutiny committee (including its sub-committees) 

will be entitled to copies of any document which is in the possession or control of the executive 
or its committees and which contains material relating to 

 
 (a)  any business transacted at a public or private meeting of the executive or its  
  committees; or 
 
 (b) any decision taken by an individual member of the executive.  
 

23.2 Limit on rights 

 
 An overview and scrutiny committee (including its sub-committees) will not be entitled to: 
 
 (a) any document that is in draft form; 
 
 (b) any part of a document that contains exempt or confidential information, unless that 
  information is relevant to an action or decision they are reviewing or scrutinising or  
  intend to scrutinise; or 
 
 (c) the advice of a political adviser.  
 

D24. ADDITIONAL RIGHTS OF ACCESS FOR MEMBERS 

 

24.1 Material relating to previous business 

 
 All members will be entitled to inspect any document which is in the possession or under the 

control of the executive or its committees and contains material relating to any business 
previously transacted at a private meeting unless either it contains the advice of a political 
adviser or contains exempt information falling within paragraphs 3 (except to the extent that the 
information relates to any terms proposed or to be proposed by or to the Council in the course 
of negotiations for a contract) or 6 of the categories of exempt information 

 

24.2 Material relating to key decisions 

 

Page 214



11 of 11 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

 All members of the Council will be entitled to inspect any document (except those available only 
in draft form) in the possession or under the control of the executive or its committees which 
relates to any key decision unless paragraph (a) or (b) above applies. 

 

24.3 Nature of rights 

 
 These rights of a member are additional to any other right he/she may have. 
 

  

Page 215



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 6 
 

Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

E. BUDGET AND POLICY FRAMEWORK PROCEDURE RULES 

 

CONTENTS 

 

 
RULE 

 
 

E1 The framework for executive decisions 
 

 

E2 Process for developing the budget and policy framework 
 

 

E3 Decisions outside the budget and policy framework 
 

 

E4 Urgent decisions outside the budget and policy framework 
 

 

E5 In year changes to the policy framework 
 

 

E6 Virement 
 

 

E7 Call-in of decisions outside the budget and policy framework 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 217



Page 2 of 6 
 

Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

 

E. BUDGET AND POLICY FRAMEWORK PROCEDURE RULES 

 
E1. The framework for executive decisions 

 
 The Council will be responsible for the adoption of its budget and policy framework as set out in 

Article 4.  Once a budget or policy framework is in place, it will be the responsibility of the 
executive to implement it.   

 

E2. Process for developing the budget and policy framework 

 
 The process by which the budget and policy framework shall be developed is: 
 

(a) The executive will set a timetable for making proposals to the Council for the adoption of any 
plan, strategy or budget that forms part of the budget and policy framework. The executive 
will also set out its arrangements for consultation on its initial proposals.  

(b)  The executive will publish its initial proposals, which will be notified to the chair of the 
relevant overview and scrutiny committee. 

 
 (c) At the end of any consultation period, the executive will draw up firm proposals having 

regard to the responses to the consultation.  If a relevant overview and scrutiny committee 
wishes to respond to the executive in that consultation process then it may do so.  As the 
overview and scrutiny committees have responsibility for fixing their own work programme, it is 
open to the overview and scrutiny committee to consult, investigate, research or report in detail 
with policy recommendations before the end of the consultation period.  The executive will take 
any response from an overview and scrutiny committee into account in drawing up firm 
proposals for submission to the Council, and its report to Council will reflect the comments 
made by consultees and the executive’s response to those comments.  

 
 (d) Once the executive has approved the firm proposals, the proper officer will refer them at the 

earliest opportunity to the Council for decision.  
 
 (e) In reaching a decision, the Council may adopt the executive’s proposals, amend them, refer 

them back to the executive for further consideration, or in principle, substitute its own proposals 
in their place.  In considering the matter the Council will have before it, the executive’s 
proposals and any report from the overview and scrutiny committee.  

 
            (f) Before it makes any decision in respect of a plan or strategy forming part of the policy 

framework the Council must inform the leader of any objections which it has to the draft 
document and must instruct the executive to reconsider the plan or strategy in the light of those 
objections.  The Council must also specify a period of at least 5 working days beginning on the 
day after the day on which the leader receives Council’s instructions within which the executive 
may: 
 

(i) submit a revised plan or strategy to the Council for consideration together with 
the executive’s reasons for any amendments; or 

(ii) inform the Council of the executive’s disagreement with any of the Council’s 
objections, together with the reasons for that disagreement 

 
(g) When the period specified in paragraph E2(f) has expired the Council the Council must 

when approving the plan or strategy, or any  revised plan or strategy submitted by the 
executive (with or without amendment) take into account any amendments made by the 

Page 218



Page 3 of 6 
 

Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

executive and their reasons for them and any disagreement by the executive with the 
Council’s objections and the reasons for that disagreement.  

 
            (h) If it accepts the recommendation of the executive without objection, the Council may make a 

decision which has immediate effect.  
 
 (i) The decision will be publicised in accordance with Article 4 and a copy shall be given to the 

leader.   
 
 (j) In approving the budget and policy framework, the Council will also specify the extent of 

virement within the budget and degree of in-year changes to the policy framework which may be 
undertaken by the executive, in accordance with paragraphs 5 and 6 of these Rules (virement 
and in-year adjustments).  Any other changes to the policy and budgetary framework are 
reserved to the Council.  

 
 (k) Where,  in any financial year, the executive submits to the Council for its consideration in 

relation to the following financial year – 
 

(i) estimates of the amounts to be aggregated in making a calculation (whether 
originally or by way of substitute) in accordance with any of sections 32 to 37 or 
43 to 49, of the Local Government Finance Act 1992; 

 
(ii) estimates of other amounts to be used for the purposes of such a calculation; 
 
(iii) estimates of such a calculation;  or 
 
(iv) amounts required to be stated in a precept under Chapter IV of Part I of the 

Local Government Finance Act 1992, 
 

 and following consideration of those estimates or amounts the Council has any objections to 
them, it must take the action set out in (l) below. 

 
(l) Before the Council makes a calculation (whether originally or by way of substitute) in 

accordance with any of the sections referred to in paragraph (k) (i) or issues a precept 
under Chapter IV of Part I of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, it must inform the 
leader of any objections which it has to the executive’s estimates or amounts and must 
give to him/her instructions requiring the executive to reconsider, in the light of those 
objections, those estimates and amounts in accordance with the Council’s requirements. 

 
(m) Where the Council gives instructions in accordance with paragraph (l), it must specify a 

period of at least five working days beginning on the day after the date on which the 
leader receives the instructions on behalf of the executive within which the leader may – 

 
(a) submit to the Council for consideration a revision of the estimates or amounts as 

amended by the executive (which have been reconsidered in accordance with the 
Council’s requirements), with the executive’s reasons for any amendments made 
to the estimates or amounts;  or 

 
(b) inform the Council of any disagreement that the executive has with any of the 

Council’s objections and the executive’s reasons for any such disagreement. 
 
(n) When the period specified by the Council, referred to in paragraph (m), has expired, the 

Council must, when making calculations (whether originally or by way of substitute) in 

Page 219



Page 4 of 6 
 

Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

accordance with the sections referred to in paragraph (k)(i), or issuing a precept under 
Chapter IV of Part I of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, take into account – 

 
(a) any amendments to the estimates or amounts that are included in any revised 

estimates or amounts received from the executive; 
 
(b) the executive’s reasons for those amendments; 

 
(c) any disagreement that the executive has with any of the Council’s objections;  

and, 
 
(d) the executive’s reasons for that disagreement, 
 

 which the leader submitted to the Council, or informed the Council of, within the period 
specified. 

 
(o) Paragraphs (k) to (n) shall not apply in relation to – 
 

(a) calculations or substitute calculations which the Council is required to make in 
accordance with section 52I, 52J, 52T or 52U of the Local Government Finance 
Act 1992;  and 

 
(b) amounts stated in a precept issued to give effect to calculations or substitute 

calculations made in accordance with section 52J or 52U of that Act. 
 

E3. Decisions outside the budget and policy framework 

 
 (a) Subject to the provisions of paragraph 6 (virement) the executive (and committees of the 

executive, individual members of the executive and any officers, area committees or joint 
arrangements discharging executive functions) may only take decisions which are in line with 
the budget and policy framework.  If any of these bodies or persons wishes to make a decision 
which is contrary to the policy framework, or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the 
budget approved by full Council, then that decision may only be taken by the Council, subject to 
4 below.  

 
 (b) If the executive (and committees of the executive, individual members of the executive and 

any officers, area committees or joint arrangements discharging executive functions) want to 
make such a decision, they shall take advice from the monitoring officer and/or the deputy chief 
executive as to whether the decision they want to make would be contrary to the policy 
framework, or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the budget.  If the advice of either of 
those officers is that the decision would not be in line with the existing budget and/or policy 
framework, then the decision must be referred by that body or person to the Council for 
decision, unless the decision is a matter of urgency, in which case the provisions in paragraph 4 
(urgent decisions outside the budget and policy framework) shall apply.  

 

E4. Urgent decisions outside the budget and policy framework 

 
 (a) The executive (and a committee of the executive, an individual member of the executive or 

officers, area committees or joint arrangements discharging executive functions) may take a 
decision which is contrary to the Council’s policy framework or contrary to or not wholly in 
accordance with the budget approved by full Council if the decision is a matter of urgency.  
However, the decision may only be taken: 

 
  (i) if it is not practical to convene a quorate meeting of the full Council; and  

Page 220



Page 5 of 6 
 

Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

 
  (ii) if the chair of a relevant overview and scrutiny committee agrees that the  
   decision is a matter of urgency.  
 
 The reasons why it is not practical to convene a quorate meeting of full Council and the chair of 

the relevant overview and scrutiny committees’ consent to the decision being taken as a matter 
of urgency must be noted on the record of the decision.  In the absence of the chair of a 
relevant overview and scrutiny committee the consent of the mayor, and in the absence of both, 
the deputy mayor will be sufficient. “Absence” in this context means that it is not possible to 
contact the person required within one working day 

 
 (b) Following the decision, the decision taker will provide a full report to the next available 

Council meeting explaining the decision, the reasons for it and why the decision was treated as 
a matter of urgency.  

 

E5. In-year changes to policy framework 

 
 The responsibility for agreeing the budget and policy framework lies with the Council, and 

decisions by the executive (and a committee of the executive, an individual member of the 
executive or officers, area committees or joint arrangements discharging executive functions) 
must be in line with it.  No changes to any policy and strategy which make up the policy 
framework may be made by those bodies or individuals except those changes: 

 
 (a) which, in the opinion of the executive, are in the best interests of the Borough provided the 

proper officer is notified of the proposed change in advance and given an opportunity to 
comment; or 

 
 (b) necessary to ensure compliance with the law, ministerial direction or government guidance; 

or 
 
 (c) in relation to the policy framework in respect of a policy which would normally be agreed 

annually by the Council following consultation, but where the existing policy document is silent 
on the matter under consideration. 
 
All such changes shall be reported to the next meeting of full Council. 

 

E6       Virement 

 
(a) Steps taken by the executive (and a committee of the executive, an individual member of the 

executive or officers, area councils or joint arrangements discharging executive functions) to 
implement Council policy shall not exceed the allocated budget.  

 
(b) Virement (the transfer of resources from one activity within the budget to another) is 

permitted in accordance with paragraph 22 of the Financial Procedure Rules. Any virement 
or budget variation which is not permitted by paragraph 22 of the Financial Procedure Rules 
must be approved by the Council. 

 

E7. Call-in of decisions outside the budget and policy framework 

 
 (a) Where an overview and scrutiny committee is of the opinion that an executive decision is, or 

if made would be, contrary to the policy framework, or contrary to or not wholly in accordance 
with the Council’s budget, then it shall seek advice from the monitoring officer and/or deputy 
chief executive.  

 

Page 221



Page 6 of 6 
 

Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

 (b) In respect of functions which are the responsibility of the executive, the monitoring officer’s 
report and/or deputy chief executive’s report shall be to the executive with a copy to every 
member of the Council.  Regardless of whether the decision is delegated or not, the executive 
must meet to decide what action to take in respect of the monitoring officer’s report and to 
prepare a report to Council in the event that the monitoring officer or the chief finance officer 
conclude that the decision was a departure, and to the overview and scrutiny committee if the 
monitoring officer or the chief finance officer conclude that the decision was not a departure.  

 
 (c) If the decision has yet to be made, or has been made but not yet implemented, and the 

advice from the monitoring officer and/or the deputy chief executive is that the decision is or 
would be contrary to the policy framework or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the 
budget, the overview and scrutiny committee may refer the matter to Council.  In such cases, no 
further action will be taken in respect of the decision or its implementation until the Council has 
met and considered the matter.  The Council shall meet within 10 working days of the request 
by the overview and scrutiny committee.  At the meeting it will receive a report of the decision or 
proposals and the advice of the monitoring officer and/or the deputy chief executive.  The 
Council may either: 

 
  (i) endorse a decision or proposal of the executive decision taker as falling within  
   the existing budget and policy framework.  In this case no further action is  

  required, save that the decision of the Council be minuted and circulated to all               
councillors in the normal way; 

 
  (ii) amend the Council’s financial regulations or policy concerned to encompass the 
   decision or proposal of the body or individual responsible for that executive  
   function and agree to the decision with immediate effect.  In this case, no further 
   action is required save that the decision of the Council be minuted and  
   circulated to all councillors in the normal way; 
 
  (iii) where the Council accepts that the decision or proposal is contrary to the policy 
   framework or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the budget, and does  
   not amend the existing framework to accommodate it, require the executive to 
   reconsider the matter in accordance with the advice of either the monitoring  
   officer/deputy chief executive.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 

Page 222



Municipal Year 2021/22 
 Page 1 
 

    

F. FINANCIAL PROCEDURE RULES 

Part F1: Financial Management 

1. Financial Procedure Rules provide the framework for managing the Council’s financial 

affairs, and govern the way financial decisions, budget setting and monitoring, financial 

administration and financial controls are exercised. 

2. The Rules apply to all members and officers of the Council and anyone acting on its behalf. 

References to directors also apply to chief officers and other senior staff and shall in every 

case be considered as referring to authorised persons. 

3. These Rules apply until they are rescinded, amended or suspended by the Council. 

The Responsible Finance Officer 

4. The Deputy Chief Executive is the Council’s Responsible Finance Officer and has statutory 

duties in relation to the financial administration and stewardship of the Council. This 

statutory responsibility cannot be overridden and derives from: 

 

 Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 

 The Local Government Finance Act 1988 

 The Local Government and Housing Act 1989 

 The Local Government Act 2000 

 The Local Government Act 2003 

 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2011 

 The Localism Act 2011 

 The Local Government Finance Act 2012 

 

5. The Responsible Finance Officer is responsible for: 

 

 The proper administration of the Council’s affairs 

 Setting financial management standards and monitoring financial compliance with them 

 Advising on the corporate financial position and on the key financial controls necessary 

to secure sound financial management 

 Providing financial information 

 Preparing the revenue budget and the capital programme 

 Treasury management 

 The production and publication of the Council’s final accounts in compliance with 

relevant statutory requirements 

 

6. Section 114 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 requires the Responsible Finance 

Officer to report to the full Council, Cabinet and External Auditor if the Council or one of its 

officers: 

 

Page 223



Municipal Year 2021/22 
 Page 2 
 

 Has made, or is about to make, a decision which involves incurring unlawful expenditure 

 Has taken, or is about to take, an unlawful action which has resulted or would result in a 

loss or deficiency to the Council 

 Has made or is about to make an unlawful or unauthorised entry in the Council’s 

accounts 

Section 114 of the 1988 Act also requires: 

 The Responsible Finance Officer to nominate a properly qualified member of staff to 

deputise should he or she be unable to perform the duties under section 114 personally 

 The Council to provide the Responsible Finance Officer with sufficient staff, 

accommodation and other resources, including legal advice when necessary, to carry out 

the duties under section 114 

Chief Officers 

Chief Officers are responsible for: 

 Ensuring that Cabinet members are advised of the financial implications of all proposals 

and that the financial implications have been agreed in advance by the Responsible 

Finance Officer 

 Signing contracts on behalf of the Council in accordance with the Council’s contract 

Procedure Rules 

 Ensuring that the approval of the Responsible Finance Officer is sought on any matter 

liable to affect the Council’s finances materially, before any commitments are made 

 

7. The Corporate Management Team will report to the Cabinet about the level of resources 

proposed to be utilised in each financial year. It will also keep the Cabinet informed about 

the Council’s finances and financial performance throughout the year. 

 

8. The Corporate Management Team and Chief Officers are responsible for observing the 

Council’s Financial Procedure Rules; for the accountability and control of staff; and the 

security, custody and control of all resources appertaining to their area of activity. Resources 

include funding under devolved budget arrangements, plant, materials, cash and stores. 

Accounting 

9. The Responsible Finance Officer is responsible for: 

 Selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies 

 Determining accounting procedures and records 

      The Responsible Finance Officer shall: 

 Make arrangements for the proper administration of the Council’s financial affairs 

 Apply accounting policies consistently 

 Maintain proper accounting records 

Page 224



Municipal Year 2021/22 
 Page 3 
 

 Make an annual report to the Cabinet on the financial outturn for the previous financial 

year 

Chief Officers shall: 

 Maintain adequate records to provide an audit trail leading from the source of income / 

expenditure through to the accounting statements 

 Provide information as required to enable the Statement of Accounts to be completed in 

accordance with the guidelines issued by the Responsible Finance Officer 

Chief Officers together with the Responsible Finance Officer shall follow these accounting 

principles: 

 The duties of providing information regarding sums due to or from the Council and of 

calculating, checking and recording these sums, shall be as separated as completely as 

possible from the duty of collecting or disbursing them 

 Officers charged with the duty of examining and checking the accounts of each 

transaction shall not themselves be engaged in any of those transactions 

 

10. Schedules of authorised signatories are held within Accountancy Services and shall be 

updated on an annual basis. Chief Officers must inform Accountancy Services of any 

intervening changes such as the appointment of new staff. Chief Officers will also determine 

who is authorised to sign official documents on their behalf and they will provide the 

Responsible Finance Officer with an up to date list of specimen signatures. 

 

11. The Executive Director (Legal and Democratic Services), and any other officer authorised by 

him / her, are authorised to seal any document. 

 

 

Part F2: Financial Planning 

Revenue Budget  

12. The revenue budget will be approved by the full Council and proposed by the Cabinet on the 

advice of the Responsible Finance Officer. The revenue budget will include proposed 

taxation levels and spend on major service areas. 

 

13. The Responsible Finance Officer shall: 

 Ensure a revenue budget is prepared on an annual basis and a medium term financial 

plan on a three yearly basis 

 Issue appropriate guidance to officers in order to set the budget as required 

 Ensure the approved budget guidelines are complied with in order that statutory and 

other deadlines can be met 

 

Page 225



Municipal Year 2021/22 
 Page 4 
 

14. Budget holders shall: 

 Submit to the Responsible Finance Officer estimates in accordance with the budget 

guidelines and within agreed timescales 

 Ensure the estimates are prepared with regard to the Council’s Corporate Strategy and 

other corporate aims and objectives 

 Provide any other information the Responsible Finance Officer requires 

 

15. The approval of a budget for the year by full Council confers authority to spend in 

accordance with the budget for that year. Chief Officers are responsible for coordinating 

programmes of expenditure and income that will achieve the objectives on which the 

budget was based. 

 

16. Budget holders shall not enter into any new arrangements or other contractual 

commitments with long term revenue consequences without the prior consent of the 

Responsible Finance Officer. 

 

 

17. If an officer wants to incur expenditure outside the approved budget or anticipates either an 

underspend or overspend against an approved budget head, the procedures set out in 

paragraphs 22 to 29 of these procedures apply. 

 

18. Chief Officers will notify the Responsible Finance Officer in writing of the names of any 

officers in their service area authorised to act on their behalf with respect to the 

responsibilities set out in this section; together with specimen signatures and details of any 

limitation on the authority delegated to them. 

    

Capital Budget  

19. The capital budget will be approved by the full Council and proposed by the Cabinet on the 

advice of the Responsible Finance Officer. The capital budget will include estimates of 

individual projects together with designated sources of funding.  

 

20. The Responsible Finance Officer shall: 

 Prepare current estimates of resources available to finance capital expenditure 

 Prepare a capital programme for the Cabinet before approval at the full Council 

 Prepare an annual capital strategy for the Cabinet before approval at the full Council 

 

21. Chief Officers shall give the Responsible Finance Officer early warning of known 

underspends, overspends and changes to planned resources so that the availability of 

uncommitted capital resources may be monitored. 

Budget Monitoring 

22. The Responsible Finance Officer is responsible  

Page 226



Municipal Year 2021/22 
 Page 5 
 

 

 For providing appropriate financial information to enable budgets to be monitored 

effectively 

 For providing quarterly monitoring reports to the Cabinet 

 For allocating the revenue budget and capital programme wholly amongst responsible  Chief 

Officers 

 For reporting significant variances to the Cabinet where a Chief Officer fails to take action 

under paras. 22 to 29 below. 

21. Chief Officers are responsible for: 

 The budgets and programmes allocated to them, for delivering the levels of service on which 

they were based, and for compliance with their financial obligations 

 Controlling income and expenditure within their service while taking account of financial 

information provided by the Responsible Finance Officer 

 Reporting on budget variances within their service and taking any necessary corrective 

action 

 Providing any additional information the Responsible Finance Officer may require 

Virement 

22. A virement is the transfer of a revenue budget which is not committed: 

 

 From one service area to another 

 From one budget to another in the same service area 

 From one subjective group to another (and “subjective groups” are employees, premises, 

transport, supplies and services, third party payments, transfer payments, capital charges 

and income). 

 

23. Virements between capital and revenue budgets are not allowed. 

 

24. Any virements need to commit resources to meet all and any continuing commitment over 

future years. 

 

25. All requests must be approved by the Chief Officer and the Responsible Finance Officer. 

 

26. The limits on virement are: 

 

 £50,000 capital funding for the Cabinet 

 £20,000 revenue funding for the Cabinet 

 £5,000 revenue funding by officers – subject to prior consultation with the portfolio holder. 

 Beyond these limits, approval to any virement across budget heads requires the approval of 

the full Council. 

 

27. Virements below the level of £500 will not normally be considered. 

Page 227



Municipal Year 2021/22 
 Page 6 
 

 

Supplementary Estimates 

28. Revenue Expenditure – Where no provision currently exists in the revenue budget, or where 

the provision made for an existing budget head is insufficient and a virement is not available, 

then the new or additional budget provision may only be established with the approval of 

the Cabinet. Any decision taken will have due regard to future year’s financial implications 

and any recommendation by the Responsible Financial Officer. 

 

29. Capital Expenditure – Where no provision currently exists in the capital programme, or 

where the provision made for an existing budget head is insufficient and a virement is not 

available, then the new or additional budget provision may only be established with the 

approval of the Cabinet. Any decision taken will have due regard to future year’s financial 

implications and any recommendation by the Responsible Financial Officer. 

Maintenance of Reserves 

30. It is the responsibility of the Responsible Finance Officer to advise the Cabinet and / or the 

full Council on prudent levels of reserves for the Council. 

 

Part F3: Control of Resources 

Risk Management 

31. The Council is responsible for approving the Council’s risk management strategy. 

 

32. The Audit Committee is responsible for the review and monitoring of the Council’s risk 

management arrangements. 

 

33. The Head of Paid Service and the Responsible Finance Officer are responsible for preparing 

and promoting the Council’s risk management policy statement, and for developing risk 

management controls in conjunction with other Directors and Chief Officers. 

Internal Control 

34. Internal control refers to the systems of control devised by management to help ensure the 

Council’s objectives are achieved in a manner that promotes economical, efficient and 

effective use of resources and that the Council’s assets and interests are safeguarded. 

 

35. The Responsible Finance Officer is responsible for advising on effective systems of internal 

control. These arrangements need to ensure compliance with the law and proper standards. 

Arrangements for financial and internal control, and for managing risk, are addressed in the 

Annual Governance Statement. 

 

Page 228



Municipal Year 2021/22 
 Page 7 
 

36. It is the responsibility of Chief Officers to establish sound arrangements for planning, 

appraising, authorising and controlling their operations in order to achieve continuous 

improvement, economy, efficiency and effectiveness; and for achieving their financial 

performance targets.   

Audit Requirements 

37. The Responsible Finance Officer shall arrange for the external audit of the Council’s accounts 

in accordance with the most recent Accounts and Audit Regulations. 

 

38. The Responsible Finance Officer is responsible for ensuring an adequate and effective 

internal audit function is operating and is independent in its planning and operation. 

 

39. The Head of Internal Audit will consult with the Responsible Finance Officer and the external 

auditors in drafting the annual Internal Audit Plan, which will be taken to the Audit 

Committee for approval. 

 

40. The Responsible Finance Officer or their authorised representative shall have authority to 

enter at all reasonable times any offices, premises or land under the control of the Council 

and shall have unrestricted access to all records, documents and correspondence relating to 

any matter under consideration, without limitation. 

 

41. All staff shall provide such information as the Responsible Finance Officer considers 

necessary for the proper exercise of his functions and shall produce upon demand cash, 

stores, documents or other property of the Council under their control. 

 

42. All staff shall notify the Internal Audit Service forthwith upon discovery or suspicion of any 

financial irregularity, whether affecting cash, stores, property, financial records or otherwise. 

The Responsible Finance Officer will notify the Chief Executive in all significant cases. 

 

43. The Internal Audit Section shall be sufficiently independent to enable its auditors to perform 

their duties in a manner which will allow their professional judgements and 

recommendations to be effective and impartial. 

 

44. The Council will conduct an annual review of the effectiveness of Internal Audit and the 

findings will be considered by the Audit Committee as part of the Council’s internal system 

of control. 

Preventing Fraud and Corruption 

45. The Head of Internal Audit is responsible for the development and maintenance of an anti-

fraud and anti-corruption policy. The documents will detail the Council’s approach to the 

prevention, detection and investigation of fraud, corruption and bribery. 

 

46. If an instance of theft, fraud, bribery, corruption or other financial irregularity is discovered 

or suspected all staff are responsible for ensuring the Responsible Finance Officer is notified 

Page 229



Municipal Year 2021/22 
 Page 8 
 

forthwith. The Responsible Finance Officer is empowered to arrange any special 

investigations or reports which are deemed necessary. 

Stocks and Stores 

47. Chief Officers shall make adequate and effective arrangements for the custody, care and 

physical control of all stocks and stores in their service areas. 

Stocks and Stores Records 

48. In consultation with the Responsible Finance Officer, Chief Officers shall maintain adequate 

records of all issues and other movements of stocks and stores. 

 

49. Chief Officers shall provide to the Responsible Finance Officer each year a stock certificate 

detailing stocks and stores in hand at 31st March. 

Maintenance of Stocks 

50. Chief Officers shall maintain stocks at reasonable levels and subject them to a regular 

independent physical check. 

 

51. All discrepancies shall be investigated, pursued to a satisfactory conclusion and removed 

from the Council’s records by making stock adjustments as necessary. Gains and losses 

resulting from stock adjustments shall only be written off or adjusted in the records under 

arrangements approved by the Responsible Finance Officer. 

 

52. Chief Officers shall ensure that all stocks and equipment no longer required are disposed of 

economically under arrangements approved by the Responsible Finance Officer. 

 

Land, Buildings and Other Major Assets 

53. Chief Officers must arrange the proper security of all buildings and other major assets under 

their control. They should also ensure contingency plans are in place for the security of 

assets and continuity of service in the event of disaster or system failure. 

 

54. The Responsible Finance Officer shall ensure appropriate financial advice, including tax 

advice, is available at the point of decision on the acquisition or disposal of land and 

buildings. 

 

 

55. All property and land asset disposals up to a capital value of £75,000 must be approved by 

the Head of Housing and Regeneration. 

 

56. All asset disposals over £75,000 must be approved by the Cabinet 

 

 

Page 230



Municipal Year 2021/22 
 Page 9 
 

57. The Head of Housing and Regeneration is responsible for maintaining a fixed asset register 

for land and buildings and the Executive Director (Legal and Democratic Services) is 

responsible for making arrangements for the custody of title deeds. 

Insurances 

58. The Responsible Finance Officer is responsible for: 

 Effecting all insurance on a corporate basis, through external insurance or through 

internal self-assurance arrangements as considered appropriate 

 Ensuring periodic risk management studies are undertaken to assess the need for 

insurance cover and to identify appropriate action 

 Negotiating all claims in consultation with relevant Chief Officers 

 

59. The Chief Officers will immediately notify the Responsible Finance Officer of the acquisition 

or disposal of assets requiring insurance cover and of items that, in their view, may require 

the Council’s insurable risks to be amended. They will also promptly notify the Responsible 

Finance Officer of all new material risks as they are identified. 

 

60. Chief Officers will immediately notify the Responsible Finance Officer of any incident or 

occurrence which: 

 

 Adversely affects the Council’s assets and is likely to give rise to a claim on the Council’s 

insurers 

 Might give rise to a claim against the Council 

 Might give rise to a claim being made by the Council on its insurance policies e.g. thefts, 

accidents. 

 

61. Chief Officers must consult with the Responsible Finance Officer and Executive Director 

(Legal & Democratic Services) in respect of any indemnity that the Council is requested to 

give. 

Treasury Management and Leasing 

62. The Council adopts the key recommendations of the Chartered Institute of Public Finance 

and Accountancy’s ‘Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice’, including 

the recommended form of Treasury Management Policy Statement, setting out the policies 

and objectives of the Council’s treasury management activities. 

 

63. Responsibility for the implementation and monitoring of the Council’s treasury management 

policies and practices lies with the Cabinet. 

 

64. The Council has delegated responsibility for the execution and administration of treasury 

management decisions to the Responsible Finance Officer. 

 

  

Page 231



Municipal Year 2021/22 
 Page 10 
 

65. The Responsible Finance Officer shall: 

 

 Annually prepare a Treasury Management Policy Statement covering all aspects of 

treasury management for consideration by the Cabinet and recommendation to the 

full Council 

 Annually prepare a Treasury Management Strategy setting out the Council’s strategy 

for consideration and approval by the Cabinet 

 Recommend to the Council a range of Prudential Indicators, including borrowing 

limits, to be set for the financial year in accordance with statute and the Cipfa 

Prudential Code 

 Provide regular treasury management monitoring reports to the Cabinet 

 Arrange the borrowing and investments of the Council in such a manner as to 

comply with the Cipfa Code of Practice on Treasury Management and the Council’s 

Treasury Management Policy Statement and its annual strategy 

 Make all investments , borrowings and other financing transactions only in the name 

of the Council or in the name of nominees approved by the full Council 

 

66. The Council has nominated Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee to be responsible 

for ensuring effective scrutiny of the treasury management strategy and policies. 

 

67. Leasing and other similar arrangements, including new or extended leases of land and 

property, may only be entered into with the written consent of the Responsible Finance 

Officer. Such arrangements may be defined for this purpose as any lease, contract hire or 

other contract or series of contracts under which the use of an asset is obtained in exchange 

for a series of payments which extend beyond the end of the following financial year. 

 

Staffing 

68. The Cabinet is responsible for determining how officer support for executive and non-

executive roles within the Council will be organised. 

 

69. The Head of Paid Service is responsible for providing overall management to staff. He or she 

is also responsible for ensuring that there is proper use of the evaluation or other agreed 

systems for determining the remuneration of a job. 

 

70. The Monitoring Officer is responsible for the administration of all arrangements for the 

payment of salaries, wages and pensions, car loans and car leases to eligible employees; 

travel and subsistence claims and other emoluments to existing and former employees and 

for all related matters. 

 

71. The Monitoring Officer shall make proper arrangements for all statutory and other 

deductions from pay, including tax, national insurance and pension contributions; and 

payment of such sums to the bodies concerned. 

 

Page 232



Municipal Year 2021/22 
 Page 11 
 

72. Chief Officers are responsible for controlling total staff numbers by: 

 

 Advising the Cabinet on the budget necessary in any given year to cover estimated staff 

levels 

 Adjusting  staffing to a level that can be funded within approved budget provision, 

varying the provision as necessary within that constraint in order to meet changing 

operational needs 

 The proper use of appointment procedures 

 

73. Chief Officers are also responsible for: 

 

 The terms and conditions applying to new contracts of employment 

 Any changes or events affecting the salaries, wages or emoluments of the Council’s 

employees 

 All resignations, retirements and terminations of employment 

 

74. Chief Officers shall provide to the Responsible Finance Officer and the Monitoring Officer: 

 

 All relevant information, including notification of sickness absence, in agreed format and 

within agreed timescales to enable the prompt and accurate payment of all elements of pay 

 Notification of the impending departure of any employee involved with the custody of cash 

or stores 

Members Allowances 

75. Payments to elected members of the Council shall be made by the Monitoring Officer in 

accordance with the Council’s approved member’s allowances scheme. 

 

Part F4: Systems and Procedures 

76. The Responsible Finance Officer is responsible for the operation of the Council’s accounting 

systems, the form of accounts and the supporting financial records. 

 

77. Any changes to the existing financial systems made by Chief Officers or the establishment of 

new systems must be approved in advance by the Responsible Finance Officer. 

 

 

78. Chief Officers are responsible for the proper operation of financial processes in their own 

service areas. 

 

79. Chief Officers should ensure that their staff receive relevant financial training that has been 

approved by the Responsible Finance Officer. 

 

 

Page 233



Municipal Year 2021/22 
 Page 12 
 

80. Chief Officers must ensure that, where appropriate, computer and other systems are 

operated and used in accordance with data protection legislation. 

 

81. Chief Officers must ensure their staff are aware of their responsibilities under freedom of 

information and data protection legislation. 

Computer Systems 

82. New computer systems and changes to existing systems shall only be introduced with the 

approval of the ICT manager and, for financial systems and those that interact with such 

systems, with the additional approval of the Responsible Finance Officer. 

 

83. The ICT manager shall: 

 

 Ensure that any new or significantly changed system is in accordance with the Council’s 

IT strategy 

 Assist in the selection of all new computer systems, manage effectively the technical 

process of implementation and assist in ensuring that all staff are properly trained in 

their use 

 Ensure the Council’s infrastructure, systems and data are secure 

 Make proper arrangements to protect central computer equipment against loss or 

damage through theft or misuse 

 Put in place a tested and documented disaster recovery system and review it regularly 

 Issue mandatory standards and guidelines governing the use of all computer systems 

and monitor their use to ensure they are adhered to 

 

84. Chief Officers shall: 

 Ensure that computer systems are fit for the purpose of their business function 

 Make staff aware of and ensure they comply with the Council’s ICT standards including 

data security breaches under the Information Security Incident Management Policy and 

Procedure 

 Train all staff in the proper and effective operation of any computer systems they are 

expected to use 

 Restrict user access to systems and data held on computer systems as appropriate 

 Ensure processing is genuine, complete, accurate and timely and an audit trail exists to 

original documentation 

 Ensure information generated by computer systems is accurate and complete 

 Comply with data protection, computer misuse, software licensing, copyright, design 

and patent legislation and any other relevant legislation, and in particular ensure that 

only software which is properly acquired is installed and used on the Council’s 

computers 

Income 

Page 234



Municipal Year 2021/22 
 Page 13 
 

85. Chief Officers shall implement arrangements made by them under this section only with the 

approval of the Responsible Finance Officer. 

 

86. Chief Officers shall make adequate and effective arrangements for the prompt identification 

of all sums due to the Council. 

 

 

87. Chief Officers shall make adequate and effective arrangements for recording all sums due in 

the Council’s accounts. 

 

88. Accounts for sums due may only be raised on the Council’s corporate sundry debtors 

system, unless alternative arrangements have been approved. 

 

 

89. Chief Officers shall make adequate and effective arrangements for the collection and 

receipting of all income and for the security of all cash and other valuables having regard to 

agreed insurance limits for locked safes. 

 

90. Official receipts, tickets etc. shall be ordered, controlled and issued only under 

arrangements approved by the Responsible Finance Officer. 

 

 

91. The Responsible Finance Officer shall arrange for the prompt and secure transfer of cash 

from the Council’s offices to the Council’s bankers. 

 

92. Chief Officers shall make effective and adequate arrangements for the sums collected and 

banked to be reconciled with the records of sums due. 

 

93. In all cases Chief Officers shall take prompt and appropriate action to recover all sums 

overdue to the Council and ensure the corporate debt recovery policy is followed. 

94. Chief Officers are responsible for recommending the write off of irrecoverable debts to the 

Responsible Finance Officer and for ensuring the corporate debt policy is followed. 

 

95. The Responsible Finance Officer may approve that a debt is written off to the value of 

£5,000 and may approve write off’s of any value where there is satisfactory evidence that it 

is irrecoverable as specified in the Council’s scheme of delegation. In any other case the debt 

my only be written off with the approval of the Cabinet. 

 

96. The duty of providing information, calculating, checking and recording sums due to or from 

the Council shall be separated as completely as possible from the duty of collecting such 

sums. 

Page 235



Municipal Year 2021/22 
 Page 14 
 

Value Added Tax 

97. The Responsible Finance Officer is responsible for the determination of all arrangements for 

the collection, recording, payment and recovery of VAT. 

 

98. The Responsible Finance Officer shall: 

 

 Maintain complete and accurate accounting records of all the Council’s VAT transactions 

 Submit the Council’s VAT return to HM Revenue and Customs in accordance with 

statutory deadlines 

 Prepare the Council’s partial exemption calculation as at the end of each financial year 

and monitor the Council’s partial exemption position quarterly 

 Conduct all negotiations with HM Revenue and Customs in respect of VAT matters 

affecting the Council 

 Provide advice, guidance and training to Council staff on all aspects of VAT as they affect 

the Council 

 Publish and regularly update VAT guidance notes on the Council’s intranet 

 

99.  Chief Officers shall: 

 

 Properly account for VAT on all transactions under arrangements determined by the 

Responsible Finance Officer 

 Consult the Responsible Finance Officer in all cases where the VAT treatment of any 

transaction is unclear so that the matter can be reviewed and appropriate treatment 

determined 

 Consult the Responsible Finance Officer in all cases where new projects, schemes or 

services are proposed, well in advance of commitments being made, so that any impact 

on the Council’s VAT position can be assessed and any necessary action taken to protect 

the Council’s VAT recovery position 

 Co-operate with any VAT inspector and give access at all reasonable times to premises, 

personnel, documents and assets which they consider necessary for the purposes of 

their work 

 

Banking and Cheques 

 Operation of Bank Accounts 

100. The Responsible Finance Officer is responsible for opening, closing and operating all 

bank accounts and related facilities in the Council’s name. 

101. All communications with the Council’s bankers concerning its bank accounts and any 

changes in banking arrangements shall be made under arrangements approved by 

the Responsible Finance Director. 

Authorisation of Signatories 

Page 236



Municipal Year 2021/22 
 Page 15 
 

102. Only officers personally mandated by the Responsible Finance Officer may sign 

cheques and other documents transferring funds out of the Council’s bank accounts. 

Payments from Council bank accounts 

103. All payments from the Council’s bank accounts shall be, so far as is practicable, by 

crossed cheque or automated bank transfer but the Responsible Finance Officer may 

exclude from this regulation such payments as may be considered appropriate from 

time to time. 

 

104. No payments shall be made from the Council’s bank accounts unless approved by a 

signatory authorised in accordance with para 102 above. 

Custody of Cheques 

105. All cheques and related stationery shall be ordered and controlled by the Responsible 

Finance Officer. 

106. The safe custody and issue of cheques and related stationery shall be carried out under 

arrangements made by the Responsible Finance Officer. 

Banking of Income 

107. The Responsible Finance Officer shall arrange for the prompt and secure transfer of cash 

from the Council’s offices and facilities to the Council’s bankers. 

Reconciliation 

108. The Responsible Finance Officer shall regularly reconcile the Council’s bank accounts with 

the accounting records. 

Security and Inventories 

109. Resources are to be used solely for the purposes of the Council unless authorised otherwise 

by the Council, and are to be properly accounted for. 

Inventories 

110. Each Chief Officer is responsible for maintaining an inventory of moveable assets under 

procedures determined by the Responsible Finance Officer 

 

111. Inventories are to be reviewed at least once a year and an updated copy supplied to the 

Responsible Finance Officer. 

Security 

112. Chief Officers shall make proper arrangements for: 

 

 The security of all buildings and other assets under their control 

 The safe custody of all documents held as security 

Page 237



Municipal Year 2021/22 
 Page 16 
 

 

113. Chief Officers shall make adequate and effective arrangements for the custody, care and 

physical control of all stocks and stores in their service areas. 

 

Part F5: External Arrangements 

Work Carried out for Others 

114. Financial procedures apply equally to any service carried out by the Council on behalf of 

the County Council or any other authority, body or person, and Chief Officers shall not 

set up partnership or other arrangements with external parties to operate in conflict 

with these procedures as far as this Council’s involvement is concerned. 

Chief Officers shall: 

 Properly assess the financial implications of the proposal prior to commitment following 

consultation with the Responsible Finance Officer 

 Draw up contracts having regard to the Council’s powers, relevant policies and protocols 

and in compliance with any insurance or other requirements of the Responsible Finance 

Officer and Executive Director (Legal & Democratic Services) 

 

External Funding and Partnership Arrangements 

115. The Cabinet is responsible for approving partnerships and joint venture arrangements. It is 

also responsible for approving the contractual arrangements for any work for third parties or 

external bodies. 

 

116. The Cabinet can delegate functions, including those relating to partnerships, to officers. 

These are set out in the scheme of delegation in Part 3 of the Constitution.  

Bidding for External Funding 

117. Chief Officers shall seek external resources  to further the priorities and aims of the Council’s 

Corporate Strategy. 

 

118. Before bidding for resources which, if successful, would require any financial commitment 

from the Council, Chief Officers shall ensure that appropriate budgets have been approved 

or earmarked in accordance with these procedures. 

 

 

119. In working up bids, Chief Officers shall use appropriate project appraisal processes to assess 

the viability of the project in terms of resources, staffing and expertise to identify and assess 

all potential risks and to ensure achievement of the required outcome. 

Setting Up Partnerships 

Page 238



Municipal Year 2021/22 
 Page 17 
 

120. The monitoring officer is responsible for promoting and maintaining the same high 

standards of conduct with regard to financial administration in partnerships that apply 

throughout the Council in conjunction with the Responsible Finance Officer. The monitoring 

officer will advise as to the legality (and procedural arrangements required in respect of) any 

partnership or joint venture. 

 

121. The Responsible Finance Officer must ensure the accounting arrangements to be 

adopted in relation to partnerships and joint ventures are satisfactory. 

 

 

122. In conjunction with the Monitoring Officer, the Responsible Finance Officer must 

also consider the overall corporate governance arrangements and legal issues when 

contracts are arranged with external bodies. In conjunction with the relevant Chief 

Officer he or she must ensure the risks have been fully appraised before agreements 

are entered into with external bodies. 

 

123. Chief Officers shall consult the Responsible Finance Officer on: 

 

 Any financial control, insurance and audit requirement to be incorporated into 

the partnership arrangements 

 The overall financial implications for the Council 

 

124. Prior to entering into any commitment the relevant Chief Officer shall ensure that any match 

funding or other financial obligations of the Council are provided for within revenue or 

capital programmes and that arrangements are made for future years financial provisions to 

reflect these obligations. This should include any audit or consequential fees as appropriate. 

Working with Partners 

125. These financial procedures and the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules shall apply to any 

orders for works, goods or services which are the responsibility of the Council under the 

partnership arrangements. 

 

126. The relevant Chief Officer shall comply with any key condition of funding and statutory 

requirement. 

 

127. Any variation in resources to be contributed by the Council, or in the overall resources of the 

partnership where the Council is the accountable body, shall be dealt with in the same way 

as other budget variations as set out in paras 22 – 29 (Budget Monitoring) of these 

procedures. 

 

128. The relevant Chief Officer shall ensure that any financial control, insurance and audit 

requirements of the partnership are met. 

 

Page 239



Municipal Year 2021/22 
 Page 18 
 

 

129. The relevant Chief Officer shall communicate regularly with the other partners 

throughout any project so that problems are identified and shared to achieve their 

successful resolution. 

Page 240



Municipal Year 2021/22                                            1 of 44 

Updated January 2022 

 

 

 

G CONTRACTS PROCEDURE RULES 

 

Contents 
Rule 

 
  

Flowcharts A: Questions to ask before you get   
started 

B: Getting started 
C: Summary of procurement options 

 

G1 Principles and legal framework  
G2 Application of Procedure Rules and 

exempt contracts 
 

G3 Preparing for procurement  

G4 Choice of procurement procedure  
G5 Contracts up to £10, 000  
G6 Contracts between £10, 000 and      

£75, 000 
 

G7 Open tendering  
G8 Selective tendering  
G9 Standing lists and Government 

approved lists 
 

G10 Framework Agreements  
G11 Consultants  
G12 After Brexit – new rules for contracts 

over the EU threshold 
 

G13 E-procurement  
G14 Invitation to tender / Invitation to Quote  
G15 Submission and Opening of Tenders  
G16 Tender Evaluation and Accepting 

Tenders (including use of local labour) 
 

G17 Nominating sub-contractors  
G18 Written contracts  
G19 Bond  
G20 Fraud and Whistleblowing  

              Schedule 1 
 

Schedule 2 

After Brexit: Summary of procurement 
rules for contracts over the EU threshold 
Standard terms and conditions 

 

 

 

Page 241



Municipal Year 2021/22                                            2 of 44 

Updated January 2022 

 

A: Questions to ask before you get started 
 

 

 
Is the procurement 

legal ? 
 

 

 

           → 

Does the Council have 
legal power to do what 
you are proposing ? 

Does the procurement 
relate to the Council’s 
statutory powers and 
duties ? 

If you are unsure, 
check with Legal 
Services 

         

         

 
Do I have the authority 

to proceed ? 
 

 

 

 

 

           → 

Do you have either : 

 Delegated power 
under the scheme of 
delegation; or 

 Cabinet or 
committee approval  

 Emergency power 
approval  

 

 
How will the 

procurement be paid 

for ? 

 

 

 

 

 

           → 

Do not proceed until you 
have identified a 
sufficient budget and 
got approval from the 
budget holder. 

If a virement is 
necessary you must 
follow Rule E6 of the 
Budget and Policy 
Framework Procedure 
Rules  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 242



Municipal Year 2021/22                                            3 of 44 

Updated January 2022 

B: Getting started 
 

 

 
Have you estimated 

the total contract 

value ? 

 

 

 

 

                   

 

See Procedure Rule 
G3.7 

This is the essential first 
step as it enables you 
to: 

 identify your budget 
requirements 

  check whether the 
EU procurement 
rules apply – see the 
thresholds in 
Schedule 1 

 select the 
procurement routes 
available to you 

 
Have you decided 

what you want to 

procure ? 

 

 
You should specify your 
requirements in writing 
at the outset – see 
procedure Rule G3.4 

 

 
Is it an exempt 

contract ? → 
See Procedure Rule 
G2.2 

 

 

 
What procurement 

options are available 

to you ?  
See Flowchart C 
 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 243



Municipal Year 2021/22                                            4 of 44 

Updated January 2022 

C: Summary of procurement options 

 

 

Contracts under 

£10, 000 

Contracts between 

£10, 000 - £75, 000 

Contracts over  

£75, 000 but under 

EU threshold 

After Brexit: rules 

that still apply for 

contracts over the 

EU threshold 

Value for money 

requirement – 

Procedure Rule G5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Three written 

quotations – 

Procedure Rule G6 

 

 

NB: If s/he considers 

it appropriate the 

relevant Chief Officer 

may also chose  a 

tendering  procedure 

for contracts over 

£75,000 but under 

the EU threshold – 

Procedure Rules G7 

to G10 

Open tendering – 

Procedure Rule G7 

 

Selective tendering 

(contracts under 

£25,000 only) – 

Procedure Rule G8 

 

Standing list / 

Government 

approved list  - 

Procedure Rule G9 

 

Framework 

Agreement – 

Procedure Rule G10 

Procurement 

procedures and 

timescales apply 

which are very 

similar to those 

before Brexit – see 

Schedule 1 

NB:   appointment  of consultants   covered by   Procedure   Rule G11 

Page 244



Municipal Year 2021/22                                            5 of 44 

Updated January 2022 

 

 

G1. Principles and legal framework 

 

Note 1: a contract is made whenever the Council accepts an offer from a third party to 

provide works, goods or services to the Council (whether the offer is contained in a tender, 

quotation or otherwise). A contract can be created verbally or in writing, but please refer to 

Rule G18, which sets out the Council’s rules relating to written contracts.   

 

Note 2: in these Procedure Rules “Chief Officer” means the Chief Executive, the Deputy 

Chief Executive, the Executive Director (Legal & Democratic), the Executive Director 

(Employment), the Head of Regeneration and Housing  and the Chief Planning & 

Transportation Officer 

 

Principles 

 

1.1      These Procedure Rules have four main purposes: 

 to ensure that we comply with UK and EU legal requirements relating to public 

procurement; 

 to ensure that we obtain best value from procurement  

 to ensure that our procurement activities promote competition and are fair and 

transparent  

 to avoid corruption and ensure high ethical standards 

Policy Framework 

1.2    The Council recognises that its procurement activities can have a direct effect on the 

quality of life in the Borough and on society generally. You must therefore have 

regard to the following when making procurement decisions: 

Page 245



Municipal Year 2021/22                                            6 of 44 

Updated January 2022 

The    Council’s Procurement Strategy This   This contains guidance on: 

 sustainability and environmental 
impact 

 contracting with the third sector 

The    Council’s Strategy for Equality and 
Diversity in Procurement 

This   This contains the Council’s procedural 

requirements and guidance for ensuring 

our procurement activities promote equality 

and diversity 

          

          These documents can be found on the “Doing Business With The Council” page on 

the Council’s website. 

   

Legal Framework 

1.4 Council contracts must comply with: 

 the rules in the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 for contracts with a value above 

the EU threshold (and this still applies after Brexit); 

 all relevant UK legal requirements 

 the Council’s constitution (particularly these Contract Procedure Rules, the Finance 

Procedure Rules and the Scheme of Delegation) 

 Probity and non-compliance 

1.5  A very high standard of probity is required of all officers involved in the procurement, 

award and management of Council contracts. A failure to comply with these 

Procedure Rules may result in disciplinary action against the officer concerned. 

1.6  You must comply with the Council’s code of conduct for employees in respect of the 

procurement process. If you have a conflict of interest in respect of a procurement 

Page 246



Municipal Year 2021/22                                            7 of 44 

Updated January 2022 

you must declare it to the relevant Chief Officer and take no part in the procurement 

process. 

1.7 Any breach of these Rules which is regarded as significant by the Council’s Chief 

Executive  or a Chief Officer shall be will be referred to the Council’s internal audit 

team for investigation. 

Appl  G2. Application of Procedure Rules and exempt contracts 

 

2.1 These Procedure Rules apply: 

 To contracts for the purchase or works, services, goods and supplies 

 To contracts which involve payment being made by the Council 

 To contracts for the disposal of surplus Council goods 

 Where somebody else has been appointed to carry out a procurement process on 

the Council’s behalf 

2.2 The following are exempt contracts to which the procurement procedures set out in 

Rules G5 to G11 do not apply but the relevant Chief Officer must be satisfied that the 

procurement procedure adopted secures best value for the Council and where 

practicable two or more contractors should be invited to submit quotations: 

2.2.1 the contract is an extension of an existing contract or the works to be executed or 

the goods or materials to be supplied consist of repairs to or parts for existing plant 

or machinery and the contract has been approved by the relevant Chief Officer; 

2.2.2 the goods, materials or works desired are of a proprietary or special character or are 

supplied by only one person or firm and no reasonably satisfactory alternative is 

available; 

2.2.3 employment contracts and agency contracts for the provision of temporary staff; 

Page 247



Municipal Year 2021/22                                            8 of 44 

Updated January 2022 

2.2.4 the contract is for the engagement of an artiste or performing company; 

2.2.5 the contract is for the purchase or production of a work of art or museum specimen; 

2.2.6 the contract is for goods purchased or sold in a public market or fair or at an auction 

sale 

2.2.7 the contract is for the borrowing or lending of money 

2.2.8 the contract is for purchase of an interest in land or buildings 

2.2.9 the price of the goods to be purchased is controlled by a trade organisation and 

there would be no genuine competition 

 

G3  Preparing for procurement 

 

Who has authority to carry out procurement on behalf of the Council ? 

3.1  Procurement may only be undertaken by officers with the appropriate delegated 

authority either from Cabinet or the relevant committee or under the Council’s 

scheme of delegation. Officers with delegated authority may delegate responsibility 

for a procurement to other officers who have the skills and knowledge appropriate to 

the task, but must inform them of the extent of their delegated authority and any 

applicable financial thresholds for the procurement. 

Pre-procurement procedure 

 Identification of need 
 

3.2  Before starting procurement you must identify the need and fully assess the options 

for meeting those needs. Consideration should be given to the Council’s 

procurement strategy as appropriate and the relevant Chief Officer must: 

(a) consider all other means of satisfying the need, including recycling and reuse 

where appropriate 

Page 248



Municipal Year 2021/22                                            9 of 44 

Updated January 2022 

(b) consider whether there is an appropriate framework agreement (see Rule 

G10) or standing list (see Rule G9) that should be used.  

3.3  Before starting procurement you must identify the amount and specification of the 

supplies, services or works required, together with the procurement timetable.  You 

must also ensure that you have a budget available to pay for them. 

Specifications 

3.4  Specifications: 

(a) must state the Council’s requirements in a clear and concise way, using 

outcome performance measures where possible. 

(b) must not include requirements that are discriminatory or may distort 

competition or consist of non-commercial matters 

(c)  must not specify specific products or processes unless this is essential to 

meet the Council’s requirements and the use or provision of an equivalent is 

permitted 

(d) must specify quality requirements by reference to any relevant British 

Standards Institute, EU or international standards current at the date of the 

tender unless the relevant Chief Officer is satisfied that an alternative 

standard is appropriate  

Award criteria 

3.5  Before starting procurement you must record the award criteria for the contract. The 

award criteria must be either: 

(a) lowest price (where payment is made by the Council) or highest price (where 

payment is received by the Council); or 

(b) most economically advantageous offer (where considerations other than 

purchase price apply) 

3.6  Where the most economically advantageous offer is chosen you must document the 

criteria to be applied and any weighting to be given to them. Relevant criteria may 

Page 249



Municipal Year 2021/22                                            10 of 44 

Updated January 2022 

include: price, service, quality, running costs, whole life cycle cost, experience of 

contractor, delivery date, cost-effectiveness, environmental considerations, aesthetic 

and functional characteristics, safety, after-sales service, technical support and 

partnering. 

Estimating the contract value 

3.7  Before starting procurement you must calculate the estimated contract value as this 

will decide the procurement procedure(s) available under these Rules and determine 

whether you have to follow the rules in the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (which 

apply after Brexit to contracts over the EU procurement threshold – see Schedule 1 

for details). When deciding the estimated contract value you must comply with the 

following: 

(a) estimates of value and methods of calculation must be genuine and not 

designed to avoid exceeding any threshold in these Rules or under the Public 

Contracts Regulations procurement regime. You must not artificially split 

contracts to lower their value. 

(b) The value of a contract should be taken to be the expected amount of 

consideration (in money or money’s worth and net of VAT) that will be 

received by the person or organisation that carries out the works or provides 

the supplies or services over the expected lifetime of the contract (not the 

annual value) and taking account of any form of option to extend or renew the 

contract. 

(c) If the contract is of indeterminate length you should estimate the value of the 

contract over a period of 4 years. 

(d) Where some or all of the contract price is funded by a third party (such as a 

government agency) this funding should be included in the estimated contract 

value. 

Page 250



Municipal Year 2021/22                                            11 of 44 

Updated January 2022 

(e) For recurrent purchases of the same type of supplies or services, the 

estimated value for the purpose of compliance with Public Contracts 

Regulations (for contracts above the EU threshold after Brexit) is the sum of 

all the recurrent spending within a year. 

(f) For service contracts (such as design, insurance, banking) you should include 

the premium or fees, commission, interest and other forms of remuneration 

payable 

Pre-tender market research and consultation 

3.8  Prior to issue of the invitation to tender / provide a quotation the relevant Chief 

Officer: 

(a) may consult potential suppliers in general terms about the nature, level and 

standard of the item required and other relevant matters provided this does 

not prejudice any potential candidate 

(b) must not seek or accept technical advice on the preparation of an invitation to 

tender / provide a quotation from anyone who may have a commercial 

interest in the procurement if this may prejudice equal treatment of all 

potential candidates or distort competition 

(c)  must not discuss prices 

Page 251



Municipal Year 2021/22                                            12 of 44 

Updated January 2022 

 

G4. Choice of procurement  procedure 

4.1 All contracts will be dealt with under one of the procedures set out in Rules G5 to 

G12 unless the contract is exempt (see Rule G2.2). Flowchart C illustrates the 

options available. 

4.2 Where a contract could be dealt with under more than one of the procedures, the 

relevant Chief Officer will decide which one of the procedures to use.  

G5. Contracts up to £10, 000 

5.1 This procedure applies to contracts where the estimated value of works, goods and 

services to be supplied is less than £10 000; 

5.2 The relevant Chief Officer must be satisfied that the procedure adopted secures the 

best value for money for the Council and where practicable at least two quotations 

should be obtained. E-mailed quotations are acceptable but a copy of each 

quotation received must be retained on file. 

5.3  A quotation and purchase order will create a legally binding contract between the 

Council and supplier. Every purchase order should contain either: 

5.3.1 the Council’s standard terms and conditions of contract (which are set out at 

Schedule 2); or 

5.3.2 an appropriate set of written conditions or industry standard form of contract 

G6. Contracts between £ 10 000 and £75 000 

6.1 This procedure applies to contracts where the estimated value of works, goods and 

services to be supplied is between £10, 000 and £75,000. 

6.2  The relevant Chief Officer must invite at least three written quotations. Rule G14 sets 

out the Council’s requirements for invitations to provide a quotation.  

Page 252



Municipal Year 2021/22                                            13 of 44 

Updated January 2022 

6.3  E-mailed quotations are acceptable but a copy of each quotation must be retained 

on file. 

6.4 The Chief Officer should normally accept the lowest quotation if payment is to be 

made by the Council or the highest quotation if payment is to be received by the 

Council. Any other quotation may be accepted only if the Deputy Chief Executive is 

satisfied that to do so secures best value for the Council. 

6.5 A quotation and purchase order will create a legally binding contract between the 

Council and supplier. Every purchase order should contain either: 

6.5.1 the Council’s standard terms and conditions of contract (which are set out in 

Schedule 2); or 

6.5.2 an appropriate set of written conditions or industry standard form of contract. 

G7. Open tendering 

7.1 This procedure may be followed for contracts of any value provided they are under 

the EU threshold. All those responding to the Council’s public notice may submit a 

tender as there is no pre-selection process. 

7.2 The relevant Chief Officer must give at least ten days public notice in one or more 

local newspapers and in one or more appropriate trade journals (if they exist). 

7.3 The notice must set out the nature and purpose of the contract, invite tenders, give 

instructions on how to submit a tender and state the closing date for tenders 

(including reference to the fact that tenders will not be accepted after 2.00 p.m. on 

that date).  

7.4 Within 24 hours of the Council advertising or giving public notice in any way of a 

contract with a value of £25,000 or more, the relevant Chief Officer must also 

advertise the contract on the Contracts Finder website (www.Contractsfinder.gov.uk) 

and make the procurement documentation (such as the specification, invitation to 

Page 253

http://www.contractsfinder.gov.uk/


Municipal Year 2021/22                                            14 of 44 

Updated January 2022 

tender etc) available on the Council’s website. A contract award notice must also be 

published on Contracts Finder as soon as possible following the award of such 

contracts. 

7.5 The procedure for inviting, receiving and opening tenders will be as set out in Rules 

G14 and G15 and the procedure for evaluating and accepting tenders will be as set 

out in Rule G16. 

 

G8. Selective tendering (contracts up to £25,000 only) 

8.1 This procedure applies to contracts for works, goods and services provided the 

estimated contact value does not exceed £25,000.  

8.2  Under this procedure the Council pre-selects those it wishes to submit a tender by 

requesting applicants to submit an expression of interest using a pre-qualification 

questionnaire. This enables the Council to satisfy itself of the applicants eligibility, 

economic and financial standing and technical or professional capacity.  

8.3  The relevant Chief Officer must give at least ten days public notice requesting 

expressions of interest in inclusion on the shortlist of persons to be invited to tender 

in one or more local newspapers and in one or more appropriate trade journals (if 

they exist) 

8.4 The notice must set out the nature and purpose of the contract and state the closing 

date for applications to be included in the shortlist of persons to be invited to tender. 

8.5 Only applicants who have satisfactorily completed an application form / pre-

qualification questionnaire can be considered for inclusion on the shortlist. The 

relevant Chief Officer will compile a shortlist of those to be invited to tender using 

shortlisting criteria. 

Page 254



Municipal Year 2021/22                                            15 of 44 

Updated January 2022 

8.6 At least four of the applicants included on the shortlist must be invited to tender, 

except where the shortlist comprises three or less applicants, in which case all must 

be invited to tender; 

8.7 The invitation to tender must give instructions on how to submit a tender and state 

the closing date for tenders (including reference to the fact that tenders will not be 

accepted after 2.00 p.m. on that date). 

8.8 The procedure for inviting, receiving and opening tenders will be as set out in Rules 

G14 and G15 and the procedure for evaluating and accepting tenders will be as set 

out in Rule G16 

G9 Tendering from standing lists or Government approved lists 

9.1 This procedure applies to contracts of any value provided they are under the EU 

threshold. 

9.2 If the Council has a standing list of contractors or has access to a Government 

approved list of contractors (e.g. Construction line) for  

 the execution of specified categories or value of work or services, 

 the supply of specified categories, values or amounts of works,  

and the Chief Officer considers the list is appropriate to a contract, invitations to 

tender may be limited to persons included in that list. 

9.3 At least three of the persons included in the list must be invited to tender. 

9.4 The invitation to tender must give instructions on how to submit a tender and state 

the closing date for tenders (including reference to the fact that tenders will not be 

accepted after 2.00 p.m. on that date). 

9.5 When compiling a tender list from the standing list, or Government approved list, the 

relevant Chief Officer shall: 

 have regard to the need to secure reasonable competition 

Page 255



Municipal Year 2021/22                                            16 of 44 

Updated January 2022 

 ensure that those on the list are given a reasonable opportunity to tender for 

work and wherever possible a system of rotation should be applied in order to 

demonstrate fairness  

 take account of the trading position of contractors and where appropriate include 

at least one contractor with a proven record of competitiveness in the type of 

work concerned  

 give a proper opportunity to local contractors to tender.  

9.6 The procedure for inviting, receiving and opening tenders will be as set out in Rules 

G14 and G15 and the procedure for evaluating and accepting tenders will be as set 

out in Rule G16. 

Compiling and maintaining standing lists 

9.7 Council standing lists: 

9.7.1 shall: 

(a) be complied and maintained by the relevant Chief Officer  

(b) contain the names of all persons who wish to be included and who are 

approved by the Cabinet or the relevant Chief Officer 

(c) indicate in respect of a person whose name is so included, the categories of 

contract and the values, in respect of those categories, for which approval 

has been given. 

9.7.2 At least 4 weeks before a list is first compiled, notices inviting applications for 

inclusion in it shall be published: 

 (a) in at least one local newspaper, and 

 (b) in at least one newspaper or journal circulating among such persons as 

undertake such contracts of the specified values or categories, and 

 (c) an appropriate website and 

Page 256



Municipal Year 2021/22                                            17 of 44 

Updated January 2022 

(d) sent, in the case of a review, to each person whose name appears on the list 

then existing, asking such persons whether they wish their name to be 

reconsidered for inclusion. 

9.7.3 Each list shall be reviewed at regular intervals, (being not less than 4 years). 

9.7.4 Any person included in any list maintained under this Procedure Rule may be 

removed from or excluded from inclusion in any such list for a period of up to 4 years 

if he has failed to comply with the requirements of the Council in respect of any 

procedural or operational matter. 

9.7.5 Copies of any standing list of persons maintained under this Standing Order shall be 

available for public inspection  

G10  Framework Agreements 

10.1 Framework agreements should be considered where the Council wishes to make 

repeat purchases of (usually) lower value items without conducting a new 

procurement exercise each time. They are agreements with suppliers for the 

provision of supplies, works or services on agreed terms for a specific period and 

enable the Council to place orders as and when required at an agreed price. 

10.2 These Contract Procedure Rules apply when the Council wishes to set up a 

framework agreement. 

10.3 You should consider whether a framework agreement already exists in respect of the 

works, goods or services you wish to procure, as use of a framework agreement may 

offer better value for money for the Council. If a Council framework agreement 

already exists you must use this, regardless of value. The Council may also be able 

to place orders using framework agreements procured by central government or its 

agencies or other local authorities  but legal advice should be sought before 

awarding a contract to a supplier using a framework agreement not procured by the 

Council. 

Page 257



Municipal Year 2021/22                                            18 of 44 

Updated January 2022 

10.4 A framework agreement may require you to hold a “mini –competition” with some or 

all of the suppliers within the framework agreement and you must always check the 

terms of the framework agreement to ensure that you comply with its terms. 

G11   Consultants 

11.1 This Procedure Rule shall apply to the appointment of consultants. 

11.2 Consultancy work shall be advertised unless the relevant Chief Officer considers this 

to be inappropriate. 

11.3 Where the consultancy appointment: 

 has an estimated contract value of less than £10 000; or 

 will be an exempt contract in accordance with Procedure Rule G2.2 

the relevant Chief Officer must be satisfied that the procedure adopted secures the 

best value for money for the Council and where practicable at least two quotations 

should be obtained 

11.4 Where the consultancy appointment has an estimated contract value of £10, 000 or 

more the relevant Chief Officer must invite at least three written quotations 

11.5 Prior to accepting a quotation the relevant Chief Officer shall assess the experience 

and technical competence of each consultant and references shall be sought for 

consultants who have not previously been employed by the Council for the type of 

service in question 

G12  Contracts subject to the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (i.e those over the 

EU threshold after Brexit) 

12.1 The Public Contracts Regulations 2015 apply to contracts for works goods and 

services over a specified value. These set out rules very similar to the old EU 

procurement regime.  If a contract has an estimated value above the threshold 

levels then the procurement process must comply with the Public Contracts 

Regulations 2015. 

Page 258



Municipal Year 2021/22                                            19 of 44 

Updated January 2022 

12.2 The Public Contracts Regulations 2015 are lengthy and fairly complex. A summary 

of the timescales and procurement procedures is set out at Schedule 1 but you 

must always take legal advice before you start the procurement process if you 

consider that these rules may apply. 

G13   E-procurement 

13.1 Documents required for a procurement including invitations to tender and invitations 

to negotiate may be transmitted by electronic means with the agreement of the 

relevant Chief Officer 

13.2 Responses to an invitation to tender or an invitation to negotiate may be submitted 

by electronic means provided that: 

 (a) evidence that the transmission was successfully completed is obtained and 

recorded 

 (b) each tender submitted electronically is supplemented by an identical signed 

hard copy original submitted in the manner prescribed in the advertisement or 

the invitation to tender or invitation to negotiate before the tender return date 

 (c) electronic tenders are kept in a separate secure electronic folder under the 

control of the relevant Chief Officer which is not opened until the deadline has 

passed for receipt of tenders; and 

 (d) the procedures to be used have been agreed in advance of the issuing of the 

request for quotations, invitation to tender or invitation to negotiate by the 

Deputy Chief Executive. 

13.3 It may be appropriate in certain circumstances to evaluate tenders by use of an 

electronic auction provided that 

 (a) where the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 apply, the relevant Chief Officer 

shall comply with  those Regulations 

Page 259



Municipal Year 2021/22                                            20 of 44 

Updated January 2022 

 (b) where a decision to use an electronic auction is made, notice of the fact shall 

be stated in the notice required by Procedure Rule G7 or G8 

 (c) before proceeding with an electronic auction, the relevant Chief Officer shall 

make a full initial evaluation of the tenders in accordance with the agreed 

contract award criterion/evaluation criteria and with the weighting fixed for 

them to determine which are admissible tenders 

 (d) all tenderers who submit admissible tenders shall be invited simultaneously 

by electronic means to offer new prices and/or new values 

 (e) the invitation shall contain all relevant information concerning individual 

connection to the electronic equipment being used, stating the date and time 

of the start of the electronic auction.  The electronic auction may take place in 

a number of successive phases.  The electronic auction may not start sooner 

than five working days after the date on which invitations are sent out 

 (f) the invitation to tender shall state the mathematical formula to be used in the 

electronic auction to determine automatic re-rankings on the basis of the new 

prices and/or new values submitted.  That formula shall incorporate the 

weighting of all the evaluation criteria fixed to determine the most 

economically advantageous offer, as indicated in the contract notice or in the 

specification 

 (g) the invitation to tender shall specify the manner in which the electronic 

auction is to close 

 (h) after closing an electronic auction the relevant Chief Officer shall award the 

contract on the basis of the results of the electronic auction 

 (i) the means and procedures for carrying out the electronic auction have been 

agreed in advance of the issuing of the notice required by Procedure Rule G7 

or G8 by the Deputy Chief Executive 

Page 260



Municipal Year 2021/22                                            21 of 44 

Updated January 2022 

G14  Invitation to tender / Invitation to quote 

14.1 An invitation to tender shall be prepared in accordance with Rule G14.3 for all  

contracts with an estimated value over £75 000.  

14.2 Where quotations are sought under Rule G6 (for contracts with an estimated value 

between £10 000 and £75 000) the invitation to provide a quotation shall include 

such matters as the relevant Chief Officer considers reasonable having regard to the 

value and importance of the procurement but shall as a minimum include the matters 

specified in paragraphs (a), (b), (e) and (i) of Rule 14.3  

14.3 The invitation to tender shall include details of the Council’s requirements for the 

particular contract including: 

 (a) a specification of the services, supplies or works being procured and 

instructions on whether any variants are permissible 

 (b) the procurement timetable including the tender return date and time which 

shall allow a reasonable period for the applicants to prepare their tenders 

 (c) the Council’s terms and conditions of contract 

 (d) the evaluation criteria including any weightings where considerations other 

than price apply 

 (e) pricing mechanism and instructions for completion 

 (f) whether the Council is of the view that the Transfer of Undertakings 

(Protection of Employment) Regulations 1981 or any succeeding legislation 

may apply 

 (g) form and content of method statements to be provided 

 (h) rules for submitting of tenders; and 

 (i) notice that the Council will require information relating to health and safety 

and equalities 

Page 261



Municipal Year 2021/22                                            22 of 44 

Updated January 2022 

 (j) notice that the Council will require the contractor to comply with the 

Construction (Design and Management) Regulations 2015 where applicable 

 (k) any further information which will inform or assist tenderers in preparing 

tenders 

G15. Submission and Opening of Tenders 

15.1 This Rule applies where tenders have been invited using any of the procedures set 

out in Rules G7 to G10. Rules 

15.2 Invitations to tender should be sent out using the “two envelope” system. The first 

envelope should have space for the name of the tenderer and the second should 

state the Council’s return address. Tenders should then be returned in envelope 1, 

which is placed inside envelope 2.  Envelope 2 should be stamped with the time of 

its receipt by the Council. 

15.3 No tender can be considered unless it: 

15.3.1 has been recorded as having been received no later than 2.00 p.m. on the 

closing date for the receipt of tenders;  and 

15.3.2 has been received in a sealed envelope marked “tender for [name of 

contract]” and has no marking identifying the sender. 

15.4 All tenders must be opened together in the same place. Tenders received 

electronically must be opened first. 

15.5 Tenders may be submitted: 

(a) in hard copy 

(b) on CD ROM 

(c) in PDF or Word format if submitted electronically 

15.6 Tenders submitted electronically must be stored in a dedicated extranet site or other 

location secured electronically by the relevant Chief Officer and the system used 

Page 262



Municipal Year 2021/22                                            23 of 44 

Updated January 2022 

must identify by unique password the person opening the tenders and time stamp 

the opening of the tenders 

15.7 The following people must be present when tenders are opened: 

15.7.1 the relevant cabinet portfolio holder, or some other member nominated by the 

portfolio holder; 

15.7.2 the relevant Chief Officer or, if it is impracticable for him or her to attend, 

another senior officer of the same section; 

15.7.3 the Deputy Chief Executive or his/ her nominee 

15.8    Without prejudice to Rule 15.7 above, each of the political groups represented on 

the Council must be notified of tender openings and one member from each political group 

may attend tender openings   

15.9 At the time of opening, the relevant Chief Officer or his/her representative must 

ensure that a record is made of all tenders received and their values. 

15.10 Any tender received later than 2.00 p.m. on the closing date for the receipt of 

tenders must be returned as soon as practicable to the sender. A record must be 

kept of the receipt of the tender and of its return under this Rule. If the “two 

envelope” system has not been adopted, the tender may be opened to ascertain the 

name and address of the sender but no details of the tender may be disclosed.   

G16. Tender Evaluation and Accepting Tenders  

16.1 Tenders shall be evaluated strictly in accordance with the evaluation criteria set out 

in the invitation to tender / invitation to provide a quotation. 

16.2 Subject to Rule G16.8 (use of local labour) the Council shall award a contract where 

at the time of award this represents the most economically advantageous offer or is 

the lowest price depending on the contract award criteria chosen pursuant to Rule 

G3  

Page 263



Municipal Year 2021/22                                            24 of 44 

Updated January 2022 

16.3 In the event of the lowest tender being less than £10 000 or 10% (whichever is the 

lower) above the approved estimate the decision on acceptance may be made by 

the relevant Chief Officer provided the extra cost can be fully accommodated within 

existing budgets and, if it cannot, the decision on acceptance shall be made by the 

Cabinet 

16.4 In the event of the lowest tender being either £10,000 or 10% (whichever is the 

lower) above the approved estimate the decision on acceptance shall be made by 

the Cabinet 

16.5 All tenders must be examined for errors and discrepancies.  Where examination 

reveals errors or discrepancies which would affect the tender figure, the chief officer 

must give details of the errors or discrepancies to the tenderer and invite the 

tenderer to confirm his tender as submitted, correct the error or discrepancy or 

withdraw the tender.  If the tender is withdrawn, consideration of tenders will then 

proceed as if that tender had not been submitted. If the tender is corrected the 

tender will be considered as corrected.  

Post tender negotiation 

16.6 This Rule applies to situations where a formal post tender negotiation process is 

required (rather than to the clarification of errors and discrepancies to which Rule 

G16.5 applies).  The relevant Chief Officer may, with the consent of the Deputy 

Chief Executive enter into formal negotiations with a tenderer after the receipt and 

opening of tenders, but prior to acceptance, in the following circumstances: 

(a) the existence of a sole supplier, or the receipt of only one tender 

(b) when tendered prices vary significantly from the Councils estimate for the 

contract 

Page 264



Municipal Year 2021/22                                            25 of 44 

Updated January 2022 

(c) when tenders cannot readily be evaluated and compared without discussion 

with the tenderers 

(d) if issues such as the availability of spares or the quality of the after sales 

service are important considerations, where tenderers differ significantly in 

their offers concerning these matters 

(e) where the Deputy Chief Executive and the Executive Director (Legal & 

Democratic) are satisfied that better prices could be obtainable 

(f) where the Deputy Chief Executive and the Executive Director (Legal & 

Democratic) are satisfied that it would be in the best interests of the Council 

16.7 Where negotiations are carried out with tenderers in accordance with Rule 16.6 the 

following rules shall apply 

(a) the relevant Chief Officer shall ensure that negotiations are carried out by 

officers with the relevant technical and professional expertise 

(b) negotiations shall be attended by at least two officers from the relevant 

service 

(c) the Deputy Chief Executive and the Executive Director (Legal & Democratic 

shall be given the opportunity to nominate their own representative to attend 

negotiations 

(d) prices and negotiated conditions shall be regarded as strictly confidential 

(e) negotiations shall take place at pre-determined times and places on Council 

premises unless there are good reasons for holding the negotiations 

elsewhere 

(f) a comprehensive written record of all negotiations shall be made, signed by 

all officers of the Council present and retained by the relevant Chief Officer  

Page 265



Municipal Year 2021/22                                            26 of 44 

Updated January 2022 

(g) all documentation relating to negotiations shall be placed in sealed envelopes 

when transferred from one service to another in order to maintain 

confidentiality 

(h) where meetings are to be held with more than one contractor this shall be 

indicated to contractors and meetings shall be held separately and in 

confidence  

(i) details of the outcome of all negotiations shall be submitted to the Deputy 

Chief Executive and the Executive Director (Legal & Democractic) for 

approval 

(j) where tenders are close (ie within 5% of the contract estimate) negotiations shall 

be held with more than one tenderer as shall be agreed with the Deputy Chief 

Executive and the Executive Director Llegal & Democratic Services) 

G17. Nominating sub-contractors 

17.1 Where a sub-contractor or supplier is to be nominated to a main contractor, the 

following provisions will have effect: 

17.1.1 where the estimated amount of a sub-contract exceeds £75,000 then, 

unless the relevant Chief Officer considers that it is not reasonably 

practicable to obtain competitive tenders, tenders for the nomination must 

be invited and dealt with in accordance with these Procedure Rules as if 

they were for a contract with the Council. 

17.1.2  any invitation for nomination under Rule G17.1.1 must require the tenderer 

to agree that if he is selected he will enter into a contract with the main 

contractor which indemnifies the main contractor in relation to the works or 

goods included in the sub-contract 

17.2 Subject to Rules G17.3 – 17.4 below all appointments of: 

Page 266



Municipal Year 2021/22                                            27 of 44 

Updated January 2022 

 sub-contractors for the execution of specialist work; and  

 suppliers for the supply of works, goods or services for which a prime cost sum is 

included in the main contract sum for building or civil engineering works  

shall be made in accordance with these Procedure Rules unless the Chief Officer 

considers that it is not reasonably practicable to obtain competitive tenders .  

17.3 Where the Council has already appointed a supplier for works, goods or services of 

the kind in question the relevant Chief Officer shall be authorised to nominate that 

supplier if it is considered appropriate. 

17.4 Where Rule G17.3 does not apply and the prime cost sum included for any item 

does not exceed £75,000 the appropriate chief officer shall deal with the nomination 

under Rule G6. 

G18. Written contracts 

18.1 Contracts shall be entered into in writing respect of each procurement.  The Councils 

standard terms and conditions are attached at Schedule 2, which contains guidance 

about their appropriate use. 

18.2 Every contract (whether resulting from acceptance of a tender, quotation or 

otherwise) must be in writing and must: 

18.2.1 specify the work to be done, or services or goods or materials to be 

provided, including any appropriate technical specifications; 

18.2.2 specify the price to be paid with a statement of discounts or other 

deductions;  

18.2.3 specify the time or times within which the contract is to be performed;  

18.2.4 specify that all relevant health and safety legislation must be complied with 

18.2.5 require the contractor to provide information to enable the Council to fulfil its 

obligations under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 

Page 267



Municipal Year 2021/22                                            28 of 44 

Updated January 2022 

18.2.6    specify the appropriate level and type (e.g. employee liability, public liability, 

professional indemnity etc) of insurance required 

18.2.7   specify that the contractor must comply with all applicable equality legislation 

and ensure that appropriate monitoring arrangements are in place to ensure 

that equality issues are addressed 

18.2.8    (where the contractor may come into contact with the public  as part of the 

contract or when performing the contract) specify that the contractor must 

have a procedure in place for dealing with contact with children and 

vulnerable adults 

18.3 Industry standard forms of contract shall be used where these are applicable to the 

subject matter of the contract and the value of the contract exceeds £10 000 unless 

the relevant chief officer has agreed prior to the contract being awarded that some 

other form of written contract would be more appropriate.  

18.4   Every contract which exceeds £75,000 in value or amounts and is for the execution 

of works shall provide for liquidated damages to be paid by the contractor in case 

the terms of the contract are not duly performed. 

18.5 In every contract for the supply of goods or materials the value of which exceeds 

£75,000, a clause shall be inserted to secure that, should the contractor fail to 

deliver the goods or materials or any portion thereof within the time or times 

specified in the contract, the Council, without prejudice to any other remedy for 

breach of contract, shall be at liberty to determine the contract either wholly or to the 

extent of such default and to purchase other goods or materials as the case may be 

of the same or similar description to make good such default and/or in the event of 

the contract being wholly determined the goods remaining to be delivered. 

 The clause shall further secure that the amount by which the cost of so purchasing 

other goods or materials exceeds the amount which would have been payable to the  

Page 268



Municipal Year 2021/22                                            29 of 44 

Updated January 2022 

purchase, if they had been delivered in accordance with the contract, shall be 

recoverable from the contractor. 

18.6 In every written contract for the execution of work or the supply of goods or services 

there shall be a provision that the contractor shall be prohibited from transferring or 

assigning directly or indirectly any portion of the contract without the written 

permission of the appropriate Chief Officer which permission may be either withheld 

or given subject to such terms and conditions as the chief officer may prescribe.  

18.7 Every contract which exceeds £75,000 in value must include a clause allowing the 

Council to cancel the contract and to recover from the contractor the amount of any 

loss resulting from such cancellation if: 

18.7.1 the contractor has offered or given or agreed to give to any person any gift 

or consideration of any kind as an inducement or reward for doing or not 

doing anything relating to the contract or any other contract with the Council 

or for favouring or not favouring any person in relation to the contract or any 

other contract with the Council; 

18.7.2 like acts have been done by any person employed by the contractor or 

acting on his behalf;  or 

 18.7.3 any such person has committed any offence under the Bribery Act 2010 

18.8 No tender or quotation which includes or incorporates by reference terms and 

conditions not incorporated in the invitation to tender or quote shall be accepted 

unless: 

 the other persons submitting tenders or quotations have been given an 

opportunity to resubmit their tenders or quotations on the same basis; or 

 the Executive Director (Legal and Democratic) is satisfied that the changes to 

the terms and conditions are insignificant. 

Page 269



Municipal Year 2021/22                                            30 of 44 

Updated January 2022 

  

G19. Bond 

19.1 The relevant chief officer shall decide whether a bond shall be required in respect of 

each contract exceeding £250 000 having regard to: 

 19.1.1 the potential risk to the Council of dispensing with a bond, having regard to 

past claims experience and the estimated premium cost 

 19.1.2 whether there is any exceptional technical difficulty associated with the work 

or service to be provided 

19.1.3 the extent to which selective tendering procedures have been used and 

enquiries made as to the technical and financial status of the tenderer 

19.1.4 the value of the contract in relation to the resources of the Council 

19.1.5 the period of the contract 

 

G20. Fraud and Whistleblowing 

 

All contractors must be informed about the Council’s Whistleblowing and Anti-fraud and 

Corruption policies and told where these can be found on the Council’s website. 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 270



Municipal Year 2021/22                                            31 of 44 

Updated January 2022 

 

Schedule 1: summary of procurement rules in the Public Contracts Regulations 

2015 (for contracts above the EU threshold) 

 

 

1. Introduction 
 
1.1 The Public Contracts Regulations 2015 set out the legal framework for public 

procurement and the procedures that must be followed before awarding a contract 
the value of which exceeds set thresholds.  The purpose of these procurement rules 
is to open up the public procurement market and to ensure the free movement of 
supplies, services and works within the EU.  In most cases they require competition. 
These rules apply after Brexit. The rules are very similar to the rules which applied 
before Brexit. 

 
1.2 The Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (SI 2015 No 102) can be viewed on the OGC 

Website (www.ogc.gov.uk). 
 
1.3  This is only a summary of these procurement rules.  If you believe your procurement 

may exceed the relevant threshold you must seek advice from Legal Services as 
large financial penalties can be awarded against the Council if these rules are not 
followed or are followed incorrectly. 

 

2. Threshold Levels 

 
 Thresholds applicable from 1st January 2020 to 31

st
 December 2022 are given 

below.  Thresholds are NOW INCLUSIVE of VAT (not net of VAT as was the case 
until 1

st
 January 2022). 

 

Type of contract SUPPLIES SERVICES WORKS 

    

Threshold level £213,477 £213,477 £5,336,937 

 
 

3. Contracts outside the scope of the Directives 
 
 Even when a tender process is not subject to the Regulations, (for example because 

the estimated value of a contract falls below the relevant threshold), the principles of 
non-discrimination, equal treatment, transparency, mutual recognition and 
proportionality still apply.  Some degree of advertising, which is appropriate to the 
scale of the contract, is likely to be necessary to demonstrate transparency. 

 

Contracts below the thresholds but with a value of £25,000 or more 

 
If a contract has a value below the threshold but over £25,000 then: 

• No  PQQ / qualification stage is permitted and the Council’s selective tendering 
procedures cannot be used 

• The contract must be advertised on the Contracts Finder website within 24 hours of 
being advertised in any other way and the procurement documentation must be 
made available on the Council’s website 

• The Council must publish an award notice on Contracts Finder within a reasonable 
time 

Page 271

http://www.ogc.gov.uk/


Municipal Year 2021/22                                            32 of 44 

Updated January 2022 

• The Council has a statutory duty to have regard to Cabinet Office Guidance for such 
purchases. This guidance can be viewed at the following link 
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/procurement-policy-notes  

 
 

4. Mixed contracts 
 
 Usually it will be clear how to categorise a contract from its subject matter but there 

are occasions when contracts contain elements of both supplies and services, for 
example.  In those cases: 

 

 Where a contract covers both services and supplies, its classification should be 
determined by the respective values of the two elements. 

 

 Where it covers works/supplies or works/services, it should be classified according 
to its predominant purpose. 

 

 Where a contract provides for the supply of equipment and an operator it should be 
regarded as a services contract. 

 

 Contracts for software are considered to be for supplies unless they have to be 
tailored to the purchaser’s specification, in which case they are services. 

 

5. Aggregation rules and thresholds 

 
5.1 Where a single work involves more than one contract the estimated value of all the 

contracts must be aggregated to decide whether the threshold is reached.  Where 
the threshold is reached each of the works contracts will be covered by the rules 
except small contracts (known as small lots) the value of which falls below the de 
minimis level provided for in the Regulations. 

 
  In determining whether the threshold has been or is likely to be reached for public 

supplies or services contracts, the rules require aggregation: 
 

 of the estimated value of separate contracts for meeting a single requirement; 
and 

 

 where a series of contracts or a renewable contract is entered into for 
supplies/services of the same type during a twelve month period. 

 
5.3 Where a public authority is divided into a number of discrete operational units with 

devolved authority to decide independently whether to enter into procurement 
contracts, then aggregation need only be applied to each unit.  In other cases (i.e. 
where authority is not devolved) the public authority as a whole must be considered 
for aggregation purposes. 

 

6. New advertising requirement – Find A Tender 

 
  Generally contracts covered by the Regulations must be the subject of a call for 

competition by publishing a contract notice. Instead of doing this in the OJEU, the 
notice must be published on the Government’s “Find A Tender” website.  In most 
cases the time allowed for responses or tenders will be fixed according to the 
procedure used, although some reduction is possible where: 

Page 272

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/procurement-policy-notes


Municipal Year 2021/22                                            33 of 44 

Updated January 2022 

 

 A prior information notice (PIN) has been published sufficiently far in advance of 
the procurement;  or  

 If accelerated procedures are used; or 

 Where authorities offer full and unrestricted website access to tender documents 
(in accordance with specific requirements set out in the Regulations). 

 
 The table setting out the timescale for each procurement procedure is set out below 

 

Procedure  Days 

 
Open 

 
Minimum time for receipt of tenders from date contract 
notice sent 
 
Except if: 
 
Tenders are returned electronically 
 
Urgency rules apply 
 
A PIN has been published 
 

 
35 

 
 
 
 

30 
 

15 
 

15 
 

   

 
Restricted 

 
Minimum time for receipt of requests to participate 
from the date contract notice sent 
PQQ replaced by the European Single Procurement 
Document, which must be used 

 
30 

(15 if the 
urgency 

rules 
apply) 

 
 

 
Minimum time for receipt of tenders from the date 
invitation to tender sent 
 
Except if: 
 
Tenders are returned electronically 
 
Urgency rules apply 
 
A PIN has been published 
 

 
30 

 
 
 
 

25 
 

10 
 

10 

Competitive with 
negotiation 

Minimum time for receipt of requests to participate 
from the date contract notice sent 

30 
(15 if the 
urgency 

rules 
apply) 

 Minimum time to return initial bid from the date 
invitation to tender sent 
 
Except if: 
 
Tenders are returned electronically 

30 
 
 
 
 

25 

Page 273



Municipal Year 2021/22                                            34 of 44 

Updated January 2022 

 
Urgency rules apply 
 
A PIN has been published 
 

 
10 

 
10 

Competitive 
Dialogue and 
innovative 
partnership 

Minimum time for receipt of expression of interest 
from the date contract notice sent 

30 

 
Note:  timescales may be further reduced if a prior information notice (PIN) has been 
published on Find A Tender no more than 12 months but not less than 35 days before the 
Find A Tender notice is dispatched. 
 
Note: Shorter timescales can be agreed for the competitive dialogue and competitive with 
negotiation procedures provided all the bidders agree to this being done.  
 
 

7.  Reduced advertising requirement for some services contracts 
 
7.1 Most services are subject to the full requirements of the Public Contracts 

Regulations 2015 and the old distinction between Part A and Part B services has 
been abolished. However, a “light touch” approach has been agreed for a limited 
number of services contracts (including for legal services, benefits services and 
health and social care services). In the case of “light touch” services: 

 there is no obligation to advertise on Find A Tender for contracts with a value 
of less than £663,540 and the Council can determine the competition process 
to be followed; and 

 for contracts with a value of more than £615,278, a Find A Tender advert 
must be published and the Council must follow a formal tender process, but 
the Council can determine the procedure to be followed and this need not be 
one of the procurement procedures set out in the Regulations 

 

8. Choice of procurement procedure 

 
8.1 The following award procedures are provided for in the Regulations: 
 

 the open procedure, under which all those interested may respond to the 
advertisement on Find A Tender by tendering for the contract; 

 

 the restricted procedure, under which a selection is made of those who respond to 
the advertisement and only they are invited to submit a tender for the contract.  This 
allows purchasers to avoid having to deal with an overwhelmingly large number of 
tenders. Rather than fill in a PQQ, interested firms must now complete a Single 
Procurement Document; 

 

 the competitive dialogue procedure  / competitive with negotiation procedure / 

innovative partnership procedure, following the Find A Tender advert and a 
selection process, the authority then enters into dialogue with potential bidders, to 
develop one or more suitable solutions for its requirements. These procedures are 
more suitable for complex procurements where the Council does not consider that 

Page 274



Municipal Year 2021/22                                            35 of 44 

Updated January 2022 

the open or restricted procedures will allow the award of a contract.  These 
procedures will allow authorities to enter into a dialogue with potential bidders. 

 
 

In addition: 
 

 there are rules for Dynamic Purchasing Systems, a wholly electronic system for 
commonly used purchases.  The system is open to new potential bidders through its 
lifetime.  Call offs are made by means of a simplified notice on Find A Tender; 

 

 Specific provisions are included for Central Purchasing Bodies whereby 
contracting authorities can purchase from or through such bodies, which must be 
contracting authorities who have been set up to provide those supplies, services or 
works; 

 

 There is a mandatory standstill period at the award stage prior to contract 
signature to permit unsuccessful tenderers to seek further information about an 
award decision, and enable them to take action in the courts where they have 
sufficient grounds. The standstill period is 10 calendar days if the award notice is 
sent by fax or e-mail and 15 calendar days if it is sent by post and the contract 
cannot be completed until the standstill period has come to an end. 

 
8.2 Public authorities have a free choice between the open and restricted procedures.  

The competitive dialogue / competitive with negotiation procedures can be used 
when: 

• The Council’s needs can’t be met without adapting available solutions; or 
• The Council requires design or innovative solutions; or 
• There is a need to negotiate due to nature of contract, complexity, risks or legal / 

financial arrangements; or 
• The Council can’t specify its requirements precisely; or 
• The open or restricted procedure have already been used but only produced 

unacceptable tenders 
 
 
8.3 Under restricted, competitive dialogue and competitive with negotiation procedures 

(those where a call for competition is required by advertising on Find A Tender), a 
sufficient number of participants must be selected to proceed to the tender stage to 
ensure genuine competition.  The Regulations require a minimum of five for the 
restricted procedure, and three for competitive dialogue and competitive with 
negotiation procedures. 

 

9. Stages in the procurement process 
 

 Specification stage – there is a requirement to avoid brand names and other 
references which would have the effect of favouring or eliminating particular 
providers, products or services – and the requirement to accept equivalence.  The 
Regulations now make it clear that authorities may use performance specifications 
rather than technical specifications.  They also provide clarification on the scope to 
reflect environmental issues in specifications.  Guidance on technical specifications 
is available on the OGC website. 

NB: The Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 applies to the following: 
- Contracts for services 
- Contracts for services plus works 

Page 275



Municipal Year 2021/22                                            36 of 44 

Updated January 2022 

- Contracts for services plus the hire or purchase of goods 

Where the Act applies the Council is required to consider the following at the start of 
the procurement process: 

- How what we plan to procure might improve the economic, social and 
environmental well-being of the Borough 

- How we can achieve this improvement as a result of the procurement 
- Whether to undertake consultation to help us decide whether we can achieve 

an economic, social or environmental improvement. 

We are only required to act in a way which is proportionate to the services being 
procured. We should document whatever we decide in each case, together with the 
factors and evidence we had regard to in reaching a decision. Note also that the Act 
doesn’t change the award criteria, so contracts must be awarded on the basis of 
lowest price or most economically advantageous offer.  
 

 

 Selection stage – the rejection or selection of candidates may be based on: 
 

- evidence that they are unsuitable on grounds, e.g. of bankruptcy, criminal 
conviction or failure to pay taxes.  Certain offences now require, in normal 
circumstances, a mandatory exclusion; 

 
- their economic and financial standing – e.g. that they are judged to be 

financially sound on the basis of their annual accounts; and 
 

- their technical capacity and ability – e.g. that they will be adequately equipped 
to do the job and that their track record is satisfactory. 

 

NB: we have to notify all bidders of their exclusion from the selection process 
before the contract award decision. Where we use the restricted or negotiated 
procedure this means we have to notify all those bidders who do not make it onto 
our shortlist. 

 

 Award stage – the award of contract will be based on various criteria to enable the 
Council to determine which is the “most economically advantageous” tender.  We 
must send a contract award notice to all bidders and this must give details of the 
evaluation process and its result, including details of the characteristics and relative 
advantages of the successful bidder. A 10 or 15 days standstill period must then be 
observed before the contract is awarded to the successful bidder (see paragraph 8.1 
above). The standstill period gives unsuccessful bidders an opportunity to apply to 
court to challenge our award decision. An aggrieved bidder does not need to inform 
us before issuing legal proceedings and once we receive court papers the 
procurement process is suspended unless the Council applies to court for an order 
lifting the suspension in order to enable us to award the contract. 

 

10. Remedies 
 
10.1 Aggrieved bidders can seek (potentially substantial) damages if the Council fails to 

comply with the Regulations. Aggrieved bidders can also apply for a declaration of 
ineffectiveness if  

 No  notice was published on Find A Tender and should have been 

 The standstill period was breached 

Page 276



Municipal Year 2021/22                                            37 of 44 

Updated January 2022 

 A call off contract was used but the correct procedures were not followed. 

If a declaration of ineffectiveness is made the contract in question will cease to have 
effect. The Council may also be obliged to pay a significant fine to the Treasury and 
third parties affected by the declaration may seek damages from the Council. 

 

11. Post tender negotiations 
 

There are restrictions on the use of post tender negotiation under the open and 
restricted procedures.  The Regulations prevent any negotiation on price: 
 
“In open and restricted procedures all negotiations with candidates or tenderers on 
fundamental aspects of contracts, variations in which are likely to distort competition, 
and in particular on prices, shall be ruled out; however, discussions with candidates 
or tenderers may be held only for the purpose of clarifying for supplementing the 
content of their tenders or the requirements of the contracting authorities, and 
provided this does not involve discrimination”. 
 

12. Enforcement 
 
11.1 The principal means of enforcement for a breach of the Regulations is action by 

suppliers or contractors against individual purchasers in the High Court;  
 
11.2 The result might be the suspension of an incomplete contract award procedure or 

the setting aside of a decision in an incomplete contract award procedure.  The High 
Court also has powers to award damages.  In cases where a contract has been 
entered into, an award of damages is currently the only remedy that the High Court 
can provide.   

 
11.3 The Regulations require all purchasers to include a 10-calendar day standstill period 

between the point when the decision on the award of the contract is made and the 
signature of the contract.  The standstill period allows participants to seek additional 
debriefing from authorities.  This must be asked for and provided within set periods.   

 

Page 277



Municipal Year 2021/22                                            38 of 44 

Updated January 2022 

 

Schedule 2: Standard Terms and conditions 
 

 
 

 
1. The attached contract is appropriate for use in the following circumstances: 

 Standard or routine purchases with no special or unusual features 

 Low value contracts 

 To accompany a purchase order 

2. The attached contract is NOT appropriate for use in the following circumstances: 

 High value contracts 

 “One off” procurements or contracts of an unusual or specialised nature 

 IT contracts 

 Joint venture agreements 

 Agreements relating to land and / or property 

3. The attached contract must NOT be varied or amended unless you have first sought 
advice from Legal Services 

4. If you are uncertain about whether the attached contract is suitable for use in respect of 
your procurement, seek advice from Legal Services  

5. A downloadable version of the attached contract is available on the Council’s website 
on the “Doing Business With The Council” page. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 278



Municipal Year 2021/22                                            39 of 44 

Updated January 2022 

 

HYNDBURN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

GENERAL CONDITIONS OF CONTRACT FOR THE SUPPLY OF GOODS, MATERIALS, 

PLANT, EQUIPMENT OR SERVICES 

 

1. DEFINITIONS 

 
In these conditions 
 
1.1 The “Order” means any order, requirement or instructions given concerning the 

Supplies by any employee of the Council with the authority to do so. 
 
1.2 The “Council” means Hyndburn Borough Council 
 
1.3 The “Supplier” means the person with whom the Order is placed 
 
1.4 The “Supplies” means all goods, materials, equipment or services the subject of the 

Order 
 
1.5 The “Specification” means the technical requirements and/or description of the 

Supplies and/or the Supplier’s proprietary specification set out in the Order and any 
attached documentation of the Council. 

 

2. DELIVERY AND ACCEPTANCE 

 
2.1 On delivery the Council shall not be deemed to accept the Supplies (whether or not 

an advice/delivery note has been signed) until the Council has had a reasonable 
opportunity to examine the Supplies.  The Council shall have the right to reject any 
Supplies or part hereof which in its opinion fails to meet the Specification. 

 
2.2 The Council may reject any Supplies that are not appropriately packed and labelled. 
 
2.3 Property in the Supplies shall pass to the Council only when they have been 

delivered as specified in the Order and accepted by the Council. 
 
2.4 Without prejudice to any other right or remedy of the Council, if the Supplier does not 

deliver the Supplies as set out in the Order, the Council will be entitled to determine 
this contract and to purchase other goods of the same or similar description in their 
place.  In such circumstances the Supplier shall pay to the Council on demand the 
amount by which the cost of so purchasing the other goods exceeds the amount 
which would have been payable to the Supplier in respect of the Supplies and the 
Council may deduct this amount from any sums whatsoever payable by the Council 
to the Supplier. 

 

3. SUPPLIER’S DOCUMENTATION 
 

The Supplier shall provide the Council with all current and future instructions that 
relate to the use, and where appropriate the storage, of the Supplies.  In particular 
the Supplier shall draw the Council’s attention to any danger which may be 
encountered with the storage, use, handling and application of any processes 
undertaken with the Supplies.  Such documentation and instructions shall be in 
accordance with the requirements of the Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974, 

Page 279



Municipal Year 2021/22                                            40 of 44 

Updated January 2022 

the Provision and Use of Work Equipment Regulations 1998 and any other relevant 
legislation in force at any time. 

 

4. WARRANTY INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE 
 
4.1 With regard to the supply and delivery of any Supplies the Supplier is to be 

completely responsible for and shall completely indemnify the Council against any 
liability, loss, claim, demand or proceedings whatsoever (other than death or 
personal injury resulting from the negligence of the Council) whether arising under 
statute or otherwise in respect of personal injury to or the death of any person and 
injury or damage to real or personal property if such liability, loss, claim, demand or 
proceeding arises out of, in the course of or is caused by the supply and/or delivery 
of the Supplies.  In respect of such injury or damage the Supplier shall affect 
adequate and satisfactory insurance with a reputable Insurance Company and shall 
produce on demand the policy for such insurance and the receipt for the current 
premium to any duly authorised officer of the Council. 

 
4.2 The Supplier warrants that the Supplies comply with the description in the Order. 
 
4.3 The Supplier warrants that the Supplies are of good quality and material. 
 
4.4 The Supplier warrants that the supply of the Supplies under the Order will not 

infringe any third party intellectual property rights. 
 
4.5 The Supplier will fully indemnify the Council against any breach of clause 4.4 
 

5. QUALITY STANDARDS 
 
 Where an appropriate British Standard Specification, British Standard Code of 

Practice or European Directive is current at the date of this Contract all Supplies 
shall be in accordance with that Standard. 

 

6. INSOLVENCY 
 
 The Council may at any time by notice in writing summarily determine this Contract 

without compensation of any amount being payable to the Supplier by the Council in 
any of the following events: 

 
6.1 The Supplier is an individual and becomes bankrupt or has a receiving order or 

administration order or interim order made against him or makes any composition or 
scheme of arrangement with his creditors, or 

 
6.2 The Supplier is a firm and any partner in it becomes bankrupt or has a receiving 

order or administration order or interim order made against him or makes any 
composition or scheme of arrangement with his creditors, or 

 
6.3 The Supplier is a company and passes a resolution or a court makes an order for 

winding it up (except for the purpose of amalgamation or reconstruction); or an 
administrative receiver is appointed or an administration is made. 

 
Such determination will not prejudice or affect any right of action or remedy, which 
shall have accrued at any time to the council. 

 

Page 280



Municipal Year 2021/22                                            41 of 44 

Updated January 2022 

7. TRANSFER OF CONTRACT 
 
 The Supplier must not assign or sublet the contract or any part of it without first 

getting the Council’s written permission. 
 

8. CANCELLATION ON GROUNDS OF IMPROPRIETY 
 
 The Council may cancel the contract and recover from the Supplier the amount of 

any loss resulting from such cancellation if: 
 
8.1 The Supplier has offered or given or agreed to give to any person any gift or 

consideration of any kind as an inducement or reward for doing or not doing anything 
relating to the contract or any other contract with the Council or for favouring or not 
favouring any person in relation to the contract or any other contract with the 
Council; 

 
8.2 Like acts have been done by any person employed by the Supplier or acting on his 

behalf; or 
 
8.3 Any such person has committed any offence under the Bribery Act 2010 
 

9. CONTRACT RATE AND PAYMENT 
 
9.1 All contract prices shall be fixed unless the Order says otherwise. 
 
9.2 Payment will be made by the Council within thirty days of receiving a valid VAT 

invoice. 
 
9.3 The Supplier’s invoice must include the Order number for the Supplies and be sent 

to the invoice address shown on the Order. 
 
9.4 Payment will normally be made direct to Supplier’s bank account. The Supplier 

should ensure that the Council has its bank account details. 
 
9.5 A valid VAT debit or credit note must support any alterations to the amount invoiced. 
 

10. RECOVERY OF SUMS DUE TO THE DEPARTMENT 
 
 Any sum of money payable by the Supplier to the Council under the contract may be 

deducted from any sum then due or which at any time thereafter may become due to 
the Supplier under this or any other contract with the Council. 

 

11. ARBITRATION 
 
11.1 All disputes between the parties, arising out of or connected with this contract, shall 

be referred to an arbitrator to be agreed (within 14 days of notice being given in 
writing by the party requiring such agreement) by the parties or in default of such 
agreement to be nominated by the President of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators 
save that the Council may refer such dispute to a court of competent jurisdiction in 
which case this paragraph will no longer have effect with respect to that dispute. 

 

Page 281



Municipal Year 2021/22                                            42 of 44 

Updated January 2022 

11.2 The decisions of the arbitrator shall be binding on both the Council and the Supplier.  
The costs of arbitration shall be borne by the unsuccessful party unless the arbitrator 
determines otherwise. 

 

12. AGENCY 
 
 Neither the Supplier nor its employees shall in any circumstances hold itself or 

themselves out as being the servant, agent or partner of the Council. 
 

13. PATENTS 

 
 The Supplier shall indemnify the Council against any costs, claims, proceedings, 

expenses and demands arising from the use, manufacture, supply or delivery of any 
process, article, matter or thing supplied under the contract which would constitute 
any infringement of any patent, right, design, trademark or copyright. 

 

14. WAIVER 
 
 Any concession or waiver allowed by the Council to the Supplier in respect of any 

term hereof at any time shall not prevent the Council from subsequently enforcing 
that term and shall not be deemed a waiver of any subsequent breach. 

 

15. SEVERANCE 
 
 In the event that any term, condition or provision of the contract shall be nullified or 

made void by any law, decree, regulation or order or by the decision or order of any 
court having jurisdiction, the remaining terms, conditions and provisions of the 
contract shall remain in full force and effect. 

 

16. APPLICABLE LAW 
 
 The contract is subject to English law. 
 

17. APPLICATION  
 
 These conditions are an integral part of the contract, and shall apply except to the 

extent that they may be inconsistent with any special conditions which apply to the 
contract, which shall have precedence over these conditions. These conditions shall 
take precedence over any standard conditions of the Supplier 

 

18. ORDERED VARIATIONS 
 
 The Council shall be entitled to issue to the Supplier instructions in writing requiring 

the Supplier to do all or any of the following: 
 
 To omit the whole or any part or parts of the Supplies, either permanently or 

indefinitely or during a specific period or periods specified by the Council, provided 
that an instruction to omit the whole of the Supplies will only be issued if the 
provision of the Supplies is no longer operationally expedient to the Council. 

 

19. FREEDOM IN INFORMATION 
 

Page 282



Municipal Year 2021/22                                            43 of 44 

Updated January 2022 

19.1 The Supplier shall provide all reasonable assistance to enable the Council to comply 
with any request received under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 (FOIA) which 
relates to the Contract and / or the Supplies. 

 
19.2 In the event that any request made under the FOIA relates to the Supplier, the 

Supplies, the contract price or any other matter which falls under the auspices of this 
agreement, the Council shall consult with the Supplier prior to disclosure. 

 
19.3 The Council shall have an absolute discretion to determine the question of 

disclosure having consulted with the Supplier in accordance with Clause 19.2 above. 
 

20. EQUALITY AND NON-DISCRIMINATION 
 
20.1 The Supplier will not discriminate directly or indirectly against any person contrary to 

the Equality Act 2010 or any re-enactment or any other legal requirement applicable 
during this Contract. 

 
20.2 The Supplier will not treat a person less favourably for a reason relating to that 

person’s disability (as defined by the Equality Act 2010) nor fail to comply with a duty 
under that Act to make a reasonable adjustment in relation to the disabled person. 

  
20.3 Where the Supplier carries out work on the Council’s premises or alongside the 

Council’s staff or has contact with the public under this Contract, the Supplier will 
comply with the Council’s relevant employment policies and codes of practice. 

 
20.4 The Supplier will notify the Council as soon as it becomes aware of any complaint or 

proceedings against the Supplier alleging unlawful discrimination or any investigation 
of the Contractor’s performance of this Contract by the Equality and Human Rights 
Commission or any successor body.  In the event of any such complaint, 
proceedings or investigation, the Contractor will co-operate fully and promptly with 
the body undertaking the investigation or bringing the proceedings, and will 
indemnify the Council against all costs, charges and expenses (including legal and 
administrative expenses and any compensation that the Council is required to pay) 
arising out of such investigation or proceedings. 

 
20.5 The Supplier will provide to the Council such information as the Council may 

reasonably request in respect of the impact of equality issues on the operation of the 
contract and vice versa. 

 
20.6 The Council reserves the right to require the Supplier, by written request, to remove 

any person involved in the performance of the contract where in the Council’s 
reasonable opinion such person is acting contrary to the requirements of this Clause 
20. 

 
20.7 The Supplier will discharge its obligations under this contract without infringing the 

human rights of any person, as defined by the Human Rights Act 1998. 
  

21. Contract 
 
 In the absence of a formal contract between the parties: 
 
 The Order and any agreed written amendments will constitute a binding agreement, 

and 
 

Page 283



Municipal Year 2021/22                                            44 of 44 

Updated January 2022 

 All written quotations received and formally accepted are subject to these terms and 
conditions and no addition or variation should be made or applied unless agreed in 
writing to the Council. 

 

22. SUPPLIER RELATIONSHIP 

 
 Nothing in these terms and conditions is intended to create any legal relationship 

between the parties other than that of a supplier and customer.   
 

Page 284



Page 1 of 6 

Municipal Year 2021/22 

H – OFFICER EMPLOYMENT PROCEDURE RULES (MANDATORY) 
 
 

 
H1  Definitions 
 

In these Rules 
 
“the 1989 Act” means the Local Government and Housing Act 1989; 
 
“the 2000 Act” means the Local Government Act 2000; 
 
“the 20011 Act! Means the Localism Act 2011 
 
“disciplinary action” has the same meaning as in the Local Authorities (Standing 
Orders) (England) Regulations 2001; 
 
“proper officer” means the Council’s Head of Human Resources 
 
“independent person” means a person appointed under section 28(7) of the 2011 
Act; 
 
“local government elector” means a person registered as a local government 
elector in the register of electors for Hyndburn in accordance with the 
Representation of the People Acts 
 
“the Panel” means a committee appointed by the Council under section 104(2) of 
the Local Government Act 1972 for the purpose of advising the Council on 
matters relating to the dismissal of relevant officers of the Council; 
 
“relevant meeting” means a meeting  of the Council to consider whether or not to 
approve a proposal to dismiss a relevant officer; 
 
“relevant officer” means the Council’s head of paid service, chief finance officer 
or monitoring officer as the case may be 
 

                 “chief finance officer”, “council manager”, “ head of paid service” and “monitoring 
officer”, and “executive” have the same meaning as in regulation 2 of the Local 
Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 2001  

 
H2 (a) Declarations 
 
 (i) The Council will draw up a statement requiring any candidate for 

appointment as an officer to state in writing whether they are the parent, 
grandparent, partner, child, stepchild, adopted child, grandchild, brother, 
sister, uncle, aunt, nephew or niece of an existing councillor or officer of 
the Council; or of the partner of such persons. 

 

Page 285



Page 2 of 6 

Municipal Year 2021/22 

 (ii) No candidate so related to a councillor or an officer will be appointed 
without the authority of the relevant chief officer or an officer nominated by 
him/her. 

 
 (b) Seeking support for appointment 
 
  (i) Subject to paragraph (iii), the Council will disqualify any applicant who 

directly or indirectly seeks the support of any councillor for any 
appointment with the Council.  The content of this paragraph will be 
included in any recruitment information. 

 
  (ii) Subject to paragraph (iii), no councillor will seek support for any person for 

any appointment with the Council. 
 
H3  Except for the following, the appointment, dismissal and taking of disciplinary 

action against, a member of staff must be discharged by the Council’s head of 
paid service or by an officer nominated by him or her: 

 
  (a)  the officer designated as the Council’s head of paid service; 
 
  (b)  a statutory chief officer within the meaning of section 2(6) of the 1989 Act; 
 

 (c) a non-statutory chief officer within the meaning of section 2(7) of the 1989 
Act; 

 
 (d) a deputy chief officer within the meaning of section 2(8) of the 1989 Act; or  
 
 (e) an assistant to political group appointed in pursuance of section 9 of the 

1989 Act. 
 

H4  (1) Where a committee, sub-committee or officer is discharging the function of 
appointment of the Council’s head of paid service, the Council must 
approve that appointment before an offer of appointment is made to him or 
her. 

 
  (2) Where a committee or a sub-committee or officer is discharging, the 

function of the dismissal of a relevant officer, the Council must approve 
that dismissal before notice of dismissal is given to that person. 

 
H5  (1) In this Rule, “appointor” means, in relation to the appointment of a person 

as a Council officer, the Council or, where a committee, sub-committee or 
officer is discharging the function of appointment on behalf of the Council, 
that committee, sub-committee or officer, as the case may be. 

 
  (2) An offer of an appointment to an officer position referred to in sub-

paragraph (a), (b), (c) or (d) of Rule H3 must not be made by the appointor 
until – 

 
   (a) the appointor has notified the proper officer of the name of the 

person to whom the appointor wishes to make the offer and any 

Page 286



Page 3 of 6 

Municipal Year 2021/22 

other particulars which the appointor considers are relevant to the 
appointment; 

 
   (b) the proper officer has notified every member of the executive of  
 
    (i) the name of the person to whom the appointor wishes to 

make the offer; 
 
    (ii) any other particulars relevant to the appointment which the 

appointor has notified to the proper officer; and 
 
    (iii) the period within which any objection to the making of the 

offer may be made by the leader on behalf of the executive 
to the proper officer; and 

 
   (c) either – 
 
    (i) the leader has, within the period specified in the notice under 

sub-paragraph (b)(iii), notified the appointor that neither 
he/she nor any other member of the executive has any 
objection to the making of the offer; 

 
    (ii) the proper officer has notified the appointor that no objection 

was received within that period from the leader; or 
 
    (iii) the appointor is satisfied that any objection received from the 

leader within that period is not material or is not well-
founded. 

 
H6  (1) In this Rule, “dismissor” means, in relation to the dismissal of a Council 

officer, the Council or, where a committee, sub-committee or another 
officer is discharging the function of dismissal on behalf of the Council, 
that committee, sub-committee or other officer, as the case may be. 

 
  (2) Notice of the dismissal of an officer holding a post referred to in sub-

paragraph (a), (b), (c) or (d) of Rule H3 must not be given by the dismissor 
until –  

 
   (a) the dismissor has notified the proper officer of the name of the 

person who the dismissor wishes to dismiss and any other 
particulars which the dismissor considers are relevant to the 
dismissal; 

 
   (b) the proper officer has notified every member of the executive of –  
 
    (i)  the name of the person who the dismissor wishes to dismiss; 
 
    (ii) any other particulars relevant to the dismissal which the 

dismissor has notified to the proper officer; and 
 

Page 287



Page 4 of 6 

Municipal Year 2021/22 

    (iii) the period within which any objection to the dismissal is to be 
made by the leader on behalf of the executive to the proper 
officer; and 

   (c) either – 
 
    (i) the leader has, within the period specified in the notice under 

sub-paragraph (b)(iii), notified the dismissor that neither 
he/she nor any other member of the executive has any 
objection to the dismissal; 

 
    (ii) the proper officer has notified the dismissor that no objection 

was received within that period from the leader; or 
 
    (iii) the dismissor is satisfied that any objection received from the 

leader within that period is not material or is not well-founded 
 
H7  Nothing in Rule H3 shall prevent a person from serving as a member of any 

committee or sub-committee established by the Council to consider an appeal by 
– 

  (a) another person against any decision relating to the appointment of 
that other person as a member of staff of the Council; or 

 
  (b) a member of staff of the Council against any decision relating to the 

dismissal of, or taking disciplinary action against, that member of 
staff. 

  
H8  The Council may not dismiss a relevant officer unless it has complied with the  

following procedure: 

1) The Council must invite relevant independent persons to be considered for 
appointment to the Panel, with a view to appointing at least two such 
persons to the Panel; 

2) For the purpose of Rule H8 “relevant independent person” means any 
independent person who has been appointed by the Council or, where 
there are fewer than two such persons, such independent persons as 
have been appointed by another authority or authorities as the Council 
considers appropriate; 

3) Subject to paragraph 4) the Council must appoint to the Panel such 
relevant independent persons who have accepted an invitation issued in 
accordance with paragraph 1) in accordance with the following priority 
order: 

a. a relevant independent person who has been appointed by the 
Council and who is a local government elector 

b. any other relevant independent person who has been appointed by 
the Council 

c. a relevant independent person who has been appointed by another 
authority or authorities 

Page 288



Page 5 of 6 

Municipal Year 2021/22 

4) The Council is not required to appoint more than two relevant independent 
persons in accordance with paragraph 3) but may do so 

5) The Council must appoint the Panel at least 20 working days before the 
relevant meeting 

6) Before taking a vote at the relevant meeting on whether or not to approve 
such a dismissal the Council must take into account in particular: 

a. Any advice, views or recommendations of the Panel 

b. The conclusions of any investigation into the proposed dismissal; 
and 

c. Any representations from the relevant officer 

7) Any remuneration, allowances or fees paid by the Council to an 
independent person appointed to the Panel must not exceed the level of 
remuneration, allowances or fees payable to that independent person 
under the 2011 Act 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 289



 

Page 290



Page 1 of 7 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

 

 
Code dealing with the conduct expected of members and co-opted 

Members of Hyndburn Borough Council when acting in that capacity 
 

 
Part 1: General 

 
1. You are a member of Hyndburn Borough Council and when acting as such you must 

have regard to the following principles – selflessness, integrity, objectivity, 
accountability, openness, honesty and leadership. 

 
2. Accordingly, when acting in your capacity as a member -  
 

a) You must act solely in the public interest and should never improperly confer an 
advantage or disadvantage on any person or act to gain financial or other material 
benefits for yourself, your family, a friend or close associate. 

b) You must not place yourself under a financial or other obligation to outside 
individuals or organisations that might seek to influence you in the performance of 
your official duties. 

c) When carrying out your public duties you must make all choices, such as making 
public appointments, awarding contracts or recommending individuals for rewards 
or benefits, on merit. 

d) You are accountable for your decisions to the public and you must co-operate fully 
with whatever scrutiny is appropriate to your office. 

e) You must be as open as possible about your decisions and actions and the 
decisions and actions of the Council and should be prepared to give reasons for 
those decisions and actions. 

f) You must declare any private interests, both pecuniary and non-pecuniary, that 
relate to your public duties and must take steps to resolve any conflicts arising in a 
way that protects the public interest, including registering and declaring interests in 
a manner conforming with the procedures set out in the box below. 

g) You must always treat people with respect, including the organisations and public 
you engage with and those you work alongside. 

h) You must, when using or authorising the use by others of Council resources, 
ensure that such resources are not used improperly (including for political 

Page 291



Page 2 of 7 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

purposes) and you must have regard to any applicable Local Authority Code of 
Publicity made under the Local Government Act 1986. 

i) You must behave in accordance with all the Council’s legal obligations, and must 
comply with the Council’s policies, protocols and procedures, including on the use 
of the Council’s resources. 

j) You must promote and support high standards of conduct when serving in your 
public post, demonstrating the characteristics set out in paragraph 1, by leadership 
and example. 

k) You must take account of relevant advice from the Council’s statutory and other 
professional officers, taking all relevant information into consideration, remaining 
objective and making decisions on merit. 

Part 2: Interests 
 

3.     Definitions 
 
A ‘meeting’ includes meetings of full Council, Cabinet, Committees and Sub-
Committees and any meetings with officers at which you seek to influence a decision 
to be taken by an officer acting under delegated powers. 

A ‘sensitive interest’ is described in the Localism Act 2011 as a member or co-opted 
member of an authority having an interest, and the nature of the interest being such 
that the member or co-opted member, and the Authority’s monitoring officer, consider 
that disclosure of the details of the interest could lead to the member or co-opted 
member, or a person connected with the member or co-opted member, being subject 
to violence or intimidation.  

The “Monitoring Officer” means the Executive Director (Legal & Democratic Services) 
or her / his nominated representative 
 
4.     Gifts and Hospitality 
 

You must, within 28 days of receipt, notify the Monitoring Officer in writing of any gift, 
benefit or hospitality with a value in excess of £100 which you have accepted as a 
member from any person or body other than the Council. 

The Monitoring Officer will place your notification on a public register of gifts and 
hospitality. 
 
 

5.     Disclosable pecuniary interests 
 

         Notification of disclosable pecuniary interests 

Within 28 days of this Code being adopted by the Council or your becoming a member 
of the Council (whichever is the later), you must notify the Monitoring Officer of your 
‘disclosable pecuniary interests’. 

Page 292



Page 3 of 7 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

 
A ‘disclosable pecuniary interest’ is an interest prescribed as such in regulations. 
These interests are described in the Code of Conduct Guidance (a copy of which is 
appended to this Code) which relates to or affects you or your partner (which means 
your spouse or civil partner, a person with whom you are living as husband or wife, or 
a person with whom you are living as if you are civil partners). 
 
Non participation in case of disclosable pecuniary interests 

 If you are present at a meeting and you have a disclosable pecuniary interest in any 
matter to be considered or being considered at the meeting: 

1. You may not participate in any discussion of the matter at the meeting. 

2. You may not participate in any vote taken on the matter at the meeting. 

3. If the interest is not registered, you must disclose the interest to the meeting. 

4. If the interest is not registered and is not the subject of a pending notification, 

you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest within 28 days. 

 
 Note: In addition, the Council Procedure Rules require you to leave the room where 
the meeting is held while any discussion or voting takes place on an item in which 
you have a disclosable pecuniary interest. 
 

 
Dispensations 

The Council’s Standards Committee may grant you a dispensation to enable you to 
participate and vote on a matter in which you have a disclosable pecuniary interest 
if: 

1. The number of members prohibited from taking part in the relevant business 
would be so great as to impede the transaction of the business; or 

2. The number of members prohibited from taking part in the relevant business 
would be so great as to affect the likely outcome of the vote; or 

3. The grant of the dispensation is in the interests of people living in the 
Borough; or 

4. Without the dispensation every member of the Cabinet would be prohibited 
from taking part in the relevant business; or 

5. It is otherwise appropriate to grant a dispensation.  
 
           Offences 

It is a criminal offence to 

 Fail to notify the Monitoring Officer of any disclosable pecuniary interest within 
28 days of your election 

 Fail to disclose a disclosable pecuniary interest at a meeting if it is not on the 
register 

 Fail to notify the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of a disclosable pecuniary 
interest that is not on the register and which you have disclosed at a meeting 

 Participate in any discussion or vote on a matter in which you have a 
disclosable pecuniary interest 

o Knowingly or recklessly provide information that is false or misleading in 
notifying the Monitoring Officer of a disclosable pecuniary interest or in 
disclosing such interest to a meeting 

 

Page 293



Page 4 of 7 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

The criminal penalties available to a court are to impose a fine not exceeding level 5 
on the standard scale and disqualification from being a councillor for up to 5 years. 

 
 

 

6. Personal Interests 
 

Notification of personal interests 
 
 You must, within 28 days of this Code being adopted by the Council or your election 
as a member (whichever is later), notify the Monitoring Officer in writing of the details 
of the following personal interests for inclusion in the register of interests 

You will have a personal interest in: 

(i) any body of which you are a member or in a position of general control or 
management and to which you are appointed or nominated by the Council; 

(ii) any body— 

(aa) exercising functions of a public nature; or 

(bb) directed to charitable purposes; or 

(cc) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or 
policy (including any political party or trade union), 

 of which you are a member or in a position of general control or management; 

Disclosure of personal interests 

Where you have a personal interest in any business of the Council, and where you 
are aware or ought reasonably to be aware of the existence of the personal interest, 
and you attend a meeting at which the business is considered, you must disclose to 
that meeting the existence and nature of your personal interest at the 
commencement of the meeting, or when the interest becomes apparent. 

 

7. Changes to personal or pecuniary interests 

 You must, within 28 days of becoming aware of any new personal or pecuniary 
interest or of any change to a personal or pecuniary interest you have already 
registered, notify the Monitoring Officer of the details of that new interest or change. 

 

8. Register of interests 

Any personal or pecuniary interests notified to the Monitoring Officer will be included 
in the Council’s register of members  interests. 
A copy of the register will be available for public inspection and will be published on 
the authority’s website. 

 

9.  Sensitive interests 

Where you consider that disclosure of the details an interest could lead to you, or a 
person connected with you, being subject to violence or intimidation, and the 
Monitoring Officer agrees, if the interest is entered on the register, copies of the 
register that are made available for inspection and any published version of the 

Page 294



Page 5 of 7 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

register will exclude details of the interest, but may state that you have an interest, 
the details of which are withheld. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

Page 295



Page 6 of 7 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

Code of Conduct Guidance 

 

The Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012 define 

disclosable pecuniary interests as follows: 

 
A ‘disclosable pecuniary interest’ is an interest of yourself or your partner (which means spouse or 
civil partner, a person with whom you are living as husband or wife, or a person with whom you are 
living as if you are civil partners) within the following descriptions: 
(In the extracts from the Regulations below, ‘M’ means you and ‘relevant person’ means you and 
your partner, as above) 
 

Subject Prescribed description 
Employment, office, trade, profession or 
vacation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession 
or vocation carried on for profit or gain. 
 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other 
financial benefit (other than from the 
relevant authority) made or provided 
within the relevant period in respect of 
any expenses incurred by M in carrying 
out duties as a member, or towards the 
election expenses of M. 
This includes any payment or financial 
benefit from a trade union within the 
meaning of the Trade Union and Labour 
Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992. 
 

Contracts Any contract which is made between the 
relevant person (or a body in which the 
relevant person has a beneficial interest) 
and the relevant authority— 
(a) under which goods or services are to 
be provided or works are to be executed; 
and 
(b) which has not been fully discharged. 
 

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is 
within the area of the relevant authority. 
 

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) 
to occupy land in the area of the relevant 
authority for a month or longer. 
 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to M’s knowledge)— 
(a) the landlord is the relevant authority; 
and 
(b) the tenant is a body in which the 
relevant person has a beneficial interest. 
 

Page 296



Page 7 of 7 
Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a 
body where— 
(a) that body (to M’s knowledge) has a 
place of business or land in the area of 
the relevant authority; and 
(b) either— 
 
(i) the total nominal value of the 
securities exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that body; or 
 
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of 
more than one class, the total nominal 
value of the shares of any one class in 
which the relevant person has a 
beneficial interest exceeds one 
hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that class. 

 
 

These descriptions on interests are subject to the following definitions; 

 

“the Act” means the Localism Act 2011; 

“body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest” means a firm in which the relevant 
person is a partner or a body corporate of which the relevant person is a director, or in the 
securities of which the relevant person has a beneficial interest; 

“director” includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial and provident 
society; 

“land” excludes an easement, servitude, interest or right in or over land which does not carry 
with it a right for the relevant person (alone or jointly with another) to occupy the land or to 
receive income; 

“M” means a member of a relevant authority; 

“member” includes a co-opted member; 

“relevant authority” means the authority of which M is a member; 

“relevant period” means the period of 12 months ending with the day on which M gives a 
notification for the purposes of section 30(1) or section 31(7), as the case may be, of the Act; 

“relevant person” means M or any other person referred to in section 30(3)(b) of the Act; 

“securities” means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a collective 
investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 and 
other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a building society. 

 

 

Page 297



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 7 

Municipal Year 2021/22  

A PROTOCOL FOR MEMBER/OFFICER RELATIONS 
 
1. Introduction 
 
Hyndburn Borough Council recognises that the relationship between members and officers is of 
vital importance to its work on behalf of the people of the Borough. The Council believes this 
Protocol demonstrates its commitment to act with integrity and helps both members and officers in 
carrying out their different, but interrelated, duties. 
 
2. Basic Principles 
 
Members and officers must treat each other with courtesy and respect at all times. 
 
The relationship between members and officers should be a professional one and close personal 
familiarity between members and officers should be avoided, as it prejudices the impartiality of 
decision making and can be embarrassing to other members and officers. 
 

For example, officers should not accept gifts or hospitality from members. 

Similarly, officers should not undertake work for members in a personal or 
private capacity. 

 
Neither members nor officers must try to take advantage of their position and their 
behaviour towards each other should never be bullying or threatening. 
 
Members must be aware of their position of influence and must not seek to abuse this, particularly 
with junior employees. 
 

For example, the role of officers is to implement Council policy. Members must 
never seek to persuade or bully officers to "bend the rules" in favour of them or 
anybody they are representing. 

 
Whether or not officers are in politically restricted posts, they must maintain political 
impartiality and seek to serve the needs of the Council as a whole. 
 
In particular, officers must treat members with courtesy and respect regardless of the member's 
political affiliation. Both members and officers must recognise the fundamental need for officers to 
be politically neutral in their work and both must ensure that officers are not placed in a situation 
where they are drawn into political disputes, either between different political groups or within a 
political group. 
 
Members and officers must comply with the Council's Equal Opportunities Policy at all 
times in their dealings with each other. 
 
The working relationship between members and officers must not be influenced by gender, sexual 
orientation, marital status, race, nationality, colour, religion, age or disability. 
 

For example, members and officers must not make sexual or racial remarks to 
each other, even if the remarks are meant as a "joke". Such behaviour can cause 
upset and offence and may leave the Council open to legal action, including 
claims of unfair dismissal and discrimination. 

 
Members must be aware of their role as employer of the Council's staff and must respect 
the Council's disciplinary procedures and the Council's management structure. 

Page 299



Page 2 of 7 

Municipal Year 2021/22  

If a member has a concern or complaint about an officer they must raise it privately with the 
officer's line manager or the appropriate chief officer. The concern or complaint should not be 
raised directly with the officer concerned. In particular, no member has any right to appoint, dismiss 
or discipline officers other than through membership of an appropriate panel or committee 
established under the Council's recruitment or disciplinary procedures and members must not 
become involved in individual staffing matters except at the request of the Chief Executive. 
 
Additionally, officers are responsible to the Council as their employer and that responsibility is 
implemented through the management structure. Officers are accountable to their chief officers, 
and whilst officers must always seek to assist members, they must not in doing so, exceed any 
authority they have been delegated by their chief officer. 
 

Members must never threaten any officer's employment, even if this is meant as a "joke". 
Any remarks of this nature are likely to constitute constructive dismissal of the officer 
concerned and may leave the Council open to a claim of unfair dismissal, for which 
substantial compensation may be payable. 
 
Also, members must never ask / instruct officers to keep information or discussions 
confidential from their line manager, unless the information or discussion relates to 
alleged misconduct by the line manager (in which case the information should be passed 
to the monitoring officer). 
 
Neither members nor officers must lobby any other members or officers in support of any 
employment decision affecting an individual employee or applicant for employment 

 
3. Relationship Between Officers And The Executive 
 
It is important that there is a close working relationship between the executive and chief officers. 
However, officers must ensure that such relationships never become so close, or appear so close, 
as to prejudice the officer's ability to deal impartially with other members and other party groups. 
 
The member who is to chair a cabinet meeting (plus any other members of the executive they 
specify) is entitled to receive a briefing on any reports officers propose to submit to the meeting. 
This briefing should be held at a time convenient to the members concerned and prior to the 
publication of the agenda and reports. The member who is to chair the meeting may direct that any 
item of business within the competence of the executive is included on the agenda for the meeting. 
 
Members of the executive are entitled to try to persuade officers to change the draft 
recommendations in reports to cabinet. However, chief officers are responsible for the content of 
reports submitted in their names. In the event of disagreement, the officer in whose name the 
report is submitted should make whatever recommendation they consider appropriate in their 
professional judgement and, if the leader so directs, the report should also contain a separate 
leader's recommendation. 
 
Members of the executive can expect chief officers to assist them in preparing member reports to 
cabinet. However, officers must not be asked to prepare material of a party political nature or which 
prejudices their political neutrality. If a chief officer disagrees with the recommendations in a 
member report the report should contain the member's recommendations and a separate chief 
officer's recommendation. Alternatively, the chief officer may submit his / her own 
recommendations to the meeting in the exercise of his / her professional judgement. 
 
Requests for briefings by members other than the chair of the meeting should be dealt with after 
the publication of the agenda. 

Page 300



Page 3 of 7 

Municipal Year 2021/22  

4. Relationship Between Officers and Committee Chairs 
 
The remarks in paragraph 3 apply equally to the relationship between officers and committee 
chairs. 
 
5. Officers at Committee/Cabinet Meetings 
 
Officers attending cabinet meetings will be able to speak at the invitation of the chair of the meeting 
(except the head of paid service, monitoring officer and chief finance officer, whose rights to 
address meetings of the executive are set out in the Council's Executive Procedure Rules). 
 
Members have a right to have the way they have voted on an issue recorded in the minutes of a 
meeting. An officer request that the minutes record the officer's advice on any matter where that 
advice has not been accepted shall also be complied with. 
 
Officers giving advice to committee / cabinet meetings are constrained in their ability to respond to 
any behaviour by members amounting to a personal attack or unnecessarily persistent questioning 
and members must not engage in such conduct. Similarly, officers are under a duty to give 
appropriate advice to members, even where they suspect it might be unpalatable. Officers must 
not be placed in a position where they are tempted to suppress their professional advice for fear of 
a member's response. Accordingly, if any member is unhappy with the advice received from an 
officer they should not persist in raising the matter at the meeting but should register their concern 
and intention to raise the issue with the appropriate chief officer or the Chief Executive at a later 
time. 
 
The chair of the meeting must ensure an officer is not subjected to undue criticism whilst giving 
advice to elected members and must intervene to prevent such a situation from continuing. If a 
situation of this sort occurs, the chair should report the matter to the Chief Executive following the 
meeting, so the matter can then be referred to and dealt with by leader of the relevant political 
group. A written response should be made to the officer concerned, indicating the outcome of any 
referral. 
 
A similar situation arises where an officer is not present at a particular meeting and the officer is 
specifically named during the debate. Members must ensure that the officer is not named to his 
detriment when the press or public are present and he / she is not in a position to refute any 
allegation or defend himself / herself. 
 
6. Officers and Scrutiny Committee 
 
Officers must comply with all lawful requests for factual information from overview and scrutiny 
committees within any reasonable timescale laid down by the committee, even if the information 
may be embarrassing to the leader and cabinet. Officers should seek advice from Legal Services if 
they are uncertain about the committee's right to any particular information requested. 
 
Overview and scrutiny committees must respect the political neutrality of officers and should not 
expect them to comment upon political matters, e.g. officers should not be asked to express an 
opinion about the wisdom or merits of decisions made by the leader and cabinet. In respect of 
items before overview and scrutiny committee, officers can, however, be asked to explain: 

 what the Council policy is; 
 

 the justification and objectives of that policy as the executive sees it; 
 

 the extent to which those objectives may have been met; 
 

 how administrative factors may have affected the choice of policy measures and the 
manner of their implementation  

 

Page 301



Page 4 of 7 

Municipal Year 2021/22  

Officers can additionally be asked to explain and justify: 
 

 the advice they have given to the executive prior to decisions being taken 
 

 decisions the officer him / herself has taken under delegated powers.  
 
When interviewing officers, overview and scrutiny committees should pay particular attention to the 
advice in section 5 of this Protocol. 
 
7. Officer Advice To Members 
 
Officer advice to members must reflect the "Basic Principles" set out in section 2 of this Protocol 
e.g. it must be politically neutral, must be given courteously and must accord with the Council's 
equal opportunities policy. 
 
Officers and members must not engage in "off the record" discussions. Officers cannot give "off the 
record" advice to members, nor must members ever ask them to do so. Officers must always retain 
a written record of any advice they have given members and verbal advice must always be 
followed up with a letter to the member confirming the advice that has been given. 
 
8. Officer Advice to Party Groups 
 
It is common practice for party groups to consider and discuss matters of Council business before 
they are considered at committee or cabinet. Officers may properly be called upon to support party 
group discussions, provided the appropriate chief officer agrees. The officer support may involve 
briefing a chair or spokesperson prior to a committee / cabinet meeting or a presentation to a party 
group meeting. Such support is available to all party groups. 
However, members and officers must abide by the following guidelines: 

 (a) the officer support must not extend beyond providing information and advice in 
relation to matters of Council business. Officers must not be involved in advising 
on matters of party business and officers must not be present at meetings, or 
parts of meetings, when matters of party business are discussed. 

 (b) party group meetings cannot make decisions on behalf of the Council. 
Conclusions reached at such meetings do not therefore rank as Council 
decisions and officers must not interpret or act upon them as such;  

 (c) although officers may have provided information and advice to a party group 
meeting in relation to a matter of Council business, this cannot act as a 
substitute for providing all necessary information and advice to the relevant 
committee / cabinet meeting when the matter in question is considered. 

 (d) Officers must exercise special care if they are involved in providing information 
and advice to a party group meeting which includes persons who are not 
members of the Council. Such persons will not be bound by the statutory code 
of conduct (in particular, the provisions concerning the declaration of interests 
and confidentiality) and officers should consider carefully whether they are able 
to provide the same level of information and advice as they would to a members 
only meeting. 

 (e) Officers must respect the confidentiality of any party group discussions at which 
they are present and they should not relay the content of any such discussion to 
another party group. 

Any particular cases of difficulty or uncertainty arising in respect of officer advice to party groups 
should be raised with the chief executive, who will discuss them with the relevant group leader(s). 
 
 

Page 302



Page 5 of 7 

Municipal Year 2021/22  

9. Members' Access To Information And To Council Documents 
 
Members are free to ask any Council Section to provide them with such information and advice 
about the Section's work as they may reasonably need to assist them in discharging their role as 
members of the Council. This can range from a request for general information about some aspect 
of a Section's activities to a request for specific information on behalf of a constituent. Such 
requests should normally be directed to the chief officer or another senior officer of the Section 
concerned. 
 
Briefly, members are entitled to: 
 

 inspect any document containing material relating to any business to be dealt with at a 
meeting of a committee of full council (see (a) below); 
 

 inspect any document provided they can establish a sufficient "need to know" (see (b) 
below); 
 

 inspect documents before the leader and cabinet, with members of scrutiny committees 
having additional rights (see (b) below); 

 
Further guidance is contained in the Access To Information Procedure Rules in the Council's 
written constitution. 
 

(a) Members have a statutory right to inspect any Council document that contains 
material relating to any business that is to be transacted at a Council or committee 
meeting. This right: 

 

 applies irrespective of whether the member is a member of that committee 
 

 extends not only to reports which are to be submitted to the meeting, but also to any 
relevant background papers 
 

 does not apply to documents which contain exempt information relating to employees, 
occupiers of Council property, applicants for grants and other services, contract and 
industrial relations negotiations, advice from Counsel and criminal investigations. 

 
(b) In addition, members have the right to inspect Council documents if this is 

reasonably necessary to enable the member properly to perform his/her duties as a 
member of the Council. This is commonly known as the "need to know" principle. 
The following rules apply to the "need to know": 

 

 members must demonstrate that they have the necessary "need to know". Mere curiosity is 
not sufficient. 

 

 The "need to know" must initially be determined by the chief officer whose Section holds 
the document in question (with advice from the Executive Director (Legal and Democratic 
Services) if required). In the event of dispute, the question will be decided by the relevant 
committee or the cabinet (depending on the body in connection with whose functions the 
document is held). 

 In some circumstances (eg, a committee member wishing to inspect documents relating to 
the functions of that committee) a member's "need to know" will normally be presumed. In 
other circumstances (eg, a member wishing to inspect documents which contain personal 
information about third parties), a member will normally be expected to justify the request in 
specific terms. 

 

 The term "Council document" is very broad and includes any document produced with 
Council resources. However, a member of one party will not have a "need to know", and 

Page 303



Page 6 of 7 

Municipal Year 2021/22  

therefore a right to inspect, a document which forms part of the internal workings of another 
group. 

 

 Members have no right of access to information held by the Council under an obligation of 
confidentiality or if its release would be an offence under the Data Protection Act.  

 
 (c) All members are entitled to inspect documents in the possession or control of the 

leader and cabinet which relate to business to be dealt with at a cabinet meeting, 
although this excludes exempt information. In addition, members of overview and 
scrutiny committees are entitled to copies of such documents, including those 
containing exempt information if it relates to issues the scrutiny committee are 
reviewing / scrutinising or which they intend to review or scrutinise. 

 
Any Council information given to a member must only be used for the purpose for which it was 
provided and must be used by the member in connection with the proper performance of the 
member's duties as a member of the Council. 
 
Members must not knowingly seek information which is not publicly available and: 
 

 which they do not have a need to know to perform their duties 
 

 in which they are professionally interested 
 

 in which they have a disclosable pecuniary interest or a personal interest 
 
An officer who receives a request for information which is not publicly available and in which it 
seems that the member may have an interest should refer the request to their Service Head or 
Chief Officer for them to discuss with the member concerned.  
 
Officers should respond promptly to requests for information. Usually, the information should be 
provided within 5 working days of the member's request. If this is not possible, the member must 
receive a written reply not later than 5 working days after his / her request, explaining why a full 
reply cannot be provided within the usual time period, together with an estimate of when a fully 
reply will be given, unless other arrangements have been agreed with the member. A decision to 
refuse a member access to requested information must be reviewed by the Chief Executive at the 
member's request. 
 
10. Involvement Of Ward Councillors 
 
Whenever a public meeting is organised by the Council to consider a local issue, all the members 
representing the ward or wards affected should, as a matter of course, be invited to attend the 
meeting. Similarly, whenever the Council undertakes any form of consultative exercise on a local 
issue, the ward members should be notified at the outset of the exercise. 
 
11. Access to Officers 
 
Members may consult with any officer during the Council's normal working hours and all members 
shall be provided with the direct line telephone numbers of all employees. Cabinet members, the 
chairs and deputy chairs of committees and political group leaders shall be provided, in 
confidence, with the home telephone numbers of chief officers for emergency use. 
 
Officers shall respond promptly to a request from a member for a meeting and will arrange for a 
meeting be held within three working days if reasonably practicable. If the officer cannot attend a 
meeting within this timescale they should arrange for another officer to attend in their place. 
 
 
 

Page 304



Page 7 of 7 

Municipal Year 2021/22  

12. Use of Council Facilities 
 
Members have the right to use Council facilities such as stationery, reprographics, secretarial 
services and telecommunications equipment, in the performance of their duties as a councillor, but 
for no other purpose whatsoever.  
 
The above also applies to Council equipment which members are allowed to take home e.g mobile 
phones. Members are responsible for the safekeeping of such equipment and must ensure that 
others do not gain access to it or use it for any improper purpose. 
 
13. Media Relations 
 
Chief officers shall assist members in explaining proposals and policies to journalists but not in 
promoting individual councillors or their political views. Officers should ensure that they comply 
with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Publicity at all times. 
 
Special care must be taken in the period before an election and officers should seek advice from 
the Chief Executive or the Executive Director (Legal and Democratic Services) before dealing with 
the media at this time. 
 
14. Members as Representatives on Outside Bodies 
 
Members are entitled to all reasonable assistance from officers to support them in their 
membership of outside bodies to which they have been appointed by the Council. Such assistance 
will include the provision of information about the body prior to appointment and the availability of a 
named contact officer for each body for briefing purposes and to assist the member to report back 
to the Council on the activities of that body. 
 
15. Failure to Comply with this Protocol 
 
Any member or officer who knows or suspects that an officer has failed to comply with the 
provisions of this Protocol shall bring the matter to the attention of the Chief Executive or follow the 
Council's whistleblowing policy and procedure. Any action to investigate the alleged breach of this 
Protocol shall be conducted in accordance with the Council's disciplinary procedure. 
 
Any member or officer who knows or suspects that a member has failed to comply with the 
provisions of this Protocol shall follow the Council's whistleblowing policy and procedure or bring 
the matter to the attention of the Chief Executive who shall raise the matter with the member 
concerned and take whatever further action which may seem appropriate. A breach of the terms of 
this Protocol may result in the member concerned being referred to the Council's Standards 
Committee. 
 
16. Review 
 
This code shall be reviewed as and when necessary. 

Page 305



This page is intentionally left blank



Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

HYNDBURN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

CODE OF CONDUCT FOR EMPLOYEES 
 

 
1. STANDARDS 
 

1.1 Local government employees are expected to give the highest possible 
standards of service to the public, and where it is part of their duties, to 
provide appropriate advice to other colleagues and councillors with 
impartiality.  You may without fear of recrimination bring to the attention of the 
appropriate level of management, any deficiency in the provision of service.  
You must report any impropriety or breach of procedure.  Normally, you would 
expect to report to your Head of Service, but in exceptional cases you may 
approach the Head of Paid Service or the Council’s Monitoring Officer 
(Executive Director, Legal & Democratic Services) if you so wish. 

 
2. DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION 
 

2.1 It is generally accepted that open government is best.  The law requires that 
certain types of information must be available to members, auditors, 
government departments, service users and the public.  The Authority itself 
may decide to open other types of information.  You must be aware of the 
types of information which, in Hyndburn Borough Council, are open and which 
are not, and act accordingly.  If you are in any doubt, ask your line manager 
for guidance.  The Council’s policy is to make as much information available 
to the public as possible. 
 
In preparing committee reports, for example, items should not be made 
‘exempt’, even though this might be technically possible, unless disclosure 
would prejudice the position of the Council or the individual or company 
concerned.  Generally therefore you should release factual information unless 

(i) it is (or is likely to be) the subject of an exempt report 

(ii) it relates to the personal circumstances of an employee, or a member 
of the public or a member organisation or company or 

(iii) it is covered by restrictions under the Data Protection Act. 
 
Guidance can be obtained from the Member Services section in respect of 
reports to committee, and generally from Legal & Democratic Services. 

 
2.2 You should not use any information obtained in the course of your 

employment for personal gain or benefit, nor should you pass it on to others 
who might use it in such a way.  Any particular information received by you 
from a councillor or a fellow employee, which is personal to that person and 
does not belong to the Authority, should not be divulged by you without prior 
approval of that person.  The exception is where such disclosure is required 
or sanctioned by law.  Again guidance can be obtained from Legal & 
Democratic Services. 

 
3. POLITICAL NEUTRALITY 
 

3.1 You serve the Authority as a whole.  It follows you must serve all members 
and not just members of any controlling group, and you must ensure that the 
individual rights of all members are respected. 

Page 307



Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

 
3.2 Some employees will be expected, within the Authority’s guidelines, to advise 

political groups and they must do so in ways which do not compromise their 
political neutrality.  If you are one of these, you have a duty to advise minority 
groups as well as controlling groups. 

 
The Council’s guidelines are as follows: - 
(i) you cannot be required to give advice to a political group as such, but 

may do so if you wish.  In the interests of neutrality and to ensure all 
parties are able to receive appropriate advise, you should inform your 
line manager if you decline to assist; 

(ii) the relevant Head of Service (and Head of Paid Service, in the case of 
attendance by Heads of Service) should always be notified.  Care 
should be taken to ensure that regular attendance does not give rise 
to accusations of political partiality; 

(iii) If you are asked to advise a group meeting at which non-elected 
people are in attendance, advice should be sought first from the 
relevant Head of Service or the Head of Paid Service. 

 
3.3 Certain posts within the Authority are designated as “politically sensitive”.  If 

this applies to your post, you must abide by the rules in the Local Government 
and Housing Act 1989 as described to you either (a) when you were 
appointed or (b) when the rules became operative.  Please consult the Legal 
& Democratic Services section if unsure on this aspect.  Broadly, you must 
not hold office with any political party or engage in activities of a political 
nature. 

 
3.4 Whether or not your post is politically restricted, you must follow every lawful 

expressed policy of the Authority and must not allow your own personal or 
political opinions to interfere with your work. 

 
4. RELATIONSHIPS 
 

4.1 Councillors 
 
You are responsible to the Authority through its Heads of Service.  For some, 
your job is to give advice to Councillors and your Authority.  Mutual respect 
between employees and Councillors is essential to good local government.  
Close personal familiarity with individual Councillors can damage the 
relationship and prove embarrassing to other employees and Councillors and 
should therefore be avoided. 

 
4.2 The Local Community and Service Users 
 

You should always remember your responsibilities to the community you 
serve and ensure courteous, efficient and impartial service delivery to all 
groups and individuals within that community as defined by the policies of the 
Authority, particularly its Customer Contracts, Complaints and Enquiries 
procedures, etc. 

 
4.3 Contractors 
 

All personal relationships with contractors or potential contractors should be 
made known to the appropriate Head of Service.  To do otherwise 
contravenes the law.  Orders and contracts must be awarded on merit, by fair 
competition against other tenders, and no favouritism should be shown to  

Page 308



Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

 
businesses run by for example friends, partners or relatives.  No part of the 
community should be discriminated against.  If you engage or supervise 
contractors or have an official relationship with contractors and have 
previously had or currently have a relationship in a private or domestic 
capacity, you should declare that relationship to your Head of Service. 

 

5. APPOINTMENT AND OTHER EMPLOYMENT MATTERS 
 

5.1 If you are involved in appointments you should ensure that these are made on 
the basis of merit.  It would be unlawful to make an appointment which was 
based on anything other than the ability of the candidate to undertake the 
work.  In order to avoid any possible accusation of bias, you should not be 
involved in an appointment where you are related to an applicant, or have a 
personal relationship outside work with him or her. 

 
5.2 Similarly, you should not be involved in decisions relating to discipline, 

promotion or pay adjustments for any other employee who is a relative, 
partner or close friend. 

 
6. OUTSIDE COMMITMENTS 
 

6.1 You may have conditions of service which require you to obtain written 
consent to take any outside employment.  You should be clear about your 
contractual obligations and should not take outside employment which 
conflicts with the Authority’s interests. 

 
6.2 The Council Policy is as follows: - 

 
(i) if you are above SCP 28 you shall not engage in any other business 

or take up any additional appointment without the express consent of 
the Council; 

(ii) if you are on SCP 28 or below, you may use your own time as you 
wish, provided additional employment or other external activities 
(whether paid or not) do not conflict with the Authority’s interests, or 
weaken confidence in the conduct of the Authority’s business; 

(iii) work arising from additional employment or other outside interests 
may not be carried out in office time nor use made of Council 
resources or facilities (including typing) for those purposes without 
obtaining prior authorisation. 

 
6.3 The Council is entitled to all legal right in anything created or produced by you 

whilst working for the Council which is capable of being protected by 
copyright or a patent. 

 
(i) all creative designs, writings and drawings produced by you in the 

course of your duties belong to the Council; and, 
(ii) all inventions made by you are the property of the Council if made 

during the course of your normal duties (which include those 
described in your notice of terms of employment, and those duties 
arising from an instruction of a relevant Head of Service or other 
authorised officer of the Council). 

Page 309



Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

 

7. PERSONAL INTERESTS 
 

7.1 You must declare to an appropriate Officer non-financial interests which you 
consider could bring about conflict with the Authority’s interests for example 
involvement with an organisation receiving grant aid from the Council, 
involvement with an organisation or pressure group which may seek to 
influence the Council’s policies, etc.  This would not include involvement as 
an ordinary member of the public e.g. in being consulted or attending 
meetings of an organisation on a local issue. 
 
The test is to ask yourself whether your interest is clear and substantial.  If 
you have any uncertainty consult the Executive Director, Legal & Democratic 
Services.  Do not be deterred if you forget to declare an interest at the outset, 
the door is never closed. 

 
7.2 You must declare any financial interests which could conflict with the 

Authority’s interests. 
 
7.3 You should declare to the Head of Human Resources membership of any 

organisation not open to the public without formal membership and 
commitment of allegiance, and which has secrecy about its rules or conduct. 

 
8. EQUALITY ISSUES 
 

8.1 You have an obligation to ensure that policies relating to equality issues as 
agreed by the Authority are complied with, as well, of course, as the 
requirements of the law.  All members of the local community, customers and 
other employees have a right to be treated with fairness and equality. 

 

9 SEPARATION OF ROLES DURING TENDERING 
 

9.1 You must be clear on the separation of client and contractor roles within the 
Authority.  If you are a senior employee with both a client and contractor 
responsibility you must be aware of the need for accountability and openness.  
Regulations for compulsory competitive tendering have particular requirement 
for ensuring that contractor units are not involved in tender evaluation.  If in 
doubt, consult Legal & Democratic Services. 

 
9.2 If you are in a contractor or provider unit you must exercise fairness and 

impartiality when dealing with all customers, suppliers, contractors and sub-
contractors. 

 
9.3 If you are privy to confidential information on tenders or costs for either 

internal or external contractors you are under a duty not to disclose that 
information to any unauthorised party or organisation. 

 
9.4 You should ensure that no special favour is shown to current or recent former 

employees or their partners, close relatives or associates in awarding 
contracts to businesses run by them or employing them in a senior or relevant 
managerial capacity. 

 
10 GIFTS AND HOSPITALITY 
 

10.1 It is a criminal offence for you corruptly to receive or give any gift, loan, fee, 
reward or advantage for doing or not doing anything or showing favour or  

Page 310



Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

10.2 disfavour to any person in your official capacity.  It is for you to demonstrate 
that any such rewards have not been corruptly obtained. 

 
10.3 The central test to apply in any situation is “What would the man or woman in 

the street think?”  Ask yourself whether they would think that you might be 
influenced in your future conduct by the gift or hospitality offered.  Would they 
think that your past conduct might have been influenced by the hope of, or 
designed to encourage, such a gift of hospitality?  If the answer to either of 
this is “yes”, you should refuse the offer. 

 
10.4 The following notes are intended to act as guidance only.  It is impossible to 

prepare guidance to cover all situations, and you should always consult your 
Head of Service or the Executive Director, Legal & Democratic Services if in 
doubt or when complex or potentially contentious situations occur. 

 
Gifts 
 
(i) A gift offered to you may be accepted if: 

 
- it is offered during official authorised hospitality, and/or 
 
- it is of nominal value (below £10), and (in either case) 
 
- no ulterior motive is apparent nor is there any danger of 

misinterpretation by the public (for example, because the offer 
comes from a person or company tendering for work) 

 
(ii) Gifts outside of the scope of (i) above should normally be refused.  

They may, however, be accepted if refusal would give office.  In that 
case, the gift could be accepted and donated to the Mayoral Charity 
Fund with a suitable explanation.  They should always be refused if an 
ulterior motive is apparent. 

 
(iii) Gifts offered by grateful members of the public can similarly be 

accepted where the value is nominal and a refusal might otherwise 
give offence.  Some members of staff, however, regularly come into 
contact with the public and a frequent recurrence of small gifts might 
give the impression that they are expected or a reward for favourable 
treatment.  In these circumstances gifts should normally be refused.  
(Alternatively they can be donated to the Charity Fund, if refusal would 
give offence). 

 
(iv) In any event, you should refuse and offer and avoid situations where 

you are likely to be offered a gift from a person engaged in negotiating 
a contract or other matter with the Council, or who has negotiated 
such a matter and where you are directly responsible for formulating 
recommendations to the Council or for monitoring the service received 
from the person concerned. 

 

 Gifts over £10, which are accepted, must be entered in the 
Register (see 10.4). 

Page 311



Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

 
Hospitality 
 
(v) Hospitality from other individuals or bodies can be a perfectly 

respectable way of doing business, of making contact and of 
representing and promoting the interests of the Council.  In all cases, 
however, ask yourself what impression would be created by the 
particular example. 

 
(vi) For example, is the scale of hospitality in reasonable proportion to the 

declared objectives, or might there be a hidden motive? 
(vii) Has the hospitality been offered to you personally, or in your official 

capacity?  Has it been offered to others as well?  Are those offering 
the hospitality, negotiating or discussing with the Council some matter 
of importance to them, and are you directly involved or responsible for 
those discussions on behalf of the Council? 

 
(viii) In all cases, it is better to err on the side of caution.  If you have 

doubts, seek advice.  What matters above all else, are the reputations 
of the Council and local government generally. 

 
(ix) Acceptance of hospitality at conferences and courses is acceptable 

where it is clear that it is corporate not personal, where consent is 
given in advance and where the Authority is satisfied that any 
purchasing decisions are not compromised.  Where visits to inspect 
equipment, etc. are required, the Authority must meet the cost of such 
visits to avoid jeopardising the integrity of subsequent purchasing 
decisions. 

 
10.5 The Council maintains a Register in which should be recorded all gifts and 

hospitality accepted by officers.  The Register is kept within Legal & 
Democratic Services and it is your personal responsibility to ensure any gift or 
hospitality is properly recorded. 

 
11 USE OF FINANCIAL RESOURCES 
 

11.1 You must ensure that you use public funds entrusted to you in a responsible 
manner, ensuring value for money to the local community and avoiding legal 
challenge to the Authority.  If you are in doubt about your obligations, you 
must seek advice. 

 
12 SPONSORSHIP – GIVING AND RECEIVING 
 

12.1 Where an outside organisation wishes to sponsor or is sought to sponsor a 
local government activity, whether by invitation, tender, negotiation or 
voluntarily, the basic conventions concerning acceptance of gifts or hospitality 
apply.  Particular care must be taken when dealing with contractors or 
potential contractors. 

 
12.2 Where the Council wishes to sponsor an event or service neither you nor any 

partner, spouse or relative must benefit from such sponsorship in a direct way 
without there being full disclosure to an appropriate Head of Service of any 
such interest.  Similarly, where the Council through sponsorship, grant aid, 
financial or other means, gives support in the community, you should ensure 
that impartial advice is given and that there is no conflict of interest involved. 

 
Ref: Part 5 Code of Conduct for Employees 

Page 312



Municipal Year 2021/22 
 

HYNDBURN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

MEMBERS PLANNING CODE OF GOOD PRACTICE 

 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

The aim of this code of good practice is to ensure that in the Town and Country  

Planning process there are no grounds for suggesting that a decision has been biased, 

partial or not well founded in any way. It will also inform members whether, apart from 

the code of conduct, there is any reason why they should not participate in making a 

particular decision. 

 

The key purpose of the Planning System is to regulate  development and use of land 

in the public interest. 

 

Your role as a Member of the Planning Authority is to make planning decisions 

openly, impartially, with sound judgement and for legally justifiable reasons. You are 

also a democratically accountable decision maker who has been elected to provide and 

implement policies. You are entitled to be pre-disposed to make planning decisions in 

accordance with your political views and policies provided that you have considered all 

material considerations and have given fair consideration to relevant points raised. 

 

When the Code of Good Practice applies.  This code applies to Members at all times 

when they are involved in the planning process. (This includes taking part in the 

decision making, meetings of the Council when it is acting in its role as a Local Planning 

Authority, which will usually be through the Planning Committee, or when you are 

involved on less formal occasions, such as meetings with officers or the public and 

consultative meetings) and site visits.  It applies not only to the determination of 

planning applications but also to planning enforcement matters or site specific policy 

issues  

 

Page 313



Municipal Year 2021/22 
 

If you have any doubts about the application of this Code to your own 

circumstances you should seek advice from the Monitoring Officer or her staff, 

preferably well before any meeting takes place. 

 

1. RELATIONSHIP TO THE MEMBER’S CODE OF CONDUCT 

 

1.1  You must apply the rules in the Members’ Code of Conduct first, as they must 

always be complied with. This is both the rules on interests, Disclosable Pecuniary 

Interests and any other interests identified by the Council, and the general rules 

giving effect to the seven principles of public life: selflessness, integrity, objectivity, 

accountability, openness, honesty and leadership. 

 

1.2   You should then apply the rules in this Planning Code of Good Practice, which 

 explains and supplements the Members’ Code of Conduct with specific reference 

 to the Council’s role as a Local Planning Authority.  

 

1.3   If you do not abide by this Code of Good Practice, your conduct may put the  

 Council at risk of proceedings on the legality of the related decision or 

 maladministration. You may also put yourself at risk of being reported to the 

 Standards Committee which could result in you  being named in a report made 

 to the Council or , if the failure is also likely to be a breach of the interests 

 provisions in the Localism Act 2011,  a complaint being made to the police to 

 consider criminal proceedings 

 

2. DEVELOPMENT PROPOSALS AND INTERESTS UNDER THE MEMBER’S 

 CODE OF CONDUCT 

 

2.1 The Members Code of Conduct requires you to notify the Council’s Monitoring 

Officer of any Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and any Personal Interests.  You 

are also required to declare any private interests, both pecuniary and non 

pecuniary, that relate to your public duties and take steps to resolve any conflicts 

arising in a way that protects the public interest. This could be done by 

Page 314



Municipal Year 2021/22 
 

registering or declaring those interests in accordance with the Members Code of 

Conduct. 

 

2.2 DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS 

 

 The definition of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest is set out in the Member’s 

 Code of Conduct. In addition you should take into account when approaching a 

 decision the principle of integrity which is defined in terms that: 

 

 “Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under an obligation to 

 people or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their 

 work. They should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other 

 material benefits for themselves, their family, or their friends. They must 

 declare and resolve any interests and relationships” 

 

 If you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter that is being 

 considered by the Council /Planning Committee; 

  You must not participate in any discussion of the matter at the meeting.  

  (You do not now have a right to speak on the matter in the same way as a  

  member of the public unless you have obtained a dispensation from  the 

  Standards Committee) 

  

  You must not participate in any vote taken on the matter at the meeting. 

 

  You must disclose the interest to the meeting. 

 

  If the interest is not registered and is not the subject of a pending   

  notification, you must register the interest in your register of member’s  

  interests within 28 days. 

 

  You must also leave the meeting room whilst any matter in which you  

  have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest is being discussed or voted on. 

 

Page 315



Municipal Year 2021/22 
 

 The Member’s Code of Conduct explains how failure to comply with the 

 requirements relating to Disclosable Pecuniary Interests can amount to a 

 criminal offence. 

 

2.3 PERSONAL INTERESTS  

  

 The definition of a Personal Interest can be found in the Member’s Code of  

 Conduct. 

 If you have a personal interest in any planning matter before the Council / 

 Planning Committee you must disclose that interest at the meeting.  You do 

 not however  have to leave the meeting as you may take part in the discussion 

 and voting. 

 

2.4 You should notify the Monitoring Officer in writing of your own applications / 

proposals. This notification should be given to the Monitoring Officer no later than 

submission of the application. The proposal will always be reported to the 

Committee as a main item and not dealt with by officers under delegated powers. 

It would also be advisable to employ an agent to act on your behalf on the 

proposal in dealing with officers and any public speaking at the Planning 

Committee. You are not prevented from seeking to explain and justify a proposal 

in which you have a conflict of interest to an appropriate officer, in person or in 

writing, but your role as a councillor may place additional limitations on you in 

representing the proposal in which you have a personal interest. For example, 

you will need a dispensation from the Standards Committee if you wish to speak 

as a member of the public in respect of your planning application 

 
 
 
3. PREDISPOSITION, PREDETERMINATION OR BIAS 

 
3.1 “Predetermination “ is where a member’s mind is closed to the merits of any 

arguments relating to a particular application and he or she makes a decision 

without taking all matters into account. Don’t limit your discretion and therefore 

your ability to participate in a planning decision by making up your mind, or 

clearly appearing to have made up your mind on how you will vote on any 

Page 316



Municipal Year 2021/22 
 

planning matter, prior to formal consideration of that matter at the meeting of the 

Committee and before you have heard the officer’s presentation and evidence 

and arguments on both sides, including any Public Speakers. . This applies in 

particular to applications or objections made by the Council or external interest or 

lobby groups. 

 
3..2 Restricting your discretion in this way and then taking part in the decision will put 

the Council at risk of a finding of maladministration and/or legal proceedings on 

the grounds of there being a danger of bias or pre-determination or a failure to 

take into account all of the factors enabling the proposal to be considered on its 

merits. 

 
 
3.3.  This rule should not however be interpreted in such an unnecessarily restrictive 

way so as to limit the quality of debate or stifle valid discussion. 

 

3.4 Section 25 of the Localism Act 2011 clarifies the rules on predetermination by 

providing that  

 
 “A decision maker is not to be taken to have had, or to appear to have had, 

a closed mind when making the decision just because- 
  

a) the decision- maker had previously done anything that directly or 
indirectly indicated what view the decision maker took or would 
or might take, in relation to a matter, and  

b) the matter was relevant to the decision. 
 

The advice issued by the Department of Communities and Local Government is 

that members should not have to avoid campaigning, talking to constituents or 

publicly expressing views on local issues for fear of being accused of bias or 

facing legal challenge. Instead they should play an active role in local 

discussions.  This will help members to better represent their constituents and 

enrich local debate. 

 
3.5 Do consider yourself able to take part in the debate on a proposal when acting as 

part of a consultee body (where you are also a member of a parish council, for 

example, or both the Borough and County Council), provided: 

 

Page 317



Municipal Year 2021/22 
 

The proposal does not substantially affect the well being or financial 

standing of the consultee body; 

 You make it clear to the consultee body that: 

 Your views are expressed on the limited information before you only; 

 You must reserve judgement and the independence to make up your own 

 mind on each separate proposal, based on your overriding duty to the 

 whole community and not just to the people in that area, ward or parish, 

 as and when it comes before the Committee and you hear all of the 

 relevant information;  and, 

 You will not in any way commit yourself as to how you or others may vote 

 when the proposal comes before the Committee; and you disclose the 

 personal interest regarding your membership or role when the Planning 

 Committee comes to consider the proposal. 

 
3.6 Don’t speak and vote on a proposal where you have openly and 

uncompromisingly limited your discretion.  You do not have to withdraw from the 

meeting room, but you may prefer to do so for the sake of appearances. 

 
3.7 You should explain that you do not intend to speak and vote because you have 

or you could reasonably be perceived as having judged (or reserve the right to 

judge) the matter elsewhere, so that this may be recorded in the minutes.  

 

3.8 There are specific ward member rights to speak at the Planning Committee on 

applications in their wards. However, even if you are not on the Planning 

Committee, you are prohibited from speaking if you have a Disclosable 

Pecuniary Interest and have not been granted a dispensation by the Standards 

Committee.   Such dispensations are also available to members of the Planning 

Committee.  

 

3.9   If you have a private interest under paragraph 2 (f) of the Members  Code of  

 Conduct you may consider that the only way to resolve any conflict of interest is 

 not to vote or even  participate in any discussion.  

 

Page 318



Municipal Year 2021/22 
 

3.10   Any Ward member who does not have a Disclosable Interest or other 

 conflict of interest of any description may address the Planning Committee in the 

 same  way as member of the public. I.e.  by registering to speak.  In such  cases 

 members of  the planning  committee should remove  themselves from the 

 seating area  reserved for  members of the committee 

 

In determining whether there is an appearance of pre determination or bias members 

who are responsible for making the decision should apply the following test:  

 

 Would a fair minded and informed observer having considered all the facts, 

 decide that there is a real possibility that the member had determined the 

 issue or was biased.  

 

However when applying this test it is important to remember that it is legitimate  for a  

councillor  to be pre-disposed towards a specific outcome as long  as they are prepared 

to consider all the arguments and points made about the specific issues under  

consideration 

 
 
 
4. CONTACT WITH APPLICANTS, DEVELOPERS AND OBJECTORS 
 
4.1 Do refer those who approach you for planning, procedural or technical advice to 

 officers. 

4.2 Don’t agree to any request (other than from the Chief Planning and 

Transportation Officer to attend a meeting with applicants, developers or groups 

of objectors where you can avoid it. Where you feel that a formal meeting would 

be useful in clarifying the issues, you should never seek to arrange that meeting 

yourself but should request the Chief Planning and Transportation Officer to 

organise it.  The officer will then ensure that those present at the meeting are 

advised from the start that the discussions will not bind the authority to any 

particular course of action, that the meeting is properly recorded on the 

application file and the record of the meeting is disclosed when the application is 

considered by the Committee. 

Page 319



Municipal Year 2021/22 
 

4.3   Do otherwise: 

follow the guidance on lobbying; 

consider whether or not it would be prudent in the circumstances to make 

notes when contacted; and 

report to the Chief Planning and Transportation Officer any significant contact 

with the applicant and other parties, explaining the nature and purpose of the 

contacts and your involvement in them, and ensure that this is recorded on 

the planning file. 

4.4 In addition in respect of presentations by applicants/developers: 
 

Don’t attend a planning presentation or any pre application discussions 

unless an officer is present and/or it has been organised by officers. 

You may ask relevant questions for the purposes of clarifying your 

understanding of the proposals but remember that the presentation is not part 

of the formal process of debate and determination of any subsequent 

application; this will be carried out by the Planning Committee 

You should however aware that a presentation is a form of lobbying and you 

must not express any strong view or state how you or other members might 

vote. 

 
5. LOBBYING OF COUNCILLORS 
 
5.1 Do explain to those lobbying or attempting to lobby you that, whilst you can listen 

to what is said, expressing an unequivocal  intention to vote one way or another 

or such a firm point of view that it amounts to the same thing, prejudices your 

impartiality and therefore your ability to participate in the Committee’s decision 

making process. In such cases it may be advisable to refer those lobbying you to 

another Ward Member. 

5.2 Do remember that your overriding duty is to the whole community not just to the 

people in your ward/local area and, taking account of the need to make decisions 

impartially, that you should not improperly favour, or appear to improperly favour, 

any person, company, group or locality. 

5.3 Don’t accept gifts or hospitality from any person involved in or affected by a 

planning proposal.  If a degree of hospitality is entirely unavoidable, ensure it is 

Page 320



Municipal Year 2021/22 
 

of a minimum; its acceptance is declared as soon as possible and remember to 

register the gift or hospitality where its value is over £100 in accordance with the  

Members  Code of  Conduct 

5.4 Do copy or pass on any lobbying correspondence you receive, to the Chief 

Planning and Transportation Officer at the earliest opportunity. 

5.5 You should  promptly refer to the Chief Planning and Transportation Officer  any 

offers made to you of planning gain or constraint of development, through a 

proposed s.106 Planning Obligation or otherwise. 

5.6 If you believe that you have been exposed to undue or excessive lobbying or 

approaches (including inappropriate offers of gifts or hospitality) you should 

inform the Monitoring Officer who will in turn advise the appropriate officers to 

follow the matter up. 

5.7 You must comply with the guidance on lobbying, and presentations  

5.8 Do note that, unless you have a Disclosable Pecuniary interest, you will not have 

compromised your discretion or breached this Planning Code of Good Practice 

through: 

 

listening or receiving viewpoints from residents or other interested parties; 

 

making comments to residents, interested parties, other Members or 

appropriate officers, provided they do not consist of or amount to pre-judging 

the issue and you make clear you are keeping an open mind; 

 

seeking information through appropriate channels; or 

 

being a vehicle for the expression of opinion or speaking at the meeting as a 

Ward Member, provided you explain your actions at the start of the meeting 

or item and make it clear that having expressed the opinion or ward /local 

view, you have not committed yourself to vote in accordance with those views 

and will make up your own mind having heard all the facts and listened to the 

debate. 

 

Page 321



Municipal Year 2021/22 
 

 
6. LOBBYING BY COUNCILLORS 
 
6.1 If you are a member of the Planning Committee it is inadvisable to become a 

member of, or lead or represent an organisation whose primary purpose is to 

lobby to promote or oppose planning proposals. If you do you will have restricted 

your discretion and are also likely to have a personal interest 

6.2 You may join general interest groups which reflect your areas of interest and 

which concentrate on issues beyond particular planning proposals, such as the 

Victorian Society, CPRE, Ramblers Association or a local civic society, but 

disclose a personal interest where that organisation has made representations 

on a particular proposal and make it clear to that organisation and the Committee 

that you have reserved judgement and the independence to make up your own 

mind on each separate proposal. 

6.3 Don’t excessively lobby fellow Councillors regarding your concerns or views nor 

attempt to persuade them that they should decide how to vote in advance of the 

meeting at which any planning decision is to be taken. 

6.4 Don’t decide or discuss how to vote on any application at any sort of political 

group meeting, or lobby any other Member to do so.  Political Group Meetings 

should never dictate how Members should vote on a planning issue. 

 

7. SITE VISITS 
 
7.1  Try to attend site visits organised by the Council where possible. 

7.2 Don’t request a site visit unless you feel it is strictly necessary because particular 

 site factors are significant in terms of the weight attached to them relative to other 

 factors or the difficulty of their assessment in the absence of a site inspection; or 

 there are significant policy or precedent implications and specific site factors that 

 need to be carefully addressed 

 
7.3 Any information which you gained from the site visit should be reported back to 

the Committee, so that all Members have the same information. 

7.4  Ensure that you treat the site visit only as an opportunity to obtain information 

and to observe the site. 

Page 322



Municipal Year 2021/22 
 

7.5 During the site visit you may ask questions or seek clarification from the officers 

on matters which are relevant to the site inspection. 

7.6 During the site visit you should not hear representations from the applicant or any 

other party.  Where you are approached by the applicant or a third party, advise 

them that they should make representations in writing to the authority and direct 

them to or inform the officer present.  They should also be advised of the right to 

address the Planning Committee when the application comes forward for 

decision. 

7.7 During the site visit try to avoid express opinions or views to anyone. 

7.8 Don’t enter a site which is subject to a proposal other than as part of an official 

site visit, even in response to an invitation, as this may give the impression of 

bias unless you feel it is essential for you to visit the site other than through 

attending the official site visit, In such cases it is advisable to inform the Chief 

Planning and Transportation Officer about your intention to do so and why (which 

will be recorded on the file). You must ensure you will comply with these good 

practice rules on site visits. 

 

8. PUBLIC SPEAKING AT MEETINGS 

8.1 Don’t allow members of the public to communicate with you during the 

Committee’s proceedings (orally or in writing) other than through the scheme for 

public speaking, as this may give the appearance of bias. 

8.2 Do ensure that you comply with the Council’s procedures in respect of public 

 speaking. 

9. OFFICERS 

9.1 Don’t put pressure on officers to put forward a particular recommendation.  This 

does not prevent you from asking questions or submitting views to the Chief 

Planning and Transportation Officer which may be incorporated into any 

committee report. 

9.2 Do recognise that officers are part of a management structure and only discuss a 

proposal, outside of any arranged meeting, with a Head of Service or those 

officers who are authorised by their Head of Service to deal with the proposal at 

a Member level. 

Page 323



Municipal Year 2021/22 
 

9.3 Do recognise and respect that officers involved in the processing and 

determination of planning matters must act in accordance with the Council’s 

Code of Conduct for Officers and their professional codes of conduct, primarily 

the Royal Town Planning Institute’s Code of Professional Conduct.  As a result, 

planning officers’ views, opinions and recommendations will be presented on the 

basis of their overriding obligation of professional independence, which may on 

occasion be at odds with the views, opinions or decisions of the Committee or its 

Members. 

 

10. DECISION MAKING 

10.1 Do ensure that, if you request a proposal to go before the Committee rather than 

be determined through officer delegation, that your reasons are recorded and 

repeated in the report to the Committee. 

10.2 Do come to meetings with an open mind and demonstrate that you are open 

minded 

10.3 Do make decisions in accordance with section 70 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 (as amended) all relevant planning policies and material 

considerations, such as the National Planning Policy Framework 

10.4 Do come to your decision only after due consideration of all of the information 

reasonably required upon which to base a decision.  If you feel there is 

insufficient time to digest new information or that there is simply insufficient 

information before you, request that further information and, if necessary, defer 

or refuse. 

10.5 Don’t vote or take part in the meeting’s discussion on a proposal unless you have 

been present to hear the entire debate, including the officers’ introduction to the 

matter and all public speaking.  If you do not hear all the public speakers, you 

must not vote on the application.  

10.6 Do have recorded the reasons for Committee’s decision to defer the 

determination of any application 

10.7 Do make sure that if you are proposing, seconding or supporting a decision 

contrary to officer recommendations that you clearly identify and understand the 

planning reasons leading to this conclusion/decision.  These reasons must be 

Page 324



Municipal Year 2021/22 
 

given prior to the vote and be recorded.  Be aware that you may have to justify 

the resulting decision by giving evidence in the event of any challenge. 

 

11. TRAINING 
 

11.1 Members are required to attend all relevant training prescribed by the Council 

before they participate in decision making at meetings concerning planning 

matters 

11.2 Do endeavour to attend any other specialised training sessions provided, since 

these will be designed to extend your knowledge of planning law, regulations, 

procedures etc beyond the minimum referred to above and thus assist you in 

carrying out your role properly and effectively. 

11.3 Do participate in any review of a sample of planning decisions to ensure that 

Members’ judgements have been based on proper planning considerations. 

 

12. GENERAL 

 

12.1 This Code of Good Practice will be kept under annual review by the Executive 

Director, Legal and Democratic Services. It will also be reviewed following any 

relevant change in the Council’s Constitution and Rules of Procedure 

 

FAQ’s  

 

I am a member of the Planning Committee and have made an application for 

planning permission.  Can I sit on the committee whilst the application is dealt 

with? 

No.  If you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in the application you may not take 

part in any discussion or voting. You must also leave the meeting room whilst the 

application is being considered. You must also declare the interest at the meeting. 

 

Page 325



Municipal Year 2021/22 
 

If I am not a member of the Planning Committee can I address the committee on 

the application in my capacity as an applicant? 

 You may not address the Planning Committee if you have a DIsclosable Pecuniary 

Interest which precludes you from taking part in any discussion of the application unless 

you first obtain a dispensation from the Standards Committee and register to speak. 

 

Can I sit on the Planning Committee if an application is made by a friend or a 

family member other than my partner?  

 

Even if your relationship with an applicant does not constitute a Disclosable Pecuniary 

Interest, as defined by the relevant regulations, you still need to comply with the 

Members Code of Conduct which requires you to take steps to resolve any possible 

conflicts of interest.   In such cases it may be prudent to withdraw from the meeting. 

 

Can I represent the views of any of my constituents who have a strong opinion on 

a planning application? 

If you are a member of the planning committee it is permissible to speak on behalf of 

constituents providing you retain an open mind on the application.  In such cases it may 

be appropriate to refer the constituents to another member who is not on the committee 

and who is willing to speak on behalf of the residents 

 

My political party has taken a position on an application which it expects me to 

follow.  Is this permissible? 

No. it is important that each member of the planning committee forms their own view on 

applications after considering officer advice and any representations. 

 

I have such a strong opinion on a matter that I do not feel able to participate in 

discussion / voting as a member of the Planning Committee. Can I still speak on 

behalf of concerned residents?   

Page 326



Municipal Year 2021/22 
 

Subject to the rules on Interests you may stand down from the Planning Committee and 

speak as a member of the public on behalf of residents 

Page 327



This page is intentionally left blank



Municipal Year 2021/22 
 

HYNDBURN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

MEMBERS LICENSING CODE OF GOOD PRACTICE 
 

BACKGROUND 
 
This Code of Good Practice applies to the conduct of Members appointed to the 

Licensing and Judicial Committees. All references to the Licensing and / or Judicial 

Committee in this Code include any sub-committee of those Committees. This code 

is in addition to Hyndburn's Member Code of Conduct and the Constitution of the 

Council. 

 
 
 INTRODUCTION 
 

The aim of this code of good practice:  to ensure that in the carrying out of the 

Council’s licensing functions there are no grounds for suggesting that a decision is  

biased, partial, or not well founded in any way. It will also inform members whether, 

apart from the code of conduct, there is any reason why they should not participate 

in making a particular decision. 

 

 

The key purpose of Licensing; to implement and manage the various regulatory 

regimes that fall within the terms of reference of the Licensing and Judicial 

Committees in accordance with the relevant statutory provisions. 

 

Your role as a member of the Licensing and/ or Judicial Committee: to make 

licensing decisions openly, impartially, with sound judgement and for justifiable 

reasons.  

 

When the Code of Practice applies; this code applies to members at all times 

when they involve themselves in the licensing process.  It therefore applies to 

meetings with officers or the public and consultative meetings. 

 

If you have any doubts about the application of this code to your own 

circumstances you should seek advice from the Monitoring Officer or her staff, 

and preferably before any meeting takes place. 

 
1. RELATIONSHIP TO THE MEMBER’S CODE OF CONDUCT 

Page 329



Municipal Year 2021/22 
 

 

1.1  The rules in the Member’s Code of Conduct must always be complied with. 

This is  both the rules on interests, Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and any 

other interests identified by the Council, and the general rules giving effect to 

the seven principles of public life: selflessness, integrity, objectivity, 

accountability, openness, honesty and leadership. 

 

 
1.2 The Guidance in this Licensing Code of Good Conduct explains and 

supplements the Member’s Code of Conduct with specific reference to the 

Council’s licensing functions.  

 
1.3 If you do not abide by this Code of Good Practice, your conduct may put the  

Council at risk of proceedings relating to  the legality of the decision reached  

or maladministration, You may also put yourself at risk of being reported to 

the  Standards Committee which could result in you being named in a 

report made to the Council or, if the failure is also likely to be a breach of the 

interest provisions of the Localism Act 2011, a complaint being made to the 

police to consider criminal proceedings 

 

2. DECLARATION AND REGISTRATION OF INTERESTS 
 
2.1 The Members Code of Conduct requires you to notify the Council’s Monitoring 

Officer of any Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and any Personal Interests. 

You are also required to declare any private interests, both pecuniary and 

non-pecuniary, that relate to your public duties and take steps to resolve any 

conflicts arising in a way that protects the public interest. This could be done 

by registering or declaring those interests in accordance with the Member’s 

Code of Conduct. 

 

2.2 Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 
 
 The definition of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest is set out in the Members 

Code of Conduct. 

 When making decisions you should also take into account  the principle of 

integrity which is defined as follows: 

Page 330



Municipal Year 2021/22 
 

 “Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation 

to people or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in 

their work. They should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or 

other  material benefits for themselves, their family, or their friends.”  

 [the 7 principles of public life (1995)] 

 

 Interests and relationships must be declared 

 

 If you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter that is being 

considered by the Licensing / Judicial Committee; 

 

  You must not participate in any discussion of the matter at the 

 meeting. 

  You must declare the interest at the meeting 

  You must not participate in any vote taken on the matter at the 

 meeting. 

  If the interest is not registered and is not the subject of a pending 

 notification you must register the interest in your register of member’s  

 interests within 28 days. 

 

  You must leave the room whilst any matter in which you have a 

 Disclosable Pecuniary Interest is being discussed or voted on. 

 

 The Member’s Code of Conduct explains how failure to comply with the 

requirements relating to Disclosable Pecuniary Interests can amount to a 

criminal offence. 

 

 Paragraph 2 (f) of the Members Code of Conduct provides that members 

must   

  “declare any private interests, both pecuniary and non-pecuniary, that 

 relates to your public duties and must take steps to resolve any 

conflicts  arising in a way that protects the public interest, including 

registering  and declaring interests in a manner conforming with the 

procedures in  the code.” 

 

Page 331



Municipal Year 2021/22 
 

 In such situations it may be advisable to decline an invitation to sit on a 

Licensing subcommittee or Judicial Committee if one of your friends, for 

example, is making an application or objection 

 

 If you have substantial interests, or other interests that would prevent you 

from voting on a regular basis, you should avoid serving on the Licensing 

and/or Judicial Committees. 

 

2.3 Personal Interests 

 The definition of a Personal Interest can be found in the Members Code of 

Conduct. If you have a Personal Interest in any matter before the Licensing/ 

Judicial Committee you must declare it. You do not however have to leave the 

meeting as you may take part in the discussion and voting. 

 

2.4 As a Member of the Licensing and/or Judicial Committee you should try to 

minimise your social contacts with known and regular applicants and refrain 

altogether from such contacts when licensing policy or their applications are 

under consideration 

 
2.5 You should not seek or accept any preferential treatment, or place yourself in 

a position that could lead the public to think that you are receiving preferential 

treatment because of your position as a Councillor. This would include, where 

you have an interest in an application, using your position to discuss that 

application with officers or Members when other members of the public would 

not have the same opportunity to do so. If you have a Declarable Pecuniary  

Interest in an application don’t participate or give the appearance of trying to 

participate in the making of any decision on the matter whether it is being 

dealt with by an officer pursuant to delegated powers or by the Licensing/ 

Judicial Committee 

 
 
2.6 If you are not a member of the Licensing Committee and speak at a meeting 

of the Committee on the subject of a particular application you should make it 

clear whether you are speaking in your capacity as an interested party (as 

defined by section 13 of the Licensing Act 2003 (as amended)) or as a 

representative of interested parties. 

Page 332



Municipal Year 2021/22 
 

 
 

2.7 Do notify the Monitoring Officer of your own applications. It is advisable that 

you employ an agent to act on your behalf in dealing with officers and any 

public speaking at Committee. 

 
 
 
3. EXECISING DISCRETION IN THE LICENSING PROCESS 
 
 
3.1 Predetermination “ is where a member is closed to the merits of any 

 arguments relating to a particular application, and makes a decision without 

 taking them into account. Don’t restrict your discretion and therefore your 

 ability to participate in a licensing decision by making up your mind or clearly 

 appearing to have made up your mind on how you will vote on any licensing 

 matter prior to formal consideration of that matter by the Committee and of 

 your hearing the officers presentation and the representations made by 

 applicant’s and objectors. 

 
3.2 Limiting your discretion in this way and then taking part in the decision will put 

the Council at risk of legal proceedings seeking to revoke the decision made 

on the grounds of there being a danger of bias or pre determination or of a 

failure to take into account all of the factors enabling the application to be 

considered on its merits.  There is also a risk of the decision being referred to 

the Ombudsman for an investigation into any maladministration. 

 

3.3 This rule should not however be interpreted in such an unnecessarily 

restrictive way so as to limit the quality of debate or stifle valid discussion. 

 

3.4 Section 25(2) of the Localism Act 2011 clarifies the rule on pre- determination 

by providing that  

 

 “A decision maker is not to be taken to have had, or appeared to have 

had, a closed mind when making the decision just because- 

 

Page 333



Municipal Year 2021/22 
 

a) the decision maker had previously done anything that directly or 

indirectly indicated  what view  the decision maker took or would or 

might take, in relation to a matter, and 

b) the matter was relevant to the decision 

 

As detailed in Government guidance this section essentially clarifies that a 

member is not to be regarded as being unable to act fairly or without bias if 

they participate in a decision on a matter simply because they have previously 

expressed a view or campaigned on it, Members may campaign and 

represent their constituents, and speak and vote on those issues, without fear 

of breaking the rules on pre-determination. 

           However, at the point of making a decision members must carefully consider 

all the evidence that has been put before them and be prepared and willing to 

modify or change any initial view having listened to and in light of the 

arguments and evidence presented.  Members must make their final decision 

with an open mind based on all the evidence  

3.5 Don’t speak and vote on a matter where you have openly and 

uncompromisingly limited your discretion. You do not have to withdraw but 

you may prefer to do so for the sake of appearances. 

 
3.6 Do explain that you do not intend to speak and vote because you have or 

could reasonably be perceived as having pre judged the matter so that this 

may be recorded in the minutes. 

 
3.7 If you are appointed as a member of a Licensing Sub-Committee or a Judicial 

Committee and you believe that you have fettered your discretion then contact 

Member Services to arrange for the appointment of a replacement member. 

 

3.8 In contrast it is acceptable for a member to be “predisposed”. This arises 

where a member holds a view, even if it is strongly held, but retains an open 

mind and is open to persuasion against that view. 

 
4 LOBBYING OF COUNCILLORS 
 
4.1.  Do explain to those lobbying or attempting to lobby you that, whilst you can 

listen to what is said, expressing an intention to vote one way or another or 

such a firm point of view that it amounts to the same thing, prejudices your 

Page 334



Municipal Year 2021/22 
 

impartiality and therefore your ability to participate in the Committee’s decision 

making process.  

 
4.2 If as a member of the Licensing and/ or Judicial Committee you are lobbied in 

relation to a particular licensing application or other similar matter you should 

restrict yourself as far as is practical, to giving advice about rules and 

procedures, including suggesting to those who are lobbying that they should 

speak or write to the relevant officer or another Ward Member. 

 
4.3 If as a member of the Licensing and/ or Judicial Committee you decide to go 

public in support of a particular outcome - or even campaign actively for it – 

you must consider whether you have limited your discretion and whether you 

can take part in the Committee discussion or vote. Any significant contact with 

an applicant or objector should be declared at the Licensing/Judicial 

Committees. 

 
4.4 Don’t accept gifts or hospitality from any person involved in or affected by a 

Licensing application. If a degree of hospitality is entirely unavoidable, ensure 

that it is of a minimum; its acceptance is declared a soon as possible and 

remembers to register the gift or hospitality where its value is over £100 (in 

accordance with the Council’s rules on gifts and hospitality)  

 

4.5 Do copy or pass any lobbying correspondence you receive to the Licensing 

Manager at the earliest opportunity. 

 
4.6 Do inform the Monitoring Officer where you feel you have been exposed to 

 undue or excessive lobbying or approaches (including inappropriate offers of 

 gifts or hospitality) who will in turn advise the appropriate officers to follow this 

 matter up. 

 
4.7   You will not have restricted your discretion or breached this Licensing Code of 

 Good  Practice just because you have listened to   comments from residents 

 or other interested parties or by making comments to residents, interested 

 parties other Members or appropriate officers, provided they do not  consist of 

 or amount to pre judging the issue and you make clear you are keeping an 

 open mind. 

 

Page 335



Municipal Year 2021/22 
 

 
5. LOBBYING BY COUNCILLORS 
 
5.1 Don’t become a member of, or lead or represent an organisation whose 

primary purpose is to lobby in respect of licensing matters. If you do you will 

have restricted your discretion. 

 
5.2 Don’t excessively lobby fellow Councillors regarding your concerns or views 

not attempt to persuade them that they should decide how to vote in advance 

of the meeting at which any licensing application is to be discussed. 

 
5.3 Don’t decide or discuss how to vote on any application at any sort of political 

group meeting, or lobby any other Member to do so. Political Group meetings 

should never dictate how Members should vote on a particular application. 

 

5.4 You should not put undue or improper pressure on officers for a particular 

decision when a licensing application is being dealt with under delegated 

powers. This does not prevent you from asking questions of the officer or 

responding to consultation. 

 

 

 
6 COMMITTEE PROCEDURES AND DECISIONS 
 
6.1 When you are considering a licensing application as a member of the 

Licensing and /or Judicial Committee you must do so with an open mind and 

make sure that you have regard to any statutory criteria, policy or guidance 

relating to the determination of the application in question.  

 

6.2 When hearing an application for a licence or permit, or other form of approval, 

as a member of the Licensing and/or Judicial Committees you should conduct 

yourself in a manner that does not create the reasonable perception that you 

have predetermined the application.  Questions should be asked only to 

ascertain facts to assist in the decision-making process not to seek to 

enhance or reduce a point of view 

 

Page 336



Municipal Year 2021/22 
 

6.3 Don’t allow members of the public to communicate with you during the 

Committee’s proceedings (orally or in writing) other than as applicants, 

witnesses or objectors. 

 

6.4 Do come to your decision only after due consideration of all the information 

reasonably required upon which to base a decision. If you feel that there is 

insufficient time to digest new information or that there is simply insufficient 

information before you request that further information.  If necessary defer or 

refuse but ensure that the Committees reasons for deferring are recorded. 

 

6.5 Don’t vote or take part in the meetings discussion of an application unless you 

have been present to hear the entire debate, including the officer’s 

introduction to the matter. 

 

6.6 Do make sure that if you are proposing, seconding or supporting a decision 

contrary to officer recommendations or relevant policies adopted by the 

Council that you clearly identify and understand the licensing reasons which 

led you to this conclusion/decision.  The licensing reasons must be recorded 

and given before a vote is taken.  You should always bear in mind that you 

may need to justify the decision taken by giving evidence if this is challenged. 

 
7 TRAINING 
 
7.1 Members are required to attend any training organised by the Council before 

they participate in decision making at meetings dealing with Licensing 

matters. 

7.2 Do try and attend any other specialised training sessions provided as these 

are designed to extend you knowledge of licensing law, regulations and 

procedures beyond the minimum requirements detailed at 7.1 above and 

assist you in carrying out your role properly and effectively. 

 

 

GENERAL 
 
8.1 This Code of Good Practice will be kept under annual review by the Executive 

Director Legal and Democratic Services. It will also be reviewed following any 

relevant change in the Council’s Constitution and Rules of Procedure. 

Page 337



Municipal Year 2021/22 
 

 

 

 

Page 338



  
 

Municipal Year 2021/22 
Page 1 of 11 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

CIVIC PROTOCOL 
FOR THE ROLES OF 

THE MAYOR,  
LEADER OF THE COUNCIL 

AND 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 339



  
 

Municipal Year 2021/22 
Page 2 of 11 

 

 

CIVIC PROTOCOL FOR THE ROLES OF THE MAYOR, CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
AND LEADER OF THE COUNCIL 
 
 
1. THE ROLE OF MAYOR 
 
1.1 The role of the Mayor is strictly a non-political one. The Mayor represents every section of the 

Hyndburn community and he or she should aim to promote a positive image of the Borough. 
The Mayor’s role is civic and ceremonial, and the Mayor does not have any executive role in 
the running of the Borough. 

            In summary, the function of the Mayor (or the Deputy Mayor in the Mayor’s absence) is: 
 

 To uphold and promote the purposes of the Constitution, and to interpret the Constitution 
when necessary 

 To preside over meetings of the Council so that its business can be carried out efficiently 
and with regard to the rights of councillors and the interests of the community 

 To ensure that the Council meeting is a forum for the debate of matters of concern to the 
local community and the place at which members who are not on the executive, or do not 
hold committee chairs, are able to hold the executive and committee chairs to account 

 To represent the Council at Civic and Ceremonial functions and events 

 To promote the Borough  

 To raise money for the mayoral charities 

 
1.2 The Mayor shall have precedence in the Borough, but not so as to prejudicially affect Her 

Majesty’s royal prerogative. The Mayor will determine attendance at events for which a specific 
invitation has been received by the Mayor’s office.  Representation of the Council on major 
civic or formal occasions shall be determined through the offices of the Mayor and Leader.  

 
1.3 Expenditure from the Mayoral budget must be authorised by the Civic support staff following 

consultation with the Mayor. 
 
1.4 Two weeks’ notice should normally be given for all invitations to the Mayor. Events attended by 

the Mayor should be of a non-political nature. All invitations to the Mayor to attend civic / 
ceremonial events, or any proposal for a civic event or engagement however arising, should be 
passed to and processed by the civic support staff, who will liaise closely with the Mayor, 
conduct any necessary research and advise the Mayor on the suitability of the engagement. All 
arrangements for the Mayor’s attendance at  engagements will be co-ordinated by the civic 
support staff. 

 
1.5 The Mayor is expected to show consideration and respect for Mayoral support staff and 

recognise the right of such staff to adequate free time in the programming of civic functions. 
The mayor’s attendant and civic support staff’s role is to support the Mayor in his or her civic 
and ceremonial capacity only. 

 
1.6 At the closure time of any event, it should be recognised that the Mayor's attendant will 

withdraw from the event with the chains of office. 

Page 340



  
 

Municipal Year 2021/22 
Page 3 of 11 

 

 

1.7       When undertaking their civic and ceremonial role, the Mayor (or Deputy Mayor in the Mayor’s 
absence) shall: 

i. Not bring the Council into disrepute; 

ii. Take advice from the civic support staff 

iii. Not solicit gifts, engagements or visits or otherwise procure favours by virtue of their 
office 

iv. Respect the requirement to operate the mayoralty within the civic services budget  

v. Behave in a manner appropriate and fitting to their position as first citizen of the 
Borough (and a breach of this Protocol may constitute a breach of the member code of 
conduct) 

 
 
2.1 THE ROLE OF LEADER OF THE COUNCIL 
 
2.1 The role and function of the Leader (as contained within Article 2 of the Constitution) is: 
 

 To provide the Council’s overall corporate and strategic direction, budget strategy and 
policy development 

 To chair the Cabinet and be the principal spokesperson for the Council 

 To promote Council initiatives and objectives 

 To represent the Council at civic and ceremonial functions 
 
2.2 The Leader will determine attendance at events for which a specific invitation has been 
 received by the Leader's office or for major civic or formal occasions, in consultation with the 
 Mayor’s office 
 
2.3 To facilitate attendance at events, two weeks’ prior notice should be given. 
 
2.4 The Leader is expected to show consideration for support staff involved in any event. 
 
2.5 In the event of the Leader being unavailable, the Leader’s office will appoint a representative.  
 
 
3. THE ROLE OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 
3.1 The principal functions and areas of responsibility of the Chief Executive (as contained in 

Article 12 of the Constitution) are: 
 

 To provide overall corporate management and operational responsibility (including overall 
management responsibility for all officers) 

 To provide professional advice to all parties in the decision making process 

 Together with the Monitoring Officer, to be responsible for a system of record keeping for 
all the Council’s decisions 

 To represent the Council on partnership and external bodies (as required by statute or the 
Council) 

 
 
 

Page 341



  
 

Municipal Year 2021/22 
Page 4 of 11 

 

 

4. COUNCIL MEETINGS 
 
4.1 Conduct at Council Meetings 
 
4.1.1 The rules governing conduct at meetings of the Council are contained in the Council’s 

constitution.  Members of the Council should have respect for the Chair at all times and the 
following rules shall apply:- 

 

 Whenever the Mayor speaks during the meeting a member then speaking shall be silent 

 Members must stand to address the Mayor and Council but only when called on by the 
Mayor to do so (the exception is to draw attention to a point of order or a personal 
explanation) 

 The ruling of the Mayor on a point of order or on the admissibility of a personal explanation 
shall not be open to discussion 

 The ruling of the Mayor will be final 
 

4.2       The Mayor’s Views 

It is not normally part of the mayoral role to comment on matters before the Council in a way 
which supports or opposes the issue before the Council 

 
4.3 Mayor’s Casting Vote 
 
4.3.1 In cases where the number of votes is equal, the second or casting vote of the Mayor shall be 

with the controlling group.  The exception to this requirement shall be in respect of those 
issues where the parties have declared that the vote will not be subject to the whip and in such 
cases the Mayor will be free to cast his/her second or casting vote in whichever way he/she 
may choose (Council Procedure Rule A16.2). 

 
4.3.2 This also applies if the Deputy Mayor is called upon to chair the Council meeting. 
 
4.4 Dates of Council Meetings 
 
4.4.1 Ordinary meetings shall be held at the dates and times agreed at the annual meeting.  The 

date and time of an ordinary meeting may be changed with the consent of the Chief Executive. 
4.4.2 On occasions when it is necessary to change the date of the Council meeting or to arrange an 

extra ordinary meeting, it is custom and practice to consult with the Mayor, Leader of the 
Council and Leader of the Opposition to agree an alternative/new date. 

 
4.5 Annual Meeting of the Council and Mayor-making 
 
4.5.1 In a year when there is an ordinary election of councillors, the annual meeting will take place 

within 21 days of the retirement of the outgoing councillors.  In any other year, the annual 
meeting will take place in April or May. The date and time of the annual meeting may be 
changed with the consent of the Chief Executive (Council Procedure Rule A1.1). 

 
4.5.2 The Mayor may invite a maximum of 20 personal guests to attend the celebration meal 

following Mayor-making at the Council’s expense. The Leader is entitled to a maximum of 8 
personal guests to attend the celebration meal, to be funded from the Mayoral budget. 
Councillors and guests are expected to pay for their own meal. 

 

Page 342



  
 

Municipal Year 2021/22 
Page 5 of 11 

 

 

4.5.3 Past Mayors and past Mayoresses may bring one guest of their choice to the Mayor-making 
ceremony and meal. The invitation to the past Mayor will cease on his/her death.  

 
4.6 Dress Code 
 
4.6.1 At meetings of the Council, Members of the Council should dress appropriately for a formal 

Council meeting.  
 
 
5. USE OF MAYOR’S PARLOUR 
 
5.1 The Mayor’s Parlour is to be used for entertaining and meeting civic dignitaries in conjunction 

with the role of Mayor. The Mayor’s Parlour is also used by the Mayor and Chief Executive for 
the purposes of preparation for Council meetings and civic events. Following a meeting of the 
Council, the Mayor, Chief Executive, Leader, Deputy Leader, Opposition Leader will retire to 
the Mayor’s Parlour along with any other guests the Mayor may wish to invite. The Mayor is not 
to use the Mayor’s Parlour other than for civic and ceremonial purposes without the consent of 
the Chief Executive 

 
5.2 The Mayor’s Parlour should remain solely for use by the Mayor and requests for use of the 

Parlour by other parties will only be granted in exceptional circumstances.  Requests for use of 
the Mayor’s Parlour shall be agreed by the Mayor in consultation with the Chief Executive. 

 
 
6. USE OF MAYORAL CHAINS 
 
6.1 During the term of office of the Mayor, the Chains of Office shall be worn when carrying out 

official duties in the office of Mayor which shall be defined as: 
 

 Chairing meetings of the Council 

 Attendance at civic events organised by Hyndburn Borough Council 

 Attendance at civic events organised by other local authorities 

 Attendance at events where an official invitation has been issued to the Mayor in advance 
and the purpose and details of the event have been supplied to the Civic support staff 

 Funerals of current Councillors or past Mayors, Leaders or Chairs of former urban districts 
 
6.3 The Mayor will wear only the Hyndburn Chains of Office when attending civic functions.  Any 

requests by the Mayor in office for use of the Chains of Office other than on those occasions 
as described above will be determined by the Chief Executive in consultation with the Leader 
of the Council. 

 
6.4 There may be exceptional circumstances when it is appropriate for the Mayor and/or Mayoress 

and the Deputy Mayor to wear their chains of office at the same event.  These exceptions shall 
apply only in respect of civic events organised by Hyndburn Borough Council. 

 
6.5 On occasions, when the Mayor attends an official event and is not accompanied by an 

attendant, the Mayor’s badge can be worn to signify the Mayor’s position. 

6.6 Any requests for use of the chains or fobs of the former urban districts by the Mayor will be 
determined by the Chief Executive in consultation with the Leader of the Council.  Use of these 
items will be strictly restricted due to budgetary and insurance implications. 

Page 343



  
 

Municipal Year 2021/22 
Page 6 of 11 

 

 

7. USE OF CIVIC CAR 
 
7.1 The Mayoral Car shall only be used by the Mayor the following occasions:- 
 

 Chairing meetings of the Council 

 Attendance at Civic events organised by Hyndburn Borough Council 

 Attendance at Civic events organised by other local authorities 

 Attendance at events where an official invitation has been issued in advance and the 
purpose and details of the event have been supplied to the civic support staff 

 
7.2  Requests for use of the Mayoral car for other events/occasions will be determined by the Chief 

Executive, in consultation with the Mayor and Leader of the Council, providing that there is no 
conflict between the requirements of the Mayor for use of the vehicle for civic events.  In the 
event of a clash, the Mayor shall have precedence.   

 
7.3 Where it is necessary to transport people who are accompanying the Mayor on civic duties, 

arrangements shall be made with the Civic support staff. Up to 4 passengers may be carried 
on such occasions. 

 
 
8. ROLE OF DEPUTY MAYOR IN MAYOR’S ABSENCE 
 
8.1 If the Mayor is unavailable to attend a Mayoral function, the Deputy Mayor will represent the 

Council on his/her behalf.  Once a commitment is given to the organiser of the function that the 
Mayor/Deputy Mayor will attend the function, organisers, having received such commitment, 
may give whatever publicity is required for the event and may quote the attendance on the 
Mayor/Deputy Mayor on posters and tickets. 

 
8.3 Where a commitment has been given for the Deputy Mayor to represent the Council at an 

event, the commitment should be honoured.  The only exceptions to this will be in the event of 
the illness of the Deputy Mayor (or in the event of a family bereavement) where the Mayor 
finds he/she available to attend the function. 

 
8.4 If neither the Mayor nor Deputy Mayor is available to attend a function, the Mayor Designate 

shall be invited to attend 
 
 
9. USE OF HYNDBURN COAT OF ARMS 
 
9.1 Any requests for use of the Hyndburn coat of arms (as distinct from the corporate logo which 

incorporates the Hyndburn coat of arms) and the town crests will be determined by the Leader. 
 
 
10. RULES OF PRECEDENCE AT CIVIC EVENTS 
 
10.1 The Mayor takes precedence over all persons in the Borough whether or not he/she is wearing 

the chains of office.  When the Mayor is not occupying the chair at any function he/she should 
be seated on the immediate right of the Chairman and the Mayoress (or Consort) seated on 
the left of the Chairman (unless the Lord Lieutenant of the County is present, in which case the 
Mayor should be seated on the left of the Chairman with the Mayoress (or Consort on his/her 
immediate left) 

Page 344



  
 

Municipal Year 2021/22 
Page 7 of 11 

 

 

 
10.2 At Civic Events organised by Hyndburn Borough Council the Order of Precedence will be as 

follows:- 
 

1 Mayor  (and Mayoress/Consort if present) 
2 Leader (and Deputy Leader if present) 
3 Deputy Mayor (and Deputy Mayoress if present) 
4 Chief Executive 
5 Member of Parliament 
6 Divisional Police Commander or representative 
7 Mayor’s Chaplain (where appropriate) 
8 Leader of the Opposition Group 
9 Deputy Leader of the Opposition Group 
10 Members of the Council 
11 Officers of the Council 

 
Note 1:  The Mayoress and Deputy Mayoress will be recognised as part of the official party in 
determining any line-up/seating arrangements for civic processions/events. 
Note 2:  Where the occasion allows for the attendance of spouses/partners/guests, they will be 
included in the official party and positioned accordingly.  In the event of any dispute the order 
of precedence will be determined by the Chief Executive. 

 
11       The Mayor’s Charity 

11.1     It is expected that the Mayor’s Charity will undertake all fund raising and its own administration. 
However, the civic support staff are happy to advise the charity as to the suitability of events, 
appropriate procedures and matters of protocol if required. Civic support staff will also assist 
with the organisation of the annual charity ball on a date to be agreed with the Mayor. The 
Mayor and the charity will assist in the procurement of raffle (or similar) prizes for this event 
and will be responsible for the sale of tickets. 

11.2    The Mayor’s charity has been registered with the Charity Commission. A bank account is held 
with the National Westminster Bank and civic support staff will undertake the day to day 
administration of this account. All monies raised during the Mayor’s year of office will be 
distributed to the Mayor’s chosen charities as soon as possible after the end of the Mayor’s 
term of office. 

12       Support to Charities 

12.1    The Mayor may select one or more charities which he or she will support. These charities will 
already be established and registered with the Charity Commission. If, in the opinion of the 
Chief Executive, any charity is unacceptable for legal or financial reasons, the Mayor shall 
select an alternative. 

13        Media and Publicity 

13.1     It is inappropriate for the Mayor to appear in any electoral material, whether associated with 
their own election or that of another candidate, in any official regalia or robes. The Mayor 
should use all reasonable endeavours to stop this occurring.  

13.2     Given the status of the Mayor as first citizen of the Borough, any dealings with the media 
should be conducted through the Council’s press officer on behalf of the Council. All official 
communication relating to the Council (but not on private matters) should be dealt with by the 
Council’s press officer. Any private or party political communications issued to the media by 

Page 345



  
 

Municipal Year 2021/22 
Page 8 of 11 

 

 

the Mayor may bring their office into disrepute and the Mayor should seek advice from the 
press officer or civic support officers before doing so. 

 
14. REMEMBRANCE SUNDAY 
 
14.1 The Royal British Legion is responsible for the Parades and Services to commemorate 

Remembrance Sunday held throughout the Borough.  The Council (through the Civic support 
staff) provides administrative support for the organisation of these parades and services. 

 
14.2 The Remembrance Sunday Parades and Services are Civic Events which require the 

attendance of the Mayor and Leader.   Other Members of the Council are required to attend 
other Parades and Services throughout the borough. 

 
14.3 The Mayor and Leader will be expected to attend the Remembrance Sunday Parade and 

Service in Accrington and, by invitation and mutual agreement, can attend another service in 
their home towns. 

 
 
15. CHRISTMAS LIGHTS OFFICIAL ‘SWITCH ONS’ 
 
15.1 The Mayor shall switch on Accrington Christmas lights.  
 
 
16. MAYOR’S BALL 
 
16.1 This is an annual event where the primary purpose is to raise funds for the Mayoral Charity. 
 
16.2      The persons listed in Annex A will be invited to attend the Mayor’s Ball at the Council’s 

expense (budgets permitting) and all other guests will be required to purchase tickets, the 
proceeds from which will be donated to charity. 

 
 
17. CRITERIA FOR SELECTION OF HONORARY FREEMEN AND ALDERMEN 1 
 
17.1 Selection Criteria: Freeman of the Borough 
 

a) The title of Honorary Freeman of the Borough is the highest honour that the Council can 
award, the right contained in S. 249 of the Local Government Act 1972. 

 
b) In keeping with the special nature of the award, conferment should be for those who have 

made a very significant contribution to the Borough.  
 

c) No more than one nomination will be made each year, unless there are exceptional 
circumstances. 

 
d) This honour will be restricted to a person who has made a significant contribution to the 

Borough over a period of more than 15 years. 
 

e) Self-nomination or lobbying may result in the nomination being rejected. 

                                                           
1
 Revised criteria approved by Council, 20

th
 March 2014 

Page 346



  
 

Municipal Year 2021/22 
Page 9 of 11 

 

 

 
f) Honorary Freemen will be invited to attend the following ceremonies:- 

 

 Annual Mayor Making Ceremony 

 Freedom of the Borough Ceremony 

 Civic processions 

 Special Memorial services 
 

g) A nomination will be submitted to and considered in the first instance by Leader’ Policy 
Development Board, with a recommendation to Council if the nomination is supported. 

 
17.2 Selection Criteria: Honorary Alderman 
 

a) The title of Honorary Alderman will be awarded to an individual who has, in the opinion of 
the Council, rendered eminent service as a past member of the Council (Section 249 of the 
Local Government Act 1972). 

 
b) The criteria for selection shall be: 

 

 12 years’ service 

 Consideration will be given to members not having 12 years’ service but who have, 
during their years of office, held the title of Mayor, Mayoress, Leader of the Council or 
Leader of the Opposition (providing the latter office was held for three years or more). 

 
c) If an Honorary Alderman is re-elected to the Council, the title will be held in abeyance until 

the end of the term of office 
 

d) Honorary Aldermen will be invited to attend the following ceremonies:- 
 

 Annual Mayor Making Ceremony 

 Freedom of the Borough Ceremony 

 Civic processions 

 Special Memorial services 
 

e) A nomination will be submitted to and considered in the first instance by Leader’ Policy 
Development Board, with a recommendation to Council if the nomination is supported. 

 
 
18. SELECTION OF NEW MAYORS / DEPUTY MAYORS 
 
18.1 As a general principle the Mayor should be selected on a fair and equitable basis, having 

regard to the various political groups represented on the Council and nominees for the office of 
Mayor will usually be expected to have served on the Council for a minimum of four years and 
gain the support of the majority of Councillors. 

  
18.2 The Deputy Mayor shall be appointed annually at the Council’s Annual General Meeting and 

will take up office in the year before being elected Mayor. 
 

Page 347



  
 

Municipal Year 2021/22 
Page 10 of 11 

 

 

ANNEX A 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

The Mayor’s Ball 
VIP Guest List 

 

The Mayor and Mayoress/Consort shall invite the following: 
 
 

The Lord Lieutenant of Lancashire and Spouse/Guest 
The High Sheriff of Lancashire and Spouse/Guest 

The Leader of the Council and Spouse/Guest 
The Chief Executive and Spouse/Guest 

The Deputy Mayor and Mayoress/Consort of Hyndburn 
The Member of Parliament and Spouse/Guest 

The Chairman and Lady/Consort of Lancashire County Council 
The Mayor and Mayoress/Consort of Blackburn with Darwen 

The Mayor and Mayoress/Consort of Burnley 
The Mayor and Mayoress/Consort of Blackpool 
The Mayor and Mayoress/Consort of Chorley 
The Mayor and Mayoress/Consort of Fylde 

The Mayor and Mayoress/Consort of Lancaster 
The Mayor and Mayoress/Consort of Pendle 
The Mayor and Mayoress/Consort of Preston 

The Mayor and Mayoress/Consort of Ribble Valley 
The Mayor and Mayoress/Consort of Rossendale 
The Mayor and Mayoress/Consort of South Ribble 

The Mayor and Mayoress/Consort of West Lancashire Borough Council 
The Mayor and Mayoress/Consort of Wyre 
The Mayor and Mayoress/Consort of Bury 

The Town Mayor and Mayoress/Consort of Clitheroe 
The Mayor’s Chaplain and Spouse/Guest 

The Chief Superintendent of Police and Spouse/Guest 

Page 348



  
 

Municipal Year 2021/22 
Page 11 of 11 

 

 

ANNEX B 
 

 
Flying the Flag on Hyndburn Borough Council Buildings and Sites 
 
1. Union Flag 
  
The union flag to be flown on Hyndburn Borough Council buildings (Accrington Town Hall and 
Oswaldtwistle Civic Arts Centre) and on Town Square, Great Harwood on the following occasions:- 
 
Full Mast: 
 
Coronation 
Queen’s Birthday 
Commonwealth Day 
St. George’s Day 
Remembrance Day until Remembrance Sunday (or vice-versa if Remembrance Sunday is earlier)2 
Visits of Distinguished Persons 
Mayor’s Sunday 
Annual Meeting of Council and installation of Mayor 
Conferring the Freedom of the Borough 
Official opening of new public buildings 
 
Half Mast: 
 
On the deaths of:- 
 
Members of the Royal Family 
Serving or former Prime Ministers or Leaders of the Opposition 
Local Members of Parliament 
Former Mayors of Hyndburn Borough Council 
Serving Councillors and Chief Officials 
Former Councillors 
Ex-Mayors and Chairmen respectively of the former Accrington Borough Council and the Urban     
District Councils 
Honorary Freemen and Honorary Aldermen  
 
2. St. George Flag3 
 
The St. George Flag to be flown at full mast on Hyndburn Borough Council buildings (Accrington Town 
Hall and Oswaldtwistle Civic Arts Centre) and on Town Square, Great Harwood on St. George’s Day 
until the nearest Sunday to the Scouts’ annual St. George’s Day Service (or vice-versa if the Service is 
earlier). 
 
Exceptions to the policy, including requests to fly a flag other than the union flag, are determined by 
the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Mayor and Group Leaders4

 

                                                           
2
 confirmed at Leader’s Policy Development Board on 24th June 2014 

3
 confirmed at Leader’s Policy Development Board on 24th June 2014 

4
 Scheme of Delegation – Delegation to Chief Executive, para.2.10 

 
 

Page 349



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Anti-Fraud & Corruption 

and Bribery Policy 
 

Policy and Guidance Document 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Policy Version: 10 

Revised:  April 2022 

Checked / Reviewed: April 2022 

 

Last Policy Approval: Council AGM – May 2022  

    
 

 

Page 351



Anti-Fraud & Corruption Policy 2 

 

POLICY STATEMENT 

 

 

Hyndburn Borough Council is committed to ensuring that quality services are developed 

and delivered for the benefit of the Community of Hyndburn. 

 

To assist in this goal, the Council will take all necessary steps to ensure that the public’s 

assets and interests are protected. The public is entitled to expect conduct of the highest 

standards from members and employees of the Council. The Council therefore recognises 

the need for the highest standards of probity in dealing with public money and expects its 

members and employees to demonstrate the highest standards of integrity at all times. 

 

The Council will:- 

 

 promote a fair, equitable and honest approach to service delivery with those 

providing and receiving those services; 

 actively seek out instances of fraudulent and corrupt practices and pursue the 

perpetrators to the full extent of the Law; 

 encourage people with concerns about potential fraud & corruption to inform the 

Council of their suspicions; 

 treat complaints of potential fraud & corruption or bribery fairly and equitably; and 

 regularly review its own procedures to ensure they offer effective protection of the 

Council’s interests and reputation. 

 

The Council expects that individuals and organisations (e.g. suppliers, contractors and 

service providers) that it deals with will act with integrity and without thought or actions 

involving fraud & corruption or bribery. Where relevant, the Council will include appropriate 

clauses in its contracts about the consequences of fraud & corruption or bribery and 

evidence of such acts are most likely to lead to the termination of the particular contract 

and may lead to prosecution. 
 

 

 

AIMS OF THE POLICY 

 

 

In order to achieve the aims in the policy it is necessary to develop a robust approach on 
fraud & corruption or bribery and how the Council will react to it. This will encourage an 
anti-fraud culture throughout the authority. This policy sets out the various measures that 
have been put in place to combat fraud & corruption and bribery. 
 
This policy should also be read in conjunction with the Council’s Criminal Facilitation of 
Tax Evasion (CFTE) Policy. Bribery is often something which can be associated with 
Fraud & Corruption. 
 

Page 352



Anti-Fraud & Corruption Policy 3 

 

Fraud & corruption or bribery cannot be dealt with in isolation and the Council will work 

with the police and other external agencies in order to investigate and prosecute cases of 

fraud or corruption and bribery. 

 

Fraud and corruption can be defined as follows: - 

 

 FRAUD is the intentional distortion of financial statements or other records by 

persons internal or external to the organisation which is carried out to conceal the 

misappropriation of assets or otherwise for gain. 

 

 CORRUPTION is the offering, giving, soliciting or acceptance of an inducement or 

reward that may improperly influence the action of any person. 

 

This Policy applies to elected members, co-opted members of committees and all officers 

(full time, part time, temporary and casual) who work for the Council. The term ‘officer’ 

includes all types of employees of the Council. 

 

 

 

BRIBERY 

 

 

As part of the culture of Anti-Fraud & Corruption it is necessary to consider the implications 
of bribery as this is closely linked to the pursuit of a culture which is against both Fraud 
and Corruption. Bribery falls within the Bribery Act 2010. 
 
Bribery applies to all employees, whether permanent, temporary, agency, fixed term 
contracts, paid or unpaid. It also applies to all elected Members and to all contractors, 
organisations who do business with the Council and partner agencies/organisations. The 
general public can also be included especially where they attempt to bribe a Council 
employee or Elected Member. 
 
It is necessary to be aware of how, when and what constitutes bribery. The 2 sections of 
the Bribery Act 2010 shown below detail some key points and potential offences that could 
arise:- 
 

SECTION 1 – OFFENCES OF BRIBING ANOTHER PERSON 

 

Someone who offers, promises or gives financial or another advantage to another 

and intends the advantage to: 

i.) induce a person to perform improperly a relevant function or activity or 

ii.) rewards a person for such improper performance of such function or 

activity 

 

 

 

Page 353



Anti-Fraud & Corruption Policy 4 

 

 

SECTION 2 – OFFENCES RELATING TO BEING BRIBED 

 

Someone who agrees to or accepts a financial or other advantage intending that as 

a consequence, a relevant function or activity should be performed improperly. 

 

In both sections 1 and 2 the offence still occurs even if the person who performs the 
improper function or activity is not the person who received the bribe. This could occur if a 
senior officer was the person who was bribed and then they instructed a more junior 
member of staff to carry out a function or activity in a specific way which was in connection 
with the bribe. The junior member of staff could also commit an offence if it can be proven 
they knew what they were doing was wrong. 
 
Allegations of bribery are treated very seriously by the Council and will be investigated and 
dealt with in accordance with Council policies and where evidence exists in accordance 
with the relevant legislation applicable at that time. 
 

What to do if you suspect bribery 

 

If you believe that bribery is or has taken place DO NOT try investigating the issue yourself 
as your actions could result in the collapse of a case and could also result in you getting 
into trouble. 
 

Employees:- 
 

If you work for the council then you should immediately inform any of the people 
listed in the “Raising Concerns” section of this Policy on page 11. 

 
Elected Members:- 

 
If you are an Elected Member you should immediately inform the Monitoring Officer, 
who is also the Executive DIrector (Legal & Democratic Services) on 01254 
380146. If the Monitoring Officer is not available then you should contact one of the 
other people listed in the “Raising Concerns” section of this Policy on page 11.  

 
Contractors / Partners / Members of the Public:- 

 
If you are a contractor, partner organisation with the Council or a Member of the 
Public DO NOT try and investigate the issue yourself. Please contact one of the 
people listed in the “Raising Concerns” section of this Policy on page 11. 

 

 

 

CORPORATE FRAMEWORK 

 

 

The Corporate Framework supports Anti-Fraud & Corruption through a whole range of 

high level component parts, some of the key ones include: - 

 

Page 354



Anti-Fraud & Corruption Policy 5 

 

 Anti-Fraud & Corruption and Bribery Policy that emphasises the importance of 

probity to all concerned 

 Criminal Facilitation of Tax Evasion (CFTE) Policy 

 Codes of conduct for Members and Officers 

 Whistleblowing Policy 

 Anti-Money Laundering & Proceeds of Crime Policy 

 Complaints Procedure 

 Council Constitution & associated rules and regulations 

 Sound internal control systems, procedures and reliable records 

 Effective internal audit 

 Effective recruitment procedures 

 Council’s Disciplinary Procedure 

 Induction and training 

 IT Security Policy 

 Gifts & Hospitality Registers for Officers and Members 

 Members Register of Interests 

 

 

 

PREVENTION & DETERRENCE 

 

 

Within the overall Corporate Framework there are a number of key people and measures 

which can help in the prevention of fraud and corruption:- 

 

 Officers of the Council 

 Members 

 Internal Control Systems 

 Combining with others to prevent and fight fraud 

 

Officers of the Council 

 

A key preventative measure in the fight against fraud and corruption is to take effective 

steps at the recruitment stage to establish, as far as possible, the previous record of 

potential officers, in terms of their propriety and integrity. In this regard, temporary staff 

should be treated in the same manner as permanent officers. 

 

Written references should be obtained with specific assurances regarding the known 

honesty and integrity of potential officers before formal employment offers are made. 

 

All officers must abide by the Council’s Code of Conduct for Employees, which sets out the 

Council’s requirement on personal conduct. This Code is issued with the Employee 

Handbook and is referred to in all Contracts of Employment. Officers of the Council are 

Page 355



Anti-Fraud & Corruption Policy 6 

 

expected to follow any code of conduct related to their personal Professional Institute or 

other governing body, where the employee is a member of such an Institute. 

 

Breaches of the Code of Conduct are likely to be subject to the Council’s Disciplinary 

Procedures and may result in dismissal. 

 

The Executive DIrector (Legal & Democratic Services) is the appointed Monitoring Officer 

and in that capacity has overall responsibility for the maintenance and operation of the 

Authority’s Whistleblowing policy. 

 

Members 

 

Members are required to operate within:- 

 

 The Council’s Code of Conduct for Members 

 The Council’s Member / Officer Relations Protocol (also applies to Officers) 

 The Council’s codes of conduct for the Planning Committee and Judicial Committee 

 Sections 94-96 of the Local Government Act 1972 

 The Council’s Constitution (also applies to Officers) 

 

These matters together with other guidance are brought to the attention of members as 

part of their induction programme. Specific training is given at the annual induction day 

and at annual code of conduct training sessions. 

 

The Council has in place a Standards Committee, which promotes and maintains high 

standards of member conduct and assists members to observe the code of conduct. 

 

Internal Control Systems 

 

The Council has a Constitution, which includes various rules and codes of conduct, which 
require officers to act in accordance with best practice when dealing with the Council’s 
affairs, including:- 
 

 Employee Code of Conduct 
 Member / Officer Relations Protocol 
 Anti-Money Laundering & Proceeds of Crime Policy 

 
The Deputy Chief Executive has a statutory responsibility under Section 151 of Local 

Government Act 1972 to ensure that proper arrangements are made for the Council’s 

financial affairs. This includes: - 

 

 Measures to enable the prevention and detection of inaccuracies and fraud; 

 Identification of the duties of officers dealing with financial transactions and the 

separation of duties of those officers in relation to significant transactions 

 

The latter requirement is a key control in the prevention of impropriety. 

Page 356



Anti-Fraud & Corruption Policy 7 

 

 

The Council’s aim is to have sound financial systems and procedures, which incorporate 

efficient and effective internal controls. As part of this, the ‘separation of duties’ should be 

considered as a fundamental control in systems especially where significant transactions 

are involved. 

 

The Council has an obligation to ensure adequate controls are in place in order to comply 

with the S.151 responsibilities attributed to the Deputy Chief Executive in accordance with 

the Local Government Finance Act 1972. The existence, appropriateness, and 

effectiveness of these internal controls is independently monitored and reported upon by 

the Council’s Internal Audit Section. The Council also has an Audit Committee, which 

plays a key role in the monitoring of the Council’s controls and risks with particular 

emphasis on the effectiveness of these controls. 

 

Combining with Others to Prevent and Fight Fraud 
 

The Council is committed to exchanging information with other local and national agencies 

in order to identify and prevent fraud using data matching techniques. Such activity is 

carried out in full compliance of the Data Protection Act 2018, General Data Protection 

Regulation (GDPR), Code of Data Matching Practice for National Fraud Initiative Data 

Matching Exercises as directed by the Local Audit & Accountability Act 2014 and any other 

such data matching exercises as necessary in accordance with the law / relevant 

legislation. Any employee found to be perpetrating a fraud on another local or national 

agency is likely to face disciplinary action where this has implications for the Council’s trust 

and confidence in the employee. In certain cases disciplinary action could lead to 

dismissal. 

 

With the rapid increase in recent years of frauds perpetrated against a variety of local 

authorities and benefits agencies, which usually involve fraudsters having multiple 

identities and addresses or using malicious software / hacked and stolen data to 

perpetrate a fraud, the necessity for liaison with other organisations has become 

paramount and some of these include: - 

 

 Police 

 External Auditors 

 National Fraud Initiative 

 National Anti-Fraud Network (NAFN) 

 Action Fraud UK (Part of the National Fraud Investigation Bureau operated by City 

of London Police) 

 Department for Work & Pensions 

 Other Government agencies and public bodies 

 

There are a number of ways to deter potential fraudsters from committing or attempting 

fraudulent, bribery or corrupt acts, whether they are inside or outside the Council. These 

include:- 

Page 357



Anti-Fraud & Corruption Policy 8 

 

 

 Publicising the fact that the Council is firmly set against fraud and corruption and 

states this at every opportunity e.g. clauses in contracts, statements on benefit 

claim forms, statements on forms that request personal data, publications etc.; 

 Acting robustly and decisively when fraud, bribery and corruption are suspected and 

proven e.g. termination of contracts, dismissal, prosecution etc.; 

 Taking action to effect the maximum recoveries for the Council e.g. through 

agreement, court action, penalties, insurance etc.; 

 Having sound internal control systems that still allow for innovation but at the same 

time does not provide the opportunity for fraud, bribery and corruption. 

 

 

 

DETECTION & INVESTIGATION 

 

 

It is the responsibility of all the Council’s Management to prevent and detect fraud, 

corruption and bribery. 

 
In addition, Internal Audit and External Audit will liaise closely and implement an annual 
programme of audits that will test for fraud and corruption. 
However, despite the best efforts of managers and auditors, many frauds are discovered 

by chance or "“tip off”. It is often the alertness of employees and the public that enables 

detection to occur. 

 

The Council’s Anti-Fraud & Corruption and Bribery Policy provides officers and members 

with a clear path for raising concerns and facilitating “tip offs”, and the fraud response 

arrangements outlined in this Policy, enable such information or allegations to be properly 

dealt with. The Council’s Whistleblowing Policy also gives advice on how to raise a 

concern and the safeguards and support that are available to those who raise concerns. 

 

Where an officer, Member, contractor or a member of the public has belief that a fraud is 

or has been committed, or that corruption is or has taken, or that bribery has place then 

they MUST NEVER attempt to investigate the situation no matter how easy it may seem. 

Such ‘unofficial’ investigations are likely to render the evidence unusable within the 

Council’s disciplinary procedures or inadmissible in court due to it being gathered outside 

the procedures laid down by the Police & Criminal Evidence Act 1984 and Regulation of 

Investigatory Powers Act 2000 if unauthorised directed surveillance has taken place. It 

could also leave the Council open to criticism and in some cases potential legal 

proceedings could be made against the Council and / or the person who carried out the 

‘unofficial’ investigation. 

 

Council employees who are authorised to carry out investigations are bound by various 

Council policies, acts of law and are trained to carry out such investigations. 

 

Page 358



Anti-Fraud & Corruption Policy 9 

 

Senior management are responsible for following up any allegation of fraud, corruption or 

bribery that they receive and are required to inform the Internal Audit Section of all 

suspected irregularities, irrespective of whether they are ultimately proven. Internal Audit 

must be informed to ensure that procedures and controls can be re-assessed to ensure 

further similar irregularities should not arise. 

 

The investigating officer will: - 

 

 Deal promptly with the matter 

 Record all evidence that has been received 

 Ensure that evidence is sound and adequately supported 

 Make secure all of the evidence that has been collected 

 Carry out internal investigations of the allegation(s) to determine whether there is 

prime facie evidence of fraud and if so whether this requires the involvement of 

external agencies as part of that investigation 

 Where appropriate, contact other agencies e.g. Police 

 When appropriate, arrange for the notification of the Council’s insurers 

 Report to senior management, and where appropriate, present management with a 

report to allow consideration of whether to take disciplinary action in accordance 

with the Council’s Disciplinary Policy and procedures 

 Seek advice and assistance from Internal Audit and Legal & Democratic Services, 

also Human Resources if employees are potentially involved 

 

Reporting suspected irregularities is essential to the Anti-Fraud & Corruption and Bribery 

Policy and ensures:- 

 

 Consistent treatment of information regarding fraud, corruption and bribery  

 Proper investigation by an independent and experienced Internal Audit Team or 

other person(s) authorised to carry out such investigations 

 The optimum protection of the Council’s interests 

 

Depending on the nature and anticipated extent of the allegations, Internal Audit will 

normally work closely with management, the Human Resources Section, and Legal 

Services etc. and if or when necessary other agencies, such as the Police or External 

Audit. This is to ensure that all allegations and evidence are properly investigated and 

reported upon, and where appropriate, maximum recoveries are made for the Council. 

 

The Council’s disciplinary procedures will be used where the outcome of the Audit 

Investigation indicates improper behaviour; “reasonable belief” of gross misconduct is 

sufficient grounds for dismissal, rather than the higher standard of proof as is required in a 

court of law. 

 
Where financial impropriety is discovered or suspected and the prime facie evidence 
corroborates such allegations, the Council’s policy is that the Police will be called in. The 
Crown Prosecution Service determines whether or not a prosecution will be pursued. 

Page 359



Anti-Fraud & Corruption Policy 10 

 

Referral to the Police is a matter for the Head of Audit & Investigations and the relevant 
Director / Chief Officer.  
 
Various officers will be consulted during investigations and the Chief Executive will be kept 
informed of referrals to the Police. Referral to the Police may inhibit action under the 
Council’s disciplinary procedure and managers must take advice from Human Resources 
before taking action under the disciplinary procedure. 
 
The Council’s External Auditor also has powers to independently investigate fraud and 
corruption, and the Council can use these services for this purpose too. 
 

 

 

RAISING CONCERNS 

 

 

Although the Policy specifically refers to fraud, corruption and bribery, it equally applies to 

all financial malpractice. Fraud and corruption includes a wide range of irregularities and 

criminal acts that are financial or finance related. It includes for example: - 

 

 Theft of property, including assets and cash 

 False accounting 

 Obtaining property by deception 

 Pecuniary advantage by deception 

 Computer abuse and computer crime 

 Bribery and corruption 

 

Officers and Members can be exposed to a number of pressures from contractors, 

landlords, the public etc. to act in a particular way in a particular case. This may involve 

pressure to show “favouritism” regarding access to all kinds of services and benefits (e.g. 

grants, benefits, gaining contracts, planning permission etc.) 

 

Members and Officers are an important element in the Council’s stance on fraud, 

corruption and bribery, and they are positively encouraged and expected to raise any 

concerns that they may have on these issues where they are associated with the Council’s 

activity. 

 

Officers should normally raise concerns through their immediate manager, however it is 

recognised that they might feel inhibited in certain circumstances. In this case, officers 

should contact: - 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 360



Anti-Fraud & Corruption Policy 11 

 

 
David Welsby 

 
Chief Executive 

01254 380110 
Internal Ext. 2110 

 
Jane Ellis 

 

Executive DIrector (Legal & 
Democratic Services) & 

Monitoring Officer 

01254 380146 
Internal Ext. 2146 

 
Joe McIntyre 

 

Deputy Chief Executive & 
s151 Officer 

01254 380683 
Internal Ext. 2683 

 
Mark Beard 

 

Head of Audit & 
Investigations 

01254 380634 
Internal Ext. 2634 

 
Mark Dalton 

 

Appointed External Auditor 
(Mazars LLP) 

0113 394 2000 

 

  

Officers 

 

If Officers have a concern regarding a Member, then this must be brought to the 

attention of the Executive DIrector (Legal & Democratic Services) in her role as 

Monitoring Officer. 

 

 Elected Members 

 

Members should address their concerns to the Chief Executive or Executive 

DIrector (Legal & Democratic Services) in the first instance.  

 

 Members of the Public & Other Non-Council Organisations 

 

A member of the public, contractor, representative from any other partnership 

arrangement, or any other non-Council organisation must bring their concern to one 

of the 5 nominated officers described in the ‘Raising Concerns’ section of this 

policy. 

 

All concerns raised will be treated in confidence, properly investigated and dealt with fairly. 

However, there is a need to ensure that any investigation process is not misused. For 

example, any internal abuse such as raising malicious or vexatious allegations is likely to 

be subject to the Council’s disciplinary procedures. 

 
The Council’s Whistleblowing policy also gives further guidance on how to raise concerns 
and it gives details about the support and safeguards that are available to those that do 
raise concerns. 
 
Internal Audit Awareness of any Concerns Raised 
 
Following a concern being raised the manager or nominated officer / external auditor 
named above, you must make Internal Audit aware of the issue. 

Page 361



Anti-Fraud & Corruption Policy 12 

 

 
If the concern that has been raised is ultimately proven, this may highlight a serious 
system weakness in a given area or highlight risks that have arisen which have been 
exploited to allow the Fraud, Corruption or Bribery to occur. By informing Internal Audit, 
this ensures that the system controls can be checked or the risks can be analysed and 
steps can be put in place to rectify these issues to ensure that this does not arise again. 
 

 

 

TRAINING 

 

 

The Council recognises that the continuing success of its Anti-Fraud & Corruption and 

Bribery Policy and its general credibility will depend largely on the effectiveness of 

programmed training, communication and responsiveness of officers throughout the 

organisation. 

 

To facilitate this, the Council supports the concept of full induction, training and follow-up 

training. This applies particularly to officers involved in internal control systems and 

financial and finance related systems, to ensure that their responsibilities and duties in this 

respect are regularly highlighted and reinforced. This also applies to casual, temporary 

and agency staff, who may not be aware of the standards of probity that are required in the 

public sector. Elected Members are supported through induction, training and follow-on 

training and are made aware of their roles and responsibilities in particular the need for 

honesty and probity in all areas that they are involved in. 

 
Officers who work in areas where higher levels of fraud may occur will receive fraud 
awareness sessions in order to ensure that officers are made aware of any important 
issues and be given advice on what to look for in order to spot a potential fraud. In addition 
to this, briefings will also be held with employees who advise the public as to what advice 
to give to the public who may want to report a potential fraud.  
 

The review of the Council’s internal control systems and the investigation of fraud, 

corruption and bribery is the responsibility of the Internal Audit Team, apart from the 

investigation of Members, which is the responsibility of the Monitoring Officer. In addition, 

the investigation of fraudulent Housing Benefit claims now rests with the Department for 

Work & Pensions (DWP) with effect from 1st April 2015 and suspected housing benefit 

fraud must be reported direct to the DWP. 

 
The officers involved in the review of internal control systems and investigative work 
should be properly and regularly trained. 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 362



Anti-Fraud & Corruption Policy 13 

 

CONCLUSIONS & FUTURE UPDATING OF THIS POLICY 

 

 

The Council has in place a clear network of systems and procedures to assist it in the fight 

against fraud, corruption and bribery. It is determined that these arrangements will keep 

pace with any future developments, in both prevention and detection techniques, regarding 

fraudulent or corrupt activity that may affect its operation or related responsibilities. 

 

To this end the Council maintains a continuous overview of such arrangements and, in 

particular, through the roles of the Monitoring Officer, Deputy Chief Executive, Internal 

Audit and the various codes and procedure rules. 

 

The Anti-Fraud & Corruption and Bribery Policy is part of the Corporate Governance 

Policies Work Programme and will be reviewed annually by the Head of Audit & 

Investigations and updates or changes will be made as necessary. Where updates or 

changes are significant, the revised Policy will be re-approved by Standards Committee. 

The Head of Audit & Investigations will update the title page of the policy with the reviewed 

date, policy version and when it was last approved by Standards Committee. 

Page 363



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
1 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Policy 
Guidance & Procedure Notes 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Policy Version:  13 
Revised:   April 2022 
Checked / Reviewed: April 2022 
 
Last Policy Approval: Council AGM – May 2022 
 

Page 365



 
 
2 

HYNDBURN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

ANTI MONEY LAUNDERING POLICY 
 

SUMMARY 
 
1 Policy Objectives 
 
 Hyndburn Borough Council is committed to complying with the law relating to money 

laundering and to helping its members and staff to do the same. It is also committed 
to maintaining standards of financial management that reflect a high level of 
accountability and transparency. In pursuance of these objectives it has adopted an 
anti-money laundering policy. 

 
2 Training 
 
 The Council will provide appropriate training for both members and staff.  Training will 

relate to the law on money laundering and the procedures contained in the anti-
money laundering policy. When major changes in the law impose new obligations on 
the Council, refresher training will be arranged.   

 
3 Guidance 
 
 The Council’s Money Laundering Reporting Officer (MLRO) will be available on an 

ongoing basis to give guidance to both members and staff. Where necessary the 
MLRO will seek legal advice.  Staff should consult the MLRO whenever they have 
any doubts about anti money laundering law and/or procedures and must go straight 
to the MLRO and NOT discuss the matter with anybody else. 

 
4 Updating 
 
 The Council will continue to maintain, update and publicise to staff and members its 

anti-money laundering policy and procedures. 
 
5 Enforcement 
 
 The Council will carry out regular checks to ensure that the anti-money laundering 

policy and procedures are being adhered to and will take such disciplinary action as 
may be necessary in cases where breaches of the law and /or procedure occur. 

 
6 Preventative Measures/Best Practice 

 
The Council will observe all relevant codes of conduct relating to money laundering. It 
will not act in any circumstances where there may be concern that it will not comply 
with its anti-money laundering obligations.  At all times the Council will take all 
possible steps to maintain its reputation and financial integrity. 
 
 

Page 366



 
 
3 

HYNDBURN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

ANTI MONEY LAUNDERING POLICY – GUIDANCE NOTE 
 
   

 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 Some of the legal obligations relating to money laundering are to be found in: - 
 

 The Terrorism Act 2000 and  

 The Proceeds of Crime Act 2002  
 

This legislation contains detailed definitions of the money laundering activities that are 
caught by the statutory control framework. 

 
1.2 The Money Laundering, Terrorist Financing, Transfer of Funds Regulations 

2017 (The MLR 2017) encapsulate the obligations that were introduced by The 
Money Laundering Regulations 2007 but these do not apply to the Council. The 
MLR 2017 sets out the additional obligations of private sector firms working in areas 
of higher money laundering risk. The MLR 2017 aims to stop criminals using 
professional services to launder money by requiring professionals to take a risk-
based approach. 
 

1.3 The Council has used these regulations as a guide to the establishment of 
procedures that have been designed to prevent the use of the Council’s services for 
money laundering.  These procedures are set out in the accompanying Anti-Money 
Laundering Procedures and all members and staff should be aware of the 
content.   

 
1.3 Failure to comply with this Policy and these Procedures may constitute a 

disciplinary offence. 
 
1.4 This Guidance Note aims to provide further detail regarding the legal requirements 

and practical help in implementing the procedures. 
 
 
2 THE LAW 
 
2.1 The Terrorism Act 2000 

 
This makes it an offence for any person to enter into or be concerned in arrangements that 
facilitate the retention or control of property that has been or is likely to be used for the 
purposes of terrorism. 

 
It is a defence if a person charged with this offence could prove that they did not know and 
had no reasonable cause to suspect that the arrangement related to terrorist property. 

 
The Act also imposes obligations on everyone who acquires information in the course of a 
trade profession business or employment to inform the police of any suspicions that an 
offence has been committed under the Act. It is a defence for a person charged with this 
offence to prove that he had reasonable excuse for not making the disclosure. 
 

Page 367



 
 
4 

This defence would be established if the person charged was able to demonstrate that 
they had made a disclosure in accordance with their employers established policy. 

 
2.2 The Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 

 
Sections 327 – 329 create several criminal offences in relation to the laundering of criminal 
property that can be committed by anyone 

 

 “Criminal Property” is defined in the Act as being property that “constitutes a person’s 
benefit from criminal conduct…”(s 340) 

 

 “Property” is defined as  “all property wherever situated and includes  
a) money 
b) All forms of property, real or personal, heritable or moveable 
c) Things in action and other intangible or incorporeal property” 

 
 
Section 327 provides that a person commits an offence if they 

 
Conceal, disguise, convert or transfer criminal property or remove criminal property 
from the UK and they know or suspect that it is criminal property 

 

 Conceal -  hides it or  conceals its nature, source, location  disposition, movement or 
ownership 

 

 Disguises - alters its appearance e.g. by removing serial numbers or other identifying 
marks or disguises its nature source etc. 

 

 Converts – changes it from one thing to another 
 

 Transfers – uses it to but things or simply gives it to someone else 
 

 Removes – moves it physically or by electronic transfer from one jurisdiction to another 
 
 

Section 328 provides that a person commits an offence if they 
 

Enter into or become concerned in an arrangement which they know or suspect 
facilitates (by whatever means) the acquisition, retention, use or control of criminal 
property by or on behalf of another person. 

 
This offence is committed when someone becomes actively involved in some 
arrangement, which helps someone else to get, keep, use or control the proceeds of 
crime. 

 
An offence will not be committed under either section 327 or 328 if;- 

 

 the alleged money laundering activity is reported to the MLRO before one of the acts 
mentioned in the two sections is done and the appropriate consent is obtained 

 

 a person intended to make a disclosure but had a reasonable excuse for not doing so 
 

 the person is carrying out a function relating to the  enforcement of the Act or other 
criminal conduct 

Page 368



 
 
5 

 
 
Section 329 provides that a person commits an offence if they, acquire, use or have 
possession criminal property providing they know or suspect that it represents the 
proceeds of crime 

 
In addition to the defences provided for offences under sections 327 and 328 there is a 
further defence that the person used or had possession of the property for adequate 
consideration 
 
The offences created by section 327 –329 are punishable by a maximum term of 14 years 
and/ or an unlimited fine if convicted in the Crown Court, or 6 months imprisonment and/ or 
a maximum fine of £5,000 if convicted in the Magistrates Court. 

 
Knowledge and suspicion 

 
Knowledge means actual knowledge or shutting one’s mind to the obvious or wilfully 
shutting one’s eyes to the truth 

 
Suspicion is not specifically defined but can be said to be more than speculation but less 
than actual proof or certainty. It should not however be based on stereotypes 

 
It is a subjective test i.e. that the defendant actually knew or had suspicions (not that a 
reasonable man would have been suspicious) 

 
 
2.3 The Council’s Policy and Procedures 

 
As part of its commitment to prevent the use of its services for the purpose of 
money laundering the Council will: 

 

 Implement a procedure to require the reporting of suspicions of money 
laundering,  

 

 Appoint a Money Laundering Reporting Officer to receive disclosures from their 
staff of money laundering activity (their own or anyone else’s); 

 

 Maintain certain client identification procedures; and 
 

 Maintain record keeping procedures. 
 

 Train its staff in money laundering recognition and reporting procedures 
 
  
 
2.4 MONEY LAUNDERING – HOW IT WORKS AND HOW TO REGONISE IT 
 

How it works 
 

In simple terms the process can be described as being broken down into three stages; 
 

 Placement 
 

 Layering 
Page 369



 
 
6 

 

 Integration 
 

In reality it may be difficult to make such clear-cut distinctions 
 

Placement occurs when the property generated by crime is placed in the economic or 
financial system. 

 
Layering is where the criminal property is distanced from its source by layers of 
transactions designed to disguise the audit trail and end up with the appearance of 
legitimacy 

 
Integration is where the criminal property is successfully disguised and is integrated into 
the legitimate economy. 

 
 

It is impossible to give a definitive list of ways in which to spot money laundering or 
how to decide whether to make a report to the MLRO.  The following are types of 
risk factors which may, either alone or cumulatively with other factors, suggest the 
possibility of money laundering activity: (the list below is not exhaustive) 
 
 

 A new customer with no previous ‘history’ with the Authority; 
 

 A secretive customer: e.g. refuses to provide requested information without a 
reasonable explanation;  
 

 Concerns about the honesty, integrity, identity or location of a customer; 
 

 Illogical third party transactions: unnecessary routing or receipt of funds from 
third parties or through third party accounts;  
 

 Involvement of an unconnected third party without logical reason or explanation;  
 

 Payment of sums up to £3,000 in cash (approximately 3,570 €) or above this 
amount if in other payment forms e.g. cheque; 
 

 Overpayments by a customer;  
 

 Payment of deposits, which are, requested back (if a transaction is aborted or 
delayed). 
 

 Absence of an obvious legitimate source of the funds;  
 

 Movement of funds to and from overseas, particularly to and from a higher risk 
country or tax haven; 
 

 Where, without reasonable explanation, the size, nature and frequency of 
transactions or requests (or the size, location or type of a client) is out of line with 
normal expectations;  
 

 A transaction without obvious legitimate purpose or which appears uneconomic, 
inefficient or irrational; 
 Page 370



 
 
7 

 The cancellation or reversal of an earlier transaction; 
 

 Requests for release of  account details other than in the normal course of 
business;  
 

 Companies and trusts: extensive use of corporate structures and trusts in 
circumstances where the customers needs are inconsistent with the use of such 
structures; 
 

 Poor business records or internal accounting controls; 
 

 A previous transaction for the same client which has been, or should have been, 
reported to the MLRO; 
 

 Unusual property investment transactions if there is no apparent investment 
purpose or rationale;  
 

 Instructions to receive and pay out money where there is no linked substantive 
property transaction involved (surrogate banking);  
 

 Re property transactions, funds received for deposits or prior to completion from 
an unexpected source or where instructions are given for settlement funds to be 
paid to an unexpected destination;  

 
Facts, which tend to suggest that something odd is happening, may be sufficient for 
a reasonable suspicion of money laundering to arise. 

 
In short, the money laundering offences apply to your own actions and to matters in 
which you become involved.  If you become aware that your involvement in a matter 
may amount to money laundering then you must discuss it with the MLRO and not 
take any further action until you have received, through the MLRO, the consent of 
the National Crime Agency (“NCA”). The failure to report money-laundering 
obligations referred to below, relate also to your knowledge or suspicions of others, 
through your work. 

 
 2.5 Reporting Money Laundering Offences: 
 

The Council’s Anti-Money Laundering Policy makes it clear that all members of staff 
should report any concerns they may have of money laundering activity, 
irrespective of their area of work  

 
If you know or suspect, through the course of your work, that anyone is involved in 
any sort of criminal conduct then it is highly likely, given the wide definition of 
money laundering, that the person is also engaged in money laundering and a 
report to the MLRO will be required. The value involved in the offence is irrelevant.  
If, for example, you reasonably suspect that someone has falsified his or her 
expenses claim, even if just by £1, then you would need to report that to the MLRO. 

 
There are various defences, for example where you have a reasonable excuse for 
non-disclosure or you did not know or suspect that money was being laundered and 
you had not been provided by the Council with appropriate training.   

 
You must still report your concerns, even if you believe someone else has already 
reported their suspicions of the same money laundering activity.  

Page 371



 
 
8 

 
Such disclosures to the MLRO will be protected in that they will not be taken to 
breach any restriction on the disclosure of information. 

 
If you are in any doubt as to whether or not to file a report with the MLRO then you 
should err on the side of caution and do so – remember, failure to report may 
render you liable to prosecution   The MLRO will not refer the matter on to the 
relevant authority if there is no need. 

 
2.6 “Tipping Off” Offences 
 

Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 section 333 
 

A person commits an offence if they know or suspect that a disclosure (of 
suspected money laundering) has been made and they then make reveal 
information that is likely to prejudice any investigation in to the suspected 
money laundering. 

 
The maximum penalty for “tipping off” money laundering suspects is 6 months 
imprisonment and/ or a fine of up to £5,000 in the Magistrates Court or 5 years 
imprisonment and / or an unlimited fine if convicted in the Crown Court  

 
So if suspect a member or member of staff suspects money laundering and reports 
it to the MLRO, be very careful what you say to others afterwards: you may commit 
an offence  

 
You CANNOT warn or infer to a suspect that they are under suspicion or they have 
been reported.  In effect, the file or matter has to be discretely frozen until clearance 
is given.  If the matter is reported to the police they may note the position and, if 
alerted, watch what goes on to catch the linked criminals.  So, IF you don’t report 
and somebody else elsewhere in a chain of transactions HAS, suspicion could fall 
on YOU. 

 
 

Remember - absolute secrecy and discretion is required.  No notes on active 
files are to be made and all reporting kept in confidential MLRO files. 

 
 
2.7 Consideration of Disclosure Report by MLRO 
 
 Where the MLRO receives a disclosure from a member of staff and concludes that 

there is actual/suspected money laundering taking place, or there are reasonable 
grounds to suspect so, then he must make a report as soon as practicable to NCA 
on their standard report form and in the prescribed manner, unless he has a 
reasonable excuse for non-disclosure.   Where relevant, the MLRO will also need to 
request appropriate consent from the NCA for any acts/transactions, which would 
otherwise amount to prohibited acts under section 327 – 329 of the 2002 Act, to 
proceed. 

 
The MLRO may receive appropriate consent from the NCA in the following ways: 

 

 specific consent; 
 

Page 372



 
 
9 

 no refusal of consent during the notice period (seven working days starting with 
the first working day after the MLRO makes the disclosure); or 
 

 refusal of consent during the notice period but the moratorium period has 
expired (31 days starting with the day on which the MLRO receives notice of refusal 
of consent). 

 
The MLRO commits a criminal offence under section 331 of the Act if the MLRO knows or 
suspects (or has reasonable grounds to do so) through a disclosure being made to the 
MLRO, that another person is engaged in money laundering and this is not disclosed as 
soon as practicable to the NCA.   
 
Relevant Guidance 
 
When considering any offence under the legislation, the Court will consider whether you 
followed any relevant guidance approved by the Treasury, a supervisory authority, or any 
other appropriate body which includes, for example, the Law Society, the Financial 
Services Authority, the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and other 
such bodies.  Such guidance is available for lawyers, surveyors and accountants by their 
respective professional bodies. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 373



 
 

10 

HYNDBURN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

ANTI MONEY LAUNDERING POLICY – PROCEDURE NOTES 
 
   

These procedure notes give guidance on: - 
 
1 Cash Handling & Receipting of Cash 
2 Reporting Suspicions of Money Laundering to the MLRO 
3 Consideration of Disclosure to NCA by the MLRO 
4 Acceptable Customer/Client Identification 
5 Record Keeping 
6 Appointed Money Laundering Reporting Officer (MLRO) and Deputies 
 
It is recognised that the procedure notes cannot cover every eventuality and should be 
used in conjunction with the Guidance Notes detailing the law and statutory obligations. 
 
The provisions of the Act require that records are retained for at least 5 years, however, in 
some cases information must be kept for longer due to statutory requirements e.g. Income 
Receipting records – 6 years in accordance with HM Customs & Excise & HM Inland 
Revenue. Such differences are highlighted within the Procedure Notes as far as possible, 
but in the event that you are unsure please check before disposing of records. 
 
In the event of a situation arising that you do not believe is explained by this policy, then 
you must discuss this in confidence with the MLRO and/or Hyndburn Borough Council’s 
Legal Services. 
 
At the end of these procedure notes you will find:- 

 Checklist Flowchart to aid in decision process 

 Verification of Customer ID Guidance & Form 

 Appendix 1 – Report Template for Report to the MLRO 

 Appendix 2 – List of Authorised Cash Handlers 

 Guidance Note for Elected Members 
  
 
 
Section 1 
Cash Handling & Receipting of Cash 
 
1.1 These cash handling and receipting of cash procedures are aimed at minimising the 

risk of potential money laundering activity. 
 
1.2 Authorised cash handlers of the Council can accept an individual cash payment up 

to a maximum of £3,000 (approximately 3,570 €). This is providing you are satisfied 
as to the validity of the transaction and you do not suspect potential money 
laundering activity. In the event you do suspect a potential money laundering 
offence you must report the facts to the MLRO prior to taking and receipting the 
cash. Details of the reporting procedure are contained in Section 2 of these 
guidance notes. 

 

1.3 Amounts greater than £3,000 (approximately 3,570 €) will not be accepted in cash 
and will only be acceptable by cheque, debit or credit card or direct UK bank 
transfer. 

Page 374



 
 

11 

 
1.4 If customers offer payment by a cheque drawn from an overseas bank, the best 

practice is to ask for payment electronically or by a cheque through a UK Clearing 
Bank. 

 
1.5 All payments will be receipted using one of the Council’s official methods for cash 

receipting e.g. electronic cash receipting system or official Hyndburn Borough 
Council written receipts on official Hyndburn Stationery. Such records must be 
maintained for a period of at least 6 years to provide an audit trail and adequate 
history of the transaction. The 6 year period is a statutory requirement in line with 
the requirements of HM Customs & Excise and the HM Inland Revenue. 

 
1.6 Income will also be banked in the normal way according to the location where the 

income is received and recorded. For example, income will either be banked using 
the Security Firm contracted by the Council at that time for that purpose. 
Alternatively in some cases employees of the Council will pay in this income directly 
at the Council’s bank following receipting. 

 
1.7 Only Officers of the Council nominated as Official Cash Handlers under this policy, 

may process cash and other forms of income e.g. cheques. Due to the need for the 
list of nominated Official Cash Handlers to be updated as and when people change 
jobs or leave the Council, this list has been attached as Appendix 2 to this policy 
and guidance notes to enable easy updating. 

 
 
 
Section 2 
Reporting Suspicions of Money Laundering to the MLRO 
 
2.1  Where you know or suspect that money laundering activity is taking/has taken 

place, or become concerned that your involvement in a matter may amount to a 
prohibited act under sections 327 – 329 of the Act, you must disclose this as soon 
as practical to the MLRO. The disclosure should be within “hours” of the information 
coming to your attention, NOT weeks or months later. It is recognised that there 
may be circumstances where you can not report the suspicion immediately e.g. 
there is a long queue of customers. However, reporting your suspicion/concerns 
should be your first priority as soon as, in this example, the queue is cleared. 
SHOULD YOU NOT DO SO, THEN YOU MAY BE LIABLE TO PROSECUTION. 
You MUST report in confidence and in private. You must NOT ‘tip off’ anybody else 
or allow anybody else to see or hear what is happening. It is a secret between you 
and the MLRO. In the event that the MLRO is not available e.g. due to holiday, then 
you MUST report in confidence and in private to a Deputy Money Laundering 
Reporting Officer (DMLRO). The DMLRO is empowered to act in the absence of the 
MLRO and will liaise direct with the MLRO when it is appropriate. 

 
2.2 Remember, if the matter is passed to NCA then they will want to be able to follow 

the trail of money laundering, so they need the chain of reports to be able to trace it 
from the beginning to the end. 

 
2.3 Your disclosure should be made to the MLRO or a DMLRO in the MLRO’s absence, 

using the pro-forma reporting form attached at Appendix 1. The report must include 
as much detail as possible. You should check PRIOR to sending the written report 
that the MLRO (or DMLRO) is NOT absent to prevent the report being left 
unattended for a period of time. If possible, you could telephone the MLRO (or 

Page 375



 
 

12 

DMLRO) to inform them that a report is coming. The following list is given as 
examples of the type of information expected, but is not intended to cover all 
possible eventualities:- 

o Full details of the people involved (including yourself, if relevant); 
o Full details of the nature of their/your involvement; 

 If you are concerned that your involvement in the transaction would 
amount to a prohibited act under sections 327 – 329 of the Act. Then 
your report must include all relevant details, as you will need consent 
from the NCA, via the MLRO, to take and further part in the 
transaction for the matter to proceed before such consent is given. 

 You should therefore make it clear in the report if such consent is 
required and clarify whether there are any deadlines for giving such 
consent e.g. a completion date or court deadline; 

o The types of money laundering activity involved: 
 If possible, cite the section number(s) under which the report is being 

made e.g. a principal money laundering offence under section 327 – 
329 of the Act, or general reporting requirement under section 330 of 
the Act, or both; 

o The dates of such activities, including: 
o Whether the transactions have happened, are ongoing or are imminent; 
o Where they took place; 
o How they were undertaken; 
o The (likely) amount of money/assets involved; 
o Why, exactly, you are suspicious – the NCA will require full reasons; 
o Any other relevant available information to enable the MLRO to make a 

sound judgement as to whether there are reasonable grounds for knowledge 
or suspicion of money laundering and to enable the MLRO to prepare a 
report to the NCA, where appropriate. 

 
2.4 Once you have reported the matter to the MLRO you must follow any directions that 

may be given to you. You must NOT make any further enquiries into the matter 
yourself. Any investigation will be undertaken by the NCA. Your obligation is to 
report your suspicions to the MLRO who will refer it to NCA if it is appropriate. 

 
2.5 All members of staff will co-operate with the MLRO and the authorities during any 

subsequent money laundering investigation. 
 
2.6 You must not discuss the matter with your work colleagues or other people known 

to you as to whether you should report an issue to the MLRO, you must make up 
your own mind and then ONLY share this with the MLRO or DMLRO in the MLRO’s 
absence. 

 
2.7 Under no circumstances and at no time should you voice your concerns or 

suspicions to the person(s) you suspect of money laundering, even if the NCA has 
given consent for a particular transaction to proceed without the specific consent of 
the MLRO. Otherwise you may commit a criminal offence of “tipping off”. 

 
2.8 In the event that a customer demands to know what is going on or becomes irate, 

you must not even hint what the problem might be. When the MLRO and/or NCA 
give clearance, proceed with the matter as though nothing had happened. 

 
2.9 You must NOT start trying to investigate the matter yourself as you may 

compromise any potential investigation and you could inadvertently ‘tip off’ the 

Page 376



 
 

13 

person(s) you are suspicious about. This in turn could lead to you being 
prosecuted. 

 
2.10 Doing nothing or ignoring the problem is NOT an option. You are duty bound to 

report any suspected potential money laundering issue to the MLRO or DMLRO in 
the MLRO’s absence. 

 
 
 
Section 3 
Consideration of Disclosure to NCA by the MLRO 
 
3.1 Upon receipt of a disclosure report, the MLRO must note the date of the receipt on 

the appropriate section of the report and acknowledge receipt of it. The MLRO 
should also advise you of the timescale within which it is expected to respond to 
you. 

 
3.2 The MLRO will consider the report and any other available internal information 

considered relevant e.g.: 
o reviewing other transaction patterns and volumes; 
o the length of any business relationship involved; 
o the number of any one-off transactions and linked one-off transactions; 
o any identification evidence held; 
o and undertake such reasonable inquiries it is thought appropriate in order to 

ensure that all available information is taken into account in deciding whether 
to report to NCA is required. 

 
3.3 Such enquiries must be made in such a way as to avoid any appearance of tipping 

off those involved. The MLRO may also need to discuss the report with the person 
who made it. 

 
3.4 Once the MLRO has evaluated the disclosure report and any other relevant 

information, a timely determination must be made as to whether: 
o there is actual or suspected money laundering taking place; or 
o there are reasonable grounds to know or suspect that is the case; and 
o whether consent needs to be sought from NCA for a particular transaction to 

proceed. 
 
3.5 If the MLRO concludes the matter must be disclosed to the NCA, then it must be 

done as soon as practicable i.e. within hours rather than weeks or months. The 
disclosure must be on NCA’s standard report form and in the prescribed manner, 
unless there is a reasonable excuse for non-disclosure to NCA (for example, if you 
are a lawyer and you wish to claim legal professional privilege for not disclosing the 
information. 

 
3.6 If the MLRO suspects money laundering but has a reasonable excuse for non-

disclosure, then the MLRO must note the report accordingly. The MLRO can then 
immediately give consent for any imminent transactions to proceed. 

 
3.7 In cases where legal professional privilege may apply, the MLRO must liaise with 

the Head of Legal Services to decide whether there is a reasonable excuse for not 
reporting the matter to NCA. 

 

Page 377



 
 

14 

3.8 Where consent is required from NCA for a transaction to proceed, then the 
transaction(s) in question must not be undertaken or completed or proceed until the 
NCA has specifically given consent, or there is deemed consent through the 
expiration of the relevant time limits without objection from the NCA. 

 
3.9 If the NCA gives express consent to the MLRO (or DMLRO) within 7 clear working 

days (not counting the day the disclosure is made) then the MLRO will instruct that 
you proceed normally with business. If consent is refused within 7 clear working 
days the MLRO will advise you that you must refuse to continue with the 
transaction. NCA can notify the MLRO within 7 clear working days that they are 
extending the time for a decision by 31 days, during that extension the MLRO will 
advise that you must do nothing with that transaction. If the NCA does this, they will 
be happy to discuss ways and means of explaining the delay to your business 
partner or customer with the MLRO. In the event that the MLRO hears nothing 
(consent, refusal or request for extension) within 7 clear working days the NCA are 
deemed to have consented to the transaction being completed and the MLRO will 
advise you of this. 

 
3.10 Where the MLRO concludes that there are no reasonable grounds to suspect 

money laundering then the report will be marked accordingly and consent given by 
the MLRO for any ongoing or imminent transaction(s) to proceed. 

 
3.11 All disclosure reports referred to the MLRO and reports made by the MLRO to NCA 

must be retained by the MLRO in a separate, confidential file kept for that purpose, 
for a minimum of five years. 

 
3.12 The MLRO commits a criminal offence if the MLRO knows or suspects, or has 

reasonable grounds to do so, through a disclosure being made to the MLRO, that 
another person is engaged in money laundering and it is not disclosed as soon as 
practicable to the NCA, i.e. within hours rather than weeks or months. 

 
3.13 Doing nothing or ignoring the problem is NOT an option. The MLRO is duty bound 

to investigate an obvious potential money laundering issue that is reported. 
 
 
 
Section 4 
Non-Council Organisation Identification 
 
4.1 Where the Council is carrying out “relevant business” e.g. Accountancy, Audit, 

Estates Work and some Legal Services and; 
 

a.) forms an ongoing business relationship with an organisation or individual; or 
 
b.) undertakes a one-off transaction involving payment by the 

organisation/individual of a maximum of £3,000 in cash (approximately 3,570 

€); or 
 
c.) undertakes a one-off transaction involving payment by or to the 

organisation/individual of 15,000 € (approximately £12,500) or more; or 
 

d.) undertakes a series of linked one-off transactions involving total payment by 

or the organisation/individual of 15,000 € (approximately £12,500) or more; 
or 

Page 378



 
 

15 

 
e.) it is known or suspected that a one-off transaction (or series of them) 

involves money laundering; 
 
Then this Non-Council Organisation Identification Procedure must be followed 
BEFORE any business is undertaken for that customer/client. Please note that 
unlike the reporting procedure, the identification procedure IS restricted to 
those operating relevant business, i.e. Financial Services, Legal Services, 
Auctioneers and Valuers. 

 
4.2 In the above circumstances, staff in the relevant unit of the Council must obtain 

satisfactory evidence of the identity of the prospective client, as soon as practicable 
after instructions are received (unless evidence of the client has already been 
obtained). This applies to existing organisations/individuals as well as new ones, 
but identification evidence is not required for matters entered into/commenced prior 
to 1st March 2004. 

 
4.3 Generally, we know most organisations/individuals conducting relevant business for 

the Council. We are not in private practice and are therefore subject to public sector 
controls. We are not large, city firms of lawyers and accountants, with international 
client bases. 

 
4.4 A clear trail of events is key. Cheques whether large or small are easily traceable 

through the banking system providing they come in from UK clearing banks. 
Therefore a cheque for £100,000 from a known company on a UK clearing bank 
cheque is traceable as where a customer paying £3,000 in cash for a debt is not 
necessarily traceable. 

 
Known Organisations/Individuals 

 
4.5 Written instructions on headed paper should enable to us to have confidence in 

accepting instructions from a known client.  
 

New Organisations/Individuals 
 
4.6 If you are undertaking work on behalf of a new organisation/individual, then you 

may also wish to seek additional evidence, e.g.: 
o checking the organisation’s website to confirm the business address; 
o asking the key contact to provide evidence of their personal identity and 

position within the organisation; for example signed, written confirmation 
from their Head of Service or Chair of the relevant organisation. 

o If you are dealing with an individual you may ask for sight of their passport 
and one recent utility bill and keep photocopies on the file. 

o For limited companies you could request a copy of the last accounts and 
Certificate of Incorporation and for a new company, the passport details of 
two directors for example. 

 
4.7 In all cases the evidence should be retained for 5 years from the end of the 

business relationship or one-off transaction(s). 
 
4.8 If you are not satisfied with the evidence of identity at the outset of the matter, then 

the business relationship or one off transaction(s) cannot proceed any further. 
 
 

Page 379



 
 

16 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Section 5 
Record Keeping 
 
5.1 Record Keeping is split into 2 sections:- 

a.) General Record Keeping 
b.) Suspected Money Laundering Issues - Record Keeping 

 
General Record Keeping 

 
5.2 Each Service of the Council that conducts ‘relevant business’ MUST maintain 

records of:- 
o identification evidence obtained relating to organisations/individuals; and 
o details of all relevant business transaction carried out for the 

organisation/individual 
 
5.3 These records must be kept for at least 5 years. However, you should refer to the 

Council’s Retention & Disposal of Documents Schedule to ensure that you are not 
statutorily bound to keep the information for longer than the 5 years stipulated by 
the Act. This is so that they may be used as evidence in any subsequent 
investigation by the authorities into money laundering. 

 
5.4 Law does not prescribe the precise nature of the records. However, they must be 

capable of providing an audit trail during any subsequent investigation, for example 
distinguishing the customer/client and the relevant transaction and recording in 
what form any funds were received or paid. In practice, Council services should be 
routinely making such records of work carried out customers/clients in the course of 
normal business. 

 
Suspected Money-Laundering Issues - Record Keeping 
 
5.5 All disclosure reports referred to the MLRO and reports made by the MLRO to NCA 

MUST be retained by the MLRO in a separate confidential file kept purely for that 
purpose. These reports MUST be kept for a minimum of 5 years. 

 
5.6 In the event that a referral is dealt with by a deputy MLRO (DMLRO) due to the 

unavoidable absence of the MLRO e.g. through holiday or sickness, then the 
DMLRO must act in accordance with policy in terms of notification. The DMLRO 
must also keep the reports safe until the return of the MLRO. 

 
5.7 Upon the return to work of the MLRO, the DMLRO should arrange to meet with the 

MLRO at the earliest opportunity to brief the MLRO of what has happened and also 
pass the reports to the MLRO to be retained with all other such reports as described 
above. 

 
 
 
 

Page 380



 
 

17 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Section 6 
Appointed MLRO & Deputy MLROs 
 
6.1 Hyndburn Borough Council’s Appointed MLRO is:- 
 
 Mark Beard 
 Head of Audit & Investigations 
 Town Hall 
 Broadway Offices 
 Accrington 
 Lancashire 
 BB5 1LA 
 
 Telephone:  01254 380634 
 Internal Extension: 2634 
 E-Mail:  mark.beard@hyndburnbc.gov.uk 
 
 
6.2 In addition there are 2 appointed Deputy MLROs:- 
 
 Jane Ellis 
 Executive Director 
 Scaitcliffe House 
 Ormerod Street 
 Accrington 
 Lancashire 
 BB5 0PF 
 
 Telephone:  01254 380146 
 Internal Extension: 2146 
 E-Mail:  jane.ellis@hyndburnbc.gov.uk 
 
 
 Kirsten Burnett 
 Head of Organisational Development and Policy 
 Scaitcliffe House 
 Ormerod Street 
 Accrington 
 Lancashire 
 BB5 0PF 
 
 Telephone:  01254 380694 
 Internal Extension: 2694 
 E-Mail:  kirsten.burnett@hyndburnbc.gov.uk 
 
  
 

Page 381

mailto:mark.beard@hyndburnbc.gov.uk
mailto:jane.ellis@hyndburnbc.gov.uk
mailto:kirsten.burnett@hyndburnbc.gov.uk


 
 

18 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MONEY LAUNDERING CHECKLIST flowchart 
 
1 Cash Payment - are you suspicious of a cash payment up to a maximum cash of 

£3,000? Do money laundering checks and verification procedures. 
 
 Where the payment exceeds €15,000 (approx. £12,500) whether by cheque or any 

other method of payment, checks etc. are MANDATORY. 
 
2 Have you received non-cash payment and/or are you suspicious? 
 
 
 
                                                    Yes 

 
 
 
 
                        No 

 
 
                                       Yes                                      Yes 

 
 
 
 
 
                            No                                        No 

                                                          
 
                                             Yes                                       Yes                                        No 
                                                                                                                    
 
 
 
                        
                No                                   No 

 
                                                              
                                              
                                              Yes 
 
                                                                                            Yes 
                           No 

 
 
                                               Yes 

 
 
 

Is cheque on 
customer’s Bank? 

Cheque on 
client’s own 

account with a 
non UK Bank? 

Cheque from third 
party? 

Bank draft 
or Bearer 
Cheque? 

Any other method 
of payment? 

Is the bank 
authorised by UK 

or EU? 

Are they known to 
you or have you 
done business 

with them? 

 
Do you have 

confirmation from 
the banker of the 
source account 

details? 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Are there any 
other reasons for 
being suspicious? 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Record the 
details and bank 

the funds. 

Page 382



 
 

19 

 
                                                                         No                                   Yes 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Verify-ID 

VERIFICATION OF ORGANISATION/INDIVIDUAL IDENTITY 
 
Verification of Organisation/Individual Identity Checklist for client: 
 
Name: _________________________________________________________________ 
 
NB: If you are receiving funds from a new Organisation/Individual in any transaction up to 

£3,000 cash or above £12,500 (15,000 €) if another payment method, the identity of 
the customer must be checked.  Otherwise, any suspicions will require you to go 
through this verification process for whatever level of transaction in any event.  If 
there is still a problem, report to MLRO. 

 
A. Evidence not obtained – reasons: 
 
 1. Customer previous identified in:  Month __________  Year ________________ 
  (but not required if a consistent and regular ‘customer’ since prior to 1992) 

 
 2.  Other – state reason fully __________________________________________ 

  _______________________________________________________________ 
 
B. Evidence obtained to verify name and address: 
 
 (a)  OK on their own 
 
 Full national passport  
 Full national driving licence with photo  
 Pension book  
 Armed Forces ID Card  
 Signed ID Card of employer known to you  
 
 (b)  OK with two of next group below 
 
 Young person NI card (under 18 only)  
 Pensioner’s travel pass  
 Building Society passbook  
 Credit Reference agency search  
 National ID Card  
 Copy Company Certificate of Incorporation if a limited 

company and 2 Directors personal identify as above  
 
 (c)  NB NOT suitable on their own 
 
 Gas, electricity, telephone bill  
 Mortgage statement  
 Council tax demand  

Report to 
MLRO 

Page 383



 
 

20 

 Bank/Building Society/credit card statement  
 Young person’s medical card (under 18 only)  
 Home visit to applicants address*  
 Check of telephone directory*  
 Check voters roll*  
 *Suitable for proof of address only  
 
 NB  BEST PRACTICE is to have one of Group (a) plus two of Group (c) 
 
C. Evidence obtained for unquoted company or partnership: 
 
 Certificate of Incorporation or equivalent  
 Certificate of Trade or equivalent  
 Latest report and audited accounts  
 Principal shareholder/partner  )  NB  Personal  
 Principal director )        ID  
 
D. Disadvantaged Customers: 
 
 e.g.  Written Confirmation of identity from Social  

Worker or Bail Officer, Police, School, Courts etc.  
 
E. If evidence not obtained for the reasons in A, do you have any suspicions regarding  

identity? ____________________________________________________________ 

 ___________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
I confirm that I have seen the originals of the documents indicated above and have 
identified the above Customer(s) 
 
 
Signed ___________________________________  Date  ________________________ 
  
 
 
 
 
NB Wherever possible TAKE PHOTOCOPIES of the identification evidence and PUT ON 

FILE. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 384



 
 

21 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX 1 
 

CONFIDENTIAL 
 

REPORT TO MONEY LAUNDERING REPORTING OFFICER 
 

re Money Laundering Activity 
 
 
To:  Money Laundering Reporting Officer 
 
 
From:  ……………………………………………..…… 
  [insert name of employee] 

 
 
Directorate: …………………………………….…………….  Ext/Tel No:……………… 
  [insert post title and Business Unit] 

 
 
DETAILS OF SUSPECTED OFFENCE 
 

Name(s) and address(es) of person(s) involved: 
[if a company/public body please include details of nature of business] 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Nature, value and timing of activity involved: 
[Please include full details e.g. what, when, where, how.  Continue on a separate sheet if necessary] 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 385



 
 

22 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
Nature of suspicions regarding such activity: 
[Please continue on a separate sheet if necessary] 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Has any investigation been undertaken (as far as you are aware)?         Yes          No    
[Please tick the relevant box] 
 
If yes, please include details below: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 386



 
 

23 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 387



 
 

24 

Have you discussed your suspicions with anyone else? )?               Yes            No 
[Please tick the relevant box] 
 
If yes, please specify below, explaining why such discussion was necessary: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Have you consulted any supervisory body guidance re                    Yes             No 
money laundering? (e.g. the Law Society) 
[Please tick the relevant box] 
 
If yes, please specify below: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Do you feel you have a reasonable excuse for not disclosing            Yes            No 
the matter to the NCA? (E.g. are you a lawyer and wish to  
claim legal professional privilege?) 
[Please tick the relevant box] 
 
If yes, please set out full details below:  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

  

 

  

Page 388



 
 

25 

Are you involved in a transaction which might be a                            Yes             No 
prohibited act under sections 327- 329 of the Act and  
which requires appropriate consent from the NCA?   
[Please tick the relevant box] 
 
If yes, please enclose details in the box below:   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Please set out below any other information you feel is relevant: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Signed:……………………………………………………    Dated:…………………………. 
 
 
Please do not discuss the content of this report with anyone else and especially anyone you believe 
to be involved in the suspected money laundering activity described.  To do so may constitute a 
tipping off offence, which carries a maximum penalty of 5 years’ imprisonment.  

  

Page 389



 
 

26 

THE FOLLOWING PART OF THIS FORM IS FOR COMPLETION BY THE MLRO 
 
 
Date report received: ………………………………..………………………………… 
 
Date receipt of report acknowledged: ………………………………….………………. 
 
CONSIDERATION OF DISCLOSURE: 
 

Action Plan: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
OUTCOME OF CONSIDERATION OF DISCLOSURE: 
 

Are there reasonable grounds for suspecting money laundering activity? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 390



 
 

27 

If there are reasonable grounds for suspicion, will a report be             Yes          No 
made to the NCA?  
[Please tick the relevant box] 

 
If yes, please confirm date of report to NCA:  ………………………………………… 
and complete the box below:  
 

Details of liaison with the NCA regarding the report: 
 
Notice Period: …………………….. to ……………………….. 
 
Moratorium Period: …………………….. to …………………… 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Is consent required from the NCA to any on-going or imminent            Yes          No 
transactions which would otherwise be prohibited acts? 
[Please tick relevant box] 

 
If yes, please confirm full details in the box below: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Date consent received from NCA:  ………………………………………………………… 
 
Date consent given by you to employee: …………………………………………………. 

  

  

Page 391



 
 

28 

If there are reasonable grounds to suspect money laundering, but you do not intend 
to report the matter to the NCA, please set out below the reason(s) for non-
disclosure: 
 

[Please set out any reasonable excuse for non-disclosure] 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Date consent given by you to employee for  
any prohibited act transactions to proceed:  …………………………………………. 
 
 

Other relevant information: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Signed:………………………………………………   Dated:……………………………….. 
 
 

THIS REPORT TO BE RETAINED FOR AT LEAST FIVE YEARS 
  

Page 392



legal/pc-laundering guidance notes 

29 

Appendix 2 
 

ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING POLICY AND PROCEDURES 
 

AUTHORISED OFFICERS FOR CASH HANDLING / COLLECTION & RECEIPTING 
 
 
Only the following Officers of the Council are authorised to accept cash (and other forms of 
income e.g. cheque and credit/debit transactions) at the various locations around 
Hyndburn Borough Council, in accordance with the provisions of the Anti-Money 
Laundering Policy & Procedures. 
 

Surname Forename Department / Location 

Ashworth Lorraine Planning 

Bilham Karina Legal Support Officer 

Bullock Peter Legal & Democratic Services 

Dean Trevor Parks & Open Spaces Income 

Duckett Eileen Secretariat 

Earnshaw Jayne Administration 

Ellis Jane Legal & Democratic Services 

Foote Lyndsay Customer Services 

Gregory Karen Administration 

Harker Suzanne ICT 

Haworth Janine Planning 

Hollister Laura Licensing 

Jack Tom Community Services 

Jassat Farook Customer Services 

Lambert Gillian Parks & Open Spaces Income 

Marsden Stephen Parks & Open Spaces Income 

Martin Amanda Accountancy 

Mason Gordon Parks & Open Spaces Income 

McCann Lisa Administration 

Middlehurst Lee Benefits, Revenues & Customer Contact 

Nichols Anthony Parks & Open Spaces Income 

Palmer Julie Administration 

Preston Nichola Community Services 

Robinson Stuart Community Services 

Russell Jennifer Legal & Democratic Services 

Trickett Carol Strategic Housing 

Westwell Karen Licensing Administration 

Yates Chris Customer Services 

Yates Louise Building Control 

 
 
 
 
 

# 
 
 
 
 

HBC/MEMB-1 

Page 393



legal/pc-laundering guidance notes 

30 

ANTI MONEY LAUNDERING POLICY AND PROCEDURES 
 

GUIDANCE NOTE FOR COUNCILLORS 
 
Myth 
 
The Anti Money Laundering provisions only apply to multi-million pound drug dealers and 
the Mafia. 
 
Reality 
 
The Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 (POCA) ) have the gravest implications for all of us.  
There is NO upper or lower limit to the amounts relevant to POCA . 
 
This legislation stems from EU Directives requiring member states to prohibit money 
laundering and to oblige institutions to identify their customers, keep appropriate records, 
train staff and report suspicious activities to the authorities.  The purpose is clear - to stop 
major criminals profiting from the proceeds of crime, not only in terrorist and drug dealing 
areas of activity. 
 
Part 7 POCA 2002 Sections 327-329 make it a criminal offence to conceal, disguise, 
convert or transfer criminal property derived from the benefit of a crime.  Criminal conduct 
is defined in a very wide manner.  POCA and MLR applies therefore not only to terrorist 
and drug dealing offences, but also, for example, to benefit frauds, tax evasion or even 
fiddling expenses claims or the knowledge thereof by a third and innocent party. 
 
POCA applies to all UK citizens and legal entities, and therefore to local authorities as a 
body, its employees and Members.  It is not only ‘those who assist in the disposal of 
criminal property’, but also by those who ‘become concerned in an arrangement’ including 
the gaining of knowledge thereof.  A wide interpretation has to be given to the legislation. 
 
Example 
 
If two Councillors are driving together to a meeting, and the driver exceeds the speed limit.  
The passenger has no liability for that. 
 
If, however, the driver deliberately fiddles the expenses claim for the journey and the 
passenger either knows of it and fails to report it, or connives in it, then that is a money 
laundering offence by both of them. 
 
Scenario 
 
A child abuse case conference decides to assist in a placement of the child with an aunt.  
The aunt however needs assistance to look after the child two days a week because she 
has ‘a little job to bring a little extra in for the family’.  The care professionals arrange 
nursery facilities for these two days.  Whilst there may be perfectly legitimate reasons, it is 
also possible in the example for this to be a job not declared for either benefit or tax 
purposes.  If such is the case, the aunt would be committing a criminal offence or offences.  
The care professionals and their employing bodies might also be regarded as committing 
the facilitation offence under POCA S328. 
 
 
 
 

Page 394



legal/pc-laundering guidance notes 

31 

“Tipping Off” 
 
POCA provides for a defence where disclosures are made to the appropriate authority.  
Importantly, however, it also makes it a crime to “tip off” the ‘criminal’ that a disclosure is to 
be made.  The purpose is to enable the authorities to take action to secure the proceeds or 
to investigate before the criminal moves the funds and to ‘watch where the money goes’ so 
that they can pounce on the chain of criminal activity (end to end) when the time is right.  
Therefore careless talk could cost an imprisonment.  The idea is to report the suspect 
activity to a Money Laundering Reporting Officer, but otherwise keep as silent as the grave 
and treat the information given to the MLRO as though given in a confessional.  The 
problem is then passed on to MLRO, who decides whether to report to the National Crime 
Agency (NCA) or not. 
 
Scenario Extended 
 
One of the care professionals or a Councillor has a good relationship with the aunt and 
suggests that it would be best to stop working as there may need to be a disclosure report 
to the NCA and/or the Inland Revenue.  That care professional/Councillor is then liable to 
an unlimited fine and up to five years imprisonment for ‘tipping off’.  The employing body, 
at the very least, is at grave reputational risk! 
 
Members will appreciate the possibility, say, of information coming to them at a 
Councillor’s Surgery or as a result of involvement in Planning, Housing Benefit or in many 
other scenarios to do with Housing or other matters, so must be aware of the potential 
risks of the anti-money laundering processes. 
 
The Money Laundering Regulations 2003 have now been replaced by the Money 
Laundering Regulations 2007 which do not apply to the Council.   However the 
requirements of the regulations have been used as a guide in the preparation of the 
Council’s internal anti money laundering policy.  This policy includes procedures:  
 

 To install internal systems of control and reporting 

 To keep records for at least five years 

 To train the staff in those sectors in how to recognise and deal with transactions 
which may be related to money laundering 

 To appoint a nominated officer(s) to whom staff and Members may make confidential 
disclosures 

 
What to do 
 
It would seem that most local authority staff and Councillors will only need a low level of 
awareness training, whilst staff in the particular areas of activity mentioned need to be 
constantly ‘on their guard’.  We are all obliged to act on a ‘reasonable suspicion’.  Turning 
a blind eye and doing nothing is not an option and is liable to end up with you being 
prosecuted under the act with the possibility of a prison sentence in addition to a fine. 
 

Page 395



legal/pc-laundering guidance notes 

32 

Policy and Procedures 
 
Please refer to the Council approved Policy and Procedures for more detailed information 
as may be necessary or consult the Money Laundering Reporting Officer (the Head of 
Audit & Investigations Ext 2634), or the Deputy Money Laundering Officer (ext. 2299)  
 
Effect on Local Authority Members 
 
The POCA provisions apply to elected Members as well as others.  Advice in Ward 
Surgeries may be the subject of investigation (how often are Councillors the focus of 
complaints from a disappointed constituent, e.g. “I told Councillor X about the (what turns 
out to be a benefit fiddle or whatever) and he/she said I should …”).  This possibility also 
links through to the Standards Board for England regarding complaints. 
 
Conclusion 
 
Local Government needs to be aware of these Statutory Obligations.  At worst senior 
Members and officers may be committing offences through inaction, albeit unwittingly.  At 
best a Council caught up in a money laundering investigation will suffer severe 
reputational damage. 
 
Training will be given to Members as necessary in this subject on an ongoing basis. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 396



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Criminal Facilitation of Tax 

Evasion Policy 
 

Policy and Guidance Document 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Policy Version: 1 

Revised:  April 2022 

Checked / Reviewed:  

 

Last Policy Approval: Council AGM – May 2022 

 

 

Page 397



Criminal Facilitation of Tax Evasion (CFTE) Policy 2 

 

Criminal Facilitation of Tax Evasion (CFTE) Policy 
 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

1. This policy has been introduced to set out details of new corporate criminal offences 

in relation to the failure to prevent Tax Evasion under the Criminal Finance Act 

2017. 

 

2. The Council is required to take measures to prevent tax evasion. 

 

3. Under Part 3 of the Criminal Finances Act 2017 a new corporate criminal offence 

was created, where a corporate entity fails to prevent tax evasion by an ‘associated 

person’, whether the tax evaded is owed in the UK or in a foreign country. 

 

4. For Hyndburn Borough Council, an associated person includes: 

 An employee of the Council (including temporary and agency staff) 

 An agent of the Council 

 Any other ‘person’ (individual or corporate) who performs services for or on 

behalf of the Council including contractors, subcontractors, volunteers, suppliers 

and other parties in the supply chain etc. 

 

5. It is an offence to dishonestly “take steps with a view to” or “be knowingly 

concerned in” the evasion of tax. For these offences to be committed it is not 

necessary that any tax actually be successfully evaded. 

 

6. There are three elements of both the domestic and foreign tax evasion facilitation 

offences: 

 

 Stage One – the criminal tax evasion by a taxpayer under existing law. 

 Stage Two – the tax evasion was by an “associated person” of the Council. 

 Stage Three – the Council failed to prevent the associated person from 

committing the tax evasion. 

 

7. However in this context, the Council is only responsible for the actions of associated 

persons in respect of the things they do for, or on behalf of the Council. The Council 

is not responsible for the way such associated persons manage their business. 

 

8. If the Council fails to prevent its employees, workers, agents or contractorsservice 

providers from committing tax evasion, the Council may be prosecuted for a tax 

evasion facilitation offence for which the penalty is an unlimited fine. 

 

 

 

Page 398



Criminal Facilitation of Tax Evasion (CFTE) Policy 3 

 

 

POLICY OBJECTIVE 

 

9. The objective of this policy is to provide a coherent and consistent approach to all 

employees and any person who performs services for and on behalf of the Council 

including contractors and subcontractors on the prevention of tax evasion by those 

parties while engaged in any form of activity with the Council. 

 

10. This policy requires employees agents and contractors to understand their 

responsibilities and oblige them to take the action to prevent tax evasion e.g. by for 

instance reporting any suspected breaches of any of the Council’s policies which 

could result in tax evasion. 

 

11. To prevent tax evasion, Council staff (and associates) should: 

 

 Always follow Council policies, procedures and guidance. 

 Immediately report any suspected tax evasion to a senior officer. 

 Attend any appropriate training offered. 

 

12. Staff and associates must not knowingly do anything that helps someone else 

evade tax. 

 

 

SCOPE OF THIS POLICY 

 

13. This policy applies to all the council’s activities. Responsibility to control the risk of 

tax evasion occurring applies to resides at all levels of the Council organisation. 

This policy covers all personnel, including all levels and grades, those permanently 

employed, temporary agency staff, volunteers, contractors, sub-contractors and 

consultants. 

 

 

POLICY STATEMENT 

 

14. The Council has a zero-tolerance to all forms of tax evasion whether under UK laws 

or the laws of any foreign country. Employees of the Council and its associates 

must not undertake any transactions which: 

a.) cause the Council to commit a tax evasion; or 

b.) facilitates tax evasion by an associated party. 

 

15. Governance and internal control procedures are already in place to meet the 

statutory requirements and there is no suggestion that the Council tolerates tax 

evasion or that staff engage in such behaviour. However, adopting a corporate 

policy will help the Council defend any allegation that it has facilitated tax evasion. 

 

Page 399



Criminal Facilitation of Tax Evasion (CFTE) Policy 4 

 

16. This policy should be read in conjunction with the Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy 

and Employee and Member Codes of Conduct. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 400



Criminal Facilitation of Tax Evasion (CFTE) Policy 5 

 

CRIMINAL FACILITATION OF TAX EVASION (CFTE) 
 

 

WHAT IS TAX EVASION? 

 

17. Tax evasion is the illegal non-payment or under-payment of taxes, usually as the 

result of making a false declaration (or no declaration) of taxes due to the relevant 

tax authorities, which results in legal penalties if the perpetrator is caught. 

 

18. Tax evasion involves all forms of tax, including income tax, corporation tax, VAT, 

national insurance, landfill tax, council tax and excise duties such as road fund 

licence and tax on the sale of alcohol and tobacco. This list is not exhaustive. 

 

19. Tax avoidance by contrast is seeking to minimise the payment of taxes without 

deliberate deception. This is often legitimate but is sometimes contrary to the spirit 

of the law, e.g. involving the exploitation of loopholes. 

 

20. Importantly the corporate criminal offence of facilitation only applies to tax evasion. 

 

 

EXAMPLES OF TAX EVASION? 

 

21. It is not possible to give examples covering every possible scenario, however some 

examples below will give a flavour of the scope of the legislation: 

 

 Knowingly entering false or misleading information in relation to the employment 

of an individual to facilitate the underpayment of income tax. 

 

 Knowingly processing a payment to an employee / contractor as an expense 

rather than another type of payment which would be subject to tax. 

 

 Becoming aware of, or colluding in processing invoice payments or raising debt 

to facilitate the underpayment of tax. 

 

 Becoming aware of, or colluding in providing documents for services supplied to 

the Council by an associated party as being outside the scope of VAT. 

 

 

OFFENCES 

 

22. Part 3 of the Criminal Finances Act 2017 introduces a new corporate offence of 

failure to prevent the criminal facilitation of tax evasion. The offence is failing to 

prevent tax evasion by employees, agents or other persons or incorporated bodies 

acting for or on behalf of the relevant body. This is applicable to the Council. 

Page 401



Criminal Facilitation of Tax Evasion (CFTE) Policy 6 

 

 

23. In order for a prosecution to be brought there must first be two offences that have 

taken place. In addition to below, further detail is available in APPENDIX 1. 

 

 Criminal tax evasion by a taxpayer – This must be a criminal offence by the tax 

payer. Under the legislation this includes “taking steps with a view to” or “be 

knowingly concerned in” the evasion of tax. An actual loss of public revenue or a 

criminal prosecution need not necessarily take place for the offence to be 

committed. Non-compliance that falls short of fraud will not result in the 

corporate charge being brought. 

 

 Criminal facilitation by an associated person – The associated person must 

deliberatly and dishonestly take action to facilitate the taxpayer’s evasion. To 

accidentally, ignorantly or negligently facilitate the evasion of tax will not result in 

the corporate offence. 

 

24. If both offences have been committed then the Council will have committed the 

corporate offence of failure to prevent the facilitation of tax evasion unless it can be 

demonstrated that it had reasonable preventative procedures in place. 

 

 

PENALTIES 

 

25. The penalty for this offence includes unlimited fines and ancillary orders such as 

confiscation orders in accordance with the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 or serious 

crime prevention orders in accordance with the Serious Crime Act 2015, as well as 

reputational damage to the Council 

 

 

DEFENCES 

 

26. It is a defence to the corporate criminal offence of facilitating tax evasion if the 

council can prove that it has in place such prevention procedures as it is reasonable 

to expect in the circumstances. 

 

27. Government guidance suggests an appropriate set of prevention measures which 

gives due recognition to the following six guiding principles: 

 

1.) Risk Assessment 

2.) Proportionality of risk-based prevention procedures 

3.) Top level commitment 

4.) Due diligence 

5.) Communication (including training) 

6.) Monitoring and review 

 

Page 402



Criminal Facilitation of Tax Evasion (CFTE) Policy 7 

 

 

RISK ASSESSMENT 

 

28. A risk assessment process has been carried out by the Council to identify the areas 

of greatest risk to tax evasion and assurance gained that adequate controls are in 

place. In addition, Audit & Investigations Team will periodically undertake audit 

reviews or gain assurance in areas where tax evasion could occur. 

 

 

PROPORTIONALITY OF RISK BASED PREVENTION PROCEDURES 

 

29. Within the Council’s systems and processes, controls are in place, designed to 

ensure transactions are carried out correctly, underpinned by relevant policies and 

governance arrangements. These include controls in relation to preventing or 

identifying tax evasion which are proportionate to the risk. 

 

 

TOP LEVEL COMMITMENT 

 

30. This Policy has been endorsed by the Council’s Corporate Management Team. It 

has also been endorsed and approved by both the Council’s Audit Committee and 

Standards Committee. 

 

31. The Council’s Financial Procedure Rules (Part 4 item 14F Of the Constitution) 

states that the Deputy Chief Executive as the Council’s Responsible Financial 

Officer (s151 Officer) is responsible for the “proper administration of the Council’s 

affairs” and “setting financial management standards and monitoring financial 

compliance with them”. This includes matters relating to taxation. 

 

 

DUE DILIGENCE 

 

32. Reasonable care and caution is exercised when processing all transactions 

particularly high value / high risk area payments. Regular monitoring takes place 

and particular caution is exercised when making payments to new suppliers or with 

bank mandate alteration requests. 

 

33. In addition, appropriate due diligence is done when entering into new contractual / 

business relationships to ensure they are transparent and ethical. 

 

 

COMMUNICATION & TRAINING 

 

34. This policy will be publicised to all staff, will be promoted periodically through 

various communication channels e.g. Hyndsight, Newsround, Hyntranet etc. to 

Page 403



Criminal Facilitation of Tax Evasion (CFTE) Policy 8 

 

ensure staff awareness and is accessible on both the Hyntranet and external facing 

Council website. 

 

35. In areas of greatest risk, staff receive training on how to carry out their roles 

adhering to the controls in place to prevent tax evasion. 

 

 

MONITORING & REVIEW 

 

36. This policy will be reviewed annually and updated as necessary. The risk of tax 

evasion will be monitored by the Council and relevant risk assessments will be 

reviewed. 

 

37. In the event that a significant change is required of the policy, for example due to a 

change in legislation, then the revised policy will be re-approved by both Audit 

Committee and Standards Committee. 

 

 

STAFF RESPONSIBILITIES 

 

38. The prevention, detection and reporting of all forms of financial irregularity including 

suspected tax evasion, are the responsibility of all those working for the Council. All 

staff are required to avoid activity that breaches this policy. Staff are expected to: 

 

 Read, understand, and comply with this policy. 

 Raise concerns as soon as possible if it is believed or suspected that a conflict 

with this policy has occurred or may occur in the future. 

 

39. As well as the possibility of civil legal action and criminal prosecution, staff that 

breach this policy will face disciplinary action, which could result in dismissal for 

gross misconduct. 

 

 

COUNCIL’S COMMITMENT TO ACTION 

 

40. The Council is committed to the following actions: 

 

 Make employees aware of their responsibilities to adhere to this policy. 

 Train relevant employees so that they can recognise and avoid Criminal 

Facilitation of Tax Evasion by themselves and others. 

 Encourage employees to be vigilant and to report any suspicion of tax evasion, 

providing them with suitable channels of communication and ensuring sensitive 

information is treated appropriately. 

Page 404



Criminal Facilitation of Tax Evasion (CFTE) Policy 9 

 

 Rigorously investigate instances of alleged Criminal Facilitation of Tax Evasion 

and assist the police and other appropriate authorities in any resultant 

prosecution. 

 Take firm action against any individual(s) involved in Criminal Facilitation of Tax 

Evasion. 

 Provide information to all employees and elected members to report breaches 

and suspected breaches of this policy. 

 Ensure relevant partners, contractors and suppliers are aware of the Council’s 

stance on Criminal Facilitation of Tax Evasion and include appropriate clauses 

in contracts and agreements to prevent / detect Criminal Facilitation of Tax 

Evasion. 

 Ensure that its policies and control systems are audited regularly to ensure that 

they are fit for purpose. 

 Take firm disciplinary action against any Officer or Elected Member who 

engages in Criminal Facilitation of Tax Evasion and assist the police and other 

appropriate authorities in any resultant action. 

 

41. The Council seeks to adhere to Her Majesty’s Revenues & Customs (HMRC) 

guidance for the prevention of Criminal Facilitation of Tax Evasion. 

 

42. Chief Officers / Heads of Service have an additional responsibility beyond that of all 

employees for ensuring this policy is communicated effectively to all employees and 

ensuring the message is frequently refreshed through their Directorate / Service 

Area(s) along with other good practice regarding ethical behaviour. 

 

 

RAISING A CONCERN 

 

43. The Council is committed to ensuring that there is a safe, reliable and confidential 

way of reporting any suspicious activity and wants each and every member of staff 

to know how they can raise concerns. 

 

44. Concerns in relation to the evasion of tax should be raised with the relevant Line 

Manager or Head of Service and reported to the Head of Audit & Investigations. 

You can also report your concerns to the Chief Executive, Deputy Chief Executive 

or the Monitoring Officer although the Head of Audit & Investigations still needs to 

be made aware of the issue too. 

 

45. Elected Members should report concerns or issues to the Monitoring Officer. The 

Council’s Whistleblowing Policy can also be used as a route to report concerns 

where a member of staff feels this is more appropriate. 

 

46. It must be stressed that YOU MUST NOT try and investigate the matter or start 

“digging around” your concerns / suspicions as this may ultimately become a 

Page 405



Criminal Facilitation of Tax Evasion (CFTE) Policy 10 

 

criminal matter and such actions in themselves may result in you being accused of 

interference in a criminal investigation if the police become involved. 

 

 

WHO TO CONTACT 

 

47. Employees, agency staff, volunteers, contractors, subcontractors and other agents 

working on behalf of the Council should contact: 

 

 
Mark Beard 

 

Head of Audit & 
Investigations 

01254 380634 
Internal Ext. 2634 

mark.beard@hyndburnbc.gov.uk 

 
David Welsby 

 

 
Chief Executive 

01254 380110 
Internal Ext. 2110 

dave.welsby@hyndburnbc.gov.uk 

 
Joe McIntyre 

 

Deputy Chief Executive & 
s151 Officer 

01254 380683 
Internal Ext. 2683 

joe.mcintyre@hyndburnbc.gov.uk 

 
Jane Ellis 

 

Executive Director & 
Monitoring Officer 

01254 380146 
Internal Ext. 2146 

jane.ellis@hyndburnbc.gov.uk 

 

 

48. Elected Members should contact the Monitoring Officer. Employees who have 

concerns related to an Elected Member must also contact the Monitoring Officer: 

 

 
Jane Ellis 

 

Executive Director & 
Monitoring Officer 

01254 380146 
Internal Ext. 2146 

jane.ellis@hyndburnbc.gov.uk 

 

 

49. In the rare event that internal disclosure proves inappropriate, concerns can be 

raised directly with Council’s External Auditor: 

 

 
Mark Dalton 

 

Appointed External Auditor 
(Mazars LLP) 

0113 394 2000 
mark.dalton@mazars.co.uk 

 

 

50. In exceptional circumstances it may be appropriate for an employee or elected 

member to raise the issue directly with the police. However, this should only be 

used in very exceptional circumstances where it is believed that the matter could 

not be reported to any of the individuals listed above. 

 

51. It would NOT be considered reasonable for any employee or elected member to 

bypass all of the reporting avenues above and make such a disclosure publicly via 

the media or social media. Indeed, to do so may ultimately compromise any 

Page 406



Criminal Facilitation of Tax Evasion (CFTE) Policy 11 

 

subsequent police investigation and could result with the police bringing separate 

charges against you if your actions impact a criminal investigation carried out by 

them. 

 

 

LEGISLATION & OTHER RELEVANT POLICIES 

 

52. Links to the relevant legislation and other Council policies which are relevant or sit 

side by side with policy can be found at APPENDIX 2. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 407



Criminal Facilitation of Tax Evasion (CFTE) Policy 12 

 

APPENDIX 1 

 

 

BRIBERY AND CRIMINAL FACILITATION OF TAX EVASION – 

OFFENCES TABLE 

 

Legislation Type of 
Offence 

Definition 

Criminal 
Finances 
Act 2017 

Section 45 (4): 
UK tax evasion 
offence 
 
 
 

In this part “UK tax evasion offence” means: 

 An offence of cheating the public revenue; or 

 An offence under the law of any part of the United 
Kingdom consisting of being knowingly concerned in, 
or in taking steps with a view to, the fraudulent 
evasion of a tax. 
 

 Section 45 (5): 
UK tax evasion 
facilitation 
offence 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

In this part “UK tax evasion facilitation offence” means an 
offence under the law of any part of the United Kingdom 
consisting of: 

 Being knowingly concerned in, or taking steps with a 
view to, the fraudulent evasion of a tax by another 
person. 

 Aiding and abetting, counselling or procuring the 
commission of a UK tax evasion offence; or 

 Being involved in or taking part in the commission of 
an offence consisting of being knowingly concerned 
in, or in taking steps with a view to, the fraudulent 
evasion of a tax. 
 

 Section 45 (1) 
and (2): Offence 
of bribing 
another person 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

A relevant body is guilty of an offence if a person commits a 
UK tax evasion facilitation offence when acting in the capacity 
of a person associated with that relevant body. 
 
It is a defence for the relevant body to prove that, when the 
UK tax evasion facilitation offence was committed: 

 The relevant body has in place such prevention 
procedures as it was reasonable in all the 
circumstances to expect the relevant body to have in 
place; or 

 It was not reasonable in the circumstances to expect 
the relevant body to have any prevention procedures 
in place. 
 

 

PENALTY 

 

A relevant body guilty of an offence under s45 of the Criminal Finances Act 2017 is liable: 

 

a.) On conviction on indictment, to a fine 

b.) On summary conviction in England and Wales, to a fine 

c.) On summary conviction in Scotland or Northern Ireland, to a fine not exceeding the 

statutory maximum. 

Page 408



Criminal Facilitation of Tax Evasion (CFTE) Policy 13 

 

APPENDIX 2 
 

 

LEGISLATION & OTHER RELEVANT POLICIES 

 

 

Criminal Finances Act 2017 – http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/22/enacted 

 

Government legislation and guidance for the corporate offence of failure to prevent the 

criminal facilitation of tax evasion – https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/tackling-

tax-evasion-a-new-corporate-offence-of-failure-to-prevent-the-criminal-facilitation-of-tax-

evasion 

 

Anti-Fraud & Corruption Policy 

http://hyntranet/download/anti-fraud-corruption-strategy/ 

 

Whistleblowing Policy 

http://hyntranet/download/whistleblowing-policy-2010/ 

 

Officer Code of Conduct 

http://hyntranet/download/code-of-conduct/ 

 

Elected Member Code of Conduct 

Available from Member Services  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 409

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/22/enacted
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/tackling-tax-evasion-a-new-corporate-offence-of-failure-to-prevent-the-criminal-facilitation-of-tax-evasion
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/tackling-tax-evasion-a-new-corporate-offence-of-failure-to-prevent-the-criminal-facilitation-of-tax-evasion
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/tackling-tax-evasion-a-new-corporate-offence-of-failure-to-prevent-the-criminal-facilitation-of-tax-evasion
http://hyntranet/download/anti-fraud-corruption-strategy/
http://hyntranet/download/whistleblowing-policy-2010/
http://hyntranet/download/code-of-conduct/


This page is intentionally left blank



Version 3 

Municipal Year 2021/22 
1 

HYNDBURN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 

“WHISTLEBLOWING” POLICY 
 
 
 

1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1      People working for the Council (including our employees, contractors and councillors) 

may become aware of wrongdoing or malpractice within the Council, but may find it 
difficult to express such concerns.  This could be because they believe speaking out 
would be disloyal to colleagues or to the Council, or they may fear some form of 
reprisal.  It can sometimes seem easier to ignore concerns instead of reporting 
suspicions that something may be wrong.   

1.2 The Council is committed to the highest possible standards of openness, probity and 
accountability.  If you work for the Council you have a responsibility to raise any 
concerns you may have about any aspect of the Council’s work so that appropriate 
enquiries can be made and action taken if needed. No issue or concern is too small. 
This policy is intended to encourage and enable those working for the Council to 
raise their concerns with confidence and, if possible, in confidence.  The Council is 
committed to ensuring that those who work for it will not be victimised or suffer 
disadvantage if reporting genuine concerns. 

1.3    It also makes good business sense for the Council to enable people to raise their 
concerns. This policy is a key part of the Council’s risk management arrangements 
and it is intended that it will: 

 deter wrongdoing within the Council 

 help us to pick up potential problems early 

 minimise costs from accidents, investigations and litigation 

 maintain and enhance the Council’s reputation 

 
1.4 The Council has discussed this policy with the relevant Trade Unions and has their 

support. 
 
1.5 There are already procedures enabling employees to raise issues regarding their 

employment. This policy does not replace these and is not intended to be used by 
those who are dissatisfied generally at work.  These other policies and procedures 
include : 

 

Policy/Procedure    Possible Concerns  
 

Dignity At Work Policy All forms of bullying and harassment, 
including discrimination against 
employees on the ground of any of the 
protected characteristics set out in the 
Equality Act 2010 

 
 

Health & Safety Policy Any health and safety risks including 
risks to the public or employees 

 

Recruitment and Selection All aspects of the recruitment and  

Policy selection process 

Page 411



Version 3 

Municipal Year 2021/22 
2 

 

Member Code of Conduct Concerns about the behaviour of a 
Councillor 

 

Grievance Procedure Concerns that you have been unfairly 
treated by the Council  

 
 

What is the difference between a whistleblowing concern and a grievance ? 

 

Whistleblowing is where an employee has a concern about risks, malpractice or 
wrongdoing that has a public interest aspect to it. It could be something that 
adversely affects other employees, the Council itself and / or the public.  

A grievance is a dispute about an employee’s own employment position and usually 
has no public interest dimension.  

Sometimes a whistleblowing issue can be entangled with a grievance, such as where 
an employee complains about being made to use a dangerous vehicle or piece of 
equipment. In such circumstances the Council will consider the circumstances and 
decide whether the matter is best dealt with under its whistleblowing or grievance 
procedures. 

 

 

2. AIMS AND SCOPE OF THIS POLICY 

 
2.1 The aims of this policy are to 
 

 Encourage you to act on concerns about unacceptable practices or behaviour 
within the Council 

 

 Provide ways for you to raise concerns and receive feedback on any action 
taken 

 

 Allow you to take the matter further if you are dissatisfied with the Council’s 
response, and 

 

 Reassure you that you will be protected from reprisals or victimisation for 
whistleblowing in good faith 

 
2.2 It is not possible to provide a complete list of matters which might cause you 

concern, but examples of what is covered by this policy include the following: 
 

 Fraud, corruption or financial irregularities, such as offering or taking bribes or 
unauthorised use of public funds 

 Unfair discrimination 

 Health and safety issues, whether these affect the public or other employees 

 Criminal conduct 

 Damage to the environment 

 Negligence 

 Unprofessional behaviour, such as misreporting performance data 

 Failure to comply with established standards of practice or Council policy 

 Sexual or physical abuse of customers or any other safeguarding issue 
 

Your concern may relate to Council employees, contractors, consultants or 
councillors. 

 

Page 412



Version 3 

Municipal Year 2021/22 
3 

 

3. SAFEGUARDS 

 

Harassment or victimisation 

 
3.1 The decision to report concerns can be a difficult one to make.  The Council will 

provide support for those who do and will not tolerate any harassment or 
victimisation of whistleblowers. Victimisation of a whistleblower is a serious 
disciplinary matter, which may lead to dismissal. We will take action if we become 
aware of anyone seeking to discover the identity of, or to confront, a whistleblower. 

 
3.2 This does not mean if you are already the subject of any disciplinary or redundancy 

procedures, that those procedures will be halted as a result of raising a concern. It 
should be noted that these arrangements do not guarantee protection for any 
substantive misconduct which you may be involved in. 

 

Confidentiality 

 
3.3 Wherever possible, all concerns raised under this policy will be treated in confidence 

and your name will not be revealed without your consent, unless this is required by 
law. It will often be possible to establish the truth about your concern by using other 
sources of information and the Council will seek to do this if possible without 
involving you further. However please be aware that: 

 your colleagues may try to guess your identity if they become aware that a 
concern has been raised; and 

 as any investigation progresses there may be a legal requirement to disclose 
your identity even if you don’t consent to this (for example, under court 
disclosure rules); and 

 you may be asked to come forward as a witness if the investigation into the 
concern results in disciplinary action or a criminal prosecution.  

If your identity is disclosed, or becomes known, we will take steps to ensure that you 
are protected and supported. Appropriate and timely action will be taken against 
anyone who seeks to harass or victimise you because you have raised a concern. 

 

Raising concerns anonymously 
 
3.5 The Council encourages you to let us know who you are when you raise your 

concerns, as allegations expressed anonymously can be less powerful and can be 
much harder to investigate and verify. However, if you do feel unable to give your 
name, this should not prevent you from reporting your suspicions. We will still 
consider your concern, but we will not be able to provide you with any feedback or let 
you know the outcome of any investigation that takes place. 

 
3.6 The Council will not automatically ignore anonymous allegations. When deciding 

whether and how to respond to such concerns it  will take account of factors such as: 
 

 the seriousness of the issues raised 

 the credibility of the concern; and 

 the likelihood of confirming the allegation from attributable sources. 
 

 

 

 

 

False Allegations 

Page 413



Version 3 

Municipal Year 2021/22 
4 

 
3.7 If your concern is genuinely held and is made in good faith, but is not confirmed by 

the investigation, you will not suffer as a result.  However, disciplinary action may be 
taken against you by the Council if you make malicious or vexatious allegations. 

 
 

4. WHO DOES THE POLICY COVER 

 
4.1 Any of the following may raise a concern under this policy: 
 

 All Council employees – including temporary staff 

 A trade union on behalf of one or more or its members employed by the 
Council 

 Any agency staff working for the Council 

 Anyone not employed by the Council but seconded to it or working as part of a 
shared service arrangement 

 Contractors working for the Council 

 Members of the public 

 Councillors 
 
4.2 This policy covers any malpractice or wrongdoing by:- 
 

(a) any employee of the Council 
(b) any Councillor 
(c) any contractor, supplier or consultant of the Council in the course of their work 

for the Council  
 
 

5. HOW TO RAISE A CONCERN 

 
5.1 You should normally raise concerns orally or in writing with your immediate manager 

or their superior.  This will depend on who you think is involved in the malpractice 
and how serious the issues are.  If you do not feel that the matter can be resolved by 
talking to your line manager (for example if you believe that they may be involved or 
because you have already raised the issue with them but your concern has not been 
addressed) then you can speak to their manager or raise it with one of the officers 
listed in paragraph 5.2. 

If you are a councillor, you should raise your concern with the Executive Director 
(Legal & Democratic Services), who is the Council’s Monitoring Officer. 

5.2 Advice and guidance on how matters of concern can be pursued can be obtained 
from any of the following at The Council Offices, Scaitcliffe House, Ormerod Street, 
Accrington (telephone 01254 388111): 

 

Chief Executive David Welsby Ext 2110 
 

 

Deputy Chief Executive           Joe McIntyre Ext 2683 
 

Executive Director 

(Legal and 

Democratic Services) Jane Ellis Ext 2146 
 

Page 414



Version 3 

Municipal Year 2021/22 
5 

Head of Human Resources Kirsten Burnett Ext 2694 

 
Or you may raise your concern with the following at The Town Hall, Broadway, 
Blackburn Road, Accrington (telephone 01254 388111) 

 

Head of Audit and  

Investigations Mark Beard Ext 2634 
 
 

5.3 You should let the Council know your concerns as soon as possible and you should 
not investigate the matter yourself.  You should be careful that the individual your 
concern relates to is not accidentally “tipped off”, as incriminating evidence could be 
removed or destroyed. 

5.4   You should tell us the history of your concern, giving names, dates and places 
wherever possible, and the reason why you are particularly concerned about the 
situation.   

5.5 You may also get somebody else to raise the concern on your behalf, such as your 
trade union, legal or professional association representative, or a friend.  Such a 
person may also represent you at any meeting which is held relating to your concern. 

 
 

6. HOW THE COUNCIL WILL RESPOND 
 
6.1 All allegations will be taken seriously by the Council.  This policy will be applied 

where the relevant manager identifies the concern as raising a whistleblowing issue, 
even if the person raising the concern does not describe their concern in that way. 
However, the action taken by the Council will depend on the seriousness of the 

allegation.  Guidance for managers in dealing with whistleblowing concerns is 

attached as Appendix 1 to this policy. 
 
6.2 Initially the Council will make inquiries to decide whether an investigation is 

appropriate and, if so, what form it ought to take.  Where your concern falls within 
the scope of a specific procedure it will normally be referred for consideration under 
that procedure. Where the concern needs to be referred on to a more specialist 
function (such as internal audit or health and safety), this will be done as soon as 
possible. You will be asked whether you want direct contact with that function or 
would prefer communication to be with your original contact officer. 

 
6.3 Some concerns may be resolved by an agreed course of action without the necessity 

for an investigation. However where an investigation is necessary it may: 
 

 be investigated internally by the Council 

 be referred to the Police 

 be referred to the Council’s External Auditor 

 be referred for an independent inquiry 
 
6.4 If you raise concerns under this policy then the Council will write to you within 5 

working days: 
 

 Acknowledging that the concern has been received 

 Summarising the concern you have raised 

 Confirming whether you have raised the concern openly or in confidence 

 Supplying information about the staff support mechanisms available to you  

 Indicating how the Council proposes to deal with the matter 

 Telling you whether any initial enquiries have been made;  

Page 415



Version 3 

Municipal Year 2021/22 
6 

 Offering you the opportunity of a meeting, if appropriate, to fully discuss the 
issue 

 Telling you whether further investigations will take place, and if not, why not 

 Indicating when the Council hopes to be able to provide you with feedback 
about the progress of its investigation and the outcome of the investigation 

 
6.5 The amount of contact needed between you and the person investigating your 

concern will depend on the nature of the matters raised, the amount of clarification or 
further information needed from you and the ease of obtaining independent 
verification. Where specific enquiries need to be made in the area where the 
whistleblower works, you will be forewarned so that you are prepared to answer 
questions along with everyone else. 

 
6.6 If the Council does need to meet with you, you will be contacted to see how this can 

be done whilst maintaining confidentiality. When any meeting is arranged you have 
the right to be accompanied by a trade union or professional representative or a 
friend who does not work in the part of the Council to which the concern relates.  The 
Council will, if you prefer, arrange for the meeting to be held at a location different 
from your usual place of work. 

 
6.7 The Council will try to minimise any difficulties you might have as a result of raising 

your concern.  If you are required to give evidence, for example, the Council will 
advise you about the procedure and ensure you receive support at court. However, 
the Council cannot provide legal representation for you. 

 
6.8 Providing that there are no legal constraints the Council will let you know the 

outcome of any investigation, so that you can feel assured that the matter has been 
properly addressed. Due to the legal obligation of confidentiality we owe to other 
employees, we may not be able to tell you the outcome of disciplinary action taken 
against another employee. 

 
 

7. RAISING YOUR CONCERNS OUTSIDE THE COUNCIL 
 
7.1 This policy is intended to enable you to raise your concern with the Council and have 

it dealt with by the Council.  However if you are dissatisfied with the outcome of an 
internal investigation, or if you are unwilling to raise your concerns within the Council 
or believe that you need independent advice, then you may consider one of the 
following contact points 

 

 your local councillor (if you live within the area of the Council) 

 your Trade Union (e.g. Unison whistleblowing hotline 0800 597 9750) 

 any relevant professional body or regulatory organisations 

 your solicitor 

 The Local Government Ombudsman, via their Advice Team between 8.30am and 
5.00pm Monday to Friday (telephone 0300 061 0614 or 0845 602 1983) or visit 
their website at www.lgo.org.uk for concerns about maladministration only 

 The Council’s External Auditors – Grant Thornton UK LLP, 4 Hardman Square, 
Spinningfields, Manchester, M3 3EB, tel: 0161 953 6900. 

 Public Concern at Work, Suite 301, 16 Baldwin Gardens, London EC1N 7RJ  – 
an independent charity specialising in giving confidential advice about the 
whistleblowing process and your rights.  Alternatively you may contact the PCAW 

Page 416



Version 3 

Municipal Year 2021/22 
7 

advice line between 9.00am and 6.00pm Monday to Friday on 020 7404 6609 of 
visit their website for further information at www.pcaw.co.uk 

  Lancashire Crimestoppers on 0800 555 111 or Lancashire Police on 101 

7.2      The Department for Business Innovation & Skills also publishes a list of prescribed 
bodies to whom whistleblowing disclosures can be made. The following list isn’t 
comprehensive, but includes the bodies that might be of relevance to the Council 
(the full list can be found on the Departments website at www.bis.gov.uk):  

 

Proper conduct of Council business, 
value for money, fraud and corruption in 
respect of the provision of public 
services 

The Comptroller and Auditor General 

National Audit Office 
157-197 Buckingham Palace Rd 
London  SW1W 9SP 
Tel: 020 7798 7999 
www.nao.org.uk/contact-us 
 

UK taxes, national insurance HM Revenue and Customs 

Freepost NAT22785 
Cardiff  CF14 5GX 
Tel: 0800788 887 
www.hmrc.gov.uk 
 

Fraud or other misconduct in relation to 
companies 

Intelligence Hub 

Insolvency Office 
3

rd
 Floor, Cannon House 

18 Priory Queensway 
Birmingham  B4 6FD 
Tel: 0300 678 0017 
Intelligence.Live@insolvency.gsi.gov.uk 
 

Charities 

 

Charity Commission 

Tel: 0300 066 9197 
www.charitycommission.gov.uk 
 

Consumer protection, matters about the 
sale of goods and services that 
adversely affect consumers 

Competition and Markets Authority 

Victoria House 
37 Southampton Row 
London  WC1B 4AD 
TEL: 020 3738 6000 
 

Data protection and freedom of 
information 

The Information Commissioner’s 

Office 

Wycliffe House, Water Lane,  
Wilmslow, Cheshire SK9 5AF  
Tel: 0303 123 1113 
 www.ico.gov.uk 

Damage to the environment, including 
pollution and flooding 

The Environment Agency 

National Customer Contact Centre 
PO Box 544 
Rotherham  S60 1BY 
Tel: 03708 506 506 
www.environment-agency.gov.uk 

Page 417

http://www.nao.org.uk/contact-us
http://www.hmrc.gov.uk/
mailto:Intelligence.Live@insolvency.gsi.gov.uk
http://www.charitycommission.gov.uk/


Version 3 

Municipal Year 2021/22 
8 

Food standards Food Standards Agency 

Aviation House 
125 Kingsway 
London  WC2B 6NH 
Tel: 020 7276 8829 
helpline@foodstandards.gsi.gov.uk 
 

Health and safety The Health and Safety Executive   

Tel: 0300 003 1647 
www.hse.gov.uk/contact/raising-your-
concern 

 

Trade unions Certification Officer 

22
nd

 Floor, Euston Tower 
286 Euston Rd 
London  NW1 3JJ 
Tel: 020 7210 3734 
info@certoffice.org 

 

 
7.3 If you do decide to report your concern outside the Council then you must be sure 

that you have a good reason for doing so and you should take care not to disclose 
any confidential information.  This is very important as the Public Interest Disclosure 
Act 1998 does not give you blanket protection if you go public with your concern.  
For example, you may be subject to disciplinary action if you disclose confidential 
information in circumstances not covered by the Act. 

 
 

8. THE RESPONSIBLE OFFICER 
 
8.1 The Executive Director (Legal and Democratic Services), as the Council’s Monitoring 

Officer, has overall responsibility for the maintenance and operation of this policy. 
She maintains a record of concerns raised and the outcomes (in a form which does 
not endanger your confidentiality) and will report as necessary to the Council. 

8.2      All managers must notify the  Executive Director (Legal and Democratic Services) if 
concerns are raised with them that are covered by this Whistleblowing Policy. Upon 
completion of a whistleblowing investigation they must return the form attached at 
Appendix 2 to the Monitoring Officer who will retain it securely and confidentially. 

 
8.3 The Council’s Standards Committee also has a responsibility for reviewing the 

content and operation of this policy to ensure that this policy reflects best practice.  
The Standards Committee will make recommendations to the Council’s Cabinet if it 
feels that this policy requires amendment 

 
 

SUMMARY 

 
Whilst the Council tries to maintain the very highest standards of conduct serious failure, 
irregularities and wrong doing do occasionally occur.  The Council encourages you to 
expose malpractice and will do what it can to protect you and ensure complaints are 
properly investigated.   
 
 
 

Page 418

mailto:helpline@foodstandards.gsi.gov.uk


Version 3 

Municipal Year 2021/22 
9 

Appendix 1 

Guidance For Managers When Dealing With A Whistleblowing Concern 

 

General responsibilities: 

It is the manager’s responsibility to: 

 Consider whether this policy applies when concerns are raised with them even if the 
person raising the concern does not describe it in those terms, 

 Deal with any whistleblowing concerns that are raised with them in accordance with this 
policy 

 Notify the Executive Director (Legal and Democratic Services) of any concerns that are 
brought to their attention that fall within the remit of this policy 

 Ensure that such concerns are treated seriously and are investigated as appropriate 

 Ensure that appropriate arrangements are made if an individual wishes to raise a 
concern in confidence 

 Ensure that anyone raising a concern in accordance with this policy has appropriate 
advice and support, and it protected from reprisal 

 Ensure that anyone raising a concern in accordance with this policy receives appropriate 
feedback about the outcome of any investigation 

 Ensure that the form attached as Appendix 2 is forwarded to the Executive Director 
(Legal and Democratic Services) upon completion of the whistleblowing investigation 

 

What do I do when a concern is first raised with me ? 

When a concern is raised, listen carefully and avoid pre-judging the issue. You must take all 
concerns seriously, but it may not be necessary to carry out a formal investigation in each 
case.  

You should establish: 

 When the concern first arose and, if relevant, what prompted the decision to report it 
now 

 If the information is first hand or hearsay 

 Whether the employee has raised the concern with anyone else and, if so, to what 
effect. 

 Whether the employee is seeking confidentiality 

 If the employee is concerned about reprisals 

 Whether and when the employee wants feedback 

When deciding upon an appropriate course of action, you should consider: 

 How serious and urgent the risk is 

 Whether the concern raises a safeguarding issue 

 Whether the concern falls within the remit of the whistleblowing policy or other 
procedures. If you are unclear whether it the concern is covered by the 
Whistleblowing Policy or not, please take advice either from the Head of HR, the 
Head of Internal Audit or the Executive Director (Legal & Democratic Services). 

 Whether you need to refer the concern to a senior manager or specialist function 
(such as HR, health and safety or internal audit)  

Page 419



Version 3 

Municipal Year 2021/22 
10 

 

Dealing with the concern 

If the concern is a whistleblowing matter, You should read the Whistleblowing Policy 
carefully and familiarise yourself with its requirements. There are a number of possible 
options available to you, depending on the nature of the case and you can take advice from 
the officers listed in paragraph 5.2 of this policy if you are uncertain about the most 
appropriate course of action. In any event, you should document the rational for the 
approach chosen. For example: 

 Explaining the context of an issue to the person raising the concern may be 
enough to alleviate their concerns; 

 You might be able to address minor concerns with straight away as the relevant 
line manager; 

 A review by internal audit as part of planned audit work might be enough to 
address the issue, for example through a change to the control arrangements; 

 There may need to be a formal investigation; 

 More complex or significant cases may need to be referred to the police or the 
Council’s external auditors for investigation. If the concern relates to a possible 
criminal offence, please contact the Head of Internal Audit or the Executive 
Director (Legal & Democratic Services) as soon as possible and before taking 
any steps to investigate the concern. They will advise you whether the concern 
should be passed straight to the police. 

 

Who do I involve ? 

If the concern is a whistleblowing matter you should notify the Executive Director (Legal & 
Democratic Services) as soon as possible. If the concern relates to other employees you 
should also inform the Head of HR. If the concern relates to financial irregularity you should 
inform the Head of Internal Audit. 

If the issue is sensitive you should keep the number of people involved in conducting any 
investigation to a minimum.  

If you are unsure how to conduct the investigation you should seek advice from the Head of 
HR, the Head of Internal Audit or the Executive Director (Legal & Democratic Services). 

 

Communication with the whistleblower 

You should write to the person raising the concern within 5 working days of the concern 
being raised. Your letter should address all of the points set out in paragraph 6.4 of the 
Whistleblowing Policy. You should also: 

 ask them to contact you if they have any questions or have any further information about 
the concern; 

 assure them that their confidentiality will be protected as far as possible if they have 
requested this; 

 make it clear that the Council will not tolerate harassment of anyone who raises a 
concern and ask them to let you know if this happens. 

If the person raising the concern has requested confidentiality, any communication with 
them should be discrete, so as to protect their identity. 

You should provide the person raising the concern with appropriate feedback during the 
course of any investigation if they want this. You won’t usually be able to divulge details 

Page 420



Version 3 

Municipal Year 2021/22 
11 

about the investigation, but you could provide reassurance that the investigation is still 
ongoing and give an indication of the likely timescale for its completion.  

You should provide appropriate feedback following the conclusion of the Council’s response 
to the concern. If the concern has resulted in disciplinary action against other members of 
staff, you may not be able to give full details to the person raising the concern. In such 
circumstances you may want to agree the content of your response with the Head of HR. 

 

Confidentiality 

Please ensure that you are familiar with the requirements of the Whistleblowing Policy in 
respect of confidentiality (see paragraph 3.3 of the Policy). There are practical steps you 
can take to protect the confidentiality of the person raising the concern, such as: 

 Ensuring that paper files are clearly marked as confidential and are locked away in a 
filing cabinet when not in use. Similarly, electronic files can be password protected; 

 Ensuring that the minimum number of people have access to the investigation file; 

 Being discreet about when and where any meetings are held with the person raising the 
concern; and 

 Ensuring that confidential paperwork isn’t left on your desk or on printers or 
photocopiers. 

 

Formal investigations 

If you are conducting a formal investigation: 

 Ensure you do not have a conflict of interest  

 Record as much detail as possible about the concern and agree this record with the 
person raising the concern at the outset 

 Produce clear terms of reference for your investigation at the outset – be clear about the 
scope of the investigation ; 

 Produce an investigation plan – set out what evidence needs to be gathered and how it 
will be gathered (e.g. document search, interviews etc.) 

 Decide how best to engage with the whistleblower and to manage their expectations 

 Ensure that all investigation work is clearly documented - you should keep a written 
record of the concern, your investigation and your findings 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 421



Version 3 

Municipal Year 2021/22 
12 

Appendix 2 

 

Whistleblowing Policy: Monitoring Information 

Confidential 

(a copy of this form should be sent, marked as confidential, to the Executive Director (Legal 
and Democratic Services) upon conclusion of any action taken in response to a 
whistleblowing concern, even if this did not result in a formal investigation) 

Service Area  

Summary of whistleblowing 

concern 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Investigating Officer  

Action taken / outcome of 

investigation 

 

 

 

 

 

Was confidentiality requested 

by the person raising the 

concern? 

 

Was confidentiality 

maintained? 

 

 

Has feedback been given to 

the person raising the 

concern? 

 

What advice and support has 

been given to the person 

raising the concern ? 

 

Executive Director (Legal and 

Democratic Services)’s 

comments 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 422



Municipal Year 2021/22 

 
 
 
 
 
 

HYNDBURN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

POLICY & GUIDANCE 

FOR DEALING WITH 

COMPLAINTS 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Adopted July 2003 
Reviewed and updated March 2010 and March 2017 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 423



Adopted July 2003                                              2  of 20 

Reviewed and updated March 2010 and March 2017 

HYNDBURN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

POLICY & PROCEDURES RE COMPLAINTS 
 
 
 
 

 
CONTENTS  

1. Aims of complaints policy  

2. What the complaints policy covers  

3. Who can make a complaint  

4. Making a complaint  

5. Complaints procedure  

6. Complaints officers  

7. Logging and monitoring complaints  

8. Special Cases  

9. Resolving Complaints  

   

   

 Appendices:  

 Appendix 1 – Guidance on dealing with stage 1 complaints  

 Appendix 2 – Guidance on dealing with stage 2 and 3 complaints  

 Appendix 3 – Officers responsible for stage 2 complaints  

 Appendix 4 – Guidance on dealing with difficult or vexatious complainants  

 

Page 424



Adopted July 2003                                              3  of 20 

Reviewed and updated March 2010 and March 2017 

HYNDBURN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 
Complaints Policy & Guidance  

 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
1. AIMS OF COMPLAINTS POLICY 
 
We aim to: 

 
 make it easy for people to exercise their right to complain 

 ensure all complaints are dealt with quickly and consistently 

 help create equality of access to the Council and its services 

 turn dissatisfied customers into satisfied customers 

 improve the Council’s services 

 enhance the image of the Council and its employees in the eyes of Hyndburn citizens 

 

 
2. WHAT THE COMPLAINTS POLICY COVERS 
 
 
2.1 Definition of a complaint 
 

 
A complaint is an expression of dissatisfaction, however made, about the Council’s actions or lack 
of action or about the standard of a service, whether the action was taken, or the service was 
provided, by the Council itself or by somebody else on the Council’s behalf. 
 

 
 
 
2.2 What complaints does the policy apply to? 
 
The following types of complaint are covered by the complaints policy: 

The Council is committed to providing high quality services to the 
people of Hyndburn.  It recognises that a positive approach to 
complaints is essential to good customer care. 
 
The Council takes all complaints seriously and values customer 
feedback.  The Council is committed to learning from complaints 
received and to making changes to policies and procedures to prevent 
similar complaints recurring. 

Page 425



Adopted July 2003                                              4  of 20 

Reviewed and updated March 2010 and March 2017 

 

 a failure to provide a service 

 an unsatisfactory level or quality of service 

 a failure to follow the Council’s policy or procedures 

 the absence of proper procedures 

 delays in providing or completing a service 

 a failure to provide information or a failure to give correct information 

 complaints about the behaviour or attitude of a member of staff or contractors employed 
by the Council 

 complaints of bias, malice or unfair discrimination 

 
2.3 What is excluded from the complaints policy? 
 
The complaints policy does not apply to the following types of complaint: 

 Complaints by Council employees concerning pay, terms and conditions of employment, 
grading or other personnel related grievances 

 Complaints relating to the staff recruitment process 

 Complaints about the conduct of councillors – such complaints should be reported to the 
Executive Director (Legal & Democratic Services).  Information about how to complain 
may be found on the Council’s website or may be obtained from the Executive Director 
(Legal & Democratic Services). 

 Requests for a service – e.g. notification of a missed refuse collection or reports of fly 
tipping. 

 Complaints that are more appropriately dealt with under a statutory procedure or special 
appeals process – e.g. complaints against refusal of planning permission or refusal of a 
taxi licence or appeals against housing benefit determinations.  However, the complaints 
procedure will apply to any part of the complaint that cannot be dealt with under the 
statutory or special appeals procedure  - e.g. complaints about the conduct of a member 
of staff dealing with the planning application, or complaints about a failure to follow 
correct procedures or allegations of bias or discrimination).  

 Complaints about Council policy, provided the policy has been properly applied – the 
complainant should be advised to contact their ward councillor in respect of complaints 
of this sort 

 Complaints about a political decisions, provided the proper procedures were followed 
when the decision was taken – again, the complainant should be advised to contact their 
ward councillor in respect of complaints of this type 

 Complaints by one Council Section about internal services provided by another Council 
Section 

 Requests for information or for an explanation of Council policy or practice 

 Complaints of which the complainant has been aware for 12 months or more before the 
initial complaint is made, unless there are good reasons for the delay, such as the 

Page 426



Adopted July 2003                                              5  of 20 

Reviewed and updated March 2010 and March 2017 

previous incapacity of the complainant. When the Council receives a complaint of this 
nature, the complainant should always be asked to explain the reason for the delay 
before a decision is taken that this policy does not apply 

 Anonymous complaints except in the circumstances permitted by paragraph 4.4 of this 
policy 

 
 

3. WHO CAN MAKE A COMPLAINT? 
 
3.1 The complaints policy is intended to be as open as possible and applies to complaints made 

by: 

 any person or organisation that uses or receives a service from the Council; 

 any person directly affected by a Council decision or service 

3.2 Complainants can complain for themselves or can ask somebody else to complain on their 
behalf, including friends, family members, solicitors or voluntary organisations 

3.3 Councillors may make a complaint on behalf of their constituents.  Councillors may also 
complain themselves if they receive a poor service. 

 

4. MAKING A COMPLAINT 

4.1 Complaints may be made: 

 in person 

 by telephone 

 in writing, by letter, fax or e-mail 

 on the Council’s complaints form 

 using the Council’s on-line complaints form 

4.2 The Council has a 3-stage complaints procedure as follows: 

 Stage 1 informal complaint 

 Stage 2 formal complaint 

 Stage 3 appeal 

4.3     Stage 1 complaints need not be in writing and, in most cases, the complaint will be raised by 
telephone or face to face. 

4.4 Stage 2 and 3 complaints should be in writing.  Council staff can write out a complaint on a 
complainant’s behalf if they need assistance, but the complainant should be asked to sign 
the complaint. If a complaint is received by e-mail, the complainant should be contacted to 
verify their identity. 

Page 427



Adopted July 2003                                              6  of 20 

Reviewed and updated March 2010 and March 2017 

4.5       The Council should not usually accept anonymous complaints. However, an anonymous 
complaint may sometimes raise issues of serious concern, e.g. relating to fraud or other 
criminal activity. Such complaints may be investigated under this policy if the relevant 
service head is satisfied that sufficient information has been provided to enable a proper 
investigation to be carried out and that it may be possible to substantiate the allegation 
without access to the complainant. 

 

5.  COMPLAINT AND PROCEDURE 

Each stage of the complaints procedure operates as follows: 

 

stage procedure time limits 

1 Complaint should be dealt with by the officer dealing with 
the subject of the complaint, or their line manager. 

Complaint can be verbal or in writing. 

Most complaints should be resolved at this stage, usually at 
first contact with the complainant.  A response in person or 
by telephone may be sufficient, but the complainant should 
always be told of their right to make a formal complaint.  If a 
verbal response cannot be given quickly it is better to reply 
in writing, 

Guidance for dealing with Stage 1 complaints is given in 
Appendix 1 

Sometimes however a complaint may require more formal 
investigation even at stage 1. You should discuss the matter 
with your line manager as it may be appropriate to escalate 
the complaint and deal with it from the outset as a stage 2 
complaint. 

Written response within 10 
working days if not possible 
to respond to complaint 
quickly in person or by 
telephone 

 

2 The complaint should be dealt with by the manager 
responsible for the service to which the complaint relates.  A 
list of officers responsible for stage 2 complaints is attached 
at Appendix 3. 

The complaint should be in writing – either a letter, fax or 
complaint form.  Staff should take down details of the 
complaint if the complainant requires assistance. 

Guidance for investigating  complaints is given in Appendix 
2. 

The Council’s response should advise the complainant of 
their right of appeal 

Acknowledge receipt within 
5 working days by letter or 
email 

Full response in writing (by 
letter or email) within 15 
working days 

If a response can’t be given 
within 15 working days, the 
complainant should be 
advised of the progress of 
the investigation and told 
when they can expect a full 
response 

Page 428



Adopted July 2003                                              7  of 20 

Reviewed and updated March 2010 and March 2017 

3. The appeal should be sent to the Council’s Chief Executive  
who will appoint a senior manager to conduct a further 
investigation.  The senior manager should not be 
responsible for the service which is the subject of the 
complaint. 

The complaint should be in writing – either letter, fax or 
complaint form.  Council staff should take down details of 
the complaint if the complainant requires assistance. 

Guidance for the investigation of complaints is given in 
Appendix 2. 

The complainant must be advised of their right to appeal to 
the Local Government Ombudsman if they are unhappy with 
the outcome of the appeal process.  The complainant should 
be referred to the Ombudsman’s website for more 
information about how to complain.  

Acknowledge receipt by 
letter or email within 5 
working days 

Full response in writing (by 
letter or email) within 20 
working days 

If the investigation is 
complicated and a response 
can’t be given within 20 
working days the 
complainant should be 
advised of the progress of 
the investigation and told 
when they can expect a full 
response. 

 

6.  COMPLAINTS OFFICERS 

6.1 The service head for each service area will act as its complaints officer.  A list of service 
heads for this purpose is attached at Appendix 3.  The complaints officer is responsible for  

(a) overseeing adherence to this Policy and Guidance 

(b) arranging for the investigation of complaints that have reached stage 2. The 
complaints officer will be expected to conduct the investigation into the complaint 
unless it is appropriate to delegate this task to a more junior officer.  If the 
investigation is delegated the complaints officer must check any letters to the 
complainant before they are sent to verify adherence to this policy and to satisfy 
themselves that a full and proper investigation has occurred. 

6.2 The Executive Director (Legal and Democratic Services) will act as the Council’s corporate 
complaints co-ordinator. She is  responsible for keeping leaflets and procedures up to date, 
arranging training and liaising with complaints officers to make sure the complaints 
procedure is being adhered to.   

 

7.  LOGGING AND MONITORING COMPLAINTS 

- It is good practice to keep a record of complaints received and how they were dealt with.  This 
can be used to show whether the Council’s Complaints Procedure is working effectively.  It can 
also be used to help to improve the Council’s services. 

            SPECIAL CASES 

  Cross-service complaints 

8.1 The complaints officer receiving the complaint should organise the response or responses to 
the complaint even if it covers more than one service area. 

Page 429



Adopted July 2003                                              8  of 20 

Reviewed and updated March 2010 and March 2017 

8.2 Where this is not practical, or where there is uncertainty as to where the complaint belongs, 
the complaint should be forwarded to the Executive Director (Legal and Democratic 
Services) in her role as corporate complaints co-ordinator who will co-ordinate the 
investigation and response.  The complainant must be advised that this has been done. 

8.3 At no stage should the complainant be advised that they must take up their complaint with 
the other service area directly. Similarly, where the complaint relates to a Council contractor, 
the complainant should not be advised to pursue the matter with the contractor directly. 

 Disciplinary Action 

8.4 If a person has complained against a named or identifiable individual, and that complaint has 
resulted in disciplinary action, then there is a need to balance the confidentiality of the 
disciplinary procedure against the expectations of the complainant to a full response. 

8.5 Where the investigation has substantially upheld the complaint, the complainant should be 
informed that this is the case, and that appropriate management action will be taken, but the 
nature of that action will remain within the confidentiality of the disciplinary procedure. 

8.6 Equally, where the investigation has produced no evidence to warrant disciplinary action, the 
complainant should be informed of this – front line members of staff will have to continue to 
work on the front line, and may even have to deal with the complainant again, and they have 
a right to expect that unsubstantiated allegations will not be left hanging over their heads. 

 Complaints against a Complaints Officer 

8.7 Where a complainant makes a further complaint about the attitude or conduct of a 
complaints officer in dealing with their complaint, the matter will be investigated and 
responded to by the Executive Director (Legal and Democratic Services) as corporate 
complaints co-ordinator. 

Sensitive or “high profile” complaints 

8.8 The subject matter of some complaints will be very sensitive – for example because the 
issue has become politicised, or has a high profile in the local press or may affect the 
reputation or standing of the Council. When dealing with such complaints the investigating 
officer at Stage 2 or Stage 3 should discuss their proposed response to the complainant with 
either the Chief Executive or the Executive Director (Legal & Democratic Services) before 
the response is sent. They should also consider seeking advice and assistance from such 
officers during the course of the investigation process.  

Persistent or vexatious complainants 

8.9 Guidance on dealing with persistent and vexatious complainants is given in Appendix 4. 

8.10 Complainants of this sort may also make repeated requests for information under the 
Freedom of Information Act 2000 (“FOIA”). Specific guidance has been issued by the 
Information Commission under the FOIA on dealing with repeated or vexatious requests for 
information – this guidance sets out the circumstances when a request can properly be 
refused and assistance in applying the same can be obtained from Legal Services. 

Abusive or aggressive complainants 

9 If a complainant is abusive, you should consider whether the Hate Crime and Incident 
Procedure may apply. 

Page 430



Adopted July 2003                                              9  of 20 

Reviewed and updated March 2010 and March 2017 

10 You should also consider whether the conduct of the complainant gives rise to any 
safeguarding concerns, either in respect of the complainant or anyone else (for example, 
you may have concerns about a complainant’s mental health or that or the person they may 
be complaining about). If you have such concerns you should discuss these with one of the 
Council’s nominated safeguarding officers. Further information is available in the Council’s 
Safeguarding Policy. 

 

9. RESOLVING COMPLAINTS 

 General Principles 

 Good customer care is about seeing things through the customer’s eyes.  For example, quite 
short delays involving small sums of money may have a significance to a person on a low 
income which cannot easily be appreciated by someone who is in a more fortunate position; 
and merely providing the money at a later date does not fully acknowledge the problems 
they may have experienced during the delay. 

 Apology 

 Simply voicing the complaint may often be an end in itself, and a great many complaints will 
be resolved by the existence of a responsive, accessible and caring complaints service 
which apologises for mistakes. 

 Where a mistake has been made, an apology should always be offered.  Even where the 
action taken has been correct, it may be appropriate to acknowledge and possibly offer an 
apology for the level of upset caused. 

 Explanation 

 Always explain why what happened did happen.  If there was a mistake, it should be 
admitted.  Even if the action was correct, the complainant should not simply be provided with 
a justification.  Every attempt should be made to see things from the complainant’s side, and 
to show that the organisation is aware of the consequences of its actions even if these 
actions are correct in law or policy. 

 Explanations should be clear and understandable, and should avoid the use of jargon 
wherever possible. 

 Where corrective action is to be taken or has been taken the complainant should be given 
full details and told the name of the officer responsible for the corrective action and any time 
limits and who to contact if the action is not taken. 

 Review of procedure/system 

 The complainant may ask for steps to be taken “so that this does not happen again”. If the 
complaint is upheld you should always consider whether it is appropriate to revise policy or 
procedure to prevent the problem recurring. Any required changes should be implemented 
as soon as possible and communicated to staff so they are aware of the changes. 

 The complainant should always be informed where a change is made as a result of their 
complaint, so that they can see that they have made a difference by their action. 

 

Page 431



Adopted July 2003                                              10  of 20 

Reviewed and updated March 2010 and March 2017 

 Remedy and redress 

 The Council recognises the fact that redress involves a variety of responses and will act 
responsibly and responsively when approaching the question of redress and remedies. 

 Any form of redress should be appropriate to the failure in service and take into account 
what people are looking for when they complain.  Redress involves a variety of responses 
(the correction of errors, the waiving of costs, the payment of monies due, an apology, a new 
procedure etc) and officers must act responsibly and responsively when approaching the 
question of redress and remedies 

 The aim should be to put the complainant in the position he or she would have been in if 
things had not gone wrong. 

 The Executive Director (Legal & Democratic Services) has delegated authority to agree and 
authorise payment of compensation up to £500. Payments above this level will need to be 
agreed by the relevant chief officer for the service concerned or by Cabinet 

 Whether financial compensation should be paid, and how much, will depend on the 
circumstances.  Where compensation is considered appropriate, the following guidelines 
could be taken into account. 

 Where specific financial losses have been incurred, reimbursement is likely to be 
appropriate (together with consideration of whether interest should be paid). 

 Where devaluation of property is alleged, an independent valuation (for example by the 
Valuation Office Agency) could be considered with a view to compensation for any 
difference in value arising from the action complained of.  Legal Services must be 
consulted before a valuer is appointed. 

 Where a tenant has had to live in poor conditions for longer than was reasonable, the 
amount of damages awarded by the courts in similar circumstances can be a guide to 
the assessment of compensation. 

 Where the complainant has had to spend an unreasonable and significant amount of 
time in pursuing the matter, a payment in recognition of ‘time and trouble’ may be 
appropriate. 

 If exceptional worry, distress or inconvenience have been caused by the events, 
consideration could be given to a payment in recognition of those factors. 

Complaints covered by Council insurance 

            Care should be taken where the complaint relates to something covered by the Council’s 
insurance policy.  Liability should not be admitted and remedies should not be offered 
without prior consultation with Legal Services. Conceding liability in some circumstances 
may contravene the terms of the Council’s insurance and prevent the Council recovering its 
costs and losses from the insurer. If you are unsure what is covered by the Council’s 
insurance policy, please check with officers in the Accountancy Section – generally this will 
be relevant where you think the complainant may wish to pursue a claim for compensation 
against the Council. 

 

 

Page 432



Adopted July 2003                                              11  of 20 

Reviewed and updated March 2010 and March 2017 

Appendix 1 

 

GUIDANCE ON DEALING WITH STAGE 1 COMPLAINTS 

An informal complaint is an initial approach by a customer to the Council expressing dissatisfaction 
with some aspect of the Council’s services or actions.  Such approaches may be made in person, 
by telephone or in writing. 

i. BE POSITIVE 

If you are defensive and continually challenge the customer’s perception of the problem, you 
will give the impression that you are not interested in what the customer is trying to tell you. 

ii. TRY TO DEFUSE THE SITUATION 

Do not respond to aggression with aggression.  The customer’s anger may be a result of 
past problems with the Council or an expectation that the Council will not do anything to 
help.  Stay calm and friendly, show that you accept there is a problem and that you are 
prepared to listen to what the customer has to say. 

iii. ESTABLISH THE FACTS 

Try to find out exactly what the problem is and why the customer is dissatisfied.  Ask for the 
customer’s name and make a note of the facts of the complaint. 

iv. EMPATHISE WITH THE CUSTOMER 

 Show that you understand why the customer is dissatisfied and that you intend to do 
something about it. 

v. ATTEMPT TO SOLVE THE PROBLEM 

You may be able to provide information or arrange appropriate action which will satisfy the 
customer there and then.  If you are unable to provide an answer immediately, or do not 
know the answer, say so, and arrange to get in touch with the customer later the same day 
or the following day.  Make sure that the customer has your name, job title and telephone 
number so that follow-up enquiries can be dealt with more easily. 

vi. DON’T JUST PASS THE CUSTOMER ON 

 Do not just pass the customer on to another officer or department without first checking that 
they will be able to take action or provide information.  If necessary, make an appointment 
for the customer. 

vii ADMIT A MISTAKE 

 If you find that the Council has made a genuine mistake, admit it and apologise to the 
customer for the error.  Tell the customer what action you propose to take to put the matter 
right.  You must, however, be alert to situations where the customer may be seeking 
compensation from the Council.  In these cases you must be careful not to make an 
admission of liability which could jeopardise the Council’s position in later legal action.  If you 
think there may be a claim to for compensation you should pass the complaint to your 
Supervisor / Section Head. 

Page 433



Adopted July 2003                                              12  of 20 

Reviewed and updated March 2010 and March 2017 

viii CHECK THAT THE CUSTOMER IS SATISFIED 

 Check that the customer is satisfied and thank him/her for bringing the matter to the 
Council’s attention.  As appropriate, advise your Supervisor/Section Head of any need to 
improve or modify services or procedures, which may have been highlighted by the 
complaint. 

ix ADVISE ON THE FORMAL COMPLAINTS PROCEDURE 

 If the customer remains dissatisfied, ask whether he/she wishes to make a formal complaint 
and advise him/her on the Council’s formal Complaints Procedure.  If the customer needs 
assistance, help them, if necessary, to put their complaint in writing. 

x. VIOLENT SITUATIONS 

Withdraw from any potentially violent situation and call on assistance from your Supervisor 
or other officers.  If you experience any physical aggression or threat from a member of the 
public, or are not confident of being able to handle a stressful situation, contact your 
Supervisor/Section Head. 

If a complainant appears physically aggressive, threatening or violent you should also refer 
the individual concerned for possible inclusion on the Council’s Register of Health & Safety 
incidents. 

xi AWKWARD CUSTOMERS 

 All Departments have awkward customers who appear to complain on a regular basis.  Don’t 
dismiss these complaints as “him/her again”.  Such complainants may be justified in bringing 
a complaint simply because of that attitude.  In addition this may be the occasion where 
you/your department have got it wrong.  The complaint therefore needs to be properly 
examined.  If needs be, ensure a fresh face from your Department or Section looks at the 
complaint to avoid any suggestion of bias as a result of previous dealings the complainant. 

Informal Complaints in writing or via a Third Party 

Where a complaint has been received in writing or via a third party, the member of staff responsible 
for the service should provide a written response detailing the action taken, if any, and advising the 
customer that the Council’s formal complaints procedure is available if not satisfied. 

If the complaint has been received via a third party, you should advise the third party that the 
complaint has been resolved and that a written response has been sent to the complainant. You 
should be very careful not to disclose personal information about the complainant to the third party 
unless you have the complainant’s written consent. 

Page 434



Adopted July 2003                                              13  of 20 

Reviewed and updated March 2010 and March 2017 

Appendix 2 

 

GUIDANCE ON INVESTIGATING  COMPLAINTS 

General principles 

A complaint must be viewed as legitimate, and important to the person making the complaint. 

Any officer dealing with a complaint should: 

(a) Treat the complainant with respect and courtesy 

(b) Be responsive and sensitive to their complaints  

(c) Listen to the complainant and hear what they are saying 

(d) Avoid settling out merely to justify the position of the service 

(e) Keep the complainant informed on the progress of a complaint 

(f) Always provide clear explanations of what went wrong 

(g) Make an apology and provide redress where necessary 

Above all, the most important aspect of the complaints procedure is to listen to the service user and 
learn from them as much as possible in order to improve the quality and standard of the services 
provided. 

Procedure 

The majority of complaints are likely to be capable of being dealt with speedily and simply, and 
without the need for a formal investigation.   

Where, however, a more substantial, or more formal,  inquiry is required, the following guidance 
may be helpful for investigating officers. 

 Consider whether the complaint could be resolved without further investigation. 

 Assess whether the complaints procedure is the most appropriate way of handling this 
complaint.  Consider possible alternative procedures, such as: 

 an appeal to a tribunal; 

 a referral to the Executive Director (Legal & Democratic Services)  (if it relates to 
member conduct); 

 legal action; or  

 police involvement. 

 Contact the complainant and: 

 clarify the complaint; 

Page 435



Adopted July 2003                                              14  of 20 

Reviewed and updated March 2010 and March 2017 

 set out in writing for the complainant your understanding of the complaint; 

 clarify the outcome sought; 

 check whether the complainant needs support of any kind, or has poor sight or hearing, 
or a language difficulty, and check what help the complainant needs so as to be able to 
understand the discussion properly; 

 explain the investigation procedure;  

 Brief yourself on the relevant legal, policy and administrative background to the complaint. 

 Consider if there have been any previous complaints from this person. 

 Investigate thoroughly, but only enough to get sufficient information to make a fair and 
properly informed decision. 

 Consider what evidence may be available – for example, could there be CCTV evidence or 
were telephone conversations recorded ?  

 If the complaint is about a proposed action by the Council, consider whether the action 
should be deferred while the complaint is investigated. 

 Obtain all relevant documents (ensuring that you see the originals, not copies).  These may 
include files, logbooks, and time sheets.  Get copies of all the documents you need. 

 Establish the relevant sequence of events from the files and also the names of the 
officers/members most directly involved in the matters complained of. 

 Consider whether you need to discuss the complaint with the officers involved, or whether 
you need to conduct more formal interviews. If you do: 

 consider in advance what questions you need to ask 

 use open, not leading questions; 

 If relevant, arrange the order of your discussions or interviews so that, where you need to 
establish what procedures are normally followed, you do this first with more senior officers, 
and end with the officers most directly involved in the matters complained of. 

 Consider whether you need a witness to an interview or discussion which may be particularly 
difficult. 

 Discussions or interviews should be conducted in an informal and relaxed manner, but 
persist in your questions if necessary.  Do not be afraid to ask the same question twice.  
Make notes of each answer given. 

 Try to separate hearsay evidence from fact. 

 At the end of the discussion or interview, summarise the main points covered and ask if the 
interviewee has anything to add. 

Page 436



Adopted July 2003                                              15  of 20 

Reviewed and updated March 2010 and March 2017 

 Make a formal record of the discussion or interview from your written notes as soon as 
possible after the interview, while your memory is fresh.  Never leave it longer than the next 
day. 

 Complainants should be kept informed of the progress of their complaint.  Where a 
complaint is taking significantly longer to investigate than previously advised, the 
complainant should be told this and given an explanation of the reasons and the expected 
revised timescale. 

 For the most serious complaints, draft a report setting out the evidence obtained, preferably 
without including your own opinions, and circulate this for comment to all those interviewed, 
including the complainant, unless there are special reasons not to do so. Consider 
comments received and amend the report as necessary, adding conclusions and, if 
appropriate, a suggested remedy for the complainant. 

 

Page 437



Adopted July 2003                                              16  of 20 

Reviewed and updated March 2010 and March 2017 

Appendix 3 

 

Complaints Officers 

Finance 

Internal Audit 

 

Head of Audit and Investigations 

Accountancy Services 

Administration Section 

Head of Accountancy Services 

Housing Benefit 

Council tax  and council tax support 

Business rates 

Customer Contact Centre 

Head of Benefits, Revenues and Customer 
Contact  

Other finance / budget issues Deputy Chief Executive  

 

Corporate Property 

Council property / property management Regeneration and  Property Manager 

 

IT 

IT services Head of ICT 

 

Legal & Democratic Services 

Member Services and Scrutiny 

Civic Services 

Policy Team 

Community Safety 

Area budgets 

Head of Corporate Support 

 

Legal Services Legal Services Manager 

Elections, Land Charges, Civic Services, 
Licensing 

Executive Director (Legal and Democratic 
Services) 

 

Page 438



Adopted July 2003                                              17  of 20 

Reviewed and updated March 2010 and March 2017 

Human Resources 

Personnel, Payroll & Organisational 
Development Team 

Head of Human Resources 

 

Strategic Housing and Economic Regeneration 

Strategic Housing (private sector housing, 
housing advice) 

Economic Development (business development  
/ community enterprise), town centre 
management, Haworth Art Gallery 

 

Head of Regeneration and Housing 

 

Environmental Services 

Refuse and recycling collection 

Street cleaning 

Fleet maintenance 

Food safety and Health & Safety 

Head of Community Services 

Parks & Open Spaces 

Pest Control 

Dog warden 

Cemeteries and Crematoria 

Head of Parks and Cemeteries 

 

Planning and Transportation 

Planning, Building Control, Transportation and 
Engineering 

Chief Planning and Transportation Officer  

 

 

 

  

Page 439



Adopted July 2003                                              18  of 20 

Reviewed and updated March 2010 and March 2017 

Appendix 4 

GUIDANCE ON DEALING WITH DIFFICULT OR VEXATIOUS COMPLAINANTS 

 

Definition of difficult/vexatious complainant 

Repeated and / or obsessive pursuit of 

1. unreasonable complaints and/or unrealistic outcomes 

2. reasonable complaints in an unreasonable manner. 

Most usually the complainant will repeatedly contact the Council in respect of the same complaint 
long after the point where any satisfactory conclusion can be reached 

While complaint is on-going 

If you feel a complainant is behaving unreasonably while the complaint is still being investigated 
either by the Council or the Ombudsman you should seek agreement from the Executive Director 
(Legal & Democratic Services) to inform the complainant by letter 

1. that their contact with the Council should be directed to, and will only be accepted, by a 
named individual and  

2. that the means or manner of their contact with the Council is to be restricted (e.g. letter only). 

When complaints process completed 

1.    Once the Council’s complaints procedure has been followed, you should advise the 
complainant as follows:-  “….your complaint has now been fully addressed through the 
Council’s internal complaints procedure and cannot be pursued further with the Council.  As 
you remain dissatisfied however, you may wish to refer the matter to the Local Government 
Ombudsman who will consider your complaint.  Information about how to complain to the 
Ombudsman can be found on the Ombudsman’s website and complaints can be submitted 
online or in writing. The website address is www.lgo.org.ukIf the complainant continues to 
complain about the same issue, the Department against which the complaint was made will 
write to the complainant that the matter is at an end and that the Council will not enter into 
further correspondence about the complaint. 

2.       If correspondence continues, the Department should seek the Executive Director (Legal & 
Democratic Services) agreement to write to inform the complainant that further letters on the 
same subject will be read, but will receive no acknowledgement or response. 

3.       Where the matter has been adjudicated on by the Ombudsman the Department should advise 
the complainant as follows:-  “your most recent correspondence does not appear to raise 
any issues which have not already been responded to.  Your complaint has been dealt with 
under the Council’s own internal complaints procedure, and has also been investigated by 
the Local Government Ombudsman.  I consider therefore that the matter has now been fully 
addressed through the procedures available and, unless you are able to provide new 
substantive information in support of your complaint, I intend to take no further action.” 

Page 440



Adopted July 2003                                              19  of 20 

Reviewed and updated March 2010 and March 2017 

Habitual or vexatious complaintants 

Complaintants who make repeated complaints about a range of different subjects can take up a 
considerable amount of staff time. Each complaint must, however, be properly investigated and 
responded to.  

If a Department, or several Departments, feel that a complainant is vexatious they should seek the 
agreement of the Executive Director (Legal & Democratic Services) to treat the complainant as a 
vexatious complainant. This may be the case where the complainant makes repeated complaints of 
a similar nature or appears to complain “for the sake of it”, rather than out of a sense of genuine 
grievance. In such circumstances, the Council will advise the complainant of the following: 

- that they are being treated as a vexatious complainant under the Council’s complaints policy 
and a copy of the policy should be supplied to them 

- that all complaints will continue to be investigated under the Council’s complaints policy but that 
all complaints must be sent to, and will be responded to by, a named officer. The named officer 
will be the complainant’s point of contact with the Council in respect of all their complaints, 
although the named officer does not have to investigate each complaint themselves – this may 
be delegated, but the named officer will co-ordinate the investigation and letters relating to the 
complaint will be sent by the named officer. 

 

Responding the threatening and difficult behaviour by complainants 

Aggression can be other than physical assault: there are times when staff feel threatened, 
intimidated or bulled by the language and behaviour of a complainant.  The Council expects staff to 
be treated courteously and with respect. 

If staff feel threatened by a complainant they will report their fears, and the reason for those fears, to 
their manager.  The manager will report the incident using the appropriate departmental procedure 
and will consider:- 

1. Writing to the complainant requiring no repetition of the behaviour and, if necessary, setting 
conditions and restrictions for further contact with staff 

2. Whether to report the incident to the Police 

3. Whether to seek advice from Legal Services about the possibility of obtaining an injunction 
against the complainant  

4. If a complainant appears physically aggressive, threatening or violent you should also refer 
the individual concerned for possible inclusion on the Council’s Register of Reported Health 
& Safety Incidents 

If staff consider during a telephone conversation that a caller is becoming aggressive and/or 
offensive they will inform the caller that they will terminate the conversation unless such behaviour 
ceases.  If the aggression continues, the member of staff will put down the receiver terminating the 
call.  A note will be placed on file of the reason for terminating the call.  Staff will respond to 
repeated calls in the same way.  Repeated calls can be harassment which should, after consultation 
with a senior officer, be reported to the Police. 

If a complainant is abusive, you should consider whether the Hate Crime and Incident Procedure 
may apply. 

Page 441



Adopted July 2003                                              20  of 20 

Reviewed and updated March 2010 and March 2017 

You should also consider whether the conduct of the complainant gives rise to any safeguarding 
concerns, either in respect of the complainant or anyone else (for example, you may have concerns 
about a complainants mental health). If you have such concerns you should discuss these with one 
of the Council’s nominated safeguarding officers. Further information is available in the Council’s 
Safeguarding Policy. 

Page 442



 
Municipal Year 2021/22 
 

Page 1 of 2 
 

USE OF MOBILE PHONES, SOCIAL MEDIA, FILMING AND RECORDING 
AT MEETINGS 

 
 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 This protocol provides guidance to members of the public, press and Councillors on the use of 
 mobile phones, social media and filming and recording at formal meetings of Hyndburn 
 Council, Cabinet and Committees. 
 
1.2 Social media refers to the use of web-based technologies to share information and to interact 
 with online communities, e.g. blogs, Twitter, Facebook. 
 
 
2. Filming and Recording of Meetings 
 
2.1 The filming, videoing, photographing or recording Council meetings or other meetings which 
 are open to the public is allowed, providing it does not disturb the conduct of the meeting.  
 
2.2 Any Councillor, as well as a member of the public, wishing to film, take a photograph or record 
 all or part of the meeting must inform the Chair, at the start of the meeting, specifying what it 
 is the Councillor intends to record, film or photograph. 
 
2.3 Anyone wanting to report in this way is advised to inform Democratic Services on 01254 
 388111, or by email to memberservices@hyndburnbc.gov.uk by 5.00pm on the day before the 
 meeting so that reasonable facilities can be made available.   
 
2.4 The Chair of the meeting will have the power to rescind this permission if it is disruptive or 
 distracting to the good order and conduct of the meeting, for example through flash 
 photography or intrusive camera equipment. 
 
2.5 All those visually recording a meeting are requested to only focus on recording councillors, 
 officers and the public who are directly involved in the conduct of the meeting. 
 
2.6 If a meeting passes a motion to exclude the press and public, or if the Council consider that 
 sensitive issues are to be debated, then, in conjunction with this, all rights to record the 
 meeting are removed. 
 
 
3. Filming Members of the Public 
 
3.1 In the case of members of the public speaking at meetings (at Planning Committee, for 
 example) the Chair will ask each individual to give their express permission to being filmed and 
 they will not be filmed if they actively object.  
 
 
4. Use of Mobile Devices 
 
4.1 To minimise disruption to others attending the meeting, all attendees must ensure that their 
 phone or other mobile devices are switched off or set to silent mode during the meeting. 
 

Page 443



 
Municipal Year 2021/22 
 

Page 2 of 2 
 

4.2 The use of social media in formal meetings is permitted for members of the public, press and 
 Councillors who are not members of the meeting, so long as this does not cause any disruption 
 or disturbance. The Chair’s decision on this point is final. The full attention of Councillors who 
 are members of the meeting (full Council, Cabinet, Committee, etc.) is required at all times and 
 these Councillors must not be distracted by using social media or any mobile devices. 
 
4.3 No Councillor in attendance, whether a decision-maker or observer, is permitted to use social 
 media or mobile devices during a private session (when the press and the public are 
 excluded), or to disclose in any way the content of the items under discussion. 
 
4.4 The Members’ Code of Conduct will apply when using social media. Inappropriate comments 
 made during a meeting could open Councillors to potential complaints or investigation under 
 the Code of Conduct. 
 
 
 

=================== 
 

Page 444



Approved by Council, 21
st
 June 2012 

Municipal Year 2021/22 

HYNDBURN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 
PROTOCOL ON STANDARDS OF BEHAVIOUR AT MEETINGS 

 
 
This protocol sets out the standards of conduct expected from meeting participants in dealing 
with each other. 
 
It should be read in conjunction with the Members’ Code of Conduct. 
 
Councillors will adhere to the following standards to behaviour:- 
 

 To behave with dignity 
 

 To show respect to the Chair and obey his/her decisions 
 

 To show respect for each other 
 

 Not to interrupt each other during the course of a debate 
 

 To refrain from making personal or abusive comments about each other. 
 

 To avoid using indecent language or making remarks which prejudice any member of 
the meeting or any section of society 

 

 To maintain the confidentiality of exempt papers and any other documents which are 
not public 

 

 To show respect for diversity and equality.   
 
 
 

Page 445



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

INTERNAL AUDIT CHARTER 
2022 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Internal Audit Services 

Town Hall – Broadway Annex 

 
Report Author: Mark Beard – Head of Audit & Investigation 

 

Page 447



 
2 Internal Audit Charter - 2022 

INTERNAL AUDIT CHARTER - 2022 
 

 

Introduction 
 

1.1 This charter establishes the framework within which Hyndburn Borough Council’s 

Internal Audit Service operates to best serve the council and to meet its 

professional obligations under the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS). 

 

1.2 The charter defines the purpose, authority and responsibility of internal audit 

activity, establishes the Internal Audit Service’s position within the organisation, 

authorises access to records, personnel and physical properties relevant to the 

performance of engagements and defines the scope of internal audit activities. 

 

1.3 It will be subject to periodic review by the Head of Audit & Investigation (as the 

Chief Audit Executive1) and presented to the Council’s Senior Management2 and 

the Board3 for approval. 

 

1.4 In the event the Internal Audit Service provides the internal audit function for other 

organisations external to the Council, the purpose, authority and responsibility of 

internal audit activity for those organisations is subject to separate charter(s) for 

those organisations. 

 

 

Relevant Regulations and Interpretation 
 

2.1 The requirement for an internal audit function in local government is set out in the 

Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. 

 

2.2 Regulation 5 (1) of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 states: 

 “Internal Audit: A relevant authority must undertake an effective internal audit to 

evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, control and governance 

processes, taking into account public sector internal audit standards or guidance.” 

 

2.3 The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) is the relevant 

standard setter for internal audit in local government in the United Kingdom. CIPFA 

has published Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS), which encompass 

the Mission of Internal Audit and the mandatory elements of the Global Institute of 

Internal Auditors’ International Professional Practices Framework (the Core 

Principles for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing). These documents are 

therefore mandatory for internal audit in local government in the United Kingdom. 

And they are supplemented with PSIAS by additional public sector interpretation 

                                                           
1
 The Head of Audit & Investigation is the Council’s Chief Audit Executive as defined within the PSIAS 

2
 Corporate Management Team is the Council’s Senior Management as defined within the PSIAS 

3
 Audit Committee is The Board as defined within the PSIAS 

Page 448



 
3 Internal Audit Charter - 2022 

and guidance. CIPFA has published a Local Government Advisory Note setting out 

sector-specific requirements for local government within the United Kingdom. 

 

2.4 Hyndburn Borough Council’s Internal Audit Service therefore operates in 

accordance with this mandatory definition, code, standards and advice. 

 

2.5 Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 states that every local authority in 

England and Wales should “make arrangements for the proper administration of 

their financial affairs and shall secure that one of their officers has responsibility for 

the administration of those affairs”. In its statement on the Role of Chief Financial 

Officer in Local Government CIPFA has defined ‘proper administration’ as including 

compliance with the statutory requirements for accounting and internal audit. It also 

requires the Chief Executive and Deputy Chief Executive (s151) to ensure an 

effective internal audit function is resourced and maintained. 

 

 

Definitions 
 

3.1 Both the Global Institute of Internal Auditors and PSIAS set out the following 

definition of internal auditing: 

 “Internal auditing is an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity 

designed to add value and improve an organisation’s operations. It helps an 

organisation accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined 

approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, control 

and governance processes.” 

Global Institute of Internal Auditors, and 

Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 2017 

 

3.2 The Global Institute of Internal Auditors and PSIAS also refer to the ‘board’ and 

‘senior management’ and PSIAS recognises that these terms need to be interpreted 

in the context of the council’s own governance arrangements. 

 

3.3 PSIAS defines the board as: 

 “The highest level of governing board charged with the responsibility to direct and / 

or oversee the activities and management of the organisation. […] ‘Board’ may refer 

to an audit committee to which the governing body has delegated certain functions.” 

Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, 2017 

 

3.4 Within Hyndburn Borough Council the board is defined as the Audit Committee. 

 

3.5 Senior management is defined as the council’s Corporate Management Team. This 

consists of the Chief Executive, Deputy Chief Executive (s151), Executive Director 

(Legal & Democratic Services), Executive Director (Environment) and Head of 

Policy & Organisational Development. 

 

3.6 PSIAS also refers to the ‘chief audit executive’ who at Hyndburn Borough Council is 

deemed to be the Head of Audit & Investigation. 

 

Page 449



 
4 Internal Audit Charter - 2022 

 

Mission & Core Principles 
 

4.1 The internal audit charter sets out what the internal audit service aspires to 

accomplish, which is: 

 “To enhance and protect organisational value by providing risk based and objective 

assurance, advice and insight.” 

 

4.2 The core principles listed in the PSIAS taken as a whole, articulate internal audit 

effectiveness. For an internal audit function to be considered effective, all principles 

should be present and operating effectively. Failure to achieve any of the principles 

would imply that an internal audit function was not as effective as it could be in 

achieving internal audit’s mission. 

 

4.3 The 10 Core Principles: 

  1. Demonstrates integrity 

  2. Demonstrates competence and due professional care 

  3. Is objective and free from undue influence (independent) 

  4. Aligns with the strategies, objectives and risks of the organisation 

  5. Is appropriately positioned and adequately resourced 

  6. Demonstrates quality and continuous improvement 

  7. Communicates effectively 

  8. Provides risk-based assurance 

  9. Is insightful, proactive and future focused 

  10. Promotes organisational improvement 

 

 

Responsibilities 
 

5.1 The Regulations set out that the Council must ensure that it has a sound system of 

internal control which facilitates the effective exercise of its functions and the 

achievement of its aims and objectives, ensures that the financial and operational 

management of the authority is effective and includes effective arrangements for 

the management of risk. 

 

5.2 It is the role of the Internal Audit Service to provide independent assurance that 

these risk management, control and governance processes are adequately 

designed and effectively operated. PSIAS makes clear that the provision of this 

assurance is internal audit’s primary role and that this requires the Head of Audit & 

Investigation to provide an annual opinion based on an objective assessment of the 

framework of governance, risk management and control. 

 

Page 450



 
5 Internal Audit Charter - 2022 

5.3 This assessment will be supported by the identification, analysis, evaluation and 

documentation of sufficient information on each individual audit engagement, and 

the completion of sufficient audit engagements to support an overall opinion for the 

Council as a whole. The scope of internal audit’s work therefore encompasses all of 

the council’s functions and services and all of its activities. 

 

5.4 The requirement to be independent and objective means that the Internal Audit 

Service cannot assume management responsibility for risk management, control or 

governance processes. However the Internal Audit Service may support 

management by providing consultancy services. These are advisory in nature and 

are generally performed at the specific request of the organisation, with the aim of 

improving governance, risk management and control. They will also contribute to 

the overall assurance opinion. 

 

5.5 Accountability for responses to the Internal Audit Service’s advice and 

recommendations for action lies with the council’s managers, who either accept and 

implement the advice or accept the risks associated with not taking the action. 

Advice, including where the Internal Audit Service has been consulted about 

significant changes to internal control systems, is given without prejudice to the right 

of the Internal Audit Service to review and recommend further action on the relevant 

policies, procedures, controls and operations at a later date. 

 

5.6 The Head of Audit & Investigation will provide an annual report incorporating an 

overall opinion, a summary of the work that supports that opinion, a statement of 

conformity with PSIAS, and the results of the quality assurance and improvement 

programme. 

 

5.7 A note of the responsibilities of the Corporate Management Team (‘senior 

management’) and the Audit Committee (‘the board’) in relation to the internal audit 

function are set out in the appendix to this charter. The Internal Audit Service’s 

responsibilities are set out in the PSIAS and these are supported by detailed 

operational policies and procedure that are regularly reviewed and updated as 

necessary. 

 

 

Independence, Objectivity and Integrity 
 

6.1 The PSIAS define independence as “freedom from conditions that threaten the 

ability of the Internal Audit Service to carry out its responsibilities in an unbiased 

manner”. To assist Internal Audit to carry out the role and constructively challenge 

senior managers of the Council, the Head of Audit & Investigation holds a senior 

position. 

6.2 The Internal Audit Service remains independent of the council’s other functions and, 

with the exception of its support to management in relation to counter fraud and 

investigatory work, no member of the Internal Audit Service has any executive or 

operational responsibilities. Auditors are expected to deploy impartial and objective 

professional judgement in all their work, whether on audit work or investigations. 

 

Page 451



 
6 Internal Audit Charter - 2022 

6.3 The Internal Audit Service’s work programme and priorities are determined in 

consultation with ‘senior management’ and ‘the Board’, but remain a decision for the 

Head of Audit & Investigation. The Head of Audit & Investigation has direct access 

to and freedom to report in their own name and without fear or favour to all officers 

and members and specifically the Audit Committee. They have the opportunity to 

meet with the Chair of the Audit Committee at any time. 

 

6.4 The independence of the Head of Audit & Investigation is further safeguarded by 

ensuring that their remuneration and performance development review are not 

inappropriately influenced by those subject to audit. 

 

6.5 All auditors make an annual declaration of their interests and update this during the 

year as necessary, and where any auditor has a real or perceived conflict of interest 

this is managed to maintain the operational independence of the service as a 

whole. If independence of objectivity are impaired in fact or appearance, then the 

nature of the impairment is disclosed as appropriate. The Head of Audit & 

Investigation makes an annual declaration that the internal audit function is 

operationally independent. 

 

6.6 All auditors have read and are aware of the obligations placed on them by the 

PSIAS and specifically the Code of Ethics. They each acknowledge that they must 

adhere to the Code of Ethics and demonstrate integrity, objectivity, competence and 

confidentiality in the discharge of all their duties. 

 

 

Reporting Lines and Relationships 
 

7.1 The Head of Audit & Investigation reports functionally to the Audit Committee and 

organisationally to the Deputy Chief Executive as s151 Officer. They also have 

access to all ‘senior management’ including the Chief Executive and Monitoring 

Officer. 

 

7.2 The Head of Audit & Investigation has regular access to the Chair of Audit 

Committee and reports to their meetings as set out in their terms of reference. 

 

7.3 Corporate Management Team and Audit Committee are responsible for approving 

the annual internal audit plan. 

 

7.4 The Head of Audit & Investigation, the Internal Audit Service as a whole and the 

Council adhere to the requirements of CIPFA’s Statement on the Role of the Head 

of Internal Audit. 

 

7.5 The Internal Audit Service and the external auditor liaise on the planning and 

outcomes of respective audit work to share assurance opinions and avoid the 

duplication of work. 

 

 

Access to Information 

Page 452



 
7 Internal Audit Charter - 2022 

 

8.1 The Internal Audit Service has the right of unrestricted and direct access to the 

Council’s records (however held), assets, premises and officers. In the event the 

Council enters into partnership arrangements with external organisations, the 

Council ensures that the same rights of audit access apply to partners’ records, 

assets, premises and officers. The Internal Audit Service has the authority to obtain 

all such information and explanations as it considers necessary to fulfil its 

responsibilities. The Internal Audit Service’s rights of access may or may not be 

subject to prior notice which extends to partner organisations. The Internal Audit 

Service will determine this based on the circumstances of the work or audit 

engagement it is conducting. 

 

8.2 Internal auditors respect the value and ownership of information they receive and 

reports they produce, and do not disclose information without appropriate authority 

unless there is a legal or professional obligation to do so. They are prudent in the 

use and protection of information acquired in the course of their duties and shall not 

use information for any personal gain or in a manner that would be contrary to the 

law or detrimental to the Council’s legitimate and ethical objectives. 

 

8.3 If the Internal Audit Service is refused access to premises, land, records or a refusal 

of explanation occurs, then this will be progressed through the various tiers of 

management / senior management and to Audit Committee as required. 

 

 

Internal Audit Resources 
 

9.1 Hyndburn Borough Council has taken the strategic decision to provide its internal 

audit service in-house and is committed to providing a service that meets the best 

quality standards. However, the Head of Audit & Investigation has decided that, to 

meet the requirement that audit engagements are performed with proficiency and 

due professional care, it will obtain additional support where specialist knowledge is 

required. All such work remains under the direction and authority of the Head of 

Audit & Investigation. 

 

9.2 The Deputy Chief Executive as s151 ensures that internal audit resources are 

sufficient to meet its responsibilities and achieve its objectives. If the Head of Audit 

& Investigation or Audit Committee considers that the level of audit resources in any 

way limits the scope of internal audit, or prejudices the ability of the Internal Audit 

Service to deliver a service consistent with its statutory and related requirements, 

they will advise the Council accordingly. 

 

9.3 Nonetheless, the Internal Audit Service has finite resources and its workforce is 

therefore deployed to meet an annual internal audit plan that pays regard to the 

relative risks accepted and levels of assurance required by the Council. 

 

 

Competency 
 

Page 453



 
8 Internal Audit Charter - 2022 

10.1 The Head of Audit & Investigation is required to hold appropriate professional audit 

qualifications. This is defined as full membership of the Chartered Institute of 

Internal Auditors or equivalent. It is expected that the senior auditor will hold the 

Association of Accounting Technicians (AAT) qualification or equivalent. Auditors 

are encouraged to obtain the AAT qualification if not already held. 

 

10.2 The Council’s Performance Development Review process is applicable to all staff 

within the Internal Audit Service, which supports continuous staff performance 

appraisal and development. 

 

 

Quality Assurance and Improvement 
 

11.1 The Head of Audit & Investigation operates a quality assurance and improvement 

programme (QAIP) that both monitors the on-going performance of internal audit 

activity and periodically assesses the Internal Audit Service’s compliance with 

PSIAS. This includes both internal and external assessments and is set out in the 

QAIP. 

 

11.2 The results of the QAIP including any areas of non-conformance with PSIAS are 

reported annually to the Corporate Management Team and the Audit Committee. 

 

 

Non-Audit Work: investigations and counter-fraud services 
 

12.1 PSIAS recognises that the Internal Audit Service may go beyond the work needed 

to meet its assurance responsibilities and provide services to support management, 

including consultancy services or assistance with the investigation of suspected 

fraud or corruption. Such services apply the professional skills of internal audit and 

contribute to the overall assurance opinion. 

 

12.2 The Head of Audit & Investigation is a named point of contact for the Council’s 

whistle-blowing arrangements and where appropriate investigates instances of 

suspected or actual fraud, corruption or impropriety. 

 

12.3 The Head of Audit & Investigation also facilitates the Council’s participation in the 

National Fraud Initiative, which matches data from the Council’s information 

systems with information held by other bodies to identify potentially fraudulent 

activity. 

 

12.4 The Internal Audit Service is not responsible for the prevention or detection of fraud 

and corruption. Managing the risk of fraud and corruption is management’s 

responsibility. Internal Auditors will however, be alert in all their work to risks and 

exposures that could allow fraud or corruption and to any indications that fraud and 

corruption may have occurred. Internal audit procedures alone, even when 

performed with due professional care, cannot guarantee that fraud or corruption will 

be detected. 

 

Page 454



 
9 Internal Audit Charter - 2022 

12.5 The Head of Audit & Investigation should be informed of all suspected or detected 

fraud, corruption or impropriety and will consider the implications for their opinion on 

the adequacy and effectiveness of the relevant controls, and the overall internal 

control environment. 

 

 

Engagement Planning 
 

13.1 For each audit engagement an audit brief should be prepared, discussed and 

agreed with the relevant manager(s). The audit brief should incorporate the 

objectives, scope and timing for the audit engagement, its resources and reporting 

requirements. 

 

13.2 Audit engagements are undertaken using a risk based approach which will consider 

the probability of significant errors, fraud and non-compliance. 

 

 

Performing the Engagement 
 

14.1 Auditors are required to identify, analyse, evaluate and document sufficient 

information to achieve the engagement’s objectives. The evidence supports their 

conclusions, professional judgements and recommendations and therefore must be 

factual and accurate. 

 

 

Communicating Results 
 

15.1 The results of all audit engagements are reported, including the objective, scope, all 

material facts, conclusions, recommendations, actions plans, any limitations and 

contain the internal auditor’s opinion. 

 

15.2 Draft reports are discussed with the managers for factual accuracies. Any 

significant issues should have been brought to the attention of management during 

the engagement to allow for immediate action to be taken. 

 

15.3 Managers are required to give responses to each recommendation, detailing the 

responsible officer for each action and the target date for completion. Where there 

is disagreement over the actions to be taken, this is recorded in the action plan with 

the residual risks highlighted. 

 

15.4 Where these risks are deemed to be high, they are reported to the Deputy Chief 

Executive, relevant Director and the Audit Committee to ensure that risk registers 

are updated where relevant. 

 

 

Monitoring Progress of Actions Agreed 
 

Page 455



 
10 Internal Audit Charter - 2022 

16.1 Once an audit recommendation has been agreed with management it becomes an 

action agreed. The Internal Audit Service checks progress made on the actions 

agreed following an audit engagement. It is management’s responsibility to 

implement and provide relevant evidence of the agreed actions to the Internal Audit 

Service. Progress is reported to the Audit Committee. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix: Responsibilities 
 

Responsibilities in relation to the Internal Audit Service 
 

 

The Council’s Corporate Management Team (‘senior management’) 
 

The Corporate Management Team will: 

 

1. Consider the Internal Audit Charter, including the Internal Audit Service’s purpose 

and authority, the Mission of Internal Audit and the mandatory elements of the 

International Professional Practices Framework. 

 

2. Consider and contribute to the development of the risk-based internal audit plan, 

supporting its completion within the Council. 

 

Page 456



 
11 Internal Audit Charter - 2022 

3. Make appropriate enquires to determine whether there is inappropriate scope and / 

or resource limitation to the Internal Audit Service. 

 

4. Receive reports from the Head of Audit & Investigation on the Internal Audit 

Service’s performance and audit findings, including the Head of Audit & 

Investigation’s annual internal audit report and opinion for the year. 

 

5. Consider the scope of the external assessment and internal quality assurance and 

improvement programme, and receive and consider the results of both, including 

areas of non-conformance with the PSIAS. 

 

 

The Audit Committee (‘the Board’) 
 

The Audit Committee will: 

 

1. Approve the Internal Audit Charter. 

 

2. Approve the risk-based internal audit plan, including the Internal Audit Service’s 

resource requirements, the approach to using other sources of assurance and any 

work required to place reliance upon those other sources. 

 

3. Approve significant interim changes to the risk-based internal audit plan and 

resource requirements. 

 

4. Make appropriate enquiries of both management and the Head of Audit & 

Investigation to determine if there are any inappropriate scope or resource 

limitations. 

 

5. Consider reports from the Head of Audit & Investigations on internal audit’s 

performance during the year. These will include: 

 

 Updates of the audit engagements internal audit has carried out with details of 

any actions agreed with management together with any issues of concern as a 

result of such audit work. 

 To update the Audit Committee at least annually on the results of the quality 

assurance and improvement programme. 

 Reports to Audit Committee on instances where the Internal Audit Service does 

not conform to the PSIAS and Local Government Application Note for said 

PSAIS. This will consider whether the non-conformance is significant enough 

that it must be included in the annual governance statement. 

 

6. Consider the Head of Audit & Investigation’s annual internal audit report and 

opinion: 

Page 457



 
12 Internal Audit Charter - 2022 

 The statement of the level of conformance with the PSIAS and Local 

Government Application Note and the results of the quality assurance and 

improvement programme that supports the statement. 

 The opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the council’s 

framework of governance, risk management and control together with the 

summary of the work supporting the opinion, which will assist the committee in 

reviewing the annual governance statement which is produced by Accountancy 

Services. 

 

7. Consider issues from specific audit engagements as required / requested. 

 

8. Receive reports outlining the action taken where the Head of Audit & Investigation 

has concluded that management has accepted a level of risk that may be 

unacceptable to the council or there are concerns about progress with the 

implementation of actions agreed. 

 

9. Contribute to the quality assurance and improvement programme and in particular, 

to the external quality assessment of internal audit that takes place at least once 

every five years. 

 

10. Support the development of effective communication with the Head of Audit & 

Investigation. 

 

11. Advise and recommend on the effectiveness of relationships between external and 

internal audit and other inspection agencies or relevant bodies. 

Page 458



Municipal Year 2021/22 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

HYNDBURN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

Members Allowances Scheme  

for 2018/19 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Adopted by the Council with effect from 1

st
 April 2016 and in effect for 2016/17, 2017/18 and 2018/19 financial years 

 Page 459



Municipal Year 2021/22                                         2 of 9 

 

Hyndburn Borough Council 
 

Members’ Allowances 
 

These rules are made by the Council in exercise of its powers under the Local Government & 
Housing Act 1989, the Local Government Act 2000 and the Local Authorities (Members’ 
Allowances)(England) Regulations 2003. 

 
 
PART A 
 
Basic, Special Responsibility, Carer’s and Conference Allowances 
 
1. Basic Allowance 
 
1.1 Subject to paragraph 4, the basic allowance specified in Schedule 1 will be paid to each 

Councillor each year. 
 
1.2 The basic allowance will be paid in 12 equal monthly instalments on the 15th day of each 

month (unless the 15th falls on the weekend, when the allowance will be paid on the Friday 
before if the 15th is a Saturday and on the Monday afterwards if the 15th is on a Sunday).  

 
1.3 Upon their election to the Council all Councillors should complete a form to claim their basic 

allowance.  The form will be supplied to Councillors by Members’ Allowances Scheme 
Administrator and should be completed as soon as possible.  Upon a Councillor ceasing to 
hold office, the Members’ Allowances Scheme Administrator will notify the Payroll Section 
accordingly. 

1.4 The basic allowance shall be increased annually with effect from 1st April by applying the 
NJC Local Government Annual Pay Award. 

 
2. Special Responsibility Allowance 
 
2.1 Subject to paragraph 4, special responsibility allowance(s) will be paid each year to the 

Councillors holding the special responsibilities specified in Schedule 1. 
 
2.2 The amount of each special responsibility allowance will be that specified in Schedule 1. 
 
2.3      Councillors may claim one special responsibility allowance only. 
 
2.4  Upon accepting a special responsibility for which an allowance is payable, Councillors must 

complete the appropriate form to claim the special responsibility allowance.  Copies of the 
form can be obtained from the Members’ Allowances Scheme Administrator, who should be 
given the completed form as soon as possible following the Councillor’s appointment.  A 
further form should be completed by Councillors when they cease to hold a special 
responsibility for which an allowance is payable.  Again, the form can be obtained from the 
Members’ Allowances Scheme Administrator.  Delay in completing this form may lead to an 
overpayment of allowance, which will be repayable by the Councillor concerned. 

2.5      Special responsibility allowances will be updated with effect from 1st April in accordance with 
paragraph 1.4 above. 

 
3. Conferences 
 
3.1 Members may claim travel and subsistence allowances as set out in Part B, provided their 

attendance at the conference has been formally approved by the Council in advance. 
 
3.2 Claims for travel and subsistence allowances must be made on a claim form supplied by the 

Members’ Allowances Scheme Administrator. 
 

Page 460



Municipal Year 2021/22                                         3 of 9 

4. Carer’s Allowance 
 
4.1 Subject to the conditions in paragraph 4.2, a carer’s allowance will be paid in respect of 

costs necessarily incurred by Councillors in arranging care for:- 
 

 a child or children under the age of 17  

 an elderly relative requiring full time care 

 a relative with a physical disability requiring full time care 

 a relative with learning disabilities requiring full time care 
 

where this is done in order to enable the Councillor to undertake any of the approved duties 
set out in paragraphs (1) to (7) of Schedule 2. 
 

4.2 The following conditions apply in respect of entitlement to carer’s allowance:- 
 
 i) the person for whom care has been arranged must live in the same household as the 

Councillor, 
 ii) the care in respect of which the allowance is claimed must not be provided by a 

member of the Councillor’s immediate family or household, 
 iii) the Councillor must notify the Council of the identity of the carer in respect of whose 

costs the allowance is claimed. 
 
4.3 The rate of the carer’s allowance shall be increased annually with effect from 1st April by the 

rate of inflation as measured by the Retail Prices (All Items) Index. 

4.4       The rate of carer’s allowance is £7.10 per hour. 
 
5. Part Year Entitlement 
 
5.1 Where during the course of a year:- 
 
 a) a Councillor’s term of office begins or ends, 
 
 b) a Councillor accepts or ceases to hold a special responsibility in respect of which a 

special responsibility allowance is payable, 
 

c) this scheme for Members’ allowances is amended,  
 
 d) a Councillor elects to forego his or her entitlement to an allowance,  
 
 the relevant allowances will be paid pro rata for the period during which entitlement exists. 
 
6. Renunciation 
 
6.1 A Councillor may elect to forego his/her entitlement to an allowance or to receive a reduced 

allowance by completing an “Application to forego Allowances” and submitting it to the 
Members’ Allowances Scheme Administrator. 

 
7. Taxation 
 
7.1 Members’ allowances will be treated as earned income and will be subject to income tax and 

national insurance at the prevailing rates. It will be the Councillor’s responsibility to provide 
details of his/her tax code and other sources of income to the Council’s payroll section to 
enable the correct deductions to be made. 

 
7.2  Members who claim other allowances and benefits (including job seeker’s allowance, 

incapacity benefit, housing benefit, etc.) should be aware of the effects that receiving a 
Member’s allowance will have on the levels of those benefits and allowances. In cases of 
doubt, advice should be sought from the local office of the Department of Work and 
Pensions and the Council’s Housing Benefits Section. 

 Page 461



Municipal Year 2021/22                                         4 of 9 

8. Breach of Member Code of Conduct 
 
8.1 The right to basic allowance, special responsibility allowance and travel and subsistence 

allowance will be removed whilst a Councillor is suspended from the Council for breach of 
the Member Code of Conduct.  

8.2 Whilst a Councillor is partially suspended from the Council as a result of a breach of the 
member code of conduct the right to a special responsibility allowance and travel and 
subsistence allowances will be removed in respect of the duties and responsibilities from 
which the Councillor is suspended.  

 
PART B 
 
Travel and Subsistence 
 
Travel and subsistence allowances are payable when Councillors incur necessary expenditure on 
travel and subsistence when carrying out any approved duty as described in Schedule 2. 

Councillors wishing to claim travel allowance in respect of journeys from their homes to the Council 
Offices should inform the Members’ Allowances Scheme Administrator of the distance there and 
back in miles by the shortest reasonable route.  A form will be provided for this purpose and the 
information provided will be used when verifying travel allowance claims. 

The rates payable for travel and subsistence shall be increased annually with effect from 1st April 
each year in accordance with the average percentage increase in the Retail Prices Index (All Items) 
over the preceding 12 months for which figures are available at the date of calculation. 

 
 
Travelling Allowances 
 
Claims for travel allowances should include details of car mileage undertaken or fares paid, as 
appropriate.  Receipts should accompany claims for travel by public transport. 
 
1. Travel by Public Transport 
 
 1. The Council will normally pay second class rail fare. However, this may be 

substituted by discounted first class rail fare, provided the cost does not exceed the 
cost of a standard second class fare for the same journey. This rate may be 
increased by amounts not exceeding expenditure actually incurred: 

 
  a) on Pullman Car or similar supplements, reservation of seats and deposit or 

porterage of luggage; and 
 

b) on sleeping accommodation engaged by Councillors for an overnight journey. 
 

Note: where first class rail fare is properly claimed under the provisions of this allowances 
scheme and a complimentary meal is provided as part of the cost of the ticket then the right 
to claim a meal allowance will be lost in respect of the meal so provided  

 
 
2. Travel by private motor vehicle 
 
 1. The rate of travel by motor cycle shall not exceed – 
 
  a) for the use of a solo motorcycle of cylinder capacity not exceeding 150cc, 6p 

a mile; 
 
  b) for the use of a solo motor cycle of cylinder capacity exceeding 150cc but not 

exceeding 500cc, 10p a mile 
 

Page 462



Municipal Year 2021/22                                         5 of 9 

  c) for the use of a solo motor cycle of cylinder capacity exceeding 500cc, 16p a 
mile 

 
 2. The rate for travel by private motor vehicle, other than a motor cycle shall not exceed 

for the use of a motor vehicle of cylinder capacity – 
 
  a) not exceeding 999cc, 32p a mile 
  b) exceeding 999cc but not exceeding 1199cc, 38p a mile 
  c) exceeding 1199cc, 46p a mile 
 
 3. The rates specified in sub-paragraphs (1) and (2) may be increased, 
 
  a) by 5p per mile for each passenger to whom a travelling allowance would 

otherwise be payable by the Council, subject to the maximum recommended 
passenger capacity of the vehicle 

 
  b) by not more than the amount of any expenditure incurred on tolls, ferries or 

parking fees, including overnight garaging. 
 
 4. For the purposes of this paragraph, cylinder capacity shall be that entered in the 

vehicle registration book or document by the Secretary of State under the Vehicles 
(Excise) Act 1971. 

 
3. Travel by Taxi-Cab or Cab 
 
 The rate for travel by taxi-cab or cab shall not exceed,  
 
 1. in the cases of urgency, or where no public transport is reasonably available - the 

amount of the actual fare and any reasonable gratuity paid; and 
 
 2. in any other case -  the amount of the fare for travel by appropriate public transport. 
 
  in deciding whether urgency exists, the Members’ Allowances Scheme Administrator 

will consider the reasonableness of the taxi use, taking into account: 
 

- the time of day when the journey was made 
- the time available to make the journey  

 
  in deciding whether public transport is reasonably available, the Members’ 

Allowances Scheme Administrator will consider: 
 

- the time of day when the journey was made 
- any disability of the member 
- the amount of luggage etc carried by the member 

 
4. Travel by a Hired Motor Vehicle 
 
 The rate for travel by a hired motor vehicle, other than a taxi-cab or cab, shall not exceed the 

rate which would have been applicable had the vehicle belonged to the Councillor who hired 
it provided that, where the Council so approves, the rate may be increased to an amount not 
exceeding the actual cost of hiring. 

 
 
5. Travel by Air 
 
 The rate for travel by air shall not exceed the rate applicable to travel by appropriate 

alternative means of transport together with an allowance equivalent to the amount of any 
saving in subsistence allowance consequent on travel by air. 

 

Page 463



Municipal Year 2021/22                                         6 of 9 

 Provided that where the Council resolves, either generally or specially, that the saving in 
time is so substantial as to justify payment of the fare for travel by air, there may be paid an 
amount not exceeding:- 

 
 1) The ordinary fare or any available cheap fare for travel by regular air services, or 
 2) Where no such service is available, or in case of urgency, the fare actually paid by 

the Councillor. 
 
  
Subsistence Allowances 
 
Allowances are also payable to Councillors where, due to carrying out an approved duty as 
described in Schedule 2, there is an absence from the usual place of residence for a period of time 
of more than 4 hours and within the time periods as described in the paragraphs below. 
 

 These subsistence allowances are paid in order to enable Councillors to purchase an appropriate 
meal, where required.  Claims for subsistence allowances should provide details of the approved 
duty and the time of departure from, and arrival at, the normal place of residence. 

Subsistence allowance will not be paid in respect of any approved duty if a meal has been 
provided for the Councillor by any authority or body, free of charge.  However, this will not 
apply if the member has previously notified the authority or body of special dietary 
requirements (e.g. vegetarian, diabetic, kosher, halal food) which are not catered for. 
 
  
For absence not involving an absence overnight, from the usual place of residence –  
 
(1) breakfast allowance - if the absence from the usual place of residence is for one hour or 

more before 9.00 a.m. - £4.82 
 
  
(2) lunch allowance  - if the Councillor is absent from the usual place of residence  between 12 

noon and 2.00 p.m. - £6.71 

 

(3) evening meal allowance - if the absence from the usual place of residence is for more than 
4 hours ending after 7.00 p.m  - £19.91 

 
  
For absence involving an absence overnight from the usual place of residence 
 
When undertaking an approved duty, such as attendance at a conference involves an absence 
overnight from their usual place of residence, a Councillor may claim the following: 

(a) travelling allowance in accordance with this scheme in respect of any travelling expenses 
incurred; AND 

(b) subsistence allowance in accordance with this scheme; AND 

(c) the cost of hotel accommodation as follows: 

In London: the actual cost incurred up to £136 per night 

Outside London: the actual cost incurred up to £115 per night 

(d) the incidental expenses allowance as set out below  

For the purposes of this scheme, ‘London’ means the City of London and the London boroughs of 
Camden, Greenwich, Hackney, Hammersmith and Fulham, Islington, Kensington and Chelsea, 
Lambeth, Lewisham, Southwark, Tower Hamlets, Wandsworth and Westminster. 
 
On longer train journeys, where both lunch and evening meal allowances could be claimed, the 
reasonable cost of the evening meal (including VAT) will be reimbursed in full. 
 
 Page 464



Municipal Year 2021/22                                         7 of 9 

Incidental expenses allowance 
 
Where attendance at a conference is an approved duty a Councillor may claim £46.56 per day or 
part day in respect of incidental expenses incurred. 
 
Co-optees 

Co-opted members of Council Committees may claim travel and subsistence allowances in 
accordance with the provisions of this scheme. 

 
Cycling Allowance 

Councillors using a bicycle to travel to and from approved duties may claim a one off cycling 
allowance of £17.51 per annum. 

 
 
PART C 
 
Procedure for making claims 
 
1. All claims must be submitted on the appropriate claim form.  Claim forms must be signed.  

The items and amounts claimed should be stated clearly. Councillors are responsible for 
ensuring that their claims are accurate and complete. 

 
2. Councillors’ claims will be audited quarterly. 
 
3. Claim forms should be handed in to the Members’ Allowances Scheme Administrator.  

Audits will involve checking: 
 

 that the meeting took place (random checks will be done where the meeting is of an 
outside body), 

 that the Councillor attended it (random checks will be done where the meeting is of an 
outside body), 

 that mileage claims are reasonable and, where relevant, correspond to any mileage 
details registered with the Members’ Allowances Scheme Administrator, 

 that meals were not provided free of charge at meetings for which subsistence is claimed 
(random checks will be done where the meeting is of an outside body). 

 
4. Despite the verification process, Councillors remain responsible for the accuracy of 

the claims they submit.  If the claim form is unsigned or unclear it will be returned to the 
Councillor concerned for completion/clarification, rather than processed for payment. If 
Councillors are unclear how to complete the claim form they should consult the Members’ 
Allowances Scheme Administrator. 

 
5. Claim forms must be submitted within 2 months of the relevant meeting taking place.  Late 

claims will not be accepted and entitlement to allowance will be lost. 
 
6. If a claim, or part of a claim, is disallowed, a Councillor will be informed within 10 working 

days and given a reason.  If a Councillor does not agree with a decision to disallow a claim 
they then have 10 working days to ask for the matter to be reconsidered by the Head of 
Legal & Democratic Services, whose decision on the subject will be final. 

Page 465



Municipal Year 2021/22                                         8 of 9 

Schedule 1 
 

                                Per Annum 
 
 
Basic Allowance            4 634.00 
 
Special Responsibility Allowances 
 

Multiple of Basic 
Allowance 
 

£ 

Leader of Council 
 

4.66        21 594.00 

Deputy Leader of the Council 
 

2.33        10 797.00 

Leader of the Opposition 
 

1.5          6 951.00 

Deputy Leader of the Opposition 
 

0.5          2 317.00 

Cabinet Members 
 

1.75          8,110.00 

Chair of Scrutiny Committee 
 

1.45          6 719.00 

Vice-Chair of Scrutiny Committee 
 

1.2          5 561.00 

Chair of Scrutiny Sub-Committee 
 

0.95          4 402.00 

Vice-Chair of Scrutiny Sub-Committee 
 

0.3          1 390.00 

Chair of Planning Committee 
 

1.5          6 951.00 

Vice-Chair of Planning Committee 
 

0.5          2 317.00 

Shadow Chair of Planning Committee 
 

0.33          1 529.00 

Member of Planning Committee (excluding the Chair, Vice-Chair 
and Shadow Chair) 
 

0.165             765.00 

Chair of Area Council 
 

0.165             765.00 

Chair of Judicial Committee (hackney carriage and private hire 
licensing)  
 

0.33          1 529.00 

Chair of Employment Committee 
 

0.165             765.00 

Chair of Licensing Committee   
      

0.33          1 529.00 

Vice-Chair of Licensing Committee    
 

0.165             765.00 

Chair of Audit Committee  
 

0.165             765.00 

Group Chief Whip 
 

0.165             765.00 

Group Secretary 
 

0.165 765.00 

 

Page 466



Municipal Year 2021/22                                         9 of 9 

Schedule 2 
 

Approved duties 
 
The categories of approved duties for travel and subsistence claims are as follows: 
 
1. Meetings of the Council; 
2. Meetings of a Council Committee or Sub-Committee; 
3. Meetings of the Cabinet or a Cabinet Committee; 
4. Meetings of other bodies to which the Council makes appointments; 
5. Other meetings approved by the Council or a Committee or Sub-Committee provided 

members of at least two of the political groups on the Council are invited.  This can include 
meetings with officers; 

6. Meetings of any local authority association of which the Council is a member 
7. Attendance at tender openings where this is required by the Contract Procedure Rules; 
8. Attendance at any statutory inspection or premises; 
9. Any other duty approved by the Council or a Committee/Sub-Committee for the purpose of, 

or in connection with, the discharge of the functions of the Council. 
 
The approved duties for which carer’s allowance can be claimed are set out paragraphs (1) to (8) 
above. 
 
When you make a claim for travel and subsistence you must describe the approved duty as 
accurately as you can.  For example, you must give the correct name of the committee or outside 
body concerned. 
 
If you are unsure whether an activity qualifies as an approved duty you should check with the 
Members’ Allowances Scheme Administrator before you submit your claim as you are responsible 
for ensuring that your claims are accurate and correct 

Page 467



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Contents
	2 Part 1 - Summary and Explanation
	3 Part 2 - Articles of the Constitution
	4 Responsibility for Functions - Introduction
	CONPart 3 - Resonsibility for Functions

	5 Appendix 1 - Terms of Reference of Council, Cabinet and Committees
	6 Appendix 2 - Terms of Reference of Cabinet Portfolios
	7 Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Panels and Boards
	8 Appendix 4 - Scheme of Delegation
	9 A. Council Procedure Rules
	10 B. Executive Procedure Rules
	11 C. Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules
	12 D.  Access to Information Procedure Rules
	13 E. Budget Policy Framework Rules
	14 F. Financial Procedure Rules
	15 G. Contracts Procedure Rules
	16 H. Officer Employment Procedure Rules
	17 A. Members' Code of Conduct
	18 B. Member Officer Relations Protocol
	19 C. Code of Conduct for Employees
	20 D. Members' Planning Code of Good Practice
	21 E. Members' Licensing Code of Good Practice
	22 F. Civic Protocol
	23 G. Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy
	23a Anti Money Laundering Policy
	23b Criminal Facilitation of Tax Evasion
	24 H. Whistleblowing Policy
	25 J. Complaints Procedure
	26 K. Use of Mobile Phones, Social Media, Filming and Recording at Meetings
	27 L. Protocol on Standards of Behaviour at Meetings
	28 M. Internal Audit Charter
	29 Members' Allowances Scheme

